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(1)

NIH ETHICS CONCERNS: CONSULTING
ARRANGEMENTS AND OUTSIDE AWARDS

WEDNESDAY, MAY 12, 2004

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATIONS,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room
2322, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. James C. Greenwood
(chairman) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Greenwood, Bilirakis, Walden,
Ferguson, Barton (ex officio), Deutsch, DeGette, and Allen.

Staff present: Mark Paoletta, majority counsel; Alan Slobodin,
majority counsel; Ann Washington, majority counsel; Casey
Hemard, majority counsel; Billy Harvard, legislative clerk; David
Nelson, minority investigator; and Jessica McNiece, minority re-
search assistant.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Good morning, everyone. This hearing of the
Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee will come to order. I
apologize for being a few minutes late. The Chair recognizes him-
self for an opening statement and, welcome to our guests. Thank
you for being with us.

For years in America and American political history there was
quote ‘‘honest graft’’ described by William Safire as ‘‘money made
a result of political power without doing anything illegal, no longer
considered permissible.’’

Later as described by Safire the practice ‘‘honest graft’’ became
known as the revolving door. Government officials when they retire
take jobs with private industry. In an article appearing on Decem-
ber 7, 2003 in the Los Angeles Times detailing the decade long
practice of high level scientists at the National Institutes of Health
receiving hundreds of thousands of dollars in fees to consult for pri-
vate drug or biotechnology companies revealed yet a new form of
honest graft, what I call the swivel chair. Now the government offi-
cial does not have to retire, he can take outside consulting jobs
with the drug industry as a scientific expert yet still have the privi-
lege of being on the inside of the NIH, the crown jewel of the Amer-
ican biomedical research enterprise.

This swivel chair at NIH is still defended, to some extent, in the
name of retention, recruitment and moral, to some extent as an en-
titlement of the scientific class. The controversial nature of this
swivel chair policy at NIH is perceived when one considers its anal-
ogy in the context of Congress. I do not believe the American peo-
ple would tolerate for one moment the notion that Members of Con-
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gress could be allowed outside income to consult for private entities
doing business before the Congress. In fact, the Congress elimi-
nated the practice of members receiving outside income such as
cash gifts for speeches. It took the straightforward approach of
raising our salaries and eliminating outside income that raised con-
flict of interest issues.

Today this subcommittee examines the issue of outside income
for NIH scientists posing conflict of interest concerns such as con-
sulting for drug companies or cash gift awards to NIH senior man-
agers from grantee institutions receiving or seeking substantial
funds from that official’s institute. As we pursue the facts over the
nature and extent of these outside income practices one question
is worth wondering: If this kind of reform was good enough for the
Congress, why is it not good enough for the National Institutes of
Health?

As I have noted before as the chairman of the subcommittee, the
scandal is often finding out what not what is illegal, but what is
legal. Consider NIH’s policies on cash awards and outside con-
sulting. Under current policies an NIH Institute director is per-
mitted to accept a cash gift from a grantee or cooperative agree-
ment holder with his institute provide it is presented as a ‘‘bona
fide award’’ and meets the minimal criteria for such an award. If
a grantee wants to reward or influence an NIH official, it can do
so if the cash is called an award as long as there is adequate finan-
cial backing for such endeavors.

If a university seeking NIH funds wants to attract reward or in-
fluence an NIH official whose salary is paid by taxpayers to give
a speech by paying cash to that official for his speech, that is other-
wise part of his taxpayer supported official duties. He can do so
without running afoul of criminal felony statutes and noncriminal
ethics regulations by calling the event a lecture award.

For outside consulting by NIH scientists with drug or bio-
technology companies under current policies established by then
NIH Director Harold Varmus in 1995, there is no limit on the
amount of compensation or the number of hours. On December 7,
2003 the Los Angeles Times revealed that high level NIH sci-
entists, including some institute and center directors, received hun-
dreds of thousands of dollars in compensation for consulting with
drug and biotechnology companies. The next day, this committee
began its own detailed investigation of these outside consulting ar-
rangements only to discover that high level NIH scientists making
higher salaries than that of the Vice President of the United States
were not even required to file public financial disclosure reports.

Equally astonishing, this committee learned that prior to our in-
vestigation NIH employees were not required to provide the
amounts of compensation they were receiving through their drug
company consulting, not required to provide it to the public.

Even though the NIH has complied in providing a substantial
amount of information in documents in response to the committee’s
request, as a result of these nondisclosure policies and slow rolling
by HHS lawyers, to this day we still lack complete information on
the amounts of compensations received by individual NIH sci-
entists in many consulting arrangements over the last 5 years. We
have been told that NIH only has the authority to request NIH em-
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ployees to voluntarily produce information on past consulting
agreements, and many have reportedly not responded.

If NIH scientists are too embarrassed to have these details pub-
licly known, then that reluctance to divulge this information is a
message in itself about the propriety of these arrangements. Thus,
because of the HHS and NIH inability to respond, I am announcing
today that the committee will be sending request letters to drug
companies to get the amount data for individual NIH scientists
consulting arrangements.

The controversy over outside consulting with drug companies is
further underscored when one considers what has happened in the
last few years to make working at the NIH more attractive, excit-
ing and important. Many scientific personnel at NIH have boosted
their salaries well beyond the caps in the Federal Civil Service Sys-
tem by converting themselves into consultant employees through
the widespread use of what are called special compensation au-
thorities under Title 42 of the Public Health Service Act. Not only
can annual salaries be boosted by an extra $50,000 or $60,000, but
under an arcane Office of Government Ethics legal ruling, highly
paid Title 42 personnel are exempt from filing public financial dis-
closure reports, although recently some have been required to be
public filers.

Through Federal technology transfer policies, NIH can now pay
royalty income to NIH inventors for technologies they have discov-
ered that have been commercialized. Congress has completed the
doubling of NIH’s budget, vastly enlarging the universe of unique
and intellectually enlivened research opportunities at NIH.

Finally, in the post September 11th world, the NIH occupies a
key leading role in assisting our bioterrorism defense efforts. But
to proponents of outside consulting, notwithstanding all these de-
velopments, moral at the NIH will be damaged if the freedom to
be put on a drug company’s payroll is not preserved, even though
we are told very few NIH employees engage in outside consulting.

The committee begins its consideration of these NIH ethics con-
cerns by receiving testimony about the report of the NIH Blue Rib-
bon panel on conflict of interest policies released last week after 66
days of work. This panel was appointed by the Director of the NIH
shortly after the December 2003 Los Angeles Times Article and the
beginning of the committee’s investigation on outside consulting.
The co-chairs of the panel were Dr. Bruce Alberts and Normal Au-
gustine, who will be testifying before us today.

The Blue Ribbon panel assessed the current status of conflict of
interest policies with particular attention to outside consulting and
made recommendations for improving. The panel states its rec-
ommended improvements are ‘‘needed to assure the continue de-
served public confidence in the work of NIH.’’

We welcome our very distinguished witnesses from the NIH Blue
Ribbon panel. And thank you for your public service and the quick
response you delivered to the NIH Director.

By definition and by your description the panel’s work was lim-
ited by a relatively short timeframe and by limiting yourselves to
not investigating specific allegations or reviewing individual cases
under investigation. The panel’s work was a useful step, but it is
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only the first step as the NIH, the Congress and the American pub-
lic and interested stakeholders sort out the facts and the issues.

In general, the panel recommended that high level employees at
the NIH should not engage in consulting activities with pharma-
ceutical or biotechnology companies, but that some NIH employees
should be allowed to consult, but be limited to an amount equal to
50 percent of the employee’s annual salary with no one source ac-
counting for more than 25 percent of annual salary.

The panel also called for relaxing restrictions on earnings from
outside teaching, writing and speaking engagements.

I look forward to discussing this report with the co-chairs, since
I have many questions and I am troubled by some of aspects of the
report.

For example, the report maintains that very few NIH employees
engage in consulting agreements with drug or biotechnology com-
panies. It also found ‘‘an extremely complex set of rules governing
conflicts of interest at NIH. These rules are widely misunderstood
by some of the very people to whom they are intended to apply,
thereby creating uncertainty as to allowable behavior and ad-
versely affecting moral.’’

If so few NIH employees engage in outside consulting, why allow
it in any form replacing one confusing set of rules with another?
Why not a blanket prohibition on the swivel chair?

While some of the rules may be confusing, it needs to be ac-
knowledged that some rules are clear. The committee has investing
NIH ethics concerns for over a year, along with several other NIH
oversight activities. Unlike the Blue Ribbon panel, we have been
looking case specific practices. It is clear from the cases we have
reviewed that some NIH scientists are either very close to the line
or have crossed the line.

We are serious about upholding the highest ethical standards at
the NIH, and NIH scientists should not even be close to the line.
Yet this has been the persistent problem at NIH for years, not be-
cause of confusion but because of a deliberate permissive attitude
reflected in some NIH employee comments received by the Blue
Ribbon panel.

In a June 1987 letter to HHS David Martin, the Director of the
Office of Government Ethics wrote of the ethics program at NIH
‘‘My greatest concern, however, relates to the area of outside activi-
ties such that there occasionally appears to be a blurring of the dis-
tinction between what should be properly authorized as official
business and outside activities.’’

In a November 22, 1991 letter to HHS Secretary Lewis Sullivan
the Director of the Office of Government Ethics Steve Potts wrote
‘‘I am concerned, however, about the persistent weakness in the
NIH outside activity approval system as it relates to scientists and
doctors and NIH.’’

And in December 22, 1991 letter to NIH Director Bernadine
Healy Mr. Potts wrote ‘‘We believe also that the permissive atti-
tude of NIH toward outside activities has led to certain activities
being approved without adequate documentation to support such
decisions. Less than 1 percent of over 4,000 requests for approval
of outside activities were denied. Moreover,’’ he said, ‘‘approxi-
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mately 40 percent of the 553 requests we received were approved
after the activity had already taken place.’’

In it’s 1991 audit OGE reviewers wrote: ‘‘The permissive attitude
at NIH toward outside activities and its fear that further restric-
tions of outside activities may hinder recruitment and retention of
scientific personnel has also played a major role in the problems
and issues we identified.’’

One NIH official stated that if OGE is saying that NIH employ-
ees who are on the cutting edge of biomedical research are like
other Federal employees and should be denied the right to talk
about their expertise even though the subject matter is related to
agency responsibilities and programs, then NIH does not agree.
The official contended that NIH is unique and should be exempt
from this restriction.

From its February 1992 report on employee conduct standards,
the General Accounting Office found that NIH was one of five out
of 11 agencies audited that because of overly permissive policies
approved outside activities such as speaking and consulting that it
appeared to be violated the standard of conduct prohibiting the use
of public office for private gain. Keep in mind, these permissive
practices took place under rules on outside consulting that are in
some respects more restrictive than what the Blue Ribbon panel is
recommending. In November 1995 NIH Director Howard Varmus
loosened these consulting restrictions to ‘‘strengthen our ability to
recruit.’’

The Blue Ribbon panel report seems to handle the conflict of in-
terest issues gently and seems almost blithely to accept the reten-
tion and recruitment arguments for maintaining some form of out-
side consulting and compensated scientific activities by NIH sci-
entists. But as I constantly hear on oversight issues from the NIH
and the FDA, do not give me anecdotes, give me data. Are there
facts or information that back up these arguments about NIH’s
ability or inability to retain or recruit? What are the turnover rates
of the Title 42 personnel? What have the turnover rates been over
the year for NIH scientists? Was NIH less of a research institu-
tions before the November 1995 lifting of consulting restrictions?
What have been the benefits to society from the consulting? What
new drugs were developed?

Some questions are unanswerable, but are certainly with consid-
ering. What new drugs were not developed because the NIH sci-
entists were devoting more energy about the drug company re-
search and not the NIH research?

As Josephine Johnson of the Hastings Center noted in the March
12, 2004 issue of Science ‘‘If a scientist’s desirably as a consultant
stems from her NIH post, can be sure that the advice and time she
sells to industry does not already belong to NIH? Nevertheless,
given the sometimes six figure sums involved, concerns should per-
sist about whether salaried individuals can give their primary job
the effort and attention it deserves while also understanding con-
siderable consulting work given similar consulting arrangements in
many of the Nation’s public and private universities the real ques-
tion of the moment is should we abandon the idea of impartial dis-
interested science or should NIH be the last stronghold of this
ideal?’’
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I am disappointed by the Blue Ribbon panel’s lack of substantive
analyses of the issue of bona fide awards. While the panel acknowl-
edges that scientists who receive these awards are frequently re-
quired to prepare a lecture as an acceptance speech, it left unex-
plained the conflict of interest issues arising from the fact that
these speeches are required in order to get the cash by a private
entity possibly with substantial interests before NIH and are offi-
cial duty activities of NIH scientists. I believe this matter of what
constitutes a bona fide award and the serious conflict of interest
issues raised by receipt of cash awards from prohibited sources
warranted further consideration and thought by the panel.

In addition, if these awards are so important in raising the visi-
bility of NIH scientists and recognizing the value of NIH research,
why does NIH not collect and publish information listing these
awards to promote itself and its importance?

We are all eager to hear from the Director of NIH, Dr. Elias
Zerhouni. Since the committee has been engaged on these issues
over the last year, I have had the pleasure of working with him.
I believe Dr. Zerhouni has been a man of good intentions through-
out and I hold him in the highest esteem. He has been earnestly
attempting to respond to the committee’s concerns and to help us
to reach a conclusion of this investigation, if for no other reason
than to lift the cloud of uncertainty felt by some NIH employees
about this probe. When he has been adequately advised by the de-
partment, he has taken decisive steps to address the problems, but
more needs to be done.

In my discussions with Dr. Zerhouni, I had hoped to complete
our investigative work on NIH ethics concerns by the hearings to
be held today and on May 18th. Unfortunately, the delays and ob-
stinacy principally at the HHS Office of General Counsel in getting
amount data on the individual consulting arrangements will extend
this investigation beyond May 18th as we are now forced to pursue
this data from the drug companies. As I have learned from experi-
ence, the truth will ultimately come out.

This hearing will be Dr. Zerhouni’s first public response to the
Blue Ribbon panel report and recommendations.

Dr. Zerhouni, I look forward to your testimony and working with
you on mutual issues of concern, including the improvement of
NIH’s ethics program worthy of a great scientific agency with tal-
ented and valued employees.

And I now recognize the ranking member, the gentleman from
Florida, Mr. Deutsch for an opening statement.

Mr. DEUTSCH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. With unanimous con-
sent put in Mr. Dingell’s statement and Mr. Waxman’s statement
into the record.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Without objection.
[The prepared statements of Hon. Henry A. Waxman and Hon.

John D. Dingell follow:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. HENRY A. WAXMAN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Last December, the Los Angeles Times revealed that a handful of high-ranking
NIH scientists had accepted hundreds of thousands of dollars in consulting fees
from pharmaceutical companies. The story, and this subcommittee’s subsequent in-
vestigation, caused NIH to reexamine many of its conflict of interest policies, and
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rightfully so. NIH is respected around the world for its scientific leadership and the
high quality of its research. Probably the world’s greatest biomedical research estab-
lishment, NIH’s reputation for scientific integrity and independence is unmatched.
It is therefore particularly disturbing that NIH scientists should give even the ap-
pearance of being influenced by the pharmaceutical industry in their decisions.

I have no doubt that most NIH scientists are carrying out their jobs according
to the highest ethical standards. But some of what this subcommittee’s investigation
has exposed is very troubling. Dozens of NIH scientists have accepted very substan-
tial sums of money from drug companies with few checks on whether those relation-
ships posed conflicts of interest. All public servants must be sensitive to the reality
and even the appearance of such conflicts, and an institution of NIH’s scientific
standing must be especially vigilant. America and the world must feel confident that
NIH’s research results are not biased by drug company influence. Because if we
allow NIH’s credibility to be compromised, we have all lost.

I commend Dr. Zerhouni for the steps he has taken to change the ethical rules
that guide NIH. And I recognize that the ‘‘Blue Ribbon Panel’’ has made a good faith
effort to minimize potential conflicts of interest. But more needs to be done. I am
particularly concerned that some potential conflicts of interest will still go undis-
closed. Full disclosure is essential for ensuring public confidence in the work of NIH.

I’ve asked the GAO to analyze the work of the Blue Ribbon panel, and I hope that
GAO will be able to provide a roadmap to enhance the Panel’s recommendations.

Many argue that if we don’t allow NIH scientists to accept large payments from
the drug industry, we will lose them to higher paying jobs in industry or academia.
I am not ready to accept this conclusion. One heartening finding of the subcommit-
tee’s investigation is that the vast majority of NIH scientists are willing to do their
jobs without receiving supplemental income from drug companies. Of the thousands
of scientists employed by NIH, only a small percentage were found to be receiving
money from drug companies. Apparently, the rest of NIH’s scientists have found suf-
ficient compensation in their government salaries and the opportunity to work at
the world’s leading biomedical research facility.

We are justifiably proud of NIH’s long tradition of scientific achievement. We’ve
always been able to trust the science that comes out of NIH. This is a legacy we
need to defend and protect. Americans need to know that when NIH reaches a con-
clusion, that conclusion is based on hard evidence and the scientific method. We
need to act now to impose appropriate conflict of interest standards so that America
and the global scientific community can continue trusting in NIH.

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN D. DINGELL, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Mr. Chairman, you are to be congratulated on this investigation into conflicts of
interest at the National Institutes of Health (NIH). NIH is a national treasure, the
flagship for scientific research into the causes and cures for diseases that have rav-
aged mankind through the ages and others that have arisen with devastating effect
in more recent times. It has been so successful in fulfilling its missions that Con-
gress, on a bipartisan basis, has increased its budget four-fold over the past two dec-
ades. Along with the increased funds have come increased tasks.

In general, we have been very careful not to earmark funds for research into spe-
cific diseases, trusting the NIH scientists to pursue the most promising research as
they see fit. We have also passed legislation to permit private/public partnerships
in the hopes of making promising cures available to the American people in an expe-
ditious manner. This makes sense.

Unfortunately, certain scientists have been trusted to determine when their per-
sonal financial involvement with drug and biotech companies poses a conflict of in-
terest with their responsibilities to the public. And those scientists have not been
subject to rigorous review or full disclosure. Now we see that at least three Adminis-
trations have not only tolerated, but encouraged, the acceptance of monies, in some
cases extraordinarily large sums, by NIH scientists from private companies with
substantial interests in the decisions at NIH. The secret purchase of information
and influence must stop.

Mr. Chairman, another activity that must stop is the lack of cooperation with this
important inquiry. I agree with you that this investigation has been slow-rolled and
stonewalled from its onset a year ago. We have yet to receive all the requested docu-
ments and interviews. It is my understanding that the Department of Health and
Human Services has refused to supply at least one witness you requested for the
hearing next week.
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Moreover, the Department has broken with past practice in order to monitor, if
not hinder, the inquiry. As you are aware, this Subcommittee has had a long-
standing agreement with the Department that it could provide personal counsel to
individual employees during staff interviews on particularly sensitive investigations,
provided that no information from those interviews would be revealed outside the
interview room. That agreement spans three Administrations and control of the
Committee by both parties. Two weeks ago we discovered that the attorneys accom-
panying all department employees to these interviews were reporting back the con-
tents of those interviews, and had informed the employees that they were in the
interviews not to represent the individuals but for the purpose of reporting the con-
tent of the interviews back to the Department. This came as a surprise to both ma-
jority and minority staff and undermines the credibility of our work. I offer you the
full support of the minority in whatever steps, including formal process, you may
take to acquire the necessary cooperation from the Department.

This investigation is important—both to protect the integrity of the scientific work
at NIH, and to protect the credibility of the work of this Subcommittee. Mr. Chair-
man, you have my thanks and my support as we continue the bipartisan work on
this matter.

Mr. DEUTSCH. Thank you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this very important hear-

ing into conflicts of interest at the National Institutes of Health.
NIH is truly a critical agency that enjoyed bipartisan support for
its work fighting diseases and cripple and kill millions of Ameri-
cans. Yet it appears that the leadership of NIH may have fallen
victim to a disease itself, and that is creed.

It is important to differentiate between the current and former
leadership of NIH that have encouraged the option of corruption,
the HHS lawyers that have facilitated the payoffs from drug and
biotech companies and the thousands of the dedicated scientists
that do such brilliant work solely for the benefit of their employers,
the American people.

While the full extent of the corruption is unknown largely be-
cause of the stonewalling of the Department of HHS, there appears
to be only 114 employees out of 17,526 that currently admit to pro-
viding consulting services to drug and biotech companies.

Today we hear from a so called Blue Ribbon panel appointed by
the Director of NIH Dr. Elias Zerhouni, as well as Dr. Zerhouni
himself.

The panel represented by its co-chair today, made 18 rec-
ommendations to reform the ethics program at NIH. They issued
these recommendations in a 68 page report released last week.

To say that the report constitutes nothing more than an apology
for the status quo does it a disservice. It is a report from a panel
that blatantly refused to consider the most important facts. The
panel apparently felt compelled to base its recommendation on
their misplaced need to excuse the inexcusable.

I cite the executive summary, and I am quoting, ‘‘The panel did
not investigate specific allegations or review individual cases.’’ Nor,
apparently, did it do much else except hear testimony from 32 wit-
nesses over 4 days of public hearing, some 28 of which had a direct
financial interest in maintaining the status quo. Three others are
lawyers that developed or defended the rules that perpetuated the
corruption. And finally, the former head of NIH that removed vir-
tually all obstacles to acceptance of gratuities at NIH.

It would appear that the panel had at least some substantial
amount of help in drafting this report from HHS General Counsel.
Mr. Chairman, that office has facilitated destruction of much of the
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legal basis for ethical standards in NIH and it has been largely re-
sponsible for the attempt to cover up the extent of the corruption
at NIH from this subcommittee. Nonetheless, the panel members
are responsible for this public report, and Dr. Zerhouni is the offi-
cial who will be responsible for cleaning up the corrupt practices
at the agency.

Again citing from the report section 5 recommendations page 60,
‘‘The panel believes that with careful oversight and monitoring the
potential conflicts of interests can be effectively avoided.’’ This is
clearly not the case.

I am anxious to hear from the panel representative just how NIH
is supposed to effectively monitor and oversee the for profit activi-
ties of its thousands of employees. I suggest that the report really
proposes is the existing quality control system that might accu-
rately be described as a system of careful twisting of the rules and
an overlooking of the consequences.

I submit for the record a summary of what the panel should have
had but did not consider, specifically: A spreadsheet prepared by
NIH of the employees with current consulting contracts with drug
and biotech companies; a series of PowerPoint slides prepared by
the subcommittee staff off the information contained in that
spreadsheet, and; a series of articles by David Williams from the
L.A. Times that explores some of the stories in detail.

Dr. Zerhouni, I have two recommendations for you. If you are in-
deed serious about restoring the pristine reputation of NIH re-
search, suspend every ethics official in the NIH that has approved
a consulting agreement between a drug or biotech company and an
NIH employee until real investigations, perhaps from the Office of
Inspector General, confirmed that they made a vigorous effort to
determine the extent of any potential conflict. Staff review of the
documents in our possession today suggests that these ethics offi-
cer, by in large, saw their role as facilitating the consulting ar-
rangements rather than protecting the government from conflicts of
potential conflict. The NIH’s own spreadsheet suggests that their
facilitation was a success.

Finally, I would urge you in the strongest possible terms to end
the practice today of NIH researchers taking anything of value
from a drug a biotech company. The conflict is not defendable short
of NIH having supervised each review and every task undertaken,
every work product produced, every piece or advice provided the
drug company and comparing them against current and former
tasks that need to be taken by the Federal Government. Even then
it is hard to imagine how the American taxpayer could possibly be
assured that the employee on the payroll of a drug or biotech com-
pany is always acting in their best interest.

Mr. Chairman, again, I want to thank you for holding this hear-
ing. I look forward to the witnesses.

I yield back any remainder of time.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and notes the

presence of the chairman of the full committee, Mr. Barton. And
we are pleased to have him here, and he recognized for his opening
statement.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I want to commend you for holding this hearing.
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I am going to ask unanimous consent that my formal statement
be put into the record.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Without objection it will.
Chairman BARTON. I am just going to speak extemporaneously.
The NIH is an important asset to our Nation. As such, we dou-

bled its budget over the last 5 years to I think a little over $28 bil-
lion. There is not a member of this subcommittee or the full com-
mittee, or I would even possibly like the House and the Senate,
that does not want the NIH to be absolutely totally successful.

I have the privilege to have a private meeting with Mr. Zerhouni,
and everything that I know about you personally and the informa-
tion that we exchanged indicates to me that you really want to do
nothing but enhance the reputation of the agency that you head.

Having said that, NIH has not been reauthorized in over 10
years. There are some very controversial issues that your agency
deals with, and the Congress has been reluctant to wade into the
fray and engage in the policy debates that need to be debated if we
are going to reauthorize the Institute.

It is my intention in this Congress to reauthorize the NIH, and
I have been working on a bipartisan basis with Ranking Member
Dingell, and I think we are going to be able to do that. We want
NIH to succeed. But we are also concerned that as our staffs have
worked on the policy side and as the oversight investigation staffs
have worked together on this side, the administrative side, we have
found NIH to be less than cooperative, and that’s going to change.

Now, you can go back to your agency and you can tell your direc-
tors and all that the administrative officials that they can cooper-
ate, you know, cooperatively or we will make them cooperate coer-
cively, you know. We are going to get the information that this
staff has asked for and we are going to share it on a bipartisan
basis, and then we are going to see what recommendations, if any,
need to be made.

I am very concerned about the fact that there are large hono-
rariums and consulting fees being paid without any internal or ex-
ternal requirements for disclosure. There was a time in the Con-
gress where a Member of Congress could accept an honorarium, I
think we were capped at $2,000 per speech and I think $30,000 or
$35,000 per year. And those all had to be reported. They could be
used for personal use, but they had to be reported and they had
to be capped.

Apparently within your agency there are little, if any, controls on
that and at least anecdotally there are stories of at least one indi-
vidual getting a half million dollars. I do not know if that is true
or not. But if that is true, at a minimum it needs to be reported
and disclosed, and it might need to be banned.

Now the Blue Ribbon panel that Dr. Augustine chaired, I believe,
held seven hearings over a 2 or 3 month period and made some rec-
ommendations that apparently have not been agreed with. Now,
that could be wrong and you may bring that out in testimony. But
we have to have transparency. We have to have accountability. And
we simply must have the faith of the American people that the re-
search grants that are given at NIH are given because of the merit,
not because somebody got a big honorarium or speaking fee.
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So, this is not a hearing that is being convened for a witch hunt.
Again, we want the NIH to succeed, but we do want to put into
place the proper checks and balances to make sure that the full
faith and trust of the American people can be placed in the agency.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I would yield back.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Joe Barton follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. JOE BARTON, CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON ENERGY
AND COMMERCE

Thank you, Chairman Greenwood for holding this important hearing. The ethics
concerns and the lack of public accountability associated with much of the outside
consulting fees and cash awards received by NIH scientists is yet another reason
the NIH needs to be reauthorized by this Committee.

It has been over a decade since the NIH has been reauthorized. Since that time,
the restrictions on outside consulting have been lifted entirely. Rules on public dis-
closure have been weakened to the point that the Los Angeles Times reported that
94% of NIH’s highest paid employees were not required to publicly disclose their
consulting incomes. These highly paid employees included some scientists who were
paid more than the Vice President of the United States. At the same time restric-
tions were lifted and public disclosure was minimized, the NIH did not even require
the employees to tell the agency the amounts proposed or actually received in order
to get the outside consulting approved.

I am well acquainted from my years as Chairman of this Subcommittee with the
attitude often found at the NIH: the rules don’t apply to us. Now I sense we are
hearing a variation on this theme: If the rules do apply to us, they shouldn’t. Such
permissive attitudes and practices can no longer be tolerated. One can only wonder:
if NIH can be so permissive about the most basic ethical rules in the Federal gov-
ernment, what does this say about NIH’s ability to manage taxpayer dollars and,
most importantly, ensure that taxpayer-supported research gets translated into
cures?

The NIH is the premier medical research institution with nearly a $28 billion ap-
propriation. There must be greater transparency of NIH activities to hold this agen-
cy accountable for the taxpayer investments made. It is an enormous agency requir-
ing much constructive oversight and the strong support of this Committee.

Continued public confidence in the work of the NIH must be assured, especially
at a time when public-private partnerships should be strengthened. Technology
transfer activities of the NIH have helped speed research from the bench to the bed-
side. These efforts have been successful without the need to place NIH scientists on
industry payrolls.

The productive collaborations in clinical research of the Federal government, aca-
demia, and industry have recognized the distinct roles that each of these entities
is best suited for. These roles should not be blurred.

Chairman Greenwood is to be congratulated for his leadership. In this hearing
and others to come, I expect this Subcommittee to reveal the full nature of the prob-
lem of the NIH ethics program. This effort should be considered part of the broader
work of this Committee to modernize and improve the authority of the NIH.

I especially want to welcome Dr. Elias Zerhouni, the Director of the NIH, and I
thank all the witnesses for appearing before the Subcommittee. I look forward to
your testimony.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chairman thanks the gentleman and rec-
ognizes for an opening statement the gentle woman from Colorado,
Ms. DeGette.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
And in the interest of time, I would ask unanimous consent to

put my entire opening statement in the record.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Without objection it will be put in the record.
Ms. DEGETTE. I just would like to mention one thing that really

struck me when I was reading the background materials for today’s
hearing and also a number of the newspaper articles and other ma-
terials about this issue. The Chairman and I had been working for
some time on legislation around human subject protection, as you
know, Dr. Zerhouni. And what struck me was in previous years
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some of the NIH researchers who were on the NIH payroll also had
financial interests in drugs that were being provided to people who
were in these studies. And this was not disclosed to the individuals
in those studies and, in fact, a couple of people died as a result of
some of the drugs they were given in the studies.

The reason I bring this up is because I have always assumed,
and I think Mr. Greenwood has too, that when we are talking
about human subject protection and our legislation, we are sort of
talking about some of these renegade researchers. And what struck
me was these are NIH researchers. These are researchers, the very
top tier researchers in our Nation, and yet they were conducting
human subject research without full disclosure to the patients.

I understand since those studies, which were in recent years, the
NIH has subsequently instituted a rule that prohibits such con-
flicts. But that has only been in recent years. And it just strikes
me, Mr. Chairman, that a little part of us, a little footnote to this
whole investigation is the issue of human subject protection be-
cause if this can happen at our flagship institution in this country,
think about what is going on everyplace else.

And with that, Mr. Chairman, I will yield back the balance of my
time.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Diana DeGette follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. DIANA DEGETTE, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF COLORADO

I want to thank the Chairman for holding this hearing today. Conflicts of interest
issues are so important, particularly in the realm of health and science because of
the vast research potential that can help mankind and the direct impact on individ-
uals. I am very glad to be here today to try to get at the bottom of what I think
is a real scandal.

This issue is of particular interest to me and in fact I have legislation, that I have
worked on in cooperation with our esteemed Chairman, that aims to put key protec-
tions in place for human research subjects. In working on this bill, one of the things
that has become clear is that addressing conflicts of interest issues are crucial; not
only is it important to inform patients whenever conflicts of interest exist that could
directly affect them, but we need to work towards eliminating such conflicts espe-
cially in clinical trials.

I commend Dr. Zerhouni for recognizing that problems exist at the NIH and for
convening the Blue Ribbon Panel (BRP) to look into the situation. I think this was
an important first step. However, I will be honest and let you know right from the
start that I think very serious shortcomings exist within this report and it doesn’t
give me much confidence that the changes I think need to happen will be made.

Just this morning there was a Los Angeles Times article alleging that although
the Blue Ribbon Panel found permissive practices at the NIH, they were not de-
tailed in its final report. I don’t understand why the BRP did not consider it impor-
tant to, at the very least, outline a few examples of the problem. I will be very inter-
ested in our witness’s explanations as to why they made this choice and how they
think they can solve a problem, if the depths of the problem are not illuminated.

This is just one of the reasons that I believe the proposed changes in the BRP
report are seriously flawed. Let me cut to the chase about why else the rec-
ommendations aren’t going to help. Mr. Chairman, unless there is a blanket restric-
tion on outside compensation serious conflicts of interests will continue to exist.

For example, currently honoraria, as such, is not allowed. This ban is essentially
meaningless because NIH employees are allowed to receive thousands of dollars in
consulting fees, awards that come with significant monetary prizes, etc. So if the
BRP recommendations are followed and certain restrictions on consulting fees are
instituted for certain employees, but there is no change to regulations regarding re-
ceipt of bona fide cash awards, then surely we will see a shift to more and larger
cash awards being given to NIH employees from outside companies. The money in-
flux won’t change; it will just shift around so that it fits the new rules.

One of the things that struck me in reading the report is the notion that many
employees, including senior level scientists are increasingly demoralized by the scru-
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tiny and criticism the NIH has received recently in regards to this issue. This is
really too bad because these staff members are simply doing what the rules allow
them to do. However, I think that there is an implication in the report that some-
how it is the media and Congressional condemnation that is the problem, rather
than the issue itself. It is not the fault of the scientists that they are under a ‘‘cloud
of suspicion’’ as it is characterized in the report, it is the unethical system that has
created this situation.

The good news is there is a very easy solution. Clean up the system entirely and
the ‘‘cloud’’ and all the investigations and news stories all disappear. It seems crys-
tal clear to me. Remove big money from the equation entirely and the integrity of
that great institution that is the National Institute of Health is restored.

Mr. Chairman as you may be aware two Members of this Committee, Mr. Brown
and Mr. Waxman wrote ten drug companies in March asking about payments to
NIH employees. Only two provided responsive answers, Schering Plough and Abbott
Labs.

I ask that both responses be added to the record because they contain several in-
stances of payments that are apparently current but that NIH did not include on
its spreadsheets. This may be because the employees did not report the income as
required or it may be because the information collection apparatus at NIH failed
to include those consulting payments in response to your request.

In either case it is disturbing that an Agency that makes the sanctity of data col-
lection an article of faith seems does not seem to be up to supplying data requested
to Congress. Apparently, this Committee should seek information directly from
firms in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries since the government agency
cannot provide a complete record.

Thank you again for holding this hearing and I look forward to hearing the testi-
mony of our witnesses.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady, and recog-
nizes the gentleman from Oregon, Mr. Walden, for an opening
statement.

Mr. WALDEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
I have a prepared statement I would like to insert in the record.
And I just want to say, like my other colleagues, I think we are

all very supportive of the NIH and the great work that is done by
your extraordinary scientists to bring us cures to disease and ill-
ness and new research for drugs and other techniques to improve
the lives of Americans. And just as NIH is on the cutting edge of
research, I think what we are saying is you need to be on the cut-
ting edge of ethics, too. And the problems that have come up are
serious and they are ones that need to be addressed. And I know
that you have inherited these as you have come on board only re-
cently, and a lot of changes occurred upwards of 10 years ago. But
they are now out there and we are going to look at them closely,
and we should. Because the research needs to be above question
both at NIH and every other institution in America, as well as in
journals where they publish medical research, too. We need to
know that the information being provided, the research that is
being done is above question when it comes to the ethics. And I
know you agree on that. So look forward to working with you on
this.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Greg Walden follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. GREG WALDEN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF OREGON

Chairman Greenwood, thank you for holding this hearing.
I am an enthusiastic advocate for the National Institutes of Health. NIH research

yields miraculous breakthroughs that save lives and dramatically improve the qual-
ity of life for those with once-untreatable diseases and medical conditions.
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I am proud that Congress kept its commitment to doubling the NIH budget. I sup-
ported this ambitious endeavor every step of the way.

One thing that we have been abruptly reminded of by recent news accounts is
that the questionable actions of a few can tarnish the good, honest work being done
by others. Additionally, even the appearance of impropriety and conflict-of-interest
can have a devastating affect. Congress and the American taxpayer have invested
in NIH, and in a way, we place our hopes and wishes in the hands of NIH research-
ers. These hopes for a cure and wishes for loved ones to recover from illnesses are
more valuable than any cash award or stock option that NIH researchers and staff
might receive from extramural consulting agreements.

I applaud NIH Director Zerhouni’s initiative in forming a Blue Ribbon Panel on
Conflict of Interest Policies. Now that the Blue Ribbon Panel’s report has been re-
leased the hard work begins. Do the Panel’s recommendations go far enough? Will
the recommendations truly avert conflicts of interest—both real and perceived? If
the answers to these questions are not ‘‘yes,’’ then work remains to be done. The
report’s recommendations are a good start. I am interested to hear how these rec-
ommendations will be put into practice. Finally, I challenge NIH to press forward
and continue to find ways to strengthen these policies, so that the hard-earned and
well-deserved image of NIH is not tarnished.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman, and recog-
nizes the chairman of the Health Subcommittee, the gentleman
from Florida, Mr. Bilirakis for an opening statement.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you. And thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man. And, again, my gratitude, too, for you holding this hearing
and for all the investigations you all have conducted.

Drs. Zerhouni, Alberts and Augustine, we thank you of course for
taking time to be here and for all the work you have done leading
up to this hearing.

I had not intended to make an opening statement. I had intended
to come in here and just sort of listen to you all before jumping to
any conclusions. And I would like to think that I have not jumped
to any conclusions.

We hold these hearings to learn, and we certainly should not be
prejudging before we listen to you and have an opportunity to ask
you questions. But I would say that you have got to know that we
are besieged by our constituents and by disease, many many dis-
ease-specific groups.

I have chaired the Health Subcommittee for quite a few years.
I do not think I knew that there were so many diseases out there.
It is just amazing. I sometimes feel, I do not know, like maybe an
undertaker or whatever it is and particularly so when the constitu-
ents will come in or, as I said before, representatives of disease-
specific groups with a child who is ill with a certain disease. And
so many comes in, ALS, and whatnot. And what do they ask for?
They beg for an increase in research funding at the NIH.

And I have to tell that we formulated a sort of a policy here
sometime ago, going back to when the other party was in charge,
where you know we did not think that this ivory tower of the Con-
gress should make decisions on how much money should go to re-
search for a specific disease. We do not know. We figured, you
know, they might be on the cusp of a real breakthrough in a par-
ticular disease and we are we to basically say. And Dr. Zerhouni
have discussed this. And who are to basically say that you have got
to shift dollars from this to this, or whatever the case may be.

And yet these same people that are already heartbroken after
they have sat down and talked to me and other people on this com-
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mittee and in this Congress, and they pick up the newspaper and
they read some of these things that are taking place.

Now, you know, is it truly a conflict of interest in terms of does
it play a part in the decisionmaking in terms of where the dollars
go for research, which specific disease and which specific research?
I do not know. But I am here to tell you, and I know you are intel-
ligent enough to realize this, that perception and image is really
sometimes a hell of a lot more significant than fact. So how much
these families feel when they pick up these newspaper articles and
read about this stuff and whatnot.

So this is critical. And as Chairman Barton said, you know, we
double funded. We made a promise back in the mid-’90’s, and I
guess there are quite a few promises that we do not fulfill; I think
we intend to but we do not. But that is one that fulfilled. And yet
I just do not think that the people at NIH are doing their share
in terms of fulfilling promises to the sick people of our country re-
garding their disease and whatnot.

I have often been very concerned and curious, and curious under-
lined, as to how NIH allocates the funding and whatnot and what
criteria they use. And I am not sure that we have ever really got-
ten a handle on specifically how what criteria you use. But some
of these things that are taking place, the consulting fees and the
speaking fees and whatnot, playing a part in all that, well whether
they are or not, I don’t know. But it sure as heck is a perception
out there, reasonably so, that that is taking place.

So I hope that you do a good job here this morning trying to ex-
plain to us, maybe answer all of these concerns that we have. But
not only for ourselves, but also for the sick people out there in
America who depend on you so very much. Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman for his in-

sights.
Prior to introducing our panel, the Chair would ask unanimous

consent that this binder be incorporated into the record. It includes
several pieces of correspondence from the Department of Health
and Human Services, a series of articles from the Los Angeles
Times and the Blue Ribbon report is incorporated in here, as are
spreadsheets supplied to this subcommittee from the NIH con-
cerning outside consulting agreements. And without objection, that
will be incorporated into the record.

[The information referred to appears at the end of the hearing.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. And now I have the privilege to introduce our

panel. Thank you for your patience and listening to our opening
statements.

And the first of our witnesses is the Honorable Elias Zerhouni.
Dr. Zerhouni is the Director of National Institutes of Health. And
let me say again and for the record, I think you are the best thing
that ever happened to the NIH. I think the skills that you have
brought toward reorganizing the NIH, to making its mission clear,
the administration of the NIH, your vision are exemplary and I
think your commitment to ethics is second to none.

And I regret that—I know that you would have liked to have
been spending a lot more time working on the mission of NIH than
responding to our requests, and I am sorry for that. We have im-
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portant work to do. We are going to get it done. And I am very op-
timistic when this process is over, we all will be better off for it
and so will the NIH, and so will all of the patients, that Mr. Bili-
rakis has just referred to.

We also have with us Dr. Bruce Alberts who is President of the
National Academy of Science. And we welcome you. We thank you
for your service in heading up this Blue Ribbon Commission.

And we also have Dr. Normal Augustine, Ph.D, Co-Chair of the
Blue Ribbon Panel on Conflict of Interest Policies for the NIH.

Welcome to all of you.
It is the practice of this committee to take its testimony under

oath, and so I need to ask if any of you have any objections to giv-
ing your testimony under oath? I see no objections.

I need to advise you that pursuant to the Rules of the House, you
are entitled to be represented by counsel. Any of you request to be
represented by counsel? I would think not. Okay.

In that instance would you rise and raise your right hands,
please.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. You are under oath.
And Dr. Zerhouni, the floor is yours for your opening statement.

TESTIMONY OF HON. ELIAS A. ZERHOUNI, DIRECTOR, NA-
TIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH; BRUCE ALBERTS, PRESI-
DENT, NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCE; AND NORMAN AU-
GUSTINE, CO-CHAIR, BLUE RIBBON PANEL ON CONFLICT OF
INTEREST POLICIES

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and mem-
bers of the subcommittee, ranking member.

I am pleased to have this opportunity to be here and testify
about our agency’s ethics program. And before I do, I would like to
really tell you that my intent and the intent of the agency is to
work in parallel with you and your concerns and address them
fully. I do not think the American people can afford to have an
agency like NIH with any taint, shadow, or cloud over its head. So
you have my commitment, and I think you have the commitment
of all of NIH to do it as quickly, as effectively as we can within the
constraints that you well know are always around a complex agen-
cy like the NIH.

So having said that, I believe that NIH has had great success in
improving public health thanks to the resources you mentioned
provided by the Congress and the President and the talent of our
scientists. But without the trust of the American public, there is
no progress that will be possible, and we need to address that.

This trust must be sustained. This committee, the subcommittee
has raised questions about the NIH ethics process. Your questions
must be answered because our public health mission is too impor-
tant to have it undermined by any real or perceived conflicts of in-
terests.

I want to personally thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of
the subcommittee, for helping me in identifying what you perceive
as weaknesses in NIH’s ethics policies and systems. The Chairman
has supported our efforts to review and reform ethics rules and
procedures of the agency. Mr. Chairman, I also appreciate very
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much your leadership, your fairness and the constructive guidance
that you have provided me and NIH throughout this process. We
are looking forward to continuing to work with the subcommittee
in a process that I agree cannot be finite because this situation
evolves, in that the relationship of science, industry, development
of new treatments, and new cures is one that is constantly chang-
ing and we need to be able to be adaptive to that reality.

First, let me tell you how we internally within the authority of
the agency, started to address these issues before the media re-
ports. In July of 2003 as we started looking because of your inquiry
into awards. We then immediately realized, I realized and I made
the observation that the consistency of our rules across the complex
agency were not what they should be. And when I learned of that
and evaluated that, we immediately moved to develop a trans-NIH
ethics advisory committee that would report directly to me in my
own office to review the activities of all high level officials and of
all relationships related to industry, biotech, or any relationship
that could be construed as influencing a granting decision or a re-
source allocation decision. That was step one.

Let me give you an example. Because of this panel, we were able
then to instruct that all existing consulting relationships with
pharmaceutical or biotech firms be stopped and resubmitted to this
trans-NIH ethics advisory committee to address this issue of blur
that some of you have mentioned and resubmit it to the advisory
committee for review and reapproval before they could proceed.

Working through the Department of Health and Human Serv-
ices, we looked at the issue of disclosure. Chairman Barton raised
the issue of a $500,000 award, I am not clear about what that is.
I suspect this is a prize that was given to one of our directors, and
I believe that was disclosed publicly. But when you looked at the
disclosure levels, you realized that because of Office of Government
Ethics rules related to the payment mechanism that we used, that
through this mechanism you could have internal disclosure—and
let me make sure everybody understands.

We always have internal disclosure of these activities as they oc-
curred. But external disclosure would not occur.

So we immediately asked the HHS and the Office of Government
Ethics to close this inadvertent loophole in ethics regulation that
does not require public disclosure of financial statements of some
of NIH’s most senior and highest salaried personnel. OGE ap-
proved our request and extended a number of public filers at NIH.
As a result, all senior scientific personnel within the jurisdiction of
the NIH Director are now required to file. That includes directors
of institutes and all their deputies and anyone in charge of a grant-
ing program.

This week we submitted a second request to the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics. Following the Blue Ribbon panel reports, I felt that
it was time to move and extend because we heard the recommenda-
tion. We are now asking that all policymakers and those who mar-
shal any resource in the public interest be required to file public
financial disclosure reports. Our request to the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics relates to 500 new additional positions that we would
like to have disclosed.
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As a result of your inquiries, we learned that the majority of NIH
scientists who consult for pharmaceutical or biotechnology compa-
nies are not required under current rules to disclose the specific
amounts and type of compensation. They have to disclose the rela-
tionship. But because of the rules that we are under, which are not
NIH rules, these are government-wide rules, we could not request,
supposedly, that amount. We have changed that in the context of
current agreements. I asked that this rule be changed, and we
were able to have employees submit these compensation amounts
for all current and future consulting arrangements. And I think we
submitted all of that information to your committee, subcommittee,
Mr. Chairman, in March.

The issue of not being able to provide you all of the information
that you needed, frankly, goes beyond my own authority to do. And
it relates to the balance between the Privacy Act and the regula-
tions that we can effect. And I think your staff has been well in-
formed of that, and you have my commitment that whatever I can
do within the rules and regulations and the advice that I receive,
I will do. And this is my promise to you.

Finally, I created a Blue Ribbon panel because I realized, as you
did, that in fact these issues were not just of marginal changes or
misinterpretation. I believe personally, given my previous experi-
ence, that when you see a situation like this it is not just an acci-
dent. A system is designed to produce the results that you observe.
So I believe right away that what we needed to do was do a system
review. And I asked that the Blue Ribbon panel be formed to re-
view existing laws, regulations, policies and procedures under
which NIH operates. And I asked the committee to leave no stone
unturned. I put no limits on their ability to obtain data, obtain in-
formation except that I felt that it was very important, and as I
expressed to you Mr. Chairman, it was very important in this situ-
ation to state correctly what the problem is and continue in the
work of the investigative process of all of the other things that
have happened, that I do not think we can have the period of time
while we deliberate glaring deficiencies will remain uncorrected.

So that was my goal here, and I think we have made some
progress. And I agree with you that we have to look at balancing
issues that come from that. I told the Blue Ribbon panel that the
principles that we, NIH, myself wanted to apply, and we have been
public on that.

No. 1 is transparency. No. 2 is full disclosure, and there is a dif-
ference between the two. Full disclosure internally is not fully
transparent. Transparency to me relates to the interaction with the
public. Full disclosure means do you have the exact content of the
relationship well understood by the third component, which is an
independent peer review mechanism that understands the science,
not just ethics officers who may be well versed in the law of ethics
but not well versed in the details of how science gets done.

And fourth, a monitoring process that will allow us to make sure
that we are not going to deviate in the future from those principles.

I also have to tell you as NIH Director that although it would
be easier, quicker, more satisfying to basically create a blanket pro-
hibition, the reality of science is such that you do need to have
interactions between scientists and their colleagues both within
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academia and within industry. It is also a public interest, a policy
interest of the United States to have translation of these findings
be effective. And we have heard that through the many admonish-
ments that Congress has asked our agency to follow. And yet, at
the same time, we cannot forget that the primary interest is the
public trust.

So we have three interests; public trust first, making sure the
translation is effective. But to make that translation effective, you
do need the best people that you can recruit. Those three things
are very hard to balance, and I want to testify to the fact that we
should keep the dialog open. And I am more than happy to provide
the data and the information that would enlighten all of us to-
gether into what is the best policy framework that we need to de-
velop.

I have reviewed the panel’s recommendations. I find them to be
constructive and it’s a good approach to improve the NIH ethics
program. I think that we need to implement the recommendations
of the Blue Ribbon panel which improve the trajectory of where we
want to be, and do it as diligently as we can either within my au-
thority and if it’s not within my own authority, I will work with
the department, and the Office of Government Ethics to implement
these recommendations as we go forward; modified, obviously, by
the process that we’re undergoing with you, Mr. Chairman.

In sum, I think these actions have strengthened NIH, the actions
we have taken have strengthened NIH’s process not to the point of
perfection. But let me state here just as in a concluding portion of
my testimony, what I think is essentially different about what is
being proposed.

One, policy interest No. 1 is public trust. How can we ensure
public trust? Well, make sure that no individual who is responsible
for program funding decisions and recommendations or professional
management of grants or review of grants—we have a very bal-
anced process at NIH with multiple levels of checks and balances.
It’s very hard for me to see how someone alone can have a granting
capability. However, that being said, I think that the recommenda-
tion of the Blue Ribbon panel that excludes any and all officials
that have those responsibilities from any consulting with not just
pharmaceutical and biotech companies, but also paid consulting
from academia, is a good recommendation. I think we should imple-
ment it and it will preserve, give me, Director of NIH the assur-
ance that there is a layer of government scientists which is com-
pletely immune to any potential interference. So that I think is a
step that we need to do. This is pretty different than whatever hap-
pened before and whatever happens in universities or any other in-
stitution. This is an innovative step and I think it’s a good step.
And I think we need to take that.

I will reaffirm the prohibition against NIH scientists conducting
research involving human subjects having financial relationships
with any organization whose interest could be effected by their re-
search. We have always used that rule. I am not sure that trans-
gressions occurred. We should look at that. Nonetheless, the prin-
ciple should be implemented as we speak today and we should be
reaffirming this principle making sure it sticks.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00027 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



20

I will propose that employees engage in compensated outside ac-
tivities be prohibited from compensation in the form of stock or
other forms of equity ownership. This is a major departure from
prior policy. This is a recommendation of the Blue Ribbon panel
that does not apply just to employees with responsibilities, but it
will apply to every employee of NIH. This is, I think, a major move
and I think we should give credit where credit is due, and that is
the Blue Ribbon panel giving us a clear recommendation in that re-
gard.

I will set in place policies and procedures which give full consid-
eration of the appropriateness of recusals. I personally believe that
recusals should be used only in the most limited circumstances
when the employee has an unavoidable conflict, like for example a
spouse working for an organization. But recusals that relate to the
authority of the employee should be limited to the most extreme
exceptions. There may be some, but we have to be very careful.

Principle two is increase transparency. In this case, working with
HHS and OGE, as I told you, we have increased the public disclo-
sure requirements. I will aggressively seek additional authorities to
require more employees to disclose their outside activities where
appropriate, including disclosure of relevant outside relationships
and financial holdings in connection with research, publications,
speeches, inventions, clinical research. The Blue Ribbon panel has
considered this issue.

And let me just state the principle, I think, that we, NIH Direc-
tor and my own directors, have stated publicly in a testimony in
the Senate when asked whether there is any reason why you would
not want to disclose an existing outside relationship. My answer to
this is there should be no reason. If you cannot disclose that rela-
tionship, then you should not have that relationship. That is a
clear principle I want to be on the record to tell you that this is
what I believe in, this is what my scientists believe in. It is the
rules and regulations, complex as they are as pointed out by the
Blue Ribbon panel, that prevented this clarity from occurring.

Let me tell you, I am committed to make sure that whatever we
need to do we will do, so that in the context of relationships with
industry, biotech, any conflicting relationship; and that we find
ways of making sure that that relationship is publicly disclosed.

I understand the Privacy Act issues. I understand that people in
their outside time on their own time have the right to privacy. But
when it comes to activities that are so closely related to their gov-
ernment function, I think we should exclude that from the general
government ethics rules under which all agencies of the govern-
ment are working. So we will look forward to find creative ways of
making sure that that principle of full transparency be imple-
mented, however, we need to get there. It may take us some time.
We can do what we can do today, but frankly this is a principle
that I want to be clear about: increasing the transparency.

There is no doubt also that the rules do prevent, as they stand
today, fair, good, honest scientific interchange in the form of writ-
ing and teaching and reviewing and conferencing with colleagues.
This is something that the Blue Ribbon has looked at. For activities
under very limited dollar amounts and other activities, I think as
Director of NIH, as a scientific manager, we have to be very careful
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to not put that in the same category as drug company business re-
lationships. That’s the bread and butter of scientific interactions. I
hear your comments, I understand your concerns but I plead with
you to be open minded about the academic activities of our sci-
entists. They are important to science.

And last, we will establish effective monitoring and oversight
mechanisms. We want to have a central data base that will record
all of those activities. One of the issues we found is the disconnect
sometimes between the very complex forms. And I have to tell you,
the Blue Ribbon panel got an education in the law of ethics about
this. If you knew the number of forms and requirements; 520’s,
278s, 450s and all of those things, you can see how the employees
really become confused. We need to clarify and simplify it and have
it in one place so that the recusal, if it ever exists for that indi-
vidual, is in the same place as the disclosure from that scientist.
We want to commit to build probably a paragon, an example, of
how you can manage ethics with a transparent fashion by having
this central data base and full disclosure.

So I just wanted to convey to you that we want to work with you.
I cannot afford, nor can our scientists afford, any sense that we are
transparent and not willing to reform as deeply as we need to re-
form so that this taint that you are worried about, concerned about
disappears.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I’m ready to answer any of your ques-
tions.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Elias A. Zerhouni follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ELIAS A. ZERHOUNI, DIRECTOR, NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF
HEALTH, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

NIH’s mission is to generate new knowledge to improve health. The outcomes of
NIH research affect the lives of every American and increasingly people around the
world. Medical research leads to new diagnostics, treatments and prevention strate-
gies—and these medical interventions must be founded on the veracity of the data
and on the unimpeachable integrity of the individuals who conduct the research and
oversee the research enterprise.

Recently Congress has questioned the relationships of some NIH employees with
outside organizations. Our public health mission is too important to have it under-
mined by any real or perceived conflicts of interest. And to this point, I am aggres-
sively developing and implementing new conflict of interest policies, revamping re-
view of activities with outside organizations and working to increase transparency
by expanding the number of employees who file internal and public financial disclo-
sure reports.

I want to personally thank Chairman Greenwood and Members of the Sub-
committee for helping me to identify potential weaknesses in NIH’s ethics policies
and systems and for supporting my efforts to review and reform ethics rules and
procedures at the Agency. I appreciate both your leadership and the constructive
guidance you provided on this very important issue.
New and Ongoing Changes to NIH’s Management of Conflict of Interest:

I want to describe actions I have taken in response to concerns about NIH’s man-
agement of conflict of interest.

I began reviewing ethics rules, policies and practices last July, when this Sub-
committee raised questions about NIH employees receiving lecture awards. I believe
NIH scientists must remain eligible to receive recognition for their work in the form
of legitimate awards. However, NIH scientists should not be accepting awards that
are merely a ruse to provide compensation, and we will develop a system to increase
uniformity and track the determinations of NIH’s senior ethics officials as to wheth-
er an award can be accepted by NIH employees.

On November 20, 2003, I wrote to all senior managers at NIH advising them to
exercise great prudence in entering into any arrangement that could reflect poorly
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on NIH or could create the appearance of conflict, even in cases where the arrange-
ments are permitted by law (emphasis added).

In the same memorandum, I announced the creation of the new NIH Ethics Advi-
sory Committee (NEAC) in the Office of the Director to provide independent peer
review of activities involving outside organizations. The NEAC, which conducted its
first meeting on January 20, advises the NIH Deputy Ethics Counselor (DEC) on
conflicts of interest and helps to ensure that activities involving acceptance of com-
pensation from outside sources receive uniform oversight at the NIH. NEAC reviews
applications for proposed activities with outside organizations that stand the great-
est chance of posing risks to NIH’s objectivity, or appearances thereof, including,
where an award is valued at $2,500 or more; where total income from an activity
with an outside organization exceeds $10,000 or is unknown; where outside com-
pensation is in the form of equity; where the activity involves a drug or biotech com-
pany; or where the activity involves senior NIH leaders (e.g., scientific and clinical
directors).

Co-chaired by the NIH Deputy Ethics Counselor (DEC) and Deputy Director for
Intramural Research, the NEAC consists of ten rotating members and two ex-officio
ethics advisors, all of whom are full-time federal employees. The rotating members
are nominated by IC Directors and appointed by the Co-chairs. Membership rep-
resents the categories of employees submitting proposals to the NEAC, including IC
Directors and Deputy Directors, Scientific Directors, Clinical Directors, Extramural
Directors, OD Senior staff, and others.

During the centralized NIH review, committee members review each proposed ac-
tivity to help assess whether it creates an actual or apparent a conflict of interest.
The committee reviews the proposals based on criteria set forth in the Standards
of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch promulgated by the U.S.
Office of Government Ethics (OGE) and the supplemental Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS) regulations.

To ensure oversight of activities that had already been approved prior to the cre-
ation of NEAC, we also instructed that all existing consulting relationships with
pharmaceutical or biotechnology firms be stopped and resubmitted to NEAC for its
review and input, before they could be reapproved, if appropriate, by the NIH DEC.

The Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services and the
General Accounting Office also initiated their own, separate reviews of ethics proc-
esses at NIH. In addition, OGE accelerated its regularly scheduled review of the
NIH ethics program. We welcome these inquiries and are cooperating with the var-
ious reviewers.

On January 12, 2004, at my request, Dr. Raynard Kington, the Deputy Director
of NIH, was appointed to be the new Deputy Ethics Counselor for the Agency. Com-
mensurate with his appointment, the role of the NIH DEC has been expanded be-
yond the staff of my office and the Institute and Center Directors to include Insti-
tute and Center Deputy Directors, Scientific Directors, Clinical Directors and Extra-
mural Program Directors.

Regarding the important issue of public disclosure, working through the Depart-
ment of Health and Human Services, I asked that the Office of Government Ethics
grant approvals to require increased public disclosure of financial statements of
some of NIH’s most senior and highest-salaried personnel. OGE approved the re-
quest on February 6, and as a result, all senior scientific personnel within the juris-
diction of the NIH DEC are now required to file public financial disclosure state-
ments. Although many of these individuals were already filing public financial dis-
closure forms, they will now be required to do so. Recently, a second request was
submitted to OGE to require additional high-level personnel at NIH to file public
financial disclosure reports.

In addition, because the majority of NIH employees who file financial disclosure
forms are required to use the OGE-450 financial disclosure form, which does not re-
quest the amounts of compensation paid by outside organizations, and because the
approval process focuses on the nature of the activity and the identity of the outside
organization rather than the compensation paid, the amounts paid to NIH employ-
ees in connection with their activities with outside organizations has in many cases
not been collected or reported either internally or externally. I requested that the
Department ask OGE to revisit this approach and, as a result, NIH employees are
now required to submit these compensation amounts for all current and future con-
sulting arrangements in their request for approval of activities with outside organi-
zations. Furthermore, to the extent that additional NIH employees will be required
to file public financial disclosure forms, these amounts will be collected and reported
on such forms.

As part of our internal policy review, we are also asking employees to disclose
compensation amounts for expired activities with outside organizations. I personally
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believe we should know those amounts, and so I requested that the Department
work with OGE to find a way, consistent with the Privacy Act, which places limits
on collection of identifiable information by the federal government, to ask for these
amounts. The Department was successful in doing so, and so we have been able to
ask employees for these dollar amounts. We have carefully considered, including in-
ternal discussions with legal counsel and others, to what extent we can and should
order that employees must provide this information instead of voluntarily request-
ing it. After such consideration, it is our understanding that asking for this informa-
tion on a voluntary basis is the most appropriate and prudent way to proceed. We
have also been cooperative in providing this information we have collected for our
internal policy review to the Subcommittee where it has asked for the information.
The Blue Ribbon Panel:

Finally, I created the Blue Ribbon Panel on Conflict of Interest Policies to review
existing laws, regulations, policies, and procedures under which NIH operates re-
garding real and apparent financial conflicts of interest where compensation is re-
ceived by employees. I also charged the Panel with reviewing public financial disclo-
sure rules and procedures. The panel began its review on March 1 and made its
recommendations to the standing Advisory Committee to the NIH Director May 6.
The recommendations were adopted by the Advisory Committee and submitted to
me on the same day.

The Blue Ribbon Panel operated with extraordinary speed. Norm Augustine and
Bruce Alberts, the panel’s co-chairs, as well as all the panel members, served with
distinction and performed a great public service. They deserve gratitude and re-
spect, and I thank them for their extraordinary efforts. Dr. Alberts and Mr. Augus-
tine are here to testify and answer your questions.

In reviewing the Panel’s report, I was impressed with the degree to which they
looked closely at both NIH policies and its procedures. The Panel also explored regu-
lations of other Agencies and the rules, regulations, and laws set in place by the
HHS, the Office of Government Ethics (OGD), and the Congress. And in making rec-
ommendations, they did as I asked—they did not limit themselves to what was in
my authority to change—rather I asked them to make any and all recommendations
that would improve NIH’s management of conflict of interest. I told them that
where I did not have the authority to implement change, I would seek the help of
HHS and OGE.

I have reviewed all of the Panel’s recommendations and plan to move ahead as
appropriate.

In sum, these actions have already significantly strengthened NIH’s internal over-
sight of ethics matters and continue to do so in the future.
Next steps: Principles and Policies

After nine months of review and listening to the concerns of the public, and after
examining the recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Panel, I want to unveil my
plans for further improving NIH’s ethics program. My plans are based on four main
principles:
1) Enhance public trust in NIH by preventing conflicts of interest through the re-

striction of financial relationships employees may have with outside organiza-
tions;

2) Increase levels of transparency in the NIH ethics program by requiring much
more internal as well as public disclosure of the details of financial relation-
ships employees have with outside organizations, including consulting arrange-
ments and awards;

3) Balance NIH’s ability to recruit and retain the best scientific expertise while ex-
pediting the translation of research advances;

4) Establish effective monitoring and oversight of employee activities.
I will seek to implement actions in response to these principles, as appropriate,

through administrative actions, and supplemental regulations.
Principle One: Enhance Public Trust
• I will seek to prohibit NIH senior management and NIH extramural employees

who are responsible for program funding decisions and recommendations, and
professional staff managing grants and contracts and publication review from
consulting with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies or from paid con-
sulting for academia, except in the case of the clinical practice of medicine.

• I will reaffirm the prohibition against NIH scientists participating in research in-
volving human subjects where the scientist has a personal or imputed financial
interest in an organization whose interests would be directly and predictably af-
fected by his research, except in those exceptional cases where the interest is
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not so substantial as to be deemed likely to affect the integrity of the employee’s
services to the Government or is otherwise subject to regulatory exemptions.

• I will propose that employees engaged in compensated activities with outside or-
ganizations be, in future, prohibited from compensation in the form of stock or
other forms of equity ownership in the companies for whom they are working.

• I will set into place polices and procedures to fully consider the extent to which
the recusals necessitated by an approved activities with outside organizations
have an effect on the ability of senior scientific managers and decision makers
to conduct their government work. NIH will clarify the use of recusals that are
required because of financial relationships with outside organizations. We will
require a uniform policy for informing relevant personnel of who is recused and
establish a new process for monitoring recusals.

Principle Two: Increase Transparency
• NIH, working with HHS and OGE, has already increased the number of senior

managers who must publicly disclose their compensated activities with outside
organizations and the amounts received. These are interim steps. I will aggres-
sively seek additional authorities to require more employees to disclose their ac-
tivities with outside organizations, where appropriate, including disclosure of
relevant relationships and financial holdings in connection with research publi-
cations, speeches, inventions, and clinical research. As I have said previously,
public disclosure and transparency will be the cornerstone of the NIH ethics
program.

• I will ask NIH employees to voluntarily disclose all relevant relationships with
outside organizations and financial holdings in their work products, such as
publications, speeches, and invention disclosures. And I will seek changes to
regulations to make such disclosures a requirement.

Principle Three: Recruit and Retain Best Scientific Expertise While Expe-
diting Translation of Research Advances

• I will propose that regulations allow NIH scientists to receive compensation for
teaching, speaking or writing about their research, but only if the information
is shared in a public forum and has already appeared in published literature.

• NIH will continue to allow certain types of consulting arrangements, teaching and
lecturing opportunities, receipt of bona fide awards, and collaborations with the
private sector, but only under clear, rigorous rules meant to eliminate real and
appearances of conflict of interest. Consulting, collaborating and teaching must
continue in order to expedite the translation of research advances, but only
under clear guidelines.

Principle Four: Establish Effective Monitoring and Oversight Mechanisms
• I will seek to limit the amount of time spent on consulting and the amount of

compensation received annually. The limits proposed by the Blue Ribbon Panel
will be considered as the draft regulation is developed.

• NIH will improve its ability to manage and track approved activities with outside
organizations by increasing the accountability of managers, creating a central-
ized data base, centralizing review of senior managers and scientists, con-
ducting random audits of files pertaining to activities with outside organiza-
tions, and continuing the rigorous peer review conducted by the NEAC.

• NIH will develop and implement a new, more understandable method of training
employees on ethics rules, and we will establish a web site that displays rules
in plain language, updates employees on regulatory trends and changes and dis-
cusses—anonymously—ongoing cases as examples of best practices or unaccept-
able practices.

Much of the discussion about ethics policies and procedures at NIH has been un-
necessarily negative. NIH employees have great integrity. In retrospect, the policies
and rules could have been even stricter, their implementation could have been more
efficient and oversight could have been more rigorous. But for better or worse, this
was the system NIH employees had to negotiate.

As we move forward, all of us, the NIH leadership, HHS, OGE, and the Congress,
will have to strike a careful balance between maintaining public trust in NIH and
allowing appropriate interactions between NIH scientists, industry, academia and
all elements of the research community.

Collaborations with the non-governmental research community are vital, not only
for understanding and advancing science, but for translating our knowledge into ac-
tual medical practice and treatment. We should be more transparent, more vigilant
about oversight, and we need to tighten the rules. But it would be a mistake to ban
all compensated activities with outside organizations. Such an action would be bad
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for science, unfair to the employees, and ultimately hinder our efforts to improve
the nation’s health.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you very much, Dr. Zerhouni.
Dr. Alberts, you are recognized for an opening statement. And

Dr. Augustine, you are going to speak for the Commission.

TESTIMONY OF NORMAN AUGUSTINE

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes, please. We will share our remarks. I’ll
begin.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, we welcome the
opportunity to share with you our findings in our review of conflict
of interest policies at the NIH.

We are very well aware of the support that this committee has
given to NIH over the years, and also the expectations you have
for the NIH and I might add that we, as private citizens are shar-
ing those expectations.

Dr. Alberts and I today appear on behalf of the entire members
of our panel, a list of which is attached in the submittal. And we
do appreciate your including our formal statement for the record.
Dr. Alberts and I will briefly summarize it in a more informal fash-
ion this morning with the committee’s permission.

Our panel, as you know, was established at the request of Dr.
Zerhouni. We were asked to complete our work in 90 days because
of the urgency that the NIH assigned to this particular issue.

As has been mentioned, we were asked to focus on policy issues,
not on specific cases. And the reason for that was that there are
least three other investigations underway by official government
agencies into specific matters.

During our efforts we had over 30 witnesses appear before us
from a variety of perspectives. We established a website at NIH
which we received responses from over 300 employees of NIH with
respect to a series of questions we had asked of them. We spoke
one-on-one generally, often by telephone with the director of all 27
institutes and centers of NIH and we put the notice in the Federal
Register that we would welcome input from the public.

NIH, as has been pointed out several times this morning, is in-
deed a great national asset, a treasure. Its impact on health, not
only in America but throughout the world, has clearly been pro-
found. The more we learned about NIH the more apparent it be-
came to us that NIH’s principal asset, far above anything else,
were the scientists and the clinicians that worked for the institutes
and the centers.

The easiest thing in the world for us to have done would have
been simply to have put an outright ban on all consulting, to insist
that everybody’s related personal activities, emphasize related, be
placed on the web. But we were also mindful of the fact that there
were at least two ways that we could damage NIH even though our
efforts would be well meaning.

The first of those would be that if we were to recommend policies
with regard to conflicts of interest that were too liberal, too easy
and the NIH were to continue to suffer from publicity of apparent
conflict of interest violations, that this could be very damaging to
the support for the NIH by the public, damaging to its science and
damaging to those who put their faith in the NIH. On the other
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hand, we also realized that if we placed recommended rules that
were so restrictive and some analytical to common accepted prac-
tices in the scientific community, we truly believed that it would
be very hard to hire the world class scientists, many of whom have
decades of education, to serve the NIH’s role.

Similarly, we encountered the fact that NIH researches, as all
other citizens, have certain rights to privacy in their private life.
By the same token, those of us who depend upon NIH researchers,
the public, have every right to be aware of what activities there are
in their private lives that might impact their impartiality of car-
rying out their responsibilities as public servants.

Further, we were well aware that it’s inappropriate for a private
organization to benefit from government sponsored work in a dis-
criminatory fashion. At the same time, we realized that it’s almost
through the activities of commercial firms that the basic research
conducted at NIH is able to impact the health of America’s citi-
zenry.

Considering these factors, we arrived at three principal findings,
which I will just generalize and Dr. Zerhouni has really touched on
them very thoroughly.

The first is that we recommend that the NIH conflict of interest
policies be substantially tightened, they be made more restrictive
particularly for the senior leadership at NIH.

Second, we believe that more disclosure by more people both pub-
lic and private is very much needed.

And third, we believe that in cases where there are not conflicts
of interest, that steps should be taken to give scientists the latitude
to participate in the accepted cultural approaches practiced by the
scientific community at large.

Well, that is a brief introduction. Let me ask Dr. Alberts to use
our remaining 5 minutes to summarize some of the specific instruc-
tions.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Alberts, you are recognized.

TESTIMONY OF BRUCE ALBERTS

Mr. ALBERTS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
There are 18 recommendations in our report, and you have them

and I have no time to really go over them in detail here. Let me
just point out a few essential recommendations that I want to pay
special attention to in view of the comments already made.

Recommendation one at the top deals with the senior leadership
issue and would prohibit any paid consulting for a set of senior em-
ployees and those having responsibility for program decisions. And
Dr. Zerhouni has already spoken eloquently about accepting those
recommendations, and I don’t think I need to say anything more
about them, except that this is a change in policy from a 1995 pol-
icy that was implemented at the NIH.

The issue of whether we should abandon any kind of contact with
industry by the majority of the 5,000 scientists who work at the
NIH who are just pure researchers and have nothing to do with
any resource decisions or allocations or recommendations is one
that you’ve addressed here and one that we took very seriously. We
came down the side, as Mr. Augustine said, of allowing those inter-
actions where they are appropriate after an appropriate screening
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and specifically said these people should be able to consult for ei-
ther industry or academia where there is no conflict and wherever
it makes sense after the decision is made centrally at the NIH.
Why?

Well, let me say, I have 30 years in the universities at a research
scientist before I came to Washington 10 years ago. I was at the
UCSF, which is the place where all this biotech stuff started. And
at the beginning, I was very much against any academic involve-
ment with industry. And personally, I had never had any. But I
have talked to many, many scientists including the young scientists
at NIH who are coming there to do public service and have no actu-
ally plans or actually activities yet with industry. But the fact is
that this is very much a two way street. People who do this often
tell me that they gain more from knowing about what industry is
doing and enlarging their thinking by seeing what these people are
doing in new kinds of ways. They are often ahead of academia. I’m
talking about colleagues at UCSF now. That in fact these kinds of
interactions changed the ambitions and often the effectiveness of
the research that people are doing both in universities and by anal-
ogy at the NIH. And so that’s the basic reason why I personally
came down on the side of allowing it where appropriate.

However, we are very concerned about what we call conflict of
commitment. We talk about this as a shower test. What are you
thinking about when you’re in the shower? Are you thinking about
your NIH job or are you thinking about something else? And so we
wanted to make sure that it’s the NIH job that you’re thinking
about, and we therefore have recommendation three which puts
real limitations on both how much compensation you could receive
and how many hours you can spend and, I think very importantly,
whether you could take equities. Equities, we feel, creates a dif-
ferent kind of sense of involvement than money received. You
would become, in a sense, an owner and you tend to get a lot of
attention, may get a lot of attention from an employer that we
don’t want. We don’t want them to be primarily concerned with
their outside activities.

Now these recommendations, obviously, represent restrictions
from current policy. We also have recommendation five, which is
designed to promote more interactions between NIH scientists and
their colleagues elsewhere; we move in the direction of more leni-
ency. This involves a change recommended in OGE regulations al-
lowing them to behave like other scientists and receive small
honoris where they go to speak about their work and be able to
speak about their work in a public forum and provided it’s been
published already in the literature freely.

We found these restrictions had come from—the regulations are
very confusing. In fact, I was very surprised by them. And I think
it hampers the ability of scientists to, again, interact with the sci-
entific community, do the best they can to disseminate what they’re
doing and also get information back from their colleagues. Because
science is very much a highly cooperative interactive activity.

Then we go on to recommendation ten which deals with ensuring
a complete internal disclosure of financial interests and other po-
tential conflicts of interests. This has to do with form 450. I learned
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all these facts. I am hoping I can erase all this information that
I have learned.

Form 450. We want more form 450 filers. That may be limited.
If not, we want NIH to get it some other way so they know every
possible conflict of interest and can regulate it more efficiency.

The other issue which of course we’re very concerned, for Dr.
Zerhouni and for the panel, is transparency. Transparency we
would mean public availability of information. Disclosure we use
NIH’s accessibility to the information.

And we supported the idea that this Title 240, it is sort of bi-
zarre, regulation that prevents NIH from getting information from
people publicly who they want to have information for should be
changed somehow, either by OGE regulation or by law if necessary.
And the NIH, as Dr. Zerhouni said, has now requested some 500
people be put under that regulation and we’ll see what happens.
We would certainly support that.

We also would produce transparency in a different way by re-
quiring an employee in recommendation 13 to publicly disclose all
relevant outside relationship and financial holdings in their work
products; that is their publications, speeches and invention disclo-
sures. So it is another form of public disclosure.

Finally, we looked at the comparative salary scales of academia
and NIH for scientists. And we found that at the lower levels, the
scientists are well compensated. They are fairly compensated. The
problem comes at the higher levels of the leadership where, for
whatever reason, the marketplace is at much higher salary levels
for many of the people you would like to have as senior leaders
than NIH can actually pay. And so because leadership is so crucial,
it is crucial to have the right leaders in the organization, we have
recommendation 18 that the NIH Director working with Congress
should ensure that the agency has authority under Title 42 or some
other hiring mechanism to recruit senior scientific staff in a highly
competitive market and asking the HHS to also to review and if
appropriate, raise the current annual salary caption of $200,000 for
the most senior Title 42 employees at NIH. We are concerned that
the present ceiling is limiting the agency’s ability to retain and re-
cruit the very best leadership. And, again, I cannot emphasize the
leadership issue.

Let me just go through this transparency issue, because person-
ally I would be very much in favor of having all the information
that you want posted on our public website. In fact, our panel was
leaning strongly in that direction when we encountered the Privacy
laws. That was at our last meeting. And, in fact, we have learned
that this would, or what we believe is that some government wide
legislation would be needed to change the Privacy law in order to
do what the panel was heading for in our recommendations. And
so we concluded in the end that the strong governmental policy
protecting personal information against disclosure would be a for-
midable challenge to overcome and thought there was no use in
recommendations that are meaningless and instead we have con-
structed several recommendations to the end of making more effec-
tive both the internal disclosure, as I said, and public disclosure
through the public disclosure at speaking and work products stage
that I mentioned, and finally by requested an agency wide public
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report that annually summarizes the amount and the nature of the
outside activity of NIH employees, which is recommendation four
which I didn’t have a chance to mention.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Norman Augustine and Bruce

Alberts follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF DR. BRUCE ALBERTS AND MR. NORMAN AUGUSTINE, REP-
RESENTING THE NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF HEALTH BLUE RIBBON PANEL ON CON-
FLICT OF INTEREST POLICIES

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, thank you for this opportunity to
share with you the findings of our Panel which evaluated Conflict of Interest Poli-
cies affecting the National Institutes of Health (NIH). We are, of course, well aware
of the support given by this committee to the NIH over the years and of the high
expectations you, and indeed the American people, hold for NIH.

We appear today on behalf of the members of the Panel, a complete list of whom
is attached to this testimony. Our Panel was established at the request of Dr. Elias
Zerhouni, Director of NIH, and was requested to complete its work within 90 days
because of the urgency of the matter at hand. Administratively, we were formed as
a Working Group of the Advisory Committee to the Director of the National Insti-
tutes of Health. We should note that our assignment was forward-looking; that is,
we were concerned with policy rather than with specific cases that occurred in the
past. As you are aware, there are a number of on-going investigations of prior mat-
ters being conducted by entities within the government. Other than providing our
basic charter, which was to review existing conflict of interest policies and to pro-
pose new policies where appropriate, no constraints were placed by NIH on the con-
tent of our work.

In carrying out the Panel’s responsibilities we met a total of five days and held
one telephone conference. We heard testimony from over 30 individuals, including
members of the public, and established an internal web site which received over 300
responses from NIH employees. In addition, we interviewed the Directors of all 27
NIH Centers and Institutes. Notices of meetings were placed in the Federal Reg-
ister.

The National Institutes of Health represents a national and global treasure. Its
principal asset is the truly remarkable scientists and practitioners who choose to
serve as its employees. In many ways the future health of our nation depends on
a robust and productive NIH. But if care is not taken, the ability of NIH to continue
to serve the public’s health could be severely damaged in either of two ways by
issues affecting conflict of interests. On the one hand, if the science NIH conducts
or its funding decisions are, or even appear to be, biased or corrupted, the public,
the broader scientific community, and the government’s funding officials could lose
faith in the institution’s credibility. On the other hand, if a unique set of rules were
to be enacted that is so inconsistent with the established practices of the scientific
community, it could drive talented individuals away from NIH as an employer and
at the same time discourage the dissemination of knowledge.

Developing sound policies for managing and preventing conflicts of interest re-
quires the balancing of several sometimes competing values and considerations.
First, government employees, like all citizens, are entitled to a life of their own with
reasonable privacy—but at the same time, the public has a right to complete assur-
ance that outside activities will not inappropriately influence an employee’s judg-
ment or commitment to public service. Second, although sound arguments can be
made for the enactment of consistent and uniform conflict of interest rules across
the federal government, each agency, including NIH, has unique circumstances and
needs. Third, it is clear that a government employee should not receive personal fi-
nancial gain for outside activities by exploiting knowledge gained through his or her
government position, yet much of the accumulated knowledge and value of a sci-
entist might well have resulted from efforts made and accomplishments achieved
outside of government service. The Panel has sought diligently to balance these
sometimes conflicting considerations as it developed its recommendations.

In its deliberations the Panel found an extremely complex set of rules governing
conflicts of interest at NIH and, in fact, across the federal government. In the con-
text of NIH, with its unique mission to conduct and support biomedical and health-
related research on its own campus, across the country, and internationally, these
rules are widely misunderstood by some of the very people to whom they are in-
tended to apply. This has created uncertainty about allowable behavior and has en-
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gendered fear that inadvertent transgressions could occur—significantly damaging
morale.

The Panel found that most of NIH’s policies and procedures for managing conflicts
of interest are reasonable and appropriate and it believes that the agency has been
responsive to direction provided to it in this area by the Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS), the Office of Government Ethics (OGE), and Congress.
However, significant improvements can be made, including imposing greater restric-
tions on some types of activities, relaxing some restrictions that are inappropriate
and counterproductive, enhancing disclosure and transparency, and improving the
overall management of these issues at NIH through better training, education, and
resource management.

We believe the existing conflict of interest policies affecting NIH do not suffi-
ciently discriminate among groups of employees who have widely differing respon-
sibilities and therefore widely differing susceptibility to conflicts of interest. In par-
ticular, we conclude that the policies affecting senior officials of NIH should, as a
matter of policy, be tightened—that is, made more restrictive. It is our view that
greater internal and, in some circumstances, public, disclosure can be beneficial in
assuring the continued quality of the NIH’s work and the confidence the public can
place in that work. In particular, some senior NIH staff members, absent case-by-
case approval authority, are, under present interpretation of the relevant laws, not
expected to file public disclosure forms.

On the other hand, we found that many well-intentioned constraints that have
been placed on researchers at NIH who perform purely scientific work have been
counterproductive. As but one example, NIH scientists are generally prohibited from
indicating their affiliation with NIH when giving lectures, even when those lectures
are accompanied by appropriate disclaimers.

At present, only a relatively small number of NIH employees are engaged in con-
sulting arrangements with industry. In contrast, a substantial number of NIH em-
ployees are involved in outside activities with professional societies and with aca-
demic and research institutions—primarily in the forms of teaching, speaking, or
writing (including editing). In addition, NIH scientists who are recognized for out-
standing scientific achievements, leadership, or public service are sometimes the re-
cipients of awards, which may be accompanied by a cash prize. The Panel believes
these are important—even essential—activities for NIH scientists, since they are
part of the tradition of science and provide evidence of the value and significance
of the NIH research community to the larger scientific community. For example,
speaking at academic institutions or other similar public fora is a critical part of
being a productive and contributing scientist. It provides an important avenue for
the exchange of scientific ideas, and both the speakers and the audiences benefit.

What did the Panel not accomplish that we sought initially to do? During our ini-
tial meetings, and in the first full draft of the report that was used to frame our
Panel discussions at our April 5-6 meeting, we seriously considered proposing that
selective information from the Form 520 be posted on a publicly accessible portion
of the NIH website. (Form 520 must be submitted to obtain permission for any out-
side activity). More specifically, we discussed the possibility of requiring, as part of
the permission process, the public posting of both the nature of each paid outside
activity, as well as the exact amount of the compensation received each year. The
Panel was thinking that such compete transparency could serve as a ‘‘disinfectant’’
to remove suspicions that might otherwise persist concerning the internal NIH dis-
closure and permission system.

In the course of these deliberations, we encountered the federal Privacy Act and
other relevant federal statutes and regulations. We asked the lawyer on our Panel,
Dorothy Robinson, to consider these matters further and to discuss them with NIH
legal counsel. She reported that the federal Privacy Act presents a serious barrier
to virtually any agency-mandated public disclosure of the sort we were considering,
other than the public disclosure mandated for those senior level employees des-
ignated as Form 278 filers—including those so designated through equivalency rul-
ings by the Office of Government Ethics. (See also Letter from Marilyn L. Glynn,
Acting Director of OGE, to Bruce Alberts and Norman Augustine, April 19, 2004,
attached).

The Panel considered the possibility that the Privacy Act might be amended to
allow for this type of disclosure, but concluded that the strong governmental policy
protecting personal information against disclosure would be a formidable challenge
to overcome. Instead, as you will hear, the Panel constructed recommendations
aimed at augmenting and making more effective internal disclosure within NIH. We
want NIH to have all of the information and abilities it needs to make thorough
and effective conflict of interest reviews. We have also recommended enhanced pub-
lic disclosures in connection with all speaking and publications by NIH personnel,
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as well as an agency-wide public report that annually summarizes the amount and
nature of the outside activity by NIH employees.

Our recommendations are as follows:
Recommendation 1: NIH senior management and NIH extramural employees who

are responsible for program funding decisions and recommendations, and profes-
sional staff managing grants and contracts and application review should not en-
gage in consulting activities with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies or in
paid consulting for academia. The Panel considers speaking for compensation at an
industry site as equivalent to consulting for industry. In addition, the Panel does
not include in this prohibition time spent in clinical practice by health care practi-
tioners, if approved as an outside activity free of conflicts.

Recommendation 2: The Panel reaffirms current federal law that intramural sci-
entists conducting research with human subjects—for example, investigators and re-
search team members involved in patient selection, the informed consent process,
and clinical management of a trial—should not be allowed to have any financial in-
terest in or relationship with any company whose interests could be affected by their
research or clinical trial, except with an appropriate waiver or authorization.

Recommendation 3: In addition to existing requirements for engaging in outside
activities, the following additional requirements should be in place for employees di-
rectly involved in the administration or conduct of NIH research programs and who
are not subject to the restrictions posed in Recommendations 1 and 2:
a. The total amount earned annually from compensated consulting with industry or

academia should not exceed an amount equal to 50 percent of the employee’s
annual salary, and no one source should account for an amount in excess of 25
percent of annual salary.

b. Employees eligible to engage in compensated outside professional activities
should not:
i. receive compensation in the form of stock options or other forms of equities

for their services
ii. spend more than 400 hours per year on these activities (writing excepted).

c. An exclusion to the above limits should exist for NIH employees who are health
care practitioners. For these employees, there should be a more flexible time
limitation and the capitation for compensated outside medical care and patient
services should be 100 percent of base pay, with the one-source limitation re-
moved.

Recommendation 4: To improve NIH’s ability to manage and track approved out-
side activities:
a. all requests for outside activities (Form 520) should be updated on an annual

basis (with such updates indicating only those changes that have occurred)
b. supervisors should be held accountable for the evaluation and approval of outside

activity requests, and this supervisory function should be a component of a su-
pervisor’s performance evaluation

c. NIH should publish an annual institute-wide statistical report on the number and
types of outside activities approved for its employees.

Recommendation 5: NIH should seek a change to OGE regulations so as to allow
NIH scientists to receive compensation for teaching, speaking, or writing about their
research, only if the information is to be shared in a public forum and it has ap-
peared in the published literature.

Recommendation 6: NIH intramural scientists should continue to be allowed to
engage in compensated speaking, teaching, and writing for professional societies and
for academic and research institutions as an outside activity as long as all ethics
review and approval requirements are met.

Recommendation 7: NIH should seek a change to OGE regulations to permit em-
ployees to be identified by their title or position (and institutional affiliation) when
engaged in teaching, speaking, or writing as an approved outside activity. Dis-
claimers should be provided that the activity is not being conducted in the employ-
ee’s official capacity as an NIH employee and that the views expressed do not nec-
essarily represent the views of NIH.

Recommendation 8: There should be no restrictions on royalties received on works
written, edited, or published or on income received from patents licensed by any
NIH employee who conducted the work as an approved outside activity.

Recommendation 9: The current OGE rules regarding receipt of bona fide cash
awards for meritorious public service or achievement and NIH’s interpretations of
the rules are reasonable and should apply to all employees. There should be no limit
on the amount of money received from a bona fide award. These awards are consid-
ered gifts under current law and are not considered outside activities because the
employee accepts the award in his or her official capacity.
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Recommendation 10: To increase NIH’s ability to manage conflicts of interest, it
should either move immediately to increase the number of employees required to
annually file a confidential disclosure form 450 or find some other means to achieve
comparable levels of internal disclosure.

Recommendation 11: NIH should ask OGE to make a regulatory change or seek
statutory modifications to provide NIH with greater discretion in determining
whether certain Title 42 employees should file public financial disclosure form 278.
This would promote the public interest by increasing transparency and thereby en-
hance trust in government. In the meantime, NIH should seek additional equiva-
lency rulings from OGE to increase the number of public filers to include all the
senior employees as specified in Recommendation 1.

Recommendation 12: NIH supervisors should be provided with enhanced training
on the criteria to be used for their annual review of financial disclosures so as to
become more effective in managing and avoiding employee conflicts of interest.

Recommendation 13: To preserve public confidence in NIH, the agency should put
in place a policy that requires employees to disclose all relevant outside relation-
ships and financial holdings in their work products, such as publications, speeches,
and invention disclosures. In addition, where relevant, such disclosures should be
made to potential research subjects as part of the informed consent process.

Recommendation 14: NIH employees should be required to submit recusals in
writing to immediate supervisors when a potential conflict of interest emerges. The
supervisor should then be required to inform those who should be aware of the em-
ployee’s need to be recused from the official duties for which there is a conflict. As
is currently the case, when an employee must be recused from official duties, those
duties can be reassigned only to someone at an organizational level above the em-
ployee. As such, recused employees or their supervisors will need to inform both su-
periors and affected subordinates of the recusal.

Recommendation 15: The NIH Ethics Office should prepare a user-friendly docu-
ment and website that displays ethics rules in simple language and emphasizes ex-
amples of outside activities and financial interests that are permissible as well as
those that are not. Employees seeking approval of outside activities should, as part
of their submission of form 520 and its supplements, indicate in writing that they
have reviewed these summary materials and have discussed any questions they
have with their relevant ethics official and/or supervisor.

Recommendation 16: The NIH Ethics Advisory Committee should issue a report
of its findings, in the form of anonymous case studies and generalizable principles,
on a regular basis to provide the NIH community with a clear common body of
knowledge by which to understand and interpret ethics rules.

Recommendation 17: NIH management should assure that sufficient resources are
provided for the administrative and management functions of its ethics activities to
guarantee that the expanded program proposed in this report can be implemented.

Recommendation 18: While the Panel has not addressed the application of Title
42 to the hiring and compensation of senior scientific staff, it is clear that some such
hiring and compensation authority needs to be applicable to this group of employees
if NIH is to remain competitive in the market for talent. In addition, the NIH Direc-
tor should ask HHS to review and, if appropriate, raise the current annual salary
capitation of $200,000 for the most senior Title 42 employees at NIH. The Panel is
concerned that the present ceiling is limiting the agency’s ability to recruit and re-
tain the nation’s best scientists as the leaders of NIH.

Mr. Chairman, since our report is not unduly long and contains substantiation for
these recommendation, we would like, with the committee’s permission, to have it
considered for inclusion in the record as an attachment to this statement.

Among the more significant changes these recommendations, if implemented,
would impose are:
• Senior NIH officials would not be permitted to engage in paid consulting with bio-

technology or pharmaceutical companies or academic institutions.
• In instances where paid consulting is permitted (i.e., no conflicts of interest exist),

such activity would be subject to a 400 hour annual limitation and a compensa-
tion cap of 50 percent of the individual’s annual base salary, with no more than
25 percent being derived from any one source.

• The number of individuals filing disclosures, both public and private, would be in-
creased, and all work products would bear a disclosure statement indicating re-
lated financial interests or activities of the researcher(s).

• Compensation for outside work in the form of equity would be (prospectively) pro-
hibited.

• Scientists, where no conflicts exist, would be encouraged, not discouraged, in par-
ticipating in outside activities which are innate to the workings of the scientific
community at large. Thus, scientists would be permitted to receive outside com-
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pensation for speaking or writing about their work without having to wait one
year after that work has been completed and published.

• The salary ceiling for employees hired under Title 42 authority would be in-
creased to an extent which would assure that the NIH is competitive in the
marketplace for world-class scientists and managers of science.

In arriving at its findings and recommendations, the panel noted that for virtually
every policy it could conceive it could also identify extraordinary circumstances
under which the application of that policy would be counterproductive to the accom-
plishment of the NIH mission. For this reason, it is important that, within the con-
straint of applicable laws, the NIH Director be granted the authority to make care-
fully considered exceptions when deemed appropriate.

In conclusion, the Panel believes that the recommendations presented in our re-
port can correct many of the concerns that have in the past been expressed about
conflict of interest practices at NIH. We urge that the recommendations be adopted
as quickly as possible. This is needed to assure the continued, deserved public con-
fidence in the extraordinary work of NIH, to enhance the continued quality of the
scientific staff at NIH, and to rectify what the Panel perceives to be a growing mo-
rale problem among an excellent NIH staff.

Thank you, and we would be pleased to answer your questions.

NIH BLUE RIBBON PANEL ON CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICIES

A WORKING GROUP OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE TO THE DIRECTOR, NIH

ROSTER

Bruce Alberts, Ph.D. (Co-Chair), President, National Academy of Sciences, Wash-
ington, DC

Norman R. Augustine (Co-Chair), Chairman, Executive Committee, Lockheed
Martin Corporation, Bethesda, Maryland

Christine Cassel, M.D., President, American Board of Internal Medicine, Philadel-
phia, Pennsylvania

Thomas H. Murray, Ph.D., President, The Hastings Center, Garrison, New York
Phillip Pizzo, M.D., Dean, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, Cali-

fornia
The Honorable Stephen D. Potts, Chairman, ERC Fellows Program, Ethics Re-

source Center, Washington, D.C.
Dorothy Robinson, Esq., Vice President and General Counsel, Yale University,

New Haven, Connecticut
Lawrence Sadwin, President, Lifestyle Security, L.L.C., Warren, Rhode Island
James Siedow, Ph.D., Vice Provost for Research and Professor of Biology, Duke

University, Durham, North Carolina
Reed V. Tuckerson, M.D., Senior Vice President, Consumer Health & Medical

Care Advancement, UnitedHealth Group, Minnetonka, Minnesota

Mr. GREENWOOD. We thank you, both Dr. Augustine, Dr. Alberts.
And the Chair would recognize for questioning the chairman of

the full committee, the gentleman from Texas Mr. Barton.
Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the

courtesy. I have got a hearing downstairs, too, on a telecommuni-
cations issue. So I appreciate be able to go out of turn.

Dr. Zerhouni, I am told that in the last 5 years there have been
about 1500 agreements covering over 500 of NIH employees that
cover some sort of outside consulting or compensation agreement
with someone who has business with the NIH. Does that number
seem approximately correct to you?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I agree with your 1500 and 500 employee over 5
years. All outside activities that we were able to record. I am not
sure that all of them had relationships with people that had busi-
ness with the agency.

Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I am not sure of that.
Chairman BARTON. Some sort of an agreement, maybe not a

business relationship?
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Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right. It may be all kinds of agreements, and we
have reported that in detail to the committee.

Chairman BARTON. Okay. With some sort of a drug company or
a biotech company?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Some of them would have relationship with drug
companies, but not necessarily that the drug company had business
with NIH.

Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. If the company has official business with that sci-

entist, our current rules prohibit outside activities in that context.
Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Okay.
Chairman BARTON. Well, just as an example, this is a director

who is no longer with the agency. I will not list the gentleman’s
name. But while he was a director of NIH, just as an example, this
particular individual, director of the institute, he served on the
board of directors of a private company, a biotech company and
held one-half of the stock equity in that company. So I would think
that was some sort of relationship. Now that gentleman is no
longer with us. No longer with the NIH I should say. He is still
alive and healthy.

On December 8 the committee staff sent a request to NIH that
asked for details on all these agreements covering 5 years. And a
funny thing happened. Apparently a lot of those agreements that
were in effect were terminated on the date of the letter. We don’t
know the exact number, but it could be as many as half of the
agreements just coincidentally all of a sudden were terminated.
Does that strike you as a little bit odd?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Well, first of all, I think the relationship that you
pointed out first with the Director, I think should be off limits. I
said that the very first time. I consider stock ownership, fiduciary
duties in an outside entity when you have a responsibility, that
should be off limits. And I think the rules address that.

The second about the numbers. At the time of the December 8
subcommittee request we recorded about 228 agreements at that
time—no, 228 scientists involved in about 300 agreements. Now do
not hold me to the numbers. Then I requested, I said if you want
to continue you have to put a hold on all your agreements and
come to the newly formed—the one that I formed in November—
the NIH Ethics Advisory Committee. In that process, two of the di-
rectors that had been reported in the L.A. Times out of the 27 di-
rectors we have, the two that were involved, terminated their
agreements. And as we requested, the review—the uncertainty I
think and perhaps what you are, I think, alluding to that perhaps
some scientists were not so happy or were not so comfortable with
this being reviewed by an independent panel. It says two things.

One, the system failed and two, the new system is sending a
message that if you want something at NIH, you are going to come
to an independent panel that is not related to your institute or
your ethic’s advisor, it is in the Director’s office and you had better
be sure about what you are doing before you come forward.

So you can look at it two ways, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman BARTON. Is it also true that when you talked earlier

in your oral testimony that there is some things that you do not
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have the authority to require that, that there is some Privacy rules
that apparently apply to the entire government that overrule your
ability to get information, but when you request legal opinion from
the Office of General Counsel at HHS—I do not want to put words
in your mouth. But did the Office of General Counsel encourage
you to find a way to encourage your agency to cooperate with this
committee or did the Office of General Counsel at HHH encourage
you to find a way to not cooperate? Put that in your own words.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Let me just says this, that my instructions to my staff and my

interactions with the Office of General Counsel, reflected a desire
to find every possible way to cooperate. And if there is, and you
mentioned the cooperation——

Chairman BARTON. I want to make sure.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Chairman BARTON. You said the Office of General Counsel told

you to find every way to cooperate?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, I said that.
Chairman BARTON. Oh, you said that.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I said that. I said please——
Chairman BARTON. I did not ask what you said. I want to know

what their attitude was when you asked them for——
Mr. ZERHOUNI. The first event was that NIH could not change

its rule without new regulations. That was the advice we received.
That is why we created this NIH advisory committee.

After the December 7 media reports, we did a full analyses of ex-
actly what happened in 1995. The Office of Government Ethics at
the time had set some rules.

When we were asked to provide the information you needed,
Chairman Greenwood called me because we did not have the com-
pensation amounts. So I immediately said, well, frankly we need to
have them. I do not have——

Chairman BARTON. But apparently those are not required under
current regulation——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. They are not required under government——
Chairman BARTON. [continuing] and so we have no clue what

some of these people are being compensated for.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. But, Mr. Chairman, I would like to point out this

is not an NIH specific issue. This is Government Ethics 1993. And
I think you will have the acting director of OGE and you will ask.
I can assure you, this was not an option of NIH. In 1998 we re-
quested that that disclosure be made so that we could have more
disclosure.

Chairman BARTON. Well, let me ask, has it to your personal
knowledge at anytime has NIH been able and actually request and
receive compensation figures from individuals who have outside ar-
rangements that result in financial enumeration or stock enumera-
tion? Have you ever asked for and been able to receive that? Not
you, but I mean NIH?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. To my knowledge between 1995 and now, I do not
think so. I do not know before 1995, Mr. Chairman. I will check
and let you know.

Chairman BARTON. Could you find that out?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I will find that out for you.
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Chairman BARTON. Okay. Well, my time is getting close to expir-
ing.

If you were to make a recommendation to the Office of General
Counsel at HHS to testify before this subcommittee voluntarily,
what would you recommend?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That they should.
Chairman BARTON. Are you aware that we asked them and that

particular individual said no.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, I am not. I am not aware of that.
Chairman BARTON. Do you think that shows an attitude of co-

operating or noncooperating with this committee?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I cannot comment, Mr. Chairman, on what they

decide. I was not aware of that.
Chairman BARTON. Because it is no, does that indicate coopera-

tion? You came.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. And I will come again.
Chairman BARTON. Yes. I would say you are cooperating.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I will cooperate to the greatest extent I can, and

I think we should all do that.
Chairman BARTON. All right.
I could go, Mr. Chairman, but I am going to excuse myself to go

downstairs. But I want this panel to understand this is the first
hearing and NIH, to some extent, is the first agency. But this will
not the last hearing and this will not be the last agency. We are
going to have accountability.

This committee is going to reestablish the oversight responsi-
bility that former Chairman John Dingell was noted for, and we
are going to do it on a bipartisan basis. And I would encourage you
to encourage the people in your agency that if we ask for informa-
tion, they can do it voluntarily or involuntarily, but they will do it.
We are going to get to get to the bottom of this.

And with that, I would yield back to the distinguished sub-
committee chairman.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and recog-
nizes for 10 minutes for purposes of inquiry, the gentleman from
Colorado.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Zerhouni and the other panelists, I have been thinking about

something for a few days, which is of course the Blue Ribbon panel
recommendations. And the whole idea, the premise you all seem to
be coming from now is that we really should not eliminate this out-
side income and payment, so instead what we should try to do is
have transparency. And I frankly, I will be honest like the Chair-
man, have some questions about that fundamental premise.

Dr. Zerhouni, you said that a blanket prohibition might not be
the most satisfying thing to do because scientists need to interact
with others and outside groups in order to do their work. Would
that be a fair summary of your statement, Doctor?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I said a blanket prohibition would be the easiest.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. And most superficially satisfying. But I think if

you look into it more, remember NIH has two functions. One is to
do the research in its own laboratories and then granting.
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Ms. DEGETTE. But the button line is you feel that these scientists
need to interact——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Ms. DEGETTE. [continuing] with outside groups and industry to

do their research, right?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. To enhance their ability to understand research

and translate that research into real tangible benefits.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Right. Why do they have to be paid large

amounts of money to have that interaction.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Okay.
Ms. DEGETTE. I mean, the money is not central to the inter-

action, right?
Mr. ALBERTS. We looks into this. If you want to consult with in-

dustry, we were talking about that very seriously on the panel, you
have to sign a confidentiality agreement with industry that you
will not disclose their private information. If you are government
employment doing it as an official duty, you are not allowed to sign
any such agreement.

So one of the things we explored could this contact with industry
occur purely as unpaid official duty activity.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. ALBERTS. What we concluded was it wouldn’t happen.
Ms. DEGETTE. Why? Why.
Mr. ALBERTS. Because industry would refuse it.
Ms. DEGETTE. You mean industry just wants to force these peo-

ple to take money for cooperating like this?
Mr. ALBERTS. Well, you can only do——
Ms. DEGETTE. You have the top research scientist in the country

at NIH cooperating with private companies. And I would assume
there is also a mutual confidentiality agreement that they will not
disclose governmental proprietary information as well.

Mr. ALBERTS. Of course. That’s true, yes. That is right. We were
told that industry will not——

Ms. DEGETTE. Who told you that, Doctor?
Mr. ALBERTS. Various witnesses. I cannot remember their names.
Ms. DEGETTE. Would you supplement responses?
Mr. ALBERTS. Legal people.
Basically that if you are going to be on a scientific advisory

board, for example, for a biotech company they will not have you
do that as your official duty activity unpaid because you cannot—
it is illegal for you to sign any confidentiality agreement that you
will not reveal trade secrets that you learn in this relationship.
So——

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Doctor, could you supplement your answers
with the names of the individuals who told you that it was illegal
to——

Mr. ALBERTS. We will submit that afterwards, yes. I cannot re-
member.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you.
Dr. Zerhouni, did you want to clarify that?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Basically when industry works with a govern-

ment employee under official duty activity, essentially anything
that is done within that work product, the employee cannot receive
any compensation. The product of that interaction is owned in part
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by the government. So what industry wants is to have a scientist
on his or own time, because you know, the rules are such that if
you are doing this on your own time, the current government ethics
rules say that this is your own work product. And that is why I
think industry prefers to work with scientists on their own
private——

Ms. DEGETTE. I completely understand that.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Ms. DEGETTE. That does not go to the issue of why they have to

be paid large amounts of money to do that, sir.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. The large amounts of money, I think we can give

you the data since we have it. We have the current data——
Ms. DEGETTE. I have some data right here that I am going to

talk about in a minute.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Okay.
Ms. DEGETTE. And I have some slides. But before we put those

up, I would like to ask Dr. Augustine something. Because you
something about it is hard to hire top tier scientists at the NIH
without this compensation. Is that really what we are talking
about. I mean, is that the unspoken message in this room that
really the money we are paying these scientists, as the Chairman
said, some of them—many of them are paid more than the Vice
President of the United States. One of them made $290,000 on the
government payroll last year. Is what we are really saying is we
do not think we can hire these scientists unless we allow them to
get private contracts for substantially more money? Is that really
what we are saying, sir?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, you start out exactly where we were. With
regard to compensation, the higher level scientists are clearly un-
derpaid compared with their marketplace.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. But you know something? I am clearly un-
derpaid compared to lawyers of my level of experience in the pri-
vate market. I mean, people go into these jobs for public interest,
not for the salary, I would assume. Is that not an assumption you
thought of, too?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I was going to finish. I would respectfully sub-
mit that these people are within their marketplace, the academic
community, they are significantly underpaid. We also found that
that probably is not the principal driver in this issue. The principal
driver we found was their desire to be treated as other members
of the academic community who are permitted to do consulting,
who are permitted to interact with industry and have this two way
exchange.

The difficulty, if I could take a moment, as I understand it is
that if they do this as an official duty—let me back up. If they do
consulting with a firm, the firm obviously wants a confidentiality
statement. You are not allowed to sign that if you are on official
duty. Furthermore, if you are on official duty, you are not allowed
to give preference to a single company. It would be unfair.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. I understand those are the rules. And I am
sorry to be rushing. I only have 10 minutes to question.

And I understand all of those concerns. But one thing we have
found, and I know we are going to have more investigations, is that
some of the payments that are being made by these private compa-
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nies when the researchers are on their own time, aside from their
NIH research, are disproportionate to the amount that people, say,
at the University of Colorado Health Sciences Center are being
paid, because they are the NIH and they do control big grants. In
other words, you know, the payments they are getting may not be
in not direct correlation to the actual work you are doing. Do you
share that concern, Doctor?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. We do.
Ms. DEGETTE. I would think so.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. The reason we put on the limit on as to the

amount they could receive was exactly that consideration. But it
should also be noted that these people that are allowed to consult
under our recommendation are not involved in making grants.
They have nothing to do with grant making.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, I understand that. But that may not be
what some of the private companies are thinking.

Here is why I am concerned. If we can show slide No. 1, we have
some slides here to talk about the extent—now these are individ-
uals. And I think these are in your notebooks, too. Are they in the
notebooks? No, they are not in the notebooks. We will hand you a
copy of it.

These are agreements that have been authorized under NIH pro-
cedures. I think some of these may be unauthorized under the new
procedures Dr. Zerhouni is talking about and the Blue Ribbon
panel, however those rules have not yet been enacted. So these fi-
nancial agreements could happen right now.

The first one is Michael Brownstein who is the Chief of NIMH
Genetic Lab. He has received almost $2 million from four biotech
firms. In each case, he is either a member of the board or the sci-
entific advisory board or both.

Here is my question: How can the public be assured that nothing
he knows from his work at NIH, nothing he learns about the
projects of competitors of these firms from his work at NIH or any
subject involving his work at NIH will not be brought up at these
meetings? Anybody have any idea? How do we know because he is
making all this money from four biotech firms that there is not
going to be any kind of crossover? Doctor——

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, you raised the concern we had, namely
that we place a limit on what they can take and we ruled out stock.

Ms. DEGETTE. But, Doctor, you have recommended a limit. That
limit has not been enacted.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, we recommended it about a week ago.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Okay. Yes, last week.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. Hopefully, it will be.
Ms. DEGETTE. With this hearing coming up this week.
Well, let me ask you a question Dr. Zerhouni. What do you think

Michael Brownstein is thinking about in the shower? Seriously,
that is what you all said the standard is.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Well, I think that, and again I said that publicly
before the Blue Ribbon panel, I say it again. I think people have
stock, stock ownership, board positions in private entities, I do not
think that should happen for senior officials. Even, I mean for any-
body. I mean we are prohibiting that for everybody.

Ms. DEGETTE. Is that part of the rules you are enacting?

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00047 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



40

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. And when do you intend to enact those rules?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. ASAP. As soon as I can.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Let us take a look at slide No. 2. This is

about consulting arrangements between NIH employees and drug
and biotech firms. This is Dr. Germain, who is the Deputy Chief
of Lymphoma Bio Section of the NIAID. Now, he is receiving
$430,000 roughly, a little more, plus stock of an unspecified value
from seven different companies. Even if there is no actual conflict,
and it sure looks like there might be to me because apparently all
he stated on his ethics forms is he is a consultant to these firms,
how do we know that he has time to do his work and manage his
section?

Mr. ALBERTS. Okay. That is the——
Mr. ZERHOUNI. First of all, I think that Dr. Germain was the ob-

ject of the media reports, so we looked very carefully at that.
Fundamentally what we have looked at is this conflict of commit-

ment, how much time do you really spend on these things within
your own time as a scientist. It turns out that if you look carefully
at Dr. Germain these are long—I mean this total for example that
you are reporting is for over 10 years. So that what you really need
to look at is not just the ethics consideration, and this is why we
think we need independent peer review for every one of these
agreements and this is what the new system is doing.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Just one last question. And first of all it is
over 4 years, not 10 years at least in this slide. But second, and
this is my question, the Blue Ribbon panel recommendation is
$100,000 compensation and no more than 400 hours per year. That
adds up to an 8-hour day every week of the year. I want to ask
all of you, do you think that is reasonable for our research scientist
at a place like NIH who are well compensated compared to other
people who are in the public service, do you think one work day,
or I guess Saturday, every week would be a reasonable amount of
time for these people to be spending on outside activities?

Mr. ALBERTS. That is basically the academic standard. Most uni-
versities allow that kind of effort.

Ms. DEGETTE. So your answer is yes?
Mr. ALBERTS. That is the limit. And I was at Princeton for 10

years, we were allowed this. But not on Princeton time, but we
were allowed to spend as much as 1 day a week on outside activi-
ties.

Ms. DEGETTE. But Dr. Augustine, when you were over at Lock-
heed Martin—you were at Lockheed Martin, right?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I retired.
Ms. DEGETTE. Did they let the people their researchers take 1

day a week for outside activities?
Mr. AUGUSTINE. We would not.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I just want to follow up on that. I just want

to understand something before I get into my inquires here.
One day a week for outside activities, does that leave 4 days a

week for the NIH?
Mr. AUGUSTINE. Extra days.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Extra days. On their own time.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. That seems that they have 5 days a week that
they are giving to us, of course.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And how do they account for that?
Mr. ALBERTS. It depends. In universities they have to account in

different ways depending on the university.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you recommend that there be an account-

ing process so that when I take that day, I——
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right. And that is what I refer to in my fourth

opening statement about the need for monitoring and oversight. In
other words, the system as it stands today, Mr. Chairman, I could
not tell you that I know for sure Dr. X is spending so many hours
doing whatever they do. But I know for a fact that you can manage
that if you have a data base that’s managed centrally where you
have the requisite review not of what the scientist says, but of the
original documents that say you should work 1 day a week at this
place or that place so you can accumulate them in one place.

Universities have done that. I came from a university that imple-
mented such a system. And I think you can do it if you really cen-
tralize it.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I have questions. I mean, there are a lot of
questions that that raises. When I talk about the swivel chair, I am
talking about somebody sitting at a desk and saying okay, Doctor,
you have a call from XYZ company. He takes the call or he cannot
take the call and he calls later on an NIH phone and spends 2
hours. Is that a system to account for all of that?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Mr. Chairman, I would sleep so much better if I
just gave you what you want, what you are expressing, which is
total separation firewall between the Federal agency and the pri-
vate sector.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I think there needs to be.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. You know, and that would be much easier to do,

much easier to—but having been myself a scientist at managing a
university—Lockheed Martin is not a university. And I think we
need to really look at that carefully and make a decision. But,
frankly, I would be where you are if I had my full drothers, make
my life easier.

Mr. GREENWOOD. All right. Let me pose another question to you.
Today’s Los Angeles Times reports that internal documents show
that the Blue Ribbon panel was concerned about how little is
known about the extent of financial ties between drug companies
and NIH personnel. According to minutes of a closed door meeting
early in April of that Blue Ribbon panel, the panel was ‘‘was sur-
prised to learn that many people do not disclose at all. The panel
thinks there needs to be an internal review that picks up signifi-
cant financial interests.’’

The question is, I guess I should address this to Drs. Alberts and
Augustine, do these minutes reflect the fact that many NIH em-
ployees are not disclosing their outside consulting even to their in-
stitutes to get approval?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes, and I will begin if you look.
We were concerned. There are two basic mechanisms for disclo-

sure at NIH that you are aware of that really apply to the govern-
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ment as a whole. One has private disclosure within the agency, the
other is more public disclosure.

With regard to the former, which is the form 450, only people
who are specifically prescribed to submit that form have to submit
it. There is not a blanket group that has to submit. And so we were
concerned that there are a large number of people that do not sub-
mit at all, and they comply with the rules as they are written
today.

With regard to the latter form, the 278, the public disclosure
form you have already heard this problem with the artifact of the
interpretation of the legislation denies the NIH leadership the abil-
ity to compel people to file. And that we recommended be changed
or at least the interim steps be taken of the type that Dr. Zerhouni
has already taken to cause more people to have to file public disclo-
sures.

The bottom line is that they are basically complying with the
rules as they are written, but they need much more latitude to
have more people disclose both publicly and privately.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And we are disclosing: (a) the fact that they
have a private consulting arrangement or; (b) the income derived
therefrom?

Mr. ALBERTS. I think this needs some clarification. There is yet
another form, 520. So the outside activities require review process
in the form of filing the form 520 for any new outside activity, and
every employee as far as I know has gone through that process. So
outside activities are covered.

What we were talking about in our panel was well suppose a re-
searcher inherited $10 million worth of Merck stock and held it
and was doing something that might effect his or her activities,
bias them by that holding. Well, there was no way unless that per-
son was filing a form 450 for the NIH to know about that holding.
And so what this recommendation that I talked about, rec-
ommendation ten, focused exactly on this issue. We think the NIH
must know the financial holdings that might be relevant as well as
the outside activities.

They do know about the outside activities because of form 520.
450 deals with the financial interests, and we are not sure that
OGE will actually allow enough 450 filers. So we recommend if
they do not, then find some other way to get the information.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, OGE ultimately is going to follow the
laws and the committee is going to help the rest.

Mr. ALBERTS. Yes, of course. We encourage that.
Mr. GREENWOOD. But let me understand one other issue here.

There are two ways to gather information of this kind. One is to
say if you are engaged in this activity or if you own these stocks,
then you need to submit a form.

Mr. ALBERTS. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The other one is to say everybody needs to sub-

mit a firm. And you either affirmatively declare these things——
Mr. ALBERTS. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] or you declare that you have no

such entanglements.
Mr. ALBERTS. The latter would be our recommendation.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And the latter is your recommendation?

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00050 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



43

Mr. ALBERTS. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. All right.
What is the factual basis for your statement that there are ‘‘ap-

proximately 120 of NIH’s employees currently involved in con-
sulting agreements?’’ How reliable is that statement?

Mr. ALBERTS. It was mentioned, we had an extensive interaction
with NIH staff to get information. And as you can see from the re-
port, we started from zero knowing about any of these things ex-
cept for a few people. Steven Potts who is the former Director of
OGE understood these things, but most of us for the first time ever
encountered all this complex set of forms and regulations.

And so in preparing our report, we relied on request for informa-
tion back and forth to NIH staff to give us the information. That
was one of the specific requests we made, and that was the number
we got back from——

Mr. GREENWOOD. So that was 120 employees affirmatively said,
yes, I am doing that?

Mr. ALBERTS. That was for the NIH data base. We did not con-
tact the employees directly, we asked the NIH what they knew.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And when you say 120 employees have these
arrangements, that is a minute in time?

Mr. ALBERTS. That is a minute in time.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right. So it could be that the next day, 40 more

start consulting agreements. What is your sense of over the course
of a year how many employees at NIH are involved in these con-
sulting arrangements.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Mr. Chairman, we were told that there were 118
employees in March of 2004; that’s the moment in time, involving
196 different activities. We were told that that number is probably
suppressed because of the attention that has been given to the
issue at this time. It could be higher or lower.

We do not have a projection for the future, but it was higher in
the past.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, did you consider asking for information
as to the state of affairs 6 months previously or a year previously
so that you would nullify this suppressing effect?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I do not have the specific data with me. I would
be glad to provide it for the record, if possible.

Mr. GREENWOOD. After reviewing the spreadsheet of consulting
agreements data and the accompanying documentation, the com-
mittee staff found at least 90 instances where a consulting agree-
ment appears on an employee’s financial disclosure form, yet did
not appear on the spreadsheet which was supposed to contain a
comprehensive list of all agreements. Does the Blue Ribbon panel
have any reason to believe that not all consulting agreements have
been and are being disclosed to the agency? How can you be ceratin
that all employees are making full disclosure?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I believe that the answer to that is that you
have to depend upon the employees to comply with the rules. And
I think one failing probably has been that the rules have not been
adequately explained and understood by the employees. In addi-
tion, it is probably appropriate to conduct spot checks to be sure
that the compliance is there.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00051 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



44

Mr. GREENWOOD. In my first question I referred to today’s L.A.
Times story and there was a quote that was taken from minutes
according to the L.A. Times. And that was the quote that I read
that says that the panel was ‘‘was surprised to learn that many
people do not disclose at all’’ etcetera.

The NIH provided the committee the minutes of the panel’s
closed sessions and the staff did not find any such quotes in the
minutes. Are there draft meeting minutes that the NIH has not
provided to the committee?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I can check into that.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Either we did not get that or the L.A. Times

made it up.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I do not know, but I can shed some light to that.

After the article I asked Dr. Kington our Deputy where did that
come from. And emails were the source of that, not minutes to my
knowledge.

Mr. GREENWOOD. So when the L.A. Times says that these were
from minutes of a closed door meeting in April, you are saying that
that is not the case. That they were from——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Mr. Chairman, give me some time to look into
that. Because this happened this morning. I really cannot—but I
will follow up with you and tell you what our best guess is where
that information is from.

Mr. GREENWOOD. In the same L.A. Times article today it is re-
ported that the Deputy Director Raynard Kington wrote in an
email that he feared the panel members did not understand ‘‘that
there is not a bright line’’ between those involved with intramural
research and those involved with outside extramural research.
Kington also wrote ‘‘I think, and I think many outside people would
agree, that our IM, intramural scientists, should not consult with
universities and other institutions that are funded by us,’’ Kington
added.

Dr. Zerhouni, do you agree with Dr. Kington?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I asked Dr. Kington to see if he had the email,

and again I have the email here. I would be happy to give it to you.
If you look at the discussion that went back and forth, you will

see that the context of the quote and the context of the email are
a little different. That Dr. Gottesman was talking about teaching
writing and academic activities. Dr. Kington was talking about
having influence over granting mechanism. And you can see
through the email the conversation.

I think it is healthy to have good debate about these issues, but
I think that is the source, and I would be happy to give you the
copy of the email I have, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Yes, we will ask you to submit that email for
the record.

My time has expired. And the gentleman from Maine, Mr. Allen
is recognized is for 10 minutes.

Mr. ALLEN. I thank you. Thank you all for being here.
And, Mr. Chairman, I thank you very much for holding this par-

ticular hearing.
I did not hear all that you said at the beginning, so I want to

make sure I am understanding where you are recommending we
go. I take Dr. Zerhouni’s point about an academic institution and

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00052 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



45

the need for in academic institutions, most of the academics I know
are doing something else on the side as well. But clearly this is an
area of great concern because of the reputation of NIH, because of
the function as an independent body doing research and yet in the
private sector today it is pretty clear that the pharmaceutical and
biotech industries are large, and certainly at least the pharma-
ceutical industry is very profitable and has these networks of rela-
tionships are being formed. And I think as Members of Congress
we really have to be concerned about the issues that you are all
dealing with today.

But it sounds to me, correct me if I am wrong, there are different
ways to go at this problem of whether or not there is a conflict of
interest. And it sounds to me from what I picked up that one way
is to have a review of the content of the agreement so we know
what the agreement itself is.

A second way would be to put some sort of cap on the amount
of money that can be earned by any NIH employee.

A third way is the amount of time that the employee could
spend, and we have already discussed that.

And a fourth way, which I do not think has been mentioned yet,
is to really look at the nature of the outside entity, whatever cor-
porate entity it is, whatever subsidiary relationships that it may
have.

So let me ask you about a few of those. The time spent, Dr.
Zerhouni, I think you said the 400 hours a year is what is tradi-
tional in the academic world. Do you have any idea whether for
NIH employees who are doing consulting today that 400 hours is
what they do, I mean 400 hours a year is sort of typical of what
many employees are doing so far or is it more or less? And, you
know, are we really reining them in or not when it come to the
hours they actually would do one form of consulting or another?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I do not have this information right in front of
me, but my experience with that is that 90 percent probably spend
20-30 hours, 1 or 2 interactions. And then a small percentage may
be at the 400 hours or more.

So typically the percentage of individuals who have discoveries or
real advances in science that would be of greater interest is very
small in a university as well as a Federal agency.

Mr. ALLEN. So a 400 hour a year restriction for NIH employees
would be the kind of restriction that would only effect a few people
today is what you are saying?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. My sense would be that based on my experience
people who have the opportunity to provide 400 hours are those
who would typically have made a breakthrough discovery, know
something that no one else knows, something like that. Well, you
know that in a research institution it is not going to be 100 percent
of the people, but more like 10 percent or 15 percent of the people.
But that is my guess, and I can certainly look it up for you.

Mr. ALLEN. When it comes to the review of the content of the
agreement, I am a little bit curious about is that going to be done
by independent panel or the NIH Ethics Advisory Committee, is
that going to be involved in doing a sort of peer review of agree-
ments?
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Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is the idea. It should be done independently
by individuals who are not in the reporting relationship to the per-
son who is requesting this and are directly reporting to the director
of the agency, so that you do not have a conflict there.

Mr. ALLEN. Do you expect the committee to meet on a regular
basis? And if so, will it make its judgments as a committee and not
as individuals? I mean, how——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. The committee will meet on a regular basis. It is
managed by the Deputy Director of NIH, Dr. Kington, and will
make its recommendation on a regular basis as well as keeping a
case history of every single case that comes to their attention so
that we can over time identify patterns if we need to.

Mr. ALLEN. Okay. I would like if we have time to put up some
slides. Slide A dealing with Pfizer. You have that?

This is one slide that basically looks at some of the more promi-
nent drug and biotech companies that are currently paying NIH
employees. I wanted first to note that really only Abbott Labs and
Schering Plough cooperated with Mr. Waxman and Mr. Brown. But
we got information on the other firms.

This one dealt with Pfizer.
Just looking at this, you cannot see that, but Mr. Brewer the

chief the molecular disease branch, Dr. Brewer, is receiving
$19,000 a year in 2001, $16,500 in 2002, $20,000 in 2003 and
$18,000 a year fee for the future.

I mean, my understanding, correct me if I am wrong, is that the
recommendation in the report is that people would be—I mean em-
ployees would be limited to earning no more than 50 percent of
their current income per year outside. Is that a restriction that is
going to have a material bearing on many of the people who are
currently NIH employees or is it a restriction that will effect only
a tiny fraction of the current consultants?

Anyway who would like to.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. Mr. Allen, if I might respond. I think there is

a fifth criterion on your list of four. I think the four were very good.
The fifth one we felt has to do with responsibility of the indi-

vidual at NIH. And so we would differ between a person in a lead-
ership role, a person who is performing human subject work, a per-
son who is overseeing an allocation of grants to the outside, and
finally what I would call the bench scientist working entirely in the
laboratory.

And so I think the restrictions, the more important restriction
rather than the dollar amount is that we would simply preclude
those first few groups from having any outside consulting and it
would only be the latter group that we would permit under our rec-
ommendation to have consulting. And only then when it did not
pose a conflict of interest with ongoing work.

Mr. ALLEN. I see. So the higher up the chain you go, the less you
can do by way of outside consulting?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. And at the upper levels the answer is one.
Mr. ALLEN. None.
Mr. ALBERTS. There is also the 25 percent from any one source

restriction that we are recommending.
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Mr. ALLEN. Okay. Okay. But your position is that you think the
50 percent of income for those to whom it applies is a restriction
that should deal with part of this particular problem, anyway?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I think we would characterize it much as Dr.
Zerhouni did. I think it will not effect the average person. But the
person who is trying to do something extreme, I think we have
stopped them.

Mr. ALLEN. Okay. Thank you.
Let me just check one more slide here. Slide B for Wyeth, do you

have that? Just calling your attention to a couple of the people.
I mean, there you have—no, these are not broken out quite the

same way. But Melissa Kitner Triolo, almost $120,000 over 3 years.
And Germain, the past is spread out, but the future $25,000 a
year.

I mean, those are numbers that you are comfortable with for peo-
ple in their positions? Excuse me 1 second.

I do not know where they are in the chain.
Mr. ALBERTS. I do not either, so I cannot answer that question.
Mr. ALLEN. Dr. Zerhouni, do you know where they are in the

chain?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes. I mean, Dr. Germain is a laboratory chief.

He’s a chief of the biotech. So he is an intramural scientist.
Mr. ALLEN. Yes.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Am I comfortable with them making $25,000 a

year or half of their salary? The answer is yes, as long as it is com-
pletely reviewed, completely disclosed and that we understand the
content of the relationship.

Dr. Germain is a world class immunologist who invented, discov-
ered many of the fundamentals of immune system response. He is
basically in the Nobel Prize equivalent category. Many people want
to talk to him about his knowledge of immunology.

It is going to be the case that if you look at this, many of them
are 2500 or 10 or 15; there is a relationship between the amount
of activity and the importance of the research of that person, typi-
cally.

Mr. ALLEN. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. So that is where we need to cap. That is where

we have to have clear rules of only so much.
Mr. ALLEN. Thank you very much.
I yield back.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair would announce that we face a se-

ries of four votes now. Dr. Zerhouni, I know that you need to be
back at NIH to meet with the President. What time do you need
to leave here, sir?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right now.
Mr. GREENWOOD. About now?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. About now, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Pardon me?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. About now, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. About now. Okay.
In that case, what we will do is we will recess for these votes.

We will return in about a half an hour. Drs. Alberts and Augus-
tine, I assume you can remain with us?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. You will have time to grab some lunch. We will
be back here as soon as the series of votes are over, which should
be 30 minutes or so.

And then, Dr. Zerhouni, we are probably going to ask you to
come back at another time and drill you all over again.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Absolutely. I am sorry about the event today.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So the committee will stand in recess until the

series of votes is completed.
[Brief recess.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Bilirakis for 10 minutes.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me ask you gentlemen since the Director is not here, you

heard him make his statement where he talked about reviewing
and he had certain steps to try to address this problem, this situa-
tion and whatnot. I guess my question has to go with does he have
the authority to do what is needed to be done, whatever he may
decide? Does he have the authority?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Mr. Bilirakis, I think our answer to that would
be that he does not have the total authority he needs. Part of it
relates to his ability to compel additional people to file form 450,
the private disclosure form. In addition, the interpretation of Title
42 is such that it makes it very difficult for him to compel people
to file form 278, the public disclosure form. In each case there prob-
ably is a way around it, but in each case that way is cumbersome.
And in the case of the form 278, he can file exceptions by positions,
but it is a major undertaking. And every time you reorganize NIH,
you would have to refile.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. And apparently his lawyers advised him that he
did not have the authority necessary, as I understand it.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Our sense has been very much that Dr.
Zerhouni has tried mightily to comply with the rules as he under-
stands them and the constraints that are placed on him, including
the Privacy Act.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, he has told us the same thing about the al-
location of research dollars to what disease and that sort of thing
that he does not—I mean my impression is at least that he does
not have the authority to do anything about that. So here he is a
director and he is being held responsible for these particular acts
that we are talking about and, you know, some of the other areas,
apparently the allocation of the dollars and whatnot.

But let me ask you then, should he have that authority?
Mr. AUGUSTINE. The two specific authorities that I mentioned we

believe he should have. And we tried to stand back and understand
the context of the problem. And the issue, I think, begins with
some years ago when there were dissimilarities throughout the
government in conflict of interest rules. And there was a feeling
that that was unfair to the employees and there should be more
standardization. And as a result of that standardization, we do not
reflect properly the uniqueness of the NIH. And I think the rules
that are there or the intention was probably good, but they just do
not apply very well to NIH’s situation.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. So, yes. And the staff just reminded me, certainly
your people have spent an awful lot of time on your study and your
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recommendations and whatnot. So are we saying then that he does
not have the authority to put all those into effect?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I think that some of the recommendations he
would have to get relief from OGE and from HHS. Many of them
he could put into place, and some he could put in temporary cir-
cumventions, if you will.

Mr. ALBERTS. Could I also refer you to the letter that we sub-
mitted with our testimony that was addressed to Norman and I
from Marilyn Glynn, who is the Acting Director of the Office of
Government Ethics that deals directly with the transparency ques-
tion and it would imply that he doesn’t have some authority he
needs.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, all right. You heard the Chairman say ear-
lier that we want to certainly make every effort to reauthorize
NIH. We have not done that in a long time. It hasn’t, at least from
a financial standpoint, adversely affected the working of NIH.
Maybe in other areas it has, but the point of the matter is that it
has continued to function and function relatively well. But we
would like to think that we will reauthorize this year. It is a tough
year. It is a tough year to reauthorize or legislate or anything. But
hopefully we can work that out.

So, I guess it is an opportunity I think to do a lot of things in
reauthorization, and that Dr. Zerhouni previously in the hearing
testified that he needed some congressional authority to be able to
put his road map into effect. Somehow we are talking about in the
other areas of authority here. So that being the case, we need your
help. And you may have covered it in your recommendations, I do
not know, but I do not think your recommendations have really
gone into well the director has the authority for this, does not have
authority for that.

So we plead with you on behalf of the committee, I am sure the
chairman would agree, that inputs from you in that regard would
be very, very helpful. And, again, this year is fleeting with elections
and that sort of thing, so sooner rather than later, obviously, in
that regard. So there is an opportunity too, for you all to basically
say hey, Congress this is what is needed.

I said this, sort of tried to say it I guess in my opening state-
ment, we do not want to do anything here to hurt the research ef-
fort. This entire hearing and some of these problems and whatnot,
or potential problems, the perception as we have already indicated
is awfully important. And so, you know, keep that in mind, too.

I had a hearing yesterday that looked like it was kind of a clear
cut hearing, and boy we found out that we conceivably could be
doing an awful lot of harm without realizing it as a result of
digging into things and listening to some of the testimony. So I
think the same thing is true to here.

And I hesitate to do this, but I guess I am—I am trying to figure
out in my mind in the NIH, in this booklet—well, there are spread-
sheets but they are not numbered, and that is the problem. They
are not numbered. But toward the end we have the list of ongoing
consulting arrangements for IC employees. I guess it would prob-
ably be page 4 if it were numbered.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I do not believe we have a copy.
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Mr. BILIRAKIS. All right. Let me just go over this with you and
see if you can respond without having it before you.

There is a William Paul. It is funny, but I have a good friend
back home by that name, William Paul. And his brother is a staff
member of mine. But it is not why I picked on this.

But he is the laboratory chief. That is his position title. outside
organization Suntory Pharmaceuticals Research Lab LLC, and
then also Novartis Pharmaceutical AG Science Board. The former
or biotech is Formac Pharmaceutical. The nature of activity, mem-
ber. What does that mean, member? He is a member of those com-
panies?

Mr. ALBERTS. It means he is a member of the scientific advisory
board of a corporation.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. A corporation?
Mr. ALBERTS. Yes. Yes. Novartis is a big pharmaceutical com-

pany and they obviously have a special board to advise them on
science. And he—I do not know often they meet, but several times
a year, at least.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Right. And that is against his being a consultant,
right? Because a consultant also is on there but not in this par-
ticular case.

Mr. ALBERTS. Yes. Norman could probably explain it better than
I can.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, I think if he was paid to serve on a advi-
sory board, we would group that basically as being a consultant, in
our view.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes. Okay. Well, and really I want to make it
public, no reflection on Mr. Paul. I mean a person, I hate to say
innocent until proven guilty but this is not a criminal thing. But
my point in the manner is that he has conducted himself in the
way he should have ethically conducted himself unless proven to
the contrary.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. And so I don’t insinuate anything.
What I am trying to understand here. He is a member or consult-

ant with these two companies. His fee in one case from 5/1/00 to
present was $280,000. His fee in the other case with Novartis 2/
1/01 to present fee is $100,000. And his travel here. And then it
says future fee, in the first case $350,000, travel $8,000. And future
fee in the Novartis case $120,000 over 5 years, travel expenses
$40,000.

And, again, I am not saying there is anything wrong here. We
Members of Congress are accused all the time by people that are
well, you know, I have to live on $15,000 a year and you guys are
making X amount of government money and you are overpaid. And
we hear that all the time. And we are accused of getting campaign
contributions, political action committee money or whatever the
case may be. And in 22 years there I can think of one case when
I had a Member of Congress said to me that he had looked when
someone was making an appointment, he looked at the rooster to
see if that person or that association—it would not have been an
individual—would have contributed. So I understand. We are not
here throwing stones.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00058 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



51

But can you tell me if you can, not whether this money is more
than it should be, but what role could this person play? I mean he
is a member, a consultant to these organizations. Pharmaceutical,
he is also the laboratory chief. What could go wrong in terms of
conflict, in terms of things that we are all concerned about?

Mr. ALBERTS. I can answer that. First of all, I do know William
Paul. He is a distinguished immunologist and a member of the Na-
tional Academy of Science.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. I am sure he is and I hope everybody will take
it the right way.

Mr. ALBERTS. He is a senior member of the National Academy of
Sciences and internationally known leader in the field of immu-
nology.

According to the rules that allow him to do this, he cannot use
any specific knowledge from his research at NIH in advising the
corporation or whoever he is advising about science. He can only
use his general knowledge of immunology. That is an important
point. He is not allowed to take any of his official duty information
and get compensated for it. And that, obviously, was cleared by the
NIH review——

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes, but how could——
Mr. ALBERTS. So now what is he doing?
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes, what is he doing? Who knows what kind of

knowledge is——
Mr. ALBERTS. Okay. so these companies are obviously trying to

produce drugs that will either prevent auto-immune diseases or
deal with bacterial and virus infections. And if you are doing that,
this is actually my field of cell biology, it is very important to know
and deeply understand how the immune system works. So I am
quite sure he is there because he has a deep understanding, a
broad understanding of all of the very complex molecular inter-
actions that make the immune system work, and he brings that to
the corporation in ways that they cannot otherwise get. Because
their employees, presumably, are not as distinguished and do not
know all the things that he knows. So that would be the general
nature of what he would be doing there.

He would hear from them what they are trying to develop and
say well here is what I know from my field of immunology that
would enable you to do it better or here is why it will not work.
And so they go through different projects one at a time with the
scientific advisory board and get scientific advice on what the best
direction for them to go.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. All right. But if he were not the person that you
say he is and that I would assume he is, and wanted to misuse his
position with the NIH on behalf of these companies who are com-
pensating him pretty darn royalty, I would say, could he do so and
basically who would find out about it, etcetera?

Mr. ALBERTS. I suppose anybody could be dishonest. I do not
think there is any way of monitoring that from the NIH side ex-
actly what he says inside that room. You would have to rely on his
integrity.

You should ask the same question to Dr. Zerhouni when he is
here.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes, I would have to. Of course, he is not here.
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Well, how much authority—could Dr. Zerhouni say, hey, no, you
cannot do this?

Mr. ALBERTS. Well, the NIH has all the authority to prevent any
outside activity and it has the responsibility of preventing any out-
side activity that poses a possible conflict of interest. And that is
why before anybody could do any of these outside activities, they
must file a form 520. And every time they have any new activity,
they must file that form. And we are recommending that even if
nothing has changed, they must file it at least annually. that is the
new recommendation.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes.
Mr. ALBERTS. So they have the full authority to prevent him

from doing that. They have to say yes before he could do that.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. I guess my time is up, trying to interpret that

clock up there. But would it be better that should we not be paying
these people maybe more and not basically allowing things like this
to take place? Because of the perception out there as far as Mem-
bers of Congress are concerned, we have had to cut out hono-
rariums and just so many of these things, gift laws, gift ban laws
and things of that nature. There have been some changes to the
campaign finance whatnot because of the concerns of perception
and image.

Mr. ALBERTS. Well, there is a perception problem. We are very
worried about that. I do not actually know William Paul’s responsi-
bility at the NIH. If he has any responsibility for making funding
decisions, then the answer is no according to us. If he has no such
responsibilities, is purely a scientist, then we are recommending
that he should be allowed to continue with the limitations. I mean,
we have limitations. And I mean, he may be exceeding the limita-
tions on income and hours; I do not know anything about that. But
this would be generally allowed if it had no conflict in other stand-
ards; no stock options, no equities, not more than 25 percent of his
income from one source, you know all those things.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. In a number of these it does say stock. That
means they have got stock options.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes. About one-fourth hold some kind of equity.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, on that I say wow very loudly.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman, and he recog-

nizes the gentlelady from Colorado for 10 minutes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
You had better watch out whenever Mr. Bilirakis says ‘‘wow’’

very loudly.
I want to go back to this example of Dr. Paul, not to pick on him

because it is really just an example of what I think are some of the
ethical issues folks are facing.

He sits on the scientific advisory board of Novartis and other or-
ganizations. And I think what you testified, Dr. Alberts, is that he
as part of his NIH duties, he can share his generalized scientific
knowledge but not specific proprietary knowledge that he might
have as a result of his activities at NIH, correct?

Mr. ALBERTS. Right.
Ms. DEGETTE. You need to say words.
Mr. ALBERTS. Pardon?
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Ms. DEGETTE. You need to speak for the record. Say yes or no.
Mr. ALBERTS. That is, if you are sharing knowledge as part of

your job that you have developed in your laboratory——
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Yes or—I mean is that an accurate sum-

mary of your statement that I did?
Mr. ALBERTS. That is right. That is accurate.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. The concern I have is this: I do not have

such a concern about someone like Dr. Paul being dishonest. My
concern is, first of all, he is an expert in his field. How is he going
to know as he is sitting there giving this information whether or
not it is proprietary information of the NIH or not? I mean, if it
is in his field of information and he is asked to reply on something,
is that not a very, very fuzzy line?

Mr. ALBERTS. Well, I would be in exactly the same position. I am
not in exactly that field. But I could imagine myself in the same
position.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. ALBERTS. And I could clearly distinguish what I had done in

my own laboratory from general knowledge——
Ms. DEGETTE. But what about knowledge that you had received

from things you had done in your laboratory that then entered into
your knowledge?

Mr. ALBERTS. It is very hard to explain. But I could separate that
personally.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. But let me ask you a further question from
that then. Let us say that Dr. Paul or someone else is sitting on
one of these advisory boards, and let us say that Novartis or some
other organization comes to them with an issue, a study they are
going to do, and Dr. Paul has specialized knowledge of his work at
NIH that would effect what Novartis was planning to do with that
study, and maybe in a way that is detrimental to patients. Who is
Dr. Paul’s fiduciary and ethical responsibility to at that point? Is
it to Novartis to give them the information he knows that might
affect a patient study or is it to NIH?

Mr. ALBERTS. It is to NIH. And this is why we——
Ms. DEGETTE. Well, the what happens if Novartis goes forward

with a study that might be detrimental——
Mr. ALBERTS. Oh, I am sorry, I missed you. Detrimental, I see.

I am sorry. You are saying prevent something bad from happening.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Well, let us say that they’re doing some

kind of a human——
Mr. ALBERTS. Well, if I was in that position and I was being very

careful, I would say I think you need to talk somebody, I would rec-
ommend somebody else to talk to who knew the same thing.

Ms. DEGETTE. But what if he is the one that knows it because
he is the one that did the study at NIH? That is the problem
with——

Mr. ALBERTS. He would give somebody who actually knows it.
Nobody in science who——

Ms. DEGETTE. You can see why we are concerned about some of
these ethical concepts.

Mr. ALBERTS. Right.
Ms. DEGETTE. I mean if you look at the L.A. Times series that

we saw, why you have so many blurring of lines, correct?
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Mr. ALBERTS. Yes. But I am just saying that if I was in that posi-
tion, I could like make my way out of that without preventing——

Ms. DEGETTE. Do you have a 100 percent view that everyone else
can figure that——

Mr. ALBERTS. Of course not.
Ms. DEGETTE. Of course not. Okay.
Now, I want to talk about some more parts of the panel rec-

ommendations. I am not meaning to pick on you all. I think we are
just really concerned this be clarified.

In recommendation four of the Blue Ribbon panel the report
states: ‘‘A research clearly should not consult with a company that
has applied for or received a research contract from the employee’s
own laboratory or branch.’’ My question is should a researcher con-
sult with a company that is a subsidiary of the company has ap-
plied for or received a research contract form the employee’s own
laboratory or branch?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I would view the subsidiary as being the parent
company itself in that regard.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Should a researcher consult with a com-
pany that is partnered with a company that has applied for or re-
ceived a research contract from the employee’s own laboratory or
branch?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. If it is partnered on the specific issue at hand,
the answer would be no. If it was a partner in the other area, the
answer might be yes.

Ms. DEGETTE. Why the distinction between a subsidiary and a
different company that is partnered with it?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, a subsidiary would be owned by the com-
pany, whereas a partnership would be for a specific purpose. And
you might have partnerships for different purposes and one pur-
pose may have nothing to do with what this employee does.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. That makes sense.
Should a researcher consult with a company that has a direct fi-

nancial interest in a company that has applied for or received a re-
search contract from the employee’s own laboratory or branch?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. If I understand that question correctly, I think
the answer would be no unless it was a de minimis issue.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, how would you know that?
Mr. ALBERTS. I am not clear about the question.
Ms. DEGETTE. But the question is let us say company A has a

direct financial interest in company B but they are not a sub-
sidiary, but they have got a big investment. And the employee has
a contract with company B. Can they also have one with company
A?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. My answer would still be no the way you de-
scribed it.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Now do ethics officers generally conduct
background checks to identify subsidiary partner and/or shared in-
terest companies?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I do not know the answer to that.
Mr. ALBERTS. I do not know the answer either. But we heard

that NIH wanted to make a extensive data base that would provide
that information.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Because here is the problem——
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Mr. ALBERTS. We heard people say that.
Ms. DEGETTE. You do not know that, and it is hard to know. It

would be hard for an ethics officer to find that out. But here is why
it is important. You know from all of the publicity Dr. Katz, who
were talking about, was consulting with AG Schering when his in-
stitute had dealings with Burlac which is a U.S. subsidiary of Sche-
ring, right?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, without addressing the specific case, which
we did not do, clearly it is up to the individual who is doing the
consulting to know who owns your company and who has interest
in it.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. And in this case, Dr. Katz disclaimed
knowledge that his institute was a subsidiary. So you can see how
this would be a problem. And I guess my view would be what are
we going to do about that?

Mr. ALBERTS. I think that is a good question for Dr. Zerhouni.
Dr. Katz would not be allowed to do any consulting in the new

regulations that Dr. Zerhouni is supporting, because he is too high
a level. But——

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, okay.
Mr. ALBERTS. But we were——
Ms. DEGETTE. But let us take it somebody else. I mean, under

your proposed regulations someone is going to have to figure out
all of these relationships out.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, it is really up to the individual who wants
to do the consulting to know——

Ms. DEGETTE. But how are they going to know? Because, see, Dr.
Augustine, you see what I am saying. Is like I am asking you,
okay, can someone have these relationships and it is yes/no, yes/
no. But that is not in the recommendation. And who is going to
educate these researchers about what they have to do?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes. I would draw the parallel to the SEC rules
where you are expected to know who you are investing in. And
there are enforcement procedures to run tests to make sure that
you are being honest.

Ms. DEGETTE. But these rules are not similar to the SEC rules
in the sense we are talking about institutional researchers. I do not
think you can draw those parallel at all, because a lot of the rela-
tionships they have people probably would not be able to have in
the financial services industry without full disclosure.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I think the employer would go to the prospective
firm that wanted to hire them as a consultant and say give me a
list of the firms that you own or have financial interest in.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Maybe you could make that in your rec-
ommendations or maybe Dr. Zerhouni can put it in his rulemaking.

Mr. ALBERTS. Yes. We did not get to that detail. We said the NIH
should take care of this problem.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, it is a thorny problem and believe me, I will
bring it up with him.

Let me just ask about one more of your recommendations. Rec-
ommendation two suggests that the NIH intramural scientists
should not be allowed to have any financial interests in or relation-
ship with any company whose interest could be effected by their re-
search or clinical trial ‘‘except in special circumstances.’’

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00063 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



56

What types of special circumstances does this exception refer to?
Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, you picked a terrific example of the sort

thing you struggled with. It seemed that for every policy we could
prescribe, we ourselves could think of exceptions.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. This is a great example. The example of the case

where a medical researcher has developed a new technique that
only that researcher has practiced or new instrument that only
that researcher has learned to us, and to deny them participation
in the trial would increase the risk of the trial. And so in our view
there would be an exception in a case like that, but the exception
would stipulate that there were special steps to be taken where
others would monitor the work of this individual and further the
patient would be informed.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. But the issue really is not the participation,
it is the payment for the participation, right?

Mr. ALBERTS. There is no payment here. These are people doing
official duty work.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Well this is called financial interest. Your rec-

ommendation two is financial.
Mr. ALBERTS. I mean there is no payment. They are doing clin-

ical trials at the NIH.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. ALBERTS. They must not have any outside financial interest

that could effect them. And so if this is the inventor of the tech-
nique, they may have the patent for the technique.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. ALBERTS. There is no way you can get around that.
And we strongly support——
Ms. DEGETTE. But who is going to decide—my question was——
Mr. ALBERTS. The director of the NIH has to decide.
Ms. DEGETTE. Dr. Zerhouni is going to decide——
Mr. ALBERTS. Well, eventually he has to.
Ms. DEGETTE. Well, what do you mean ‘‘eventually’’?
Mr. ALBERTS. Well, it goes to this special panel that he set up,

NIH Ethics Advisory Committee. There is a new committee, a cen-
tral committee which he spoke about. If they had any trouble, they
would obviously bounce it to him.

Ms. DEGETTE. What do you mean if they had any trouble?
Mr. ALBERTS. The ultimate decisionmaking has to be him. If they

thought it was ambiguous. You would have to ask them how they
would actually do it, but let me just make the one point.

The American Association of Medical Colleges put out a major re-
port, I think about a year ago, which was a surprise to all—rec-
ommendations on exactly this issue, human subject research, which
was a very thorough well done report.

Ms. DEGETTE. Yes, I am aware of it. I work a lot in human sub-
ject research.

Mr. ALBERTS. William Danforth was the Chair, I believe.
At any rate, the panel in our report strongly supports that report

and its recommendations, and for the NIH as well. And they have
a specific set of procedures to be gone through in exactly this case,
this kind of case with an oversight panel. And we would support
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exactly those recommendations. And we could submit those rec-
ommendations to the record, if you like?

Ms. DEGETTE. I would love it.
Mr. ALBERTS. Okay.
Ms. DEGETTE. And, Mr. Chairman, let me just say, I am more

confused now than when we started the day and I am really glad
we are having a whole series of hearings on this. Because I think
it is critically important to the research of this country, and I have
a lot more questions.

Thank you.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady. And without

objections, the slides presented by the gentlelady will be entered as
part of the record.

[The information referred to follows:]
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Mr. GREENWOOD. And the Chair recognizes himself for purposes
of inquiry.

It seems to me, gentlemen, that I have identified two reasons
why we need to be permitting NIH employees to have extra in-
come, whether that income is pursuant to Title 42, whether that
extra income is derived from consulting, whether it is from speak-
ing fees and so forth. And one of them is retain and recruit good
people, and the other is to advance the science because you do not
necessarily want the NIH science to be insular, and there is a two
way education streaks that occurs between the scientists and pri-
vate sectorsphere, which is good for both. Good for America. Good
for the patients that benefit from the cures that come from all of
that shared knowledge.

So let us look at recruitment and retention. The question is, does
the NIH or the Blue Ribbon panel have any actual evidence that
NIH scientists have left because of consulting fees being cut? Was
such data requested by the panel? Was such data requested by the
NIH? What I am trying to get it is sort of an undischarged assump-
tion that if you do not provide these extra enumeration, that some-
how we will lose quality people. How do we discharge that assump-
tion? What is the evidence of that?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Well, we did not gather statistical data. I am not
sure what is available. One reason we did not, is there are so many
other factors that bear on people leaving and not leaving.

We did in our conversations that I mentioned that we had with
each of the center and institute directors ask if they have encoun-
tered situations where they had trouble recruiting a senior scientist
or retaining a senior scientist due to salary issues and also due to
conflict of interest issues. And with regard to the former, there
were a number that had indicated they had had such cir-
cumstances. So our evidence is anecdotal, but fairly convincing.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, it would be fairly human nature to say
hey boss if you do not pay me more I am out of here. But that may
be the truth.

Mr. ALBERTS. Let me just say a word about, we talked to some
young scientists in closed session. We were worried they would not
speak completely frankly in open session. We also talked to some
in open session, so we tried both ways.

And the young scientists who came were basically focused on
doing public service and they were—I could tell that these were
really outstanding people you want at the NIH.

And one of the things—none of them were doing any outside con-
sulting. But we asked them specifically whether they thought it
was important that they sometime in the future have this oppor-
tunity, and they said that it was important to them. They did not
want to be treated as second class citizens compared to all their
colleagues. And so from that I would take it that it would have an
affect on their long range career plans if they thought they could
never engage in the kind of activities that other colleagues——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Because of the money or because of the oppor-
tunity, experience?

Mr. ALBERTS. I do not think it is really the money, actually.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, that is an interesting point. Because I am

sure that there are—I would guess that there are lots of employees
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at the NIH who are receiving excess compensation because of Title
42 who in fact would not leave if it were not for that.

Mr. ALBERTS. I do not know. I do not know.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right. But how is that determination made. In

other words, if I am at NIH and I see all my friends are on Title
42 and they are making an extra $50,000 a year more than I am,
I want that. So I, how did you get that? Well, I filled out this Title
42 form and then it got signed off by my director. In your study
of this, is there any actual criteria used to determine who is de-
serving of the extra cash and whether it is necessary to give that
to them to be retained?

Mr. ALBERTS. We were looking forward at policies. We did not
have the opportunity. I must emphasize, 66 days, we all have full
time jobs. It was a killer already. And we did not have time to look
into——

Mr. GREENWOOD. You did not look into that. I mean, it is an im-
portant point because that goes to Mr. Bilirakis’ question of re-
sources that the taxpayers put into NIH, is it going to cure dis-
eases or is it going to pay salaries that are in excess of what is nec-
essary in order to keep those folks there.

Obviously, 42 does not allow the most menial tasks, because the
assumption is you can get the menial tasks done without paying
the extra salary, but I have not encountered any actual criteria
that anyone uses to decide whether someone should or should not
qualify.

Do you know what the turnover rates for scientists is at NIH?
Mr. ALBERTS. I’m sorry, what rates?
Mr. GREENWOOD. The question is what are the turnover rates for

NIH scientists? Do we know anything about that? Do we know
what they were 10 years ago? Do we know what they are now?

Mr. ALBERTS. I do not know.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Do we know whether if Title 42 has in fact

made a difference? I mean, has anybody ever looked to see whether
the turnover rate is lower after Title 42 was put in place to provide
these extra salaries?

Mr. ALBERTS. There is one thing I can say. I do not know the
turnover rates, but as a scientist I could say something about the
quality of the work being done at the NIH. And the quality of the
scientists that are there since I came to Washington, there has
been a major change. I came to Washington in 1993. It corresponds
with Title 42. I cannot say it was the cause. But I was once offered
a job at the NIH a long time ago and I did not want to go there.
So I know what it was like then and I know what it is like now.
And I think the quality of the science has vastly improved.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Why did you not want to go?
Mr. ALBERTS. Pardon?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Why did you not want to go?
Mr. ALBERTS. I was at the University of California, San Fran-

cisco, and I preferred to stay there.
Mr. GREENWOOD. It was not a financial decision?
Mr. ALBERTS. No. No.
Mr. GREENWOOD. On page 4 of your report it says ‘‘employees in

a position to influence the financial interests of an outside entity
such as current or possible future recipient of an NIH grant or con-
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tract should neither receive financial benefits from the organization
nor have a significant financial interest in it.’’ And Ms. DeGette
was inquiring about this kind of thing.

Does the term ‘‘financial benefits’’ as used in this statement in-
clude financial benefits associated with an award?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. That is a good question. If the organization—let
me back up a little bit.

That is a very detailed question in a specific case here. But ap-
plying our general rule if the award were to be made by an organi-
zation that was seeking a contract with that employee’s work
group, we would view that as being inappropriate. And I think——

Mr. GREENWOOD. But let us be specific about that. Does that
mean they have to have a current pending application in for that
budget year, or could it be that their potential contenders down the
road? I mean, suppose I decided that my university wants to start
getting into the NIH game and we have not been in it much, or
we opened up a new center for a particular kind of disease and we
say who is the center director there, let us pay him $25,000 to
come on out. And then maybe a year or 2 hence, we will make ap-
plication.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I think the current rules on that say that if
there is a likelihood of a future application, you cannot take a posi-
tion with that firm or you cannot consult for it.

Second, if unforeseen they do turn in an application for a grant,
you then have to disqualify yourself with regarding the terms of
the award of that grant.

Mr. ALBERTS. My understanding, I guess Dr. Zerhouni should be
here to answer that. You cannot form a new award and give it to
an NIH employee. It has to be an award that has been around for
a while and have a drawn track record.

Mr. GREENWOOD. All awards start somewhere.
Mr. ALBERTS. Yes, yes. But my position if I was director, I would

not allow a new award to be given to an NIH employee.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Although that has happened?
Mr. ALBERTS. I do not know anything about it.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Yes. We have got plenty of evidence to that af-

fect.
Also on page 4 your report states ‘‘In addition, NIH scientists

who are recognized for outstanding scientific achievements, leader-
ship or public service are sometimes the recipients of awards which
may be accompanied by a cash prize. The panel believes these are
important, even essential activities for NIH scientists, because they
are part of the tradition of science and provide evidence of the
value and significance of the NIH research community to the larger
scientific community.’’

If awards are an important part of the tradition of sciences,
raises the visibility of NIH and NIH scientists, why hasn’t the NIH
posted a listing of the scientists who have received awards, the
names of the awards and the citation of the award what the sci-
entists is being honored for? Why did the Blue Ribbon panel not
recommend that NIH post such award listings?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. It is a terrific idea, and I wish we had thought
of it.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
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Mr. ALBERTS. I did not know they did not do it.
But, you know, I mean in general at my university, University

of California San Francisco they advertise every award as much as
they can. So I would assume that the NIH does that as well, but
we did not receive any information about that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. You now, if Boeing decided to give awards to
the defense Pentagon employees, and that became the tradition, I
mean I am sure that health care is not the only place where sci-
entists are really smart and want to do good things. I mean, Du-
Pont could give awards to EPA employees. What is the difference?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I think there are distinctions. I have struggled
with your questions in the past.

One distinction is that the NIH has as part of its mission to
spread the knowledge that develops outside, whereas Boeing——

Mr. GREENWOOD. But you do not have to get paid for that.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. I am sorry?
Mr. GREENWOOD. But you do not have to get paid for that.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. But that is a separate issue can come back to.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Yes. But I am talking about awards.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. Okay. I again think there are two distinctions.

One is that Boeing has no desire to build a particular—to spread
its information; NIH does. Second, Boeing pays a competitive sal-
ary and the NIH at the senior levels does not.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I guess what I am trying to get at is if I am
an employee of the Environmental Protection Agency, just like
somebody at NIH wants to save the world from some dread dis-
ease, somebody over at EPA wants to save the world from some
dread toxin. Same thing in terms of both altruistic, okay. And yet
we seem to have one whole set of rules and traditions that the peo-
ple who are saving the world through medicine, that they are so
special that you have to treat them differently and give them prizes
and awards and consulting fees. But some smock who is over at the
EPA who is just trying to save the world from pollution, maybe he
is trying to save the world from catastrophic global climate change,
shut up do your job and take your Federal salary.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. The question we addressed was why not just
rule that you cannot accept awards given by companies, firms. And
we are told that there are a number of awards that are very pres-
tigious, long established that scientists in this field would like to
have. There are not in the aerospace field, and I do not know about
the EPA.

Mr. ALBERTS. General Motors Cancer Fund is one such prize.
Mr. GREENWOOD. In recommendation one the Blue Ribbon panel

proposes that in addition to NIH senior management, NIH extra-
mural employees who are responsible for program funding deci-
sions and recommendations should not engage in outside con-
sulting. Is the rationale for this recommendation that these extra-
mural program administrators are high level officials who are re-
sponsible for making funding decisions on grants, contracts and co-
operative agreements?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Really it wa the latter. It was not necessarily
that they were high level, it was just that anybody who has respon-
sibility for grants or contracts we felt should not be prevented to
consult.
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Mr. ALBERTS. We specifically took some case studies and dis-
cussed them. The initial review of grants is done by a panel of out-
side people, maybe 12 people from outside. It’s called a study sec-
tion. And it has an NIH extramural employee who is staffing that
evaluation, initial evaluation of event. And we said specifically, the
panel agreed, that it should extend to that level. That is not a very
high level, but it is a very important level because it is where the
first judgments are made about scientific quality, even though the
staff member is just managing a group of outside scientists. The
thought there was a possibility of perceived conflict. And so we took
some case studies. We were not able to go through every position,
but it does reach pretty low in that part of the NIH.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. In recommendation 11 you state that the
NIH should seek additional equivalency rulings from OGE to in-
crease the number of public filers to include the senior employees
specified in recommendation one.

On January 12, 2004 the HHS associate general counsel for eth-
ics requested the Office of Government of Ethics to determine if the
following positions be required to file public disclosure reports: In-
stitute, center directors, IC deputy director, IC scientific directors
and IC clinical directors. The Office of Government Ethics granted
this request the following month.

Does the Blue Ribbon panel consider NIH extramural employees
covered by HHS request and OGE determination?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. Did we consider them?
Mr. GREENWOOD. The question does the Blue Ribbon panel con-

sider NIH extramural employees to be covered by the HHS request
and OGE determinations.

Mr. ALBERTS. The senior employees.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Pardon me?
Mr. ALBERTS. Certainly the senior employees.
I understand from Dr. Zerhouni’s testimony they just asked for

500 more positions, and I assume that’s mostly what those are. I
do not know what they are. But Dr. Zerhouni can answer.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Since NIH extramural program administrators
have high level responsibilities, why aren’t they covered in the Jan-
uary 2004 HHS request to OGE to cover senior Title 42 officials
under public disclosure requirements?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. My understanding is that that was a first step,
but that he has got additional ones he is going to ask for exceptions
on.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. All right.
I have got four more questions that I am trying to get in here.

What did the Blue Ribbon panel mean in recommendation 18 that
‘‘the NIH director working with Congress should ensure that the
agency has authority under Title 42?’’

Mr. AUGUSTINE. It was our view that some mechanism was need-
ed to pay senior scientists beyond what’s allowed exclusive of Title
42. We are also aware of the issue that has gone back and forth
between the committee and the HHS as to the applicability of Title
42 at all.

We did not enter into that. Most of us are not lawyers. We do
not know which side has the merit. The one thing we know is that
there needs to some mechanism, whether it is Title 42 or some
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other mechanism, to be sure that these people can be paid ade-
quately.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Title 42 authority used by the NIH to com-
pensate NIH institute directors and other senior officials at annual
salaries of up to $225,000 is section 209(f). This section provides
that under certain circumstances special consultants may be em-
ployed ‘‘to assist and advise in the operations of the Public Health
Service’’ without regard to Civil Service laws. Do you believe that
the statutory provision was intended to authorize the compensation
of NIH officials already occupying continuing full time positions in
order to evade the pay caps under the Federal Civil Service pay
scale?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I think neither of us are lawyers and would not
be qualified to opine.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Without being lawyers, the question is having
looked at this issue, we are seeing what appears to be a gap be-
tween the intent of the law, which is to bring in special people to
assist and advise in the operations of the Public Health Service,
and that is a very different model than somebody who has been
working there for years, going to continue to work there for years
and that is their job as opposed to somebody we have to bring in
a special consultant and that person is going to need more money
to give us his or her time.

Mr. AUGUSTINE. I could certainly understand that point of view
could be defended. I could understand the point. But we really did
not examine it at any depth.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Last question. Does the Blue Ribbon panel have concerns that

NIH did not work with the Congress previously on clarifying Title
42 authority?

Mr. AUGUSTINE. In 1985 you mean or currently?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Heretofore. Recent.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. The hiring authority of Title 42 or the pay of

Title 42?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Both, I think.
Mr. AUGUSTINE. I guess with regard to hiring authority, we real-

ly did not involve ourselves with that.
With regard to compensation, our view was that the Director of

NIH would work with whoever it takes to try to seek relief for the
more senior employees.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Thank you. You have been very gen-
erous with your time, not only today but for the 10 weeks that you
spent doing this work. And the committee and the country owes
you a debt of gratitude. Thank you for your time.

Mr. ALBERTS. Thank you.
[Whereupon, the subcommittee at 2:08 p.m. was adjourned.]
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NIH ETHICS CONCERNS: CONSULTING
ARRANGEMENTS AND OUTSIDE AWARDS

TUESDAY, MAY 18, 2004

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATIONS,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room
2322 Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. James C. Greenwood
(chairman) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Greenwood, Stearns, Walden,
Ferguson, Barton (ex officio), DeGette, and Waxman.

Staff present: Alan Slobodin, majority counsel; Bud Albright,
staff director; Ann Washington, majority counsel; Casey Hemard,
majority counsel; William Carty, legislative clerk; William Harvard,
legislative clerk; David Nelson, minority investigator and econo-
mist; and Jessica McNeice, minority staff assistant.

Mr. GREENWOOD. A quorum being present, this hearing of the
Oversight and Investigations Subcommittee will come to order. The
Chair recognizes himself for purposes of making an opening state-
ment. Good morning to everyone.

In this hearing the subcommittee turns from last week’s focus on
the lofty aims of the NIH Blue Ribbon Panel on Conflict of Interest
Policies to the ignoble case specific realities of how ethics issues
have been handled at the NIH. We will look mostly at what led to
the weaknesses in the NIH ethics program and what can be
learned from this examination to increase the chances for success
and improving NIH’s ethics program. This examination will high-
light two cases illustrating conflicts of interest, concerns rising
from consulting agreements and election reports.

Consider the case of Correlogic Systems, a small bioscience com-
pany in Bethesda, Maryland, developing diagnostic disease tests.
Although a small company, Correlogic attracted the partnership of
the Food and Drug Administration, the National Cancer Institute,
to develop a test by Correlogic based on an innovative way that at-
tempts to detect diseases by looking at patterns of proteins in the
blood as opposed to single biomarkers, the conventional method
used by researchers.

Correlogic’s test takes a single drop of blood from a patient and
scans for patterns of protein fragments through a mass spectrom-
eter. The test was able to detect ovarian cancer in 50 of 50 patients
who participated in the study, 100 percent, including patients with
earliest stage cancers. Ovarian cancer is the fifth leading cause of
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cancer deaths of U.S. women but the survival rate is near 95 per-
cent when ovarian cancer is detected in stage one.

The data produced in this study was a joint effort of Correlogic,
the FDA, and the NCI through the FDI, NCI clinical proteomics
program. Correlogic’s partners were Dr. Emanuel Petricoin of the
FDA and Dr. Lance Liotta of the NCI.

In light of these encouraging results in April 2002 the joint effort
of Correlogic and the FDA and NCI was converted into a coopera-
tive research and development agreement called a CRDA involving
the NCI, the FDA, and Correlogic. A CRDA is an agreement that
allows the Government to collaborate with outside organizations on
research and development. Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin became the
co-principal investigators of CRDA. This was a research created to
allow Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin to test Correlogic’s software.

One of the purposes of this joint collaboration was to develop
technology and develop a strategy that would lead to the prompt
commercialization of protein pattern recognition tests first for ovar-
ian cancer patients. Now, at this point, this could have been a
great public health story.

A public/private partnership saving the lives of ovarian cancer
patients by expediting development of these diagnostic tests. Unfor-
tunately, this story took a different path. Sometime in the spring
of 2002 NCI decided to unilaterally sponsor clinical trials on the
ovarian cancer test instead of executing a clinical research CRDA
with Correlotic.

Since the time that NCI has wanted to unilaterally pursue clin-
ical trials, Correlogic and NCI have been engaged in negotiations
for about 2 years now over whether to pursue the clinical trial
CRDA.

In the fall of 2002 a company called Biospect recruited Dr. Liotta
and Dr. Petricoin to consult for them. Biospect is a competitor of
Correlogic. Its mission statement, ‘‘Development technology for
identifying and assaying protein biomarker pattern,’’ is virtually
identical to Correlogic’s.

At this time Dr. Richard Clausner, former Director of NCI, was
a board member of Biospect. Dr. Carol Dahl, former Chief of the
Office of Technology and Industrial Relations at NCI, served as
Vice President for Strategic Partnerships. In addition to hiring
Liotta and Petricoin, the two co-principal investigators on the
Correlogic CRDA and co-inventors of Correlogic’s test, Biospect also
hired the technology transfer officer from NCI and the person with
whom Correlogic had to negotiate its CRDA.

FDA scientists like Dr. Petricoin are subject to stricter ethics reg-
ulations than NIH scientists because the FDA is a regulatory agen-
cy and would be prohibited from consulting with biotechnology
companies. Nonetheless, Dr. Petricoin’s request to consult with
Biospect was approved in October 2002. Dr. Liotta’s request was
approved in December 2002. His consulting agreement covered the
areas of diagnostic devices, serum handling, and microfluidics but
not areas involving data pattern analysis.

Sometime in 2003 Correlogic learned that Liotta and Petricoin
were consulting for Biospect. In July 2003 a representative for
Correlogic raised concerns that Dr. Anna Barker, the Deputy Direc-
tor of NCI, about Dr. Liotta’s consulting arrangement with
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Biospect. As a result of this complaint, the NCI re-reviewed Dr.
Liotta’s consulting arrangement and reapproved it.

NCI recognized that Biospect and Correlogic did business in the
same area, but Dr. Carol Barret, Liotta’s supervisor, determined
that the consulting was limited to areas that did not overlap with
Liotta’s official duties.

In the days before this hearing Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta have
ceased their consulting arrangements with Biospect but the dam-
age has been done to a promising partnership. Dr. Zerhouni has
stated that all public/private partnerships such as cooperative re-
search and development agreements must be transparent but the
Correlogic case proves that such transparency can be a fiction.

The NIH and the FDA allowed Government scientists who are
co-inventors and creative partners with Correlogic to secretly pro-
vide consulting services without the knowledge or consent of
Correlogic to Correlogic’s competitor which had already hired the
NCI tech transfer specialist from the CRDA. What happened to the
public trust?

Every day private companies negotiate provisions in business
contracts to protect themselves from employees or consultants who
might later try to work for a competitor. Indeed, there was such
a provision in the Biospect consulting agreement with Dr. Liotta.
Yet, in a case like Correlogic a private company entering into a
CRDA with NIH cannot protect itself. It risks its Government part-
ners taking the insight, knowledge, and prestige gained from the
CRDA to consult with the competition and all under the cover of
an ethics approval.

Even under the so-called limited consulting agreement with
Biospect, Dr. Liotta was permitted to advise Biospect on what
seemed to be commercialization strategies, the very heart at what
CRDA was all about. There are a few situations more destructive
of public/private partnerships than this one. What company will
want to enter a CRDA with NIH if this is the way conflict of inter-
est issues are managed? This isn’t transparency. This is an out-
rage.

In addition to the Correlogic case, the subcommittee will look at
the strange story of how NIH officials got to live under a permis-
sive policy for receiving cash gift awards from entities doing busi-
ness with their institutes. In 1996 Dr. Richard Clausner, who was
the Director of the NCI, was notified by the University of Pitts-
burgh that he had been awarded the Dixon Prize of Medicine asso-
ciated with a $30,000 cash gift.

However, ethics officials at the NIH advised him that he could
not accept the prize. There were three reasons for this advice. (1)
an ongoing lawsuit by famous cancer researcher Dr. Bernard Fish-
er against the University of Pittsburgh, the NCI, and other co-de-
fendants; (2) an ongoing contract dispute between Pittsburgh and
NCI; and (3) the University of Pittsburgh status as a major entity
doing business with the NCI, receiving and seeking substantial
funding for grants, contracts, and agreements.

In giving this advice, one of the NIH ethics officials conferred
with an attorney at the Office of Government Ethics who supported
the advice and indicated that Dr. Clausner still could not accept
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the award even if he disqualified himself from all matters involving
Pittsburgh.

On August 27, 1997, Dr. Fisher and the defendants announced
a settlement of the lawsuit which involved a $2.7 million payment
from Pittsburgh to Fisher. However, most of this $2.7 million actu-
ally came from other defendants, not Pittsburgh. One of those de-
fendants was the NCI and available evidence indicates that Dr.
Clausner orally approved a $300,000 payment from the Govern-
ment as a contribution to the settlement.

At about the same time, the Dixon Prize Awards Committee
made up of faculty members of the University of Pittsburgh, de-
cided to recommend Dr. Clausner again for the award. This time
the cash gift was increased from $30,000 to $40,000. Although the
rules for the prize state that the award should be given to the indi-
vidual who made the most progress in medicine for the year in
question, Dr. Clausner was honored for achievements that occurred
prior to becoming NCI director in 1995.

Giving the prize to Dr. Clausner in 1997 was like giving the
Academy Award to a well-liked actor who just didn’t happen to
make any movies that year. Within days after the settlement, Har-
riet Robb, the HHS General Counsel and Presidential appointee,
asked Edward Swindell, the Acting Director of the Ethics Division,
to see if there was a way Dr. Clausner, Presidential appointee,
could receive the prize from Pittsburgh now that the litigation was
settled.

Notwithstanding the past guidance from OGE and the concerns
raised by the NCI ethics advisor, Mr. Swindell wrote the legal opin-
ion that interpreted the ethics regulations to allow an NIH official
to receive a cash gift award from a grantee as long as there wasn’t
a pending matter in the official’s in-box at the time the award was
tendered. This interpretation has bound HHS and NIH to this day
preventing Dr. Zerhouni from taking immediate steps to place re-
strictions on awards.

I am pleased that the Office of Government Ethics recognizes in
its testimony for this hearing that the HHS interpretation was
overly permissive. Although the University of Pittsburgh insist that
Dr. Clausner was selected on his merits, serious appearance ques-
tions are raised because of the timing and the circumstances of the
award.

In addition, it is amazing that the highest ranking ethics official
at HHS ignored these appearance questions, disregarded OGE’s ad-
vice, and may have provided a permissible but incorrect interpreta-
tion of ethics regulations to please political appointees.

We invited both Dr. Clausner and Dr. Michael Lotts of the Uni-
versity of Pittsburgh who chaired the awards committee at the
time to testify at this hearing. Both indicated that they would be
unable to testify. We also invited the NCI’s ethics advisor Dr.
Maureen Wilson to testify but she had a long-standing personal
commitment that prevented her from appearing today. We may
have her as a witness at a future hearing.

The subcommittee will hear from two panels of witnesses today.
The first panel includes representatives from OGE, HHS, NIH, an
ethnics specialist, Congressional Research Service, and Dr. Harold
Varmus, the former director of the NIH. The second panel features
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witnesses from the NCI, the FDA to discuss the Correlogic case
study.

Through this hearing it is my hope we will learn about the prob-
lems of day-to-day implementation of NIH ethics issues and in so
doing understand what must be done to assure that the good inten-
tions of Dr. Zerhouni are actually carried out.

The Chair welcomes these witnesses and looks forward to their
testimony and recognizes the gentlelady from Colorado for an open-
ing statement.

Ms. DEGETTE. Mr. Chairman, I would ask unanimous consent
that Mr. Waxman be recognized out of order. He has an obligation
on the Senate side.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Without objection, Mr. Waxman is recognized
for an opening statement.

Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Try to keep it as brief as mine was.
Mr. WAXMAN. If I did, Mr. Chairman, I would forget about my

obligation on the Senate side completely. I thank both of you for
allowing me to make this statement. Last week the subcommittee
held its first hearing on revelations that dozens of NIH scientists
had accepted large consulting fees from drug companies. Not only
were NIH officials accepting money from companies where interest
might have been in conflict, but many of these arrangements were
being kept secret from the public.

NIH has a long and proud tradition of scientific independence
and integrity. Because NIH is the source of some of our Nation’s
most important biomedical research, it is essential that America
and the world continue to feel confident that NIH’s grant decisions
and research results are not biased in any way.

Today we will hear from the Government agencies and others di-
rectly responsible for enforcing department and Government-wide
conflict of interest rules. I am deeply troubled that these groups in
whom we have placed responsibility for ensuring the highest eth-
ical conduct from public servants are the very people who sanc-
tioned the loose ethical rules that resulted in the questionable fi-
nancial relationships we have uncovered.

This subcommittee’s investigation has revealed a series of actions
by the Office of Government Ethics and by HHS ethics advisors
that seem designed not to protect against conflicts of interest but
to ease the way for such conflicts. It was the Office of Government
Ethics which advised Dr. Varmus in 1995 that NIH was free to life
existing caps on the amounts that NIH scientists could receive
from drug companies. As a result of that advice, there is no limit
on the amount of money NIH scientists can accept from drug com-
panies.

It was the Office of Government Ethics that drafted the legal
opinion concluding that scientists hired under Title 42, including
those in senior positions, could not be required to publicly disclose
their financial dealings with drug companies. It was HHS ethics
advisors who signed off on the huge consulting fees paid to high-
ranking NIH officials that triggered this investigation in the first
place.

These decisions are the opposite of what people have the right
to expect from our Government ethics officials. Unfortunately these
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decisions appear to be part of the dubious pattern of covering up
conflicts of interest rather than trying to avoid them. This is a pat-
tern also reflected in HHS’ highly questionable decision to permit
Tom Scully, the head of CMS, to continue to negotiate the Medicare
drug benefit legislation while at the same time looking for a new
job with the very interest most affected by that legislation.

I want to close on a positive note. Last week I expressed in my
statement in the record a particular concern that under the Blue
Ribbon Panel’s proposal some NIH scientists would still have no
obligation to disclose financial relationships with drug companies.
NIH testified that despite the agency’s own desire for a full disclo-
sure, it had been advised by Federal ethics officials that full disclo-
sure could not be required.

This week I have learned that Dr. Zerhouni has decided to seek
new rules to require public disclosure of potential conflicts of inter-
est for all NIH employees. I applaud Dr. Zerhouni for his insistence
on full disclosure. Only with full disclosure can we continue to en-
sure public confidence in the work of NIH. I hope that we hear
from today’s witnesses that they will not throw up any barriers to
Dr. Zerhouni’s very appropriate decision. Thank you, Mr. Chair-
man.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and ask
unanimous consent to enter into the record a letter dated May 17
to Ms. Dara Corrigan, Esq., Acting Principal Deputy Inspector Gen-
eral at the Department of Health and Human Services. This is a
bipartisan letter signed by Chairman Barton, ranking member Din-
gell and myself and the ranking member of this subcommittee Mr.
Deutsch asking for a review of the Petricoin case mentioned in my
opening statement. Without objection it will be entered into the
record.

The Chair recognizes and welcomes the chairman of the full com-
mittee for his opening statement, Mr. Barton.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This is a very im-
portant hearing. I am glad to be a part of it and I appreciate you
holding it.

As I said last week, this committee will get the information that
it needs to do its oversight. Last week because of the failure of the
HHS Department and NIH to produce certain information that this
committee had requested on consulting agreements we had to an-
nounce that we would seek it from the drug companies.

I am pleased to learn that immediately after our hearing last
week the NIH director suddenly discovered the ability to get that
information. This committee is now getting the information and we
will continue to do so. Let us hope that HHS and NIH have learned
that it is absolutely pointless not to provide information and force
this committee to force them to cooperate, as I said last week, coer-
cively.

This hearing today will show that the committee is doing more
than getting information. We are starting to achieve positive
changes in NIH ethics policy both for consulting and for awards.
For example, because of the committee’s investigation HHS has or-
dered all of its agencies, including the NIH, to collect an amount
of information as part of the approval process for outside activities.
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Because of this committee’s investigation, the Office of Govern-
ment ethics is now providing additional guidance on the issue of
awards. Finally, the committee has already played a role in spur-
ring efforts by HHS and the Office of Government Ethics to expand
the number of NIH employees that will be covered by public finan-
cial disclosure requirements. Much more needs to be done, quite
frankly, but the committee has played an important role in getting
the process moving.

We are also exposing abuses and questionable practices. This
subcommittee will examine a remarkable case today in which the
NIH and FDA scientists who were collaborating with a private
company on a joint invention under a public/private partnership
which we call a CRDA were secretly consulting with their private
partners competitor.

Incredibly the FDA scientist who worked at the FDA Center for
Biologics was allowed to consult with this competitor which was
about technology company. Such consultations are prohibited under
the stricter supplemental regulations that apply to the FDA but did
not apply to NIH. As a result of these secret deals, progress ap-
pears to have slowed on a public/private partnership that could
lead to prompt commercialization of a lifesaving ovarian cancer di-
agnostic test. Public trust has been damaged.

In another astonishing case that we will go into today, a permis-
sive HHS policy allowed an NIH director to collect cash gift awards
for major grantees under very questionable circumstances. In 1997
Richard Clausner, who was then the NCI director, appeared to be
personally involved in approving a $300,000 payment from the
Government to settle a lawsuit filed against both U.S. Government
and the grantee with great financial benefit to the grantee.

The grantee almost at the same time offered Dr. Clausner a
$40,000 cash prize. Yet, the official for overseeing the HHS ethics
program did not even address the appearance issue and dis-
regarded advice from the Office of Government Ethics. Instead, this
official wrote a legal interpretation that would allow Dr. Clausner
to accept the prize.

It will be a hallmark of my chairmanship, at least I hope it will
be, that we are going to hold agencies responsible for their actions
and produce better results in Government ethics and better serv-
ices and better policies for the American people. That is the pur-
pose of oversight. We will continue to look at NIH. We will also
focus our efforts on the FDA.

I want to congratulate Chairman Greenwood for his work on this
investigation. I want to thank the ranking members on the minor-
ity side for their participation and the staffs on both sides. We are
doing this on a bipartisan basis and we are beginning to see re-
sults. I look forward to having a productive hearing today, Mr.
Chairman. I yield back the balance of my time.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The Chair recog-
nizes the gentlelady from Colorado, Ms. DeGette, for an opening
statement.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Before I make my
opening statement, I would ask unanimous consent that Mr. Din-
gell’s opening statement and the rest of the opening statements of
the committee be made part of the record.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Without objection.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you for holding this hearing, Mr. Chair-

man. I found the hearing last week to be very illuminating and I
think this issue is so important and has such ramifications for the
integrity of medical research and public health. I am glad that you
are having a series of indepth hearings on this issue.

I want to begin by reiterating the statement that I strongly ex-
pressed at the last hearing which is I have grave concerns about
the Blue Ribbon Panel recommendations. I believe, Mr. Chairman,
that we need to consider not only full disclosure and limits on out-
side compensation, but also even a blanket restriction on outside
compensation because of the serious conflicts of interest and the
appearance of conflicts of interest.

At least week’s hearing we heard the same argument being made
over and over by the witnesses. That view is that allowing lucrative
contracting agreements between NIH scientists and outside compa-
nies in addition to allowing the acceptance of awards that come
with a hefty amount of cash attached to them, to name two exam-
ples, are key to recruiting and retaining quality scientists and re-
searchers.

Now, a fact that everybody knows but no one really talked about
too much is that the current rules did not always exist. The caps
on outside compensation were lifted in the mid-1990’s, something
I think Dr. Varmus will talk to us about.

Up to that point there were monetary restrictions on what these
Federal employees could receive from outside groups, for example,
and there was certainly more public disclosure in this regard. I
think what we really need is more information about the situation
at NIH before the restrictions were done away with. Did the NIH
have serious problems with recruiting and retaining high-level tal-
ent? Was the NIH a lower quality institute before 1995 due to this
problem? If so, was the problem because of the outside compensa-
tion?

If that is the case, I would like to get some factual evidence to
support this because it has been repeatedly given as the reason
that this is so important to the integrity of the NIH. We also need
to see if limitations on outside compensation and awards, as well
as disclosure, will go far enough to prevent the kinds of conflicts
that the Chairman himself highlighted in his opening statement.

One of the things that has been reported on, and was also in-
clude in the Blue Ribbon Panel Report, is that many employees in-
cluding senior level scientists at the NIH are increasing demor-
alized by the scrutiny and criticism that this issue has cost lately.

In addition, it has been alleged that the confusing nature of the
current roles is also confusing and dispiriting to staff. I think this
is really too bad because these staff members are simply trying to
wade through the rules and do what the rules allow them to do.
However, I think that there is an implication in the report that
somehow it is the media and congressional examination that is the
problem rather than the issue itself.

It is not the fault of the scientists that they are under a cloud
of suspicion as it is characterized in the report but it is the system
that has created this situation. There has also been a lot of talk
about perceptions of conflicts of interest and how it has been a mo-

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00276 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6601 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



269

rale problem at the NIH. The fact of the matter is there are serious
conflicts of interest issues. We heard this last week. We are going
to hear it again today. Those conflicts of interest must be scruti-
nized for everyone’s sake including, and perhaps most importantly,
the NIH scientists that they apply to.

The resolution of this problem, which means completely cleaning
up what is currently happening, is to preserve the reputation of the
NIH and the integrity of everybody who works there.

Now, there is one solution that from our perspective would be
really simple. If we completely banned outside compensation there
would be a bright line and the confusion would disappear. In the
absence of persuasive evidence that this policy would seriously
hamper the science, I believe we should seriously consider this op-
tion.

I also want to say one thing that won’t help the situation is if
we keep layering onto the current system and revamp it in a way
that causes even more confusion, especially for the scientist, and
making changes that will surely allow for future transgressions
will not help either.

For example, if as proposed by the Blue Ribbon Panel certain re-
strictions on consulting fees are instituted for certain employees
but there is no change as to regulations regarding receipt of bona
fide cash awards, then surely what we will see, and we see this
with campaign finance reform all the time, is a shift to more and
larger cash awards in other places like for prizes. The money influx
won’t change. It will just shift around and it will be very confusing
for all involved.

I think what we need to do is try to get a grip on this and we
need to challenge all of our assumptions including the assumptions
that we simply can’t get good people without these large amounts
of outside compensation. I think that is the nub of the issue and
I really look forward to hearing all of our witness’ view on this.

Again, Mr. Chairman, thank you for holding this hearing and I
look forward to hearing the testimony.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank the gentlelady. I recognize the gen-
tleman from New Jersey, Mr. Ferguson.

Mr. FERGUSON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for hold-
ing this hearing and for your diligence in pursuing this investiga-
tion of possible conflicts of interest at NIH.

NIH provides our country and the world with world-class re-
search done by the best scientists and doctors our country and the
world has to offer. Although it is important that NIH attract and
retain the best and the brightest in the fields of medical research,
we must be assured that the professionals at NIH are conducting
themselves according to the highest standards.

Last week we heard from Dr. Zerhouni and the members of the
Blue Ribbon Panel about the recommendations to establish policies
against conflicts of interest. I look forward to hearing from today’s
witnesses concerning two examples where the line may have been
crossed and the best interest of medicine may have been com-
promised. This committee and Congress must do all that it can to
ensure that NIH maintain a spotless reputation free from any
question as to the mission and goals of the professionals at NIH.
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Just before I close, I just had a group of advocates for ALS re-
search in my office. They are fanning out across Capitol Hill today
and making a very persuasive argument for increased NIH funding
for ALS research. Clearly it is something that needs to be done and
we in the Congress want to advocate for that.

But whether it is the hearings we had some months ago about,
frankly, scientifically dubious grants that are awarded sometimes
by NIH, frankly, sometimes morally objectionable grants that are
sometimes made by NIH, or whether it is a conflict of interest
issues that we are dealing with now, it is extremely important that
NIH maintain its stellar reputation and its spotless reputation for
doing research and for conducting itself with the highest standards
possible.

People’s lives depend on it. The lives of our children, our grand-
children, and their grandchildren depend on the research that you
do. The only way you are going to be able to continue to do that
important research is to keep folks like us out of your hair. We can
only stay out of your hair if we know for certain that you are doing
your job in a way that we don’t need to be getting involved in your
business.

That is one of the reasons I feel so strongly about these hearings
and one of the reasons I appreciate the Chairman and the ranking
member of the full committee and the subcommittee for encour-
aging this investigation.

We are big fans, I anyway am, and I know we all are fans of NIH
and the research and the important work that NIH does. That is
why it is so important for NIH to maintain its reputation for integ-
rity. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and recog-
nizes the gentleman from Florida, Mr. Stearns, for an opening
statement.

Mr. STEARNS. Good morning and thank you, Mr. Chairman. Ob-
viously this is a very important hearing and I appreciate your call-
ing it. I think last week we sort of looked at this from a helicopter
and I guess we could say we are looking at it this morning perhaps
on the ground. We are trying to understand some of the details
about this.

We talk about the field of science being one inherently coopera-
tive and collaborative. Scientists and physicians and researchers
need to share and study alongside one another. I think we all un-
derstand that. Of course, we saw in the 1980’s and 1990’s and that
we were losing good researchers to the private sector. For the Fed-
eral Government obviously to compete for these scientists we pro-
vided some financial incentive so Congress took the step to try and
create some competition and allow us to keep these scientists.

Perhaps, as we see today, Mr. Chairman, the pendulum has
swung too far. We hear different exploits about arrangements be-
tween NIH and high-level researchers and industry. I am con-
cerned about perhaps some of the smaller universities or the mid-
level universities not getting an opportunity to participate in NIH
grants because they can’t get their foot in the door because of the
ties of maybe these prestigious universities or scientists are not di-
recting or not allowing some of these mid-level or small colleges to
get involved with some of the grants.
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All this calls into question what can we do here in Congress. Can
we allow this continuing incentive for scientists to remain in place?
At the same time, obviously, like my colleague from New Jersey,
we have supported increased funding for NIH and we think it is
important in the long run to get this ground breaking detection on
ovarian cancer. I think all of us are a little disturbed about this
and that is why I think this hearing will get to the bottom of it
and will bring out some good examples of things it will show us
that we probably need some action. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman.
[Additional statements submitted for the record follow:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. MICHAEL BILIRAKIS, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate all the work that you and your staff have
done to examine these two specific cases of consultation fees and outside awards be-
fore us today. Last week’s hearing focused on what the NIH is doing to create great-
er oversight of this important matter, and I think that we can all agree that Dr.
Zerhouni’s creation of the Blue Ribbon Panel is a step in the right direction. How-
ever, I don’t know that it is enough. While I am not interested in laying blame
today, I am glad to having the opportunity to discuss these two specific cases, and
find out how severe this problem was.

I appreciate both panels of witnesses taking the time to come here today, even
though I’m sure you all will be asked some difficult questions. I’d like to extend a
special thanks to Dr. Harold Varmus, former Director of NIH, for his testimony
today. Dr. Varmus has testified before my subcommittee several times, and I am
anxious to hear his thoughts.

The ethical concerns being raised today in this hearing are worrisome to me. How-
ever, during this discussion, I also believe it is critical we remember that the NIH
is the world’s leader in conducting important research that will unlock critical infor-
mation and lead to discoveries beneficial to patients suffering from many diseases.
We don’t want to hinder those efforts. But because of the tradition of excellence, the
NIH is also held up to a certain standard. That standard should not be tainted by
the thought that the research conducted at NIH is influenced by private companies
giving money to institute directors.

My Subcommittee on Health has held four hearings during the 108th Congress
to highlight research activities at the NIH and educate Members and others about
the work that the NIH is doing so we can better assess how to help NIH better meet
its stated mission. One of the reasons my Subcommittee has held these hearings is
that, while NIH does exemplary research, their transparency and accountability in
the approval process of investigator-driven grants at the NIH could be improved.
Many times it is difficult for Members of Congress to get a quick answer about re-
search activities, let alone the general public.

The lack of transparency of the NIH processes could be one of the reasons that
we are holding this hearing today. If there were more transparency with respect to
these consulting fees and awards, such as making the information public, then
maybe there wouldn’t be the need for a high level of concern.

As I said last week, the fact that some NIH officials have received cash, stock,
and stock options from consulting arrangements with drug or biotechnology compa-
nies really gives me pause. While I understand that there is importance in allowing
scientists the opportunity to pursue their independent work, I have concerns with
tying the financial success of an individual to a particular company’s stock. If out-
side consultation fees and award grants in any way affect the grant approval proc-
ess and the budget priority setting at NIH, then that taints the entire NIH process,
including the research.

I am glad that we have this forum today to speak to officials from NIH, and hear
the comments of other agencies, such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
and Ethics offices. I am curious to hear how the NIH has managed possible conflicts
of interest, and the degree that they have been effective.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back the balance of my time.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN D. DINGELL, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS
FROM THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Mr. Chairman, again let me commend you for conducting this investigation and
holding this hearing, as well as the one last week, into conflicts of interest at the
National Institutes of Health (NIH). The scientists at the NIH campus, and the
grantees that use NIH funds for their biomedical research, are critical to this Na-
tion’s fight against disease. These hearings are being held because several NIH re-
searchers have decided to supplement their taxpayer-funded salary with monies pro-
vided by drug and biotech companies, firms whose vital interests are tied to the re-
search performed at the NIH.

Today we will hear from Dr. Harold Varmus, a Nobel laureate and a former Direc-
tor of NIH. He was the responsible official in 1995 when all effective administrative
controls were lifted from the consulting practices of NIH employees and public dis-
closure was virtually removed as well. Dr. Varmus has much to account for, as does
the current NIH leadership and the Department of Health and Human Services
(HHS) lawyers who have systematically undermined the application of any mean-
ingful ethical standards to the consulting arrangements of NIH employees.

As a direct result of this investigation and one conducted by the Los Angeles
Times, some changes have been made or have been agreed to by the current Direc-
tor. This is a good thing, but not nearly enough. Last week, Dr. Zerhouni and the
co-chairs of the so-called Blue Ribbon Panel testified that, except for the highest
level employees and those administering grants, all other NIH researchers would be
free to continue to serve two masters provided that they received the approval of
something called the NIH Ethics Advisory Council (the NEAC). This Council was
supposed to apply the most rigorous standards to its review of outside consulting
arrangements.

All NIH employees with current outside arrangements with drug or biotech firms
were supposed to suspend those arrangements in February and reapply to the
NEAC. While over half the NIH employees engaged in these apparent conflicts
chose not to reapply, about 120 did. Several NIH researchers have been approved
by NEAC to receive payments from companies that had agreed to pay them hun-
dreds of thousands of dollars (one researcher had received almost $2 million from
biotech firms in recent years). This is not acceptable.

Finally, I cannot help but note an even worse case of an ethical violation approved
by the Department. One of the witnesses scheduled to appear today is an employee
not of the NIH, but the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). He signed a contract
to receive thousands of dollars from a biotech company whose products could be reg-
ulated by his employer, the Center for Biologic Evaluation and Research. This ap-
pears to be in direct conflict with the Supplemental Regulations for FDA that forbid
receipt of monies by any employee from any regulated entity.

Ethics officials at FDA and/or HHS apparently approved this ‘‘outside employ-
ment.’’ FDA has told the Subcommittee staff that any approval was an error without
precedent elsewhere in that Agency. I certainly hope that is the case but intend to
join with you, Mr. Chairman, in asking for an expedited review of all outside em-
ployment by FDA employees as well as the HHS and FDA review of the consulting
arrangement that we will discuss today.

Thank you again for holding this hearing, and for the bipartisan manner in which
this entire inquiry has been handled.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the witnesses for your pa-
tience for half an hour of opening statements, 15 minutes of which
was mine, I think. We welcome each and every one of you. Let me
introduce our first panel.

Ms. Marilyn L. Glynn is the Acting Director of the U.S. Office of
Government Ethics. Welcome and thanks for being with us this
morning.

Mr. Edgar M. Swindell, Associate General Counsel, Ethics Divi-
sion, Department of Health and Human Services. Good morning,
sir.

Dr. Raynard S. Kington, Deputy Director of the National Insti-
tutes of Health. Good morning, sir. Thank you for joining us.

Mr. Jack Maskell is with the American Law Division of the Con-
gressional Research Service. Thank you for your service.
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And, finally, Dr. Harold Varmus, M.D., Former Director of the
National Institutes of Health and is currently the President and
Chief Executive Officer of the Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer
Center in New York. Good morning, sir. Welcome to all of you.

It is the custom and practice of this committee to take testimony
under oath so I would begin by asking if any of you object to giving
your testimony under oath. Seeing no objection, it is then my re-
sponsibility to inform you that you are entitled to be represented
by counsel if you wish. Do any of you choose to be represented by
counsel this morning? Okay. In that case, if you would rise and
raise your right hands, I will give you the oath.

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. You are under oath. Ms. Glynn, we will begin

with you and you are recognized for 5 minutes for your opening
statement.

TESTIMONY OF MARILYN L. GLYNN, ACTING DIRECTOR, U.S.
OFFICE OF GOVERNMENT ETHICS; EDGAR M. SWINDELL, AS-
SOCIATE GENERAL COUNSEL, ETHICS DIVISION, DEPART-
MENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; RAYNARD S.
KINGTON, DEPUTY DIRECTOR, NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF
HEALTH; JACK MASKELL, AMERICAN LAW DIVISION, CON-
GRESSIONAL RESEARCH SERVICE; HAROLD VARMUS,
FORMER DIRECTOR, NIH, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECU-
TIVE OFFICER, MEMORIAL SLOAN-KETTERING CANCER CEN-
TER

Ms. GLYNN. Thank you for the opportunity to appear today to
discuss executive branch ethics rules relating to consulting activi-
ties and awards. Mr. Chairman, you asked that I particularly ad-
dress these issues, consulting and awards, as they pertain to the
situation at NIH.

By way of brief background, let me explain that my office, the
Office of Government Ethics, or OGE as it is called, is the executive
branch agency responsible for directing policies relating to the pre-
vention of conflicts of interest on the part of executive branch em-
ployees.

Of particular relevance to the issue before the subcommittee
today are OGE’s standards of conduct regulations. Pursuant to an
Executive Order issued by the first President Bush, these stand-
ards of conduct are intended to be a uniform set of ethics rules for
the entire executive branch. However, agencies may add special
provisions to address any agency specific needs. My office must ap-
prove these so-called supplemental agency regulations.

First I would like to say a few things about the awards issue.
The OGE standards of conduct contain a provision authorizing em-
ployees to accept certain bona fide awards for meritorious public
service or public achievement. This awards rule is an exception to
the usual prohibition of acceptance of gifts from prohibited sources
or gifts given because of your official position.

There are two key questions about this rule that have a bearing
on the issues you are examining today. First, what are the permis-
sible sources of these awards, particularly where the award recipi-
ent is the head of an agency or the head of an office or a large com-
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ponent in an agency. And, second, how do you distinguish between
real awards and mere speaker’s fees.

In my written statement I have set out in some detail how OGE
would analyze both of these questions and I would be happy to an-
swer any questions you might have about those tests we set out.

The second issue you asked me to speak about concerns rules
governing outside activities such as consulting for compensation.
The rules are designed to be reasonably flexible and they reflect a
balance between the rights of employees to have a life outside of
work with the need for the Government to demand the highest eth-
ical standards from its employees.

Generally speaking, the rules permit compensated consulting un-
less the activity would require recusal from matters center or crit-
ical to the employee’s position, or if the activity would violate a
particular statute or regulation such as the OGE rules prohibiting
the use of public office for private gain.

There are essentially two approaches that an agency can take to
implement this rule. First, an agency can review outside activities
of each individual employee on a case-by-case basis in light of the
general standards found in the OGE rules. Or an agency can seek
approval from OGE to issue a so-called supplemental regulation re-
stricting certain specific outside activities for all employees at that
agency or certain groups of employees.

Since 1995 NIH has followed the case-by-case approach. How-
ever, though, recent accounts in the media and elsewhere about
NIH consulting activities raise concerns about the nature and ex-
tent of consulting arrangements that have been approved under the
case-by-case approach. I think it becomes clear that either the sys-
tem for reviewing the proposed activities on this case-by-case ap-
proach should be strengthened by NIH or NIH should develop spe-
cific supplemental regulations tailored to the circumstances of NIH.

We have received the report of the Blue Ribbon Panel on conflicts
of interest policies and note that it recommends the adoption of
some additional restrictions. OGE is ready to help NIH and its par-
ent, HHS, implement whatever restrictions they think would be
necessary to ensure public confidence in the important work of
NIH.

My written statement provides further details concerning these
rules relating to outside activities and I would be happy to answer
any questions you may have.

[The prepared statement of Marilyn L. Glynn follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MARILYN L. GLYNN, ACTING DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF
GOVERNMENT ETHICS

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee: Thank you for the opportunity
to appear today to discuss Executive Branch ethics rules pertaining to consulting
activities and awards from outside sources. Mr. Chairman, you asked in particular
that I address issues that have arisen at the National Institutes of Health with re-
spect to employees’ consulting activities and outside awards. I will discuss these
subjects and provide OGE’s views on the general legal questions. Before discussing
these specific topics, I want to provide the Subcommittee with background informa-
tion about OGE and its role in the Executive Branch ethics program.

THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH ETHICS PROGRAM AND OGE’S ROLE

Established by the Ethics in Government Act of 1978, OGE is the executive
branch agency responsible for directing policies relating to the prevention of con-
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flicts of interest on the part of Federal executive branch officers and employees.
OGE develops rules relating to ethics and conflicts of interests, establishes the
framework for the public and confidential financial disclosure systems, develops
training and education programs for use by executive branch ethics officials and em-
ployees, and supports and reviews individual agency ethics programs to ensure they
are functioning properly.

As the supervising ethics office of the executive branch, OGE has developed and
issued various executive branch-wide regulations in Title 5 of the Code of Federal
Regulations, including the Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Exec-
utive Branch (Part 2635), rules that implement the financial reporting requirements
in the Ethics in Government Act (Part 2634), and rules that implement criminal
conflict of interest laws (Parts 2635, 2637, 2640 and 2641). Pursuant to the Ethics
in Government Act and Executive Order 12674 (as modified by E.O. 12731), regula-
tions interpreting the provisions of sections 207, 208, and 209 may be promulgated
only with the concurrence of the Attorney General, while regulations establishing
a single set of executive branch standards of conduct and a system of nonpublic fi-
nancial disclosure are promulgated in consultation with the Attorney General and
the Office of Personnel Management.’’

Many of the rules bearing on the issues of concern to the Subcommittee today are
found in OGE’s Standards of Ethical Conduct. OGE issued these rules originally in
1992, pursuant to the order of the first President Bush to ‘‘establish a single, com-
prehensive and clear set of executive-branch standards of conduct that shall be ob-
jective, reasonable, and enforceable.’’ E.O. 12674, § 201(a). In keeping with the
President’s goal of promoting uniformity in the application of ethics requirements
across the executive branch, the OGE standards were to supercede any agency-spe-
cific standards, unless an agency sought and obtained approval from OGE to issue
supplemental regulations ‘‘of special applicability to the particular functions and ac-
tivities of that agency.’’ Id. at § 301(a).

While OGE provides direction and overall leadership to the executive branch eth-
ics program, the head of each agency has primary responsibility for the ethics pro-
gram at his agency. Each agency head appoints a Designated Agency Ethics Official
(DAEO) to manage the ethics program and act as a liaison to OGE. The DAEO and
his staff ensure that the required ethics program elements are accomplished. Basic
elements and responsibilities of an agency ethics program include effective collection
and review of financial disclosure reports; ethics training that meets the require-
ments of OGE’s training regulations; an employee counseling program; and prompt
and effective action for violations of the ethics rules. With respect to the issues of
concern to the Subcommittee today, I would note that the duties of agency officials
also include the approval of certain kinds of outside awards and the review and ap-
proval of certain outside activities.

OGE provides training and guidance to agency ethics officials in numerous ways.
Among other things, OGE: publishes advisory opinions and issues memoranda to
ethics officials; conducts periodic national and regional training courses; commu-
nicates regularly with ethics officials through an electronic list service; provides con-
sultative services to agency officials through the OGE desk officer system and
through telephonic and written advice from OGE legal staff.

OGE also monitors and evaluates the executive branch ethics program through
periodic reviews of the ethics programs at each agency. The purpose of these reviews
is to ensure that agencies have developed effective ethics systems and procedures,
in compliance with OGE regulations, to prevent conflicts of interest and other viola-
tions of ethics laws and regulations. Typically, the focus of these reviews is on agen-
cy systems, rather than instances of misconduct by individual employees. Individual
misconduct by employees is investigated by the Office of Inspector General respon-
sible for each agency.

AWARDS

OGE understands that the Committee has two primary questions about the re-
ceipt of outside awards by employees. The first question pertains to the permissible
sources of such awards, and the second question pertains to the distinction between
an award and an honorarium for giving a lecture. In order to address these ques-
tions, it is first necessary to set out the purpose and requirements of OGE’s awards
rule.

The awards rule, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.204(d), is actually an exception to certain statu-
tory and regulatory gift prohibitions. See 5 U.S.C. § 7353; 5 C.F.R. part 2635, sub-
part B. Generally, employees are prohibited from receiving gifts from certain prohib-
ited sources and gifts given because of an employee’s official position. Prohibited
sources include any person who: (1) is seeking official action by the employee’s agen-
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cy; (2) does business or seeks to do business with the employee’s agency; (3) con-
ducts activities regulated by the employee’s agency; (4) has interests that may be
substantially affected by performance or nonperformance of the employee’s official
duties; or (5) is an organization a majority of whose members are such persons. 5
C.F.R. § 2635.203(d).

The awards rule provides an exception to these gift prohibitions where the gift
is a ‘‘a bona fide award or incident to a bona fide award that is given for meritorious
public service or achievement.’’ An important limitation on the exception is that the
donor must not be a particular type of ‘‘prohibited source,’’ i.e., a person who has
interests that may be substantially affected by the employee’s duties (or an associa-
tion or organization in which the majority of members have such interests). More-
over, if the gift has an aggregate value in excess of $200 or is in the nature of cash
or an investment interest, an agency ethics official must make a prior written deter-
mination that the award is part of an ‘‘established program of recognition’’ that
meets additional criteria specified in the rule.
1. The source limitation

One question that has been raised is whether the head of an office, such as the
Director of one of the Institutes at NIH, may receive an award from an entity that
has grants, contracts or other business with the same office. In other words, is
someone doing business with a particular office always going to be a person who
has interests that may be substantially affected by the duties of the head of that
office, even if the head of the office has delegated the relevant functions to subordi-
nates and does not currently have any personal involvement in matters affecting
that source?

OGE has not issued written guidance on this question. One possible reading of
the regulation might be that the head of an office ‘‘may’’ have duties that could af-
fect any person doing business with that office. The theory would be that the head
of the office has authority over every matter pending in his office and therefore has
the power, whether exercised or not in any given instance, to intervene in any such
matter. Regardless of any delegations or other attenuating circumstances, the office
head always ‘‘may’’ still perform the duties that would affect the source.

While this may be a reasonable interpretation, OGE declines to adopt such a
broad reading. For one thing, we think it important that the source limitation uses
terms such as ‘‘performance’’ and ‘‘duties,’’ which suggests that some actual involve-
ment by the employee must at least be reasonably foreseeable. Other ethics provi-
sions expressly cover matters that are merely under an employee’s ‘‘official responsi-
bility,’’ and we could have used such language in the awards rule, but did not. See,
e.g., 5 C.F.R. § 2637.202(b)(2)(all matters pending in agency are under official re-
sponsibility of agency head). Moreover, since the awards rule intentionally carves
out only a particularly problematic subset of prohibited sources, it would be some-
what peculiar to say that the agency head and other senior management essentially
may never receive an award from anyone involved with the agency; again, we have
drafted other rules that expressly apply special provisions to agency heads and
other senior officials, but that was not the course chosen in the awards rule. See,
e.g., 5 C.F.R. §§ 2635.102(b)(conduct of agency head); 2635.807(a)(2)(i)(E)(3)(activities
of high level political appointees).

Perhaps most important, we think the broad interpretation would lead to unrea-
sonable results. Under this interpretation, virtually every person doing business
with an office would be an impermissible award source for the office head, regard-
less of the size of the office or the nature or importance of the business. For exam-
ple, a relatively autonomous component of a very large agency might make a signifi-
cant number of modest grants to various associations, universities, and other non-
profits to fund meetings or other informational events on a wide range of non-
controversial topics, with such grants being handled routinely by employees several
levels below the agency head and without any foreseeable intervention by higher
level officials. Under these circumstances, we do not believe it would make sense
to say that an association whose sole connection to the agency is one of these lower
level grants would be an impermissible source for an otherwise legitimate award to
the agency head. The broad interpretation of the source limitation could produce
even more extreme results. For example, a component of an agency may procure
paper products from a supplier; even though the head of the agency may have the
legal authority to participate in this purchase, there is very little likelihood that the
agency head would become involved in such matters, and it would seem unreason-
able to say that the paper supplier would be an impermissible source for an award.

At the same time, however, we do not believe it is necessary or desirable to limit
the reach of the source restriction to those situations where the donor currently has
matters before the head of an office personally. Nor do we think the restriction can
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be avoided merely because the head of an office usually or normally leaves such
matters to subordinates. In our view, the word ‘‘may’’ in the source limitation does
not mean that it must be ‘‘more likely than not’’ that the office head will intervene
in a matter substantially affecting the source. If there is at least a reasonable pros-
pect that the office head may become involved in a matter, we do not believe that
a donor who could be substantially affected by such involvement should be allowed
to grant an award, possibly with the hope of building good will with the office head
in the event that his intervention may be needed or desired.

The approach we would follow, therefore, is one of reasonableness: is it reasonable
to assume that the office head may become involved in a matter substantially affect-
ing the interests of the donor, or is the chance of such intervention simply a remote
and speculative possibility? To assist agency ethics officials in making such deter-
minations, we have identified several factors they should consider, in light of the
totality of the circumstances:
• How have such matters been handled historically by the office? For example, is

there precedent for the office head becoming involved in matters of this type
and/or matters involving this particular donor in the past?

• Are matters of this type typically handled at a level far below the office head, or
are they handled at an intermediate level somewhat closer to the agency head?

• How large is the office for which the employee is responsible?
• Is there a multitude of similar matters pending somewhere in the office at any

given time, such that the matter affecting the donor may be less likely to have
any particular prominence?

• How important or sensitive is the matter? For example, does the matter involve
a significant dollar amount or is there any particular controversy or novelty?
On the other hand, is the matter relatively routine and one that does not call
for the exercise of significant discretion?

• Is the office head typically apprised of such pending matters and any attendant
issues, for example, through status reports that identify the affected source?

• Can it be said that the donor is a regular ‘‘constituent’’ or ‘‘stakeholder’’ with re-
spect to the programs and operations of the office? For example, does the par-
ticular donor have a number of matters pending in the office or does the donor
regularly seek business or official action from the office?

The foregoing list of factors is not intended to be exhaustive, and ethics officials
should consider any information indicating that it is more or less foreseeable that
an office head would be in a position to exercise duties substantially affecting a par-
ticular donor.

Finally, OGE wants to emphasize that the awards exception is subject to the same
general limits as all the other gift exceptions in the OGE standards of ethical con-
duct. Among those limitations is the caveat that employees may not ‘‘[a]ccept gifts
from the same or different sources on a basis so frequent that a reasonable person
would be led to believe the employee is using his public office for private gain.’’ 5
C.F.R. § 2635.202(c)(3). Although it is not feasible to specify a bright line test for
frequency of awards, we do think that ethics officials should be cautious where high
level employees have a history of accepting awards of significant monetary value,
as such circumstances can increase the risk that an official may appear to be using
public office for private gain.
2. Awards vs. compensation for services

A second issue pertains to the relationship between the awards exception and
other ethical limitations concerning the receipt of earned income and compensation.
In particular, questions have been raised about whether certain ‘‘lectureships’’ or
‘‘lecture awards’’ are permissible awards, or more appropriately should be treated
as outside earned income or compensation for speaking. In certain instances, there
have been concerns that impermissible outside earned income or compensation for
speaking related to the employee’s official duties may have been misidentified as
permissible awards. OGE shares these concerns and recognizes that agency officials
must exercise judgment to distinguish true awards from what are essentially speak-
ing fees.

Quite apart from the rules pertaining to awards and other gifts, there are ethical
restrictions that focus on the receipt of earned income or compensation in certain
situations. Certain Presidential appointees are prohibited from receiving ‘‘any
earned income for any outside employment or activity performed during’’ their Pres-
idential appointment. Executive Order 12731, § 102. Similarly, a provision in the
Ethics in Government Act limits the annual amount of outside earned income that
certain high level political appointees, such as noncareer members of the Senior Ex-
ecutive Service, may receive to 15 percent of the annual rate of basic pay for level
II of the Executive Schedule. For these purposes, earned income generally means
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‘‘compensation for services.’’ 5 C.F.R. § 2636.303(b). This includes compensation for
an employee’s services as a speaker, such as ‘‘honoraria.’’ Id. Earned income does
not, however, include items that may be accepted from a prohibited source under
the gift rules in the Standards of Ethical Conduct. § 2636.303(b)(1).

There is another restriction that focuses specifically on compensation for speaking.
Under 5 C.F.R. § 2635.807(a), all employees—not just Presidential appointees or
other noncareer personnel—are prohibited from accepting compensation for speak-
ing that is related to their official duties. Like the restrictions on earned income dis-
cussed above, section 2635.807(a) covers payments for an individual’s activities or
services, specifically ‘‘any form of consideration, remuneration or income . . . given for
or in connection with the employee’s teaching, speaking or writing activities.’’
§ 2635.807(a)(2)(iii). Similar to the definition of earned income, the definition of
‘‘compensation’’ in section 2635.807(a)(2)(iii)(A) does not include ‘‘items that could be
accepted from a prohibited source under Subpart B’’ of the Standards of Ethical
Conduct.

It should be apparent from this discussion that the rules governing awards and
the rules governing compensation or earned income serve different purposes and
have different requirements. On the one hand, a bona fide award for meritorious
public service or achievement is a gift, which may be received notwithstanding the
gift prohibitions, under certain circumstances. Payments for speaking activities, on
the other hand, are not considered gifts but compensation for a service or activity,
and the permissibility of such compensation is judged by different standards than
those governing the receipt of gifts. The exclusion of certain gifts governed by Sub-
part B of the Standards of Ethical Conduct from the definitions of earned income
and compensation underscores the distinct treatment of gifts and compensation or
earned income.

Nevertheless, OGE recognizes that it may not always be immediately apparent to
employees and agency officials whether a particular offer from an outside source
should be viewed as a gift subject to the awards exception or as compensation for
a speaking activity. This is especially true where an employee is offered something
of value in connection with a ‘‘lectureship’’ or ‘‘lecture award’’ sponsored by an out-
side organization. In some instances, it may not be clear whether the real intent
of the payment is to honor the employee for meritorious public service or achieve-
ment, or to compensate the employee for providing a speech on a subject of interest
to the sponsor or the intended audience.

The question is further complicated by the fact that even clearly bona fide awards
programs sometimes involve the recipient giving a substantive speech, i.e., not
merely a brief ‘‘thank you’’ or acceptance remarks. For example, recipients of the
Nobel Prize for Medicine—which is cited specifically in the OGE rule as an example
of a bona fide award—deliver a ‘‘Nobel Lecture’’ which can be of significant duration
and scientific content. E.g., www.nobel.se/medicine/laureates/2002/horvitz-lec-
ture.html (one of three co-recipients in 2002 delivered 51 minute lecture, complete
with data and graphs). Plainly, the delivery of a speech by an award winner is not,
in and of itself, enough to convert an award into earned income or compensation
for speaking, for purposes of the ethical restrictions discussed above.

By the same token, invitations to engage in speaking activities often are moti-
vated by the speaker’s past accomplishments. The fact that the sponsor of a
lectureship extends an offer of compensation based on the prospective speaker’s cur-
riculum vitae does not, in and of itself, mean that the lectureship is an award as
opposed to a compensated speaking engagement. Even if the lectureship itself car-
ries a certain prestige within a particular profession or discipline, the primary in-
tent of the sponsor still may be to obtain the services of a well-qualified speaker
for an event.

OGE has not had occasion to issue written guidance on this question, but we be-
lieve that the appropriate approach to such questions is to determine whether the
primary purpose of the arrangement is to honor the employee for meritorious public
service or achievement, or to compensate the employee for services as a speaker. In
a somewhat analogous area of federal income taxation, we note that authorities
have focused on whether an award is ‘‘intended primarily to provide gratuitous hon-
orific recognition of achievement’’ or instead is ‘‘primarily compensatory in nature.’’
Rogallo v. United States, 475 F.2d 1, 2, 5 (4th Cir. 1973); see generally Kogan, The
Taxation of Prizes and Awards: Tax Policy Winners and Losers, 63 Wash. L. Rev.
257 (1988)(historic concern for awards as disguised compensation). Given the range
of award and lecture programs, this analysis inevitably involves a case-by-case con-
sideration of any factors bearing on the purpose or intent of the particular program.

OGE has identified several factors that can be relevant to such determinations.
The list that follows is by no means intended to be exhaustive. Moreover, in many
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cases, no one factor will be determinative, and agencies will have to discern the pri-
mary purpose of the program from the totality of the circumstances.

• How has the sponsor historically characterized the program? It would be rel-
evant, for example, if the sponsor’s written materials traditionally have referred to
the program as ‘‘an award’’ or, alternatively, as a ‘‘lecture series.’’

• How is the event promoted by the sponsor? For example, extensive publicity by
the sponsor advertising the speech as the draw for attendance at an event could in-
dicate that the speaker was invited primarily to attract an audience for a lecture.
Of particular concern would be publicity by the sponsor in which the event is por-
trayed as an opportunity for the audience to receive specialized information or
unique insights from the speaker.

• Is it the policy of the sponsor to make the delivery of a speech a condition of
receiving the award? If the award winner has the discretion to accept the full award
but decline to make a speech, then the arrangement almost certainly would be an
award rather than a compensated speaking activity. As noted above, however, the
fact that an award winner may be expected to make a speech does not necessarily
mean that the award is primarily intended as compensation for speaking.

• What is the nature of the expected speech? If the speech consists of little more
than brief acceptance remarks, the award can hardly be characterized as compensa-
tion for speaking. It also may be relevant whether the anticipated speech would con-
vey new or previously unpublished information, or focus in significant part on new
or ongoing work of the speaker; this could suggest an intent to compensate the re-
cipient for the content of the speech rather than to honor the recipient for past
work. On the other hand, a speech merely reviewing the past work for which the
speaker is being honored could well be consistent with a purpose to honor the recipi-
ent gratuitously for past achievement.

CONSULTING ACTIVITIES

One of the major areas that can give rise to conflict of interest questions is outside
activities. Two basic issues must be addressed when an employee proposes to engage
in an outside activity: whether the employee may participate in the outside activity
at all, and, if so, what limitations apply to such participation.
a. Conflicting Outside Activities and Appearance Problems

OGE’s Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch pro-
hibit an employee from engaging in an outside activity that conflicts with his official
duties. 5 C.F.R. § 2625.802. An outside activity will conflict with an employee’s offi-
cial duties if it is prohibited by statute or an agency supplemental regulation, or
if the disqualification required to avoid a conflict of interest is so central or critical
to the performance of the employee’s official duties that his ability to perform his
job is materially impaired.

There are two substantive provisions that may require disqualification or recusal.
A criminal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 208, prohibits employees from participating in cer-
tain matters affecting their personal and imputed financial interests. An OGE regu-
lation, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502, provides for employees and agency officials to consider
recusal from matters involving persons with whom the employee has certain busi-
ness and personal relationships. When an employee wishes to participate in an out-
side activity that will require recusal under either of these provisions, agency offi-
cials must exercise informed judgment to determine whether the scope of any
recusal will materially impair that employee’s ability to do his job. Such manage-
ment determinations take into account a variety of factors, including the nature of
the employee’s duties, the needs of the office, and the ability to reassign projects
in the office.

Even if an outside activity is not prohibited under this standard, it may nonethe-
less violate other principles or standards and therefore be prohibited. One important
standard is that employees may not use their public office for their own private gain
or the private gain of others with whom they have certain relationships. 5 C.F.R.
§ 2635.702. Certain outside activities may be prohibited under this standard, wheth-
er or not the activity would require the employee to recuse from matters that are
central or critical to the position. For example, even if the head of an office reason-
ably can recuse from a matter affecting an entity with which he has a consulting
arrangement, there still could be an appearance that the entity is benefiting from
the employee’s official position: depending on the circumstances, one might reason-
ably question, for instance, whether subordinates involved in the matter would feel
subtle pressure to favor the entity with which their supervisor has a substantial
business relationship. Moreover, some outside consulting relationships may involve
a subject matter that is so closely related to an employee’s official work that the
overlap would give rise to an appearance that the employee took advantage of his
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official position to obtain the outside consulting opportunity or that the employee
is providing insights obtained on the job only to those willing to pay.

The Standards provide that whether ‘‘particular circumstances create an appear-
ance that the law or these standards have been violated shall be determined from
the perspective of a reasonable person with knowledge of the relevant facts.’’ 5
C.F.R. § 2635.101(b)(14). Agencies are undoubtedly in the best position to determine
if an outside activity is permissible under these Standards generally, and with re-
spect to appearances in particular. Some things that an agency should consider in
making a decision about whether participation in an outside activity will create the
appearance that an employee is using public office for private gain are the level of
the employee’s position and the nature of his duties; the subject of the outside work
and its relation to agency programs and operations; the identity of the outside em-
ployer and its relationship to the agency, including whether it receives grants or
contracts; and the timing of the offer of employment.

Although the standards mentioned so far generally require a case-by-case consid-
eration of the proposed outside activity, the OGE Standards also permit agencies
to promulgate blanket prohibitions on certain outside activities. These prohibitions,
called supplemental agency regulations, must be approved by OGE, pursuant an Ex-
ecutive Order requiring OGE concurrence in any departures from or additions to the
uniform standards of conduct applicable to the entire executive branch. The Depart-
ment of Health and Human Services, in fact, has promulgated certain supplemental
prohibitions on outside activities. 5 C.F.R. part 5501.

We note that a 1995 OGE review of the NIH ethics program discovered that NIH
had a series of restrictions on outside consulting that were not promulgated in ac-
cordance with the procedures prescribed in the Executive Order. OGE directed that
NIH either remove these restrictions or propose them for inclusion in the HHS sup-
plemental regulation. At that time, NIH chose to remove the restrictions and did
not propose any additional outside activity restrictions in the HHS supplemental
regulation. As we understand it, NIH decided to rely on case-by-case evaluations,
under the general standards applicable to all executive branch employees.

Subsequently, questions have arisen concerning the current NIH system and the
need for more specific restrictions on certain kinds of outside activities. In this con-
nection, we understand that NIH now is considering recommendations from the
Blue Ribbon Panel on Conflict of Interest Policies, which panel is a Working Group
of the Advisory Committee to the Director, which was appointed by the Director of
NIH. The Panel report makes numerous recommendations, including proposals for
supplemental regulations governing certain outside activities, such as consulting.
OGE has received a copy of this report and is in the process of reviewing it. If the
Department of Health and Human Services decides to request amendments to its
supplemental regulation, in response to any recommendations of the Panel, OGE
stands ready to assist the Department and act expeditiously on any request.
b. Limitations When an Outside Activity Is Undertaken

The Standards of Ethical Conduct provide that an employee who is engaged in
an outside activity must comply with all applicable provisions set forth in the ethics
rules and statutes. This includes rules that prohibit the misuse of official title, au-
thority, resources, information, and time in connection with outside activities. There
are also important restrictions on representing others before the Government and
serving as an expert witness in matters affecting the Government. Additionally, cer-
tain noncareer employees are subject to limitations on outside earned income, com-
pensated service on boards of directors, and involvement with entities providing pro-
fessional services of a fiduciary nature.

Particularly relevant in the context of the present inquiry are the rules that re-
quire employees not to participate in certain Government matters when their own
interests, or the interests of certain others, are affected by such matters. As men-
tioned above, disqualification or recusal from certain matters may be required under
18 U.S.C. § 208 or 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502. The obligation to recuse when necessary and
to ensure that a disqualification is observed always remains the personal responsi-
bility of the individual employee subject to the disqualification. An employee should
notify his supervisor when he becomes aware of the need to disqualify himself from
certain matters because of a potential conflict of interest. Once it is determined that
the outside activity is permissible, the employee’s supervisor has a responsibility to
facilitate the disqualification by ensuring that the employee is not assigned to work
on matters from which he is disqualified. Agency ethics officials obviously have an
important role through direct counseling to, and education of, employees and super-
visors to ensure that they understand when a recusal is required and how to effec-
tively implement a required recusal.
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OGE PROGRAM REVIEWS AT NIH

As I stated earlier, OGE conducts systemic reviews of all executive branch depart-
ment and agency ethics programs to determine whether agencies have developed ef-
fective ethics systems and procedures, in compliance with OGE’s regulations, to pre-
vent conflicts of interests. OGE typically has conducted reviews of approximately 35
agencies annually, with major agencies being reviewed approximately every 5 to 6
years. Agencies are selected for review based on the length of time since their last
review, OGE staff concerns about an agency’s program, and news media reports of
ethical concerns.

These reviews generally focus on several ethics program elements, including the
structure and staffing of the ethics program, the financial disclosure systems, the
ethics education and training program, the advice and counseling services, the out-
side activity approval process, ethics systems for advisory committees, acceptance of
travel payments from non-Federal sources under 31 U.S.C. § 1353, ethics staff rela-
tions with the Office of Inspector General, and ethics issues unique to that agency.
In large agencies or departments, OGE may look at how the ethics program is man-
aged in its individual components rather than the entire agency. The reviews do not
typically look at individual employee cases of conflict. On occasion concerns about
an individual employee will arise in the course of a review, and OGE will consider
the facts giving rise to the concern and make appropriate recommendations.

Since 1990, OGE has completed three program reviews at NIH. These prior re-
views focused on, among other issues, NIH practices and policies pertaining to
teaching, speaking, writing and other outside activities. OGE has initiated a 2004
review of the NIH ethics program. This review is being performed at the Office of
the Director, NCI, NIAID, and the Clinical Center. The focus of the current review
is on the structure and staffing of NIH’s ethics program, the public and confidential
financial disclosure systems, the criteria and process for approving outside activi-
ties, and the criteria and process for approving the acceptance of awards. The re-
view is ongoing.

CONCLUSION

In closing, I would like to emphasize that OGE stands ready to work with you,
the Committee, HHS, and NIH to ensure that the public has the highest confidence
in the important work of all the components at NIH.

I would be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you very much, Ms. Glynn.
Mr. Swindell.

TESTIMONY OF EDGAR M. SWINDELL

Mr. SWINDELL. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee,
thank you for inviting me to speak with you today. I also have a
prepared statement that I will submit for the record.

I am the Assistant General Counsel for Ethics at the Department
of Health and Human Services and as such my principal role is to
provide legal advice to the Secretary and the General Counsel on
Government ethics and related issues. In addition, I serve as the
designated agency ethics official for HHS under the Secretary’s di-
rect appointment.

Today I was the primary point of contact with the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics and we have a program within HHS that is decen-
tralized. There are deputy ethics counselors that run ethics pro-
grams within the Department.

Based upon these qualifications I am here today to speak to the
committee. I would first like to emphasize to the committee that
the goal of ensuring public confidence and the integrity of NIH is
one that the Department shares very much with the committee and
a goal which we can work together to accomplish.

As NIH moves forward with the help of the Department to ad-
dress areas of concern, the Department values the committee’s in-
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formed views. Secretary Thompson has a goal of making HHS the
leading cabinet agency on ethics matters.

However, I understand that concerns have been raised by the
committee about a perceived lack of the responsiveness on the part
of the Department or on the part of the Office of General Counsel
within the Department with particular attention to information re-
quested by the committee regarding outside consulting arrange-
ments involving NIH employees.

I would like to assure you that the Department is fully com-
mitted to cooperating with the committee. In response to the NIH’s
request to ask employees for information regarding outside com-
pensation. The Department through OGC has worked extensively
to identify and resolve legal issues that are relevant to pertaining
this information.

When the committee first asked NIH to obtain amounts of com-
pensation for outside activities, these amounts were unavailable for
those individuals who file a confidential OGE 450 financial disclo-
sure form or who do not file any financial disclosure form at all.
This is because OGE has historically viewed the form as serving
a conflicts of interest purpose rather than a disclosure purpose. The
conflicts analysis for reviewing potential outside activities has his-
torically focused Government-wide on the type and source of com-
pensation rather than the amount.

HHS strove to help NIH find a way to collect the information and
was successful in doing so. This information is critically important
and so I have taken steps consistent with the privacy act to obtain
this data in the future for all outside activity requests.

HHS advised NIH about the privacy act and its requirement that
collection and maintenance of identifiable information be for pur-
poses authorized by statutes, regulations, or executive order. Al-
though the interest of Congress alone would not be a sufficient
legal basis to collect and maintain the information, an agency in-
terest pursuant to statutes, regulations, or executive order would
be an appropriate basis. Accordingly, the Department sought to
identify such a legal basis.

On January 27, 2004, I issued a directive informing the DECs,
the ethics counselors, that in the context of any agency evaluation,
of any previously approved ongoing outside activity for continued
compliance with existing law, and in order to request prior ap-
proval for any new outside activity employees would be required to
provide both retrospective, if applicable, and prospective compensa-
tion information. Such amounts were to be noted on the HHS 520
and this allowed NIH to collect compensation amounts for all ongo-
ing outside activities.

I would note that the form we have been using is from 1982 and
we have canvassed other departments and agencies and found out
that of the other cabinet departments about nine of them don’t
even have such forms that we have. Then five of them have forms
and they don’t ask for this type of amount of information either.
We are going to be working to make sure that our form is the best
possible form for dealing with outside activities that we have.

HHS explained to the committee staff the potential difficulties in
collecting information pertaining to completed and closed outside
activities. Referencing these discussions in its February 25 letter to
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the Department, the committee said, ‘‘The Department is attempt-
ing in good faith to assist the committee.’’

In addition, HHS continued to work to develop an interpretation
of the Ethics in Government Act that would support the collection
of information for completed outside activities. In so doing, we dis-
cussed the legitimate and important need for NIH to collect the in-
formation NIH and OGC felt was important for the agency to col-
lect.

As a result, OGE agreed with us that the Ethics in Government
Act and its implementing regulations providing the DAEO, and
therefore the Agency, with authority to evaluate the agency’s sup-
plemental ethics regulations to determine their continued adequacy
and effectiveness in relation to current agency responsibilities. This
determination supported the collection of information regarding
completed and closed activities with pharmaceutical and bio-
technology companies.

As a result of these efforts, Dr. Zerhouni was able to write to the
committee on March 12, 2004, that ‘‘We consider this collection [of
information] authorized by the Ethics in Government Act of 1978
and Executive orders mentioned above.’’ It is my understanding
that NIH decided to manage litigation risk from NIH employees
who might not wish to comply with a required collection of infor-
mation by first attempting to collect the information on a voluntary
basis.

However, I understand that Dr. Zerhouni is now going to instruct
all NIH employees who had consulting arrangements since January
1, 1999 to report the compensation amounts received pursuant to
the consulting as a requirement and condition of their employment
subject to discipline.

The Department has also worked with NIH and the committee
to facilitate an appropriate and timely response to other aspects of
the committee’s investigation. The issue of appropriate ethical over-
sight is critically important to the Secretary. In fact, under the Sec-
retary’s and the General Counsel’s leadership the ethics division
that I head has undertaken a series of efforts to enhance its func-
tions but particularly to institute systematic oversight of compo-
nents ethics programs, review of financial disclosure forms, and
training to employees.

Our staff has been small. We have a large agency. It has oper-
ated decent programs. We have had little ability to be able to know
what is going on absent situations that come up like this or the
OGE reviews that occur every 4 to 6 years. We are going to do
what we can to make sure that we have internally the knowledge
to know what is going on.

Our staffing will more than double from 11 in my office to 25.
This, to my knowledge, will make us the largest single legal office
devoted exclusively to Government ethics outside of OGE. The
steps we are undertaking will enhance the Department’s operations
and work on behalf of the public. Therefore, the Department will
continue to cooperate with the committee as it addresses these im-
portant issues. In this manner working together our two branches
of Government can achieve our collective goal of ensuring public
confidence in agency programs and operations through whatever
means that will best accomplish that objective.
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I will be pleased to answer any questions you have.
[The prepared statement of Edgar M. Swindell follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF EDGAR M. SWINDELL, ASSOCIATE GENERAL COUNSEL FOR
ETHICS, OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES

Mr. Chairman, Mr. Deutsch, and members of the subcommittee: Thank you for
inviting me to speak with you today to discuss the ethics issues relating to the Na-
tional Institutes of Health (NIH).

The goal of ensuring public confidence in the integrity of NIH is one that the De-
partment very much shares with the Committee B and a goal which we can best
accomplish together. The Committee’s oversight in this area has been edifying and
helpful in identifying areas of concern. As NIH moves forward, with the help of the
Department, to address those concerns, the Department values the Committee’s in-
formed views and welcomes the Committee’s suggestions regarding steps that can
be taken to ensure that the tremendous trust that the Congress and the public place
in NIH is as unquestioned as the vast contributions NIH has made towards advanc-
ing the nation’s health and the promise it holds to continue doing so. To this end,
we believe the recommendations of the Blue Ribbon Panel provide an important per-
spective and serve as a helpful starting point.

As Associate General Counsel for Ethics, my principal role is to advise the Sec-
retary and the General Counsel on government ethics, restrictions on political activ-
ity by federal government employees, and related issues. Concurrently, under an ap-
pointment directly from the Secretary, I serve as the Designated Agency Ethics Offi-
cial (DAEO) for the Department. The DAEO is the point of contact with the Director
of the Office of Government Ethics (OGE). That office sets ethics policy for the en-
tire executive branch under an Executive Order issued by the first President Bush
replacing a system of individual agency regulation of employee conduct.

I understand that concerns have been raised by the Committee about the role of
the Office of General Counsel, within the Department, in responding to the Commit-
tee’s oversight, with particular attention to information requested by the Committee
regarding payments, expenses, and stock options paid to NIH employees for con-
sulting arrangements since January 1, 1999. NIH proposed asking employees for in-
formation regarding compensation for outside activities. Accordingly, the Depart-
ment, working through OGC, has worked extensively with NIH and the Committee’s
staff, as well as other federal agencies, to identify and resolve legal issues relevant
to obtaining this information.

When the Committee first asked NIH to obtain amounts of compensation for out-
side activities, these amounts were unavailable for those individuals who file the
confidential OGE 450 financial disclosure form or who do not file any financial dis-
closure form. This is because OGE has historically viewed the form as serving a con-
flicts of interest purpose rather than a disclosure purpose. And the conflicts analysis
for reviewing potential outside activities has historically focused, governmentwide,
on the type and source of compensation rather than the amount. For the same rea-
son, the HHS 520 form, used for review of potential outside activities, did not, until
my January 27, 2004 memorandum, request the amount of compensation. Histori-
cally, OGE has advised that it did not view the dollar amount as normally relevant
to the outside activity conflicts analysis.

HHS strove to help NIH find a way to collect the information and was successful
in doing so. This information is critically important and so we have taken steps, con-
sistent with the Privacy Act, to obtain this data in the future for all outside activity
requests.

HHS advised NIH about the Privacy Act, and its requirement that collection and
maintenance of identifiable information be for purposes authorized by statutes, reg-
ulations, or Executive Order, and that such authority must be cited in the Privacy
Act statement accompanying the request for information. Although the interest of
Congress alone would not be a sufficient legal basis to collect and maintain the in-
formation, an agency interest pursuant to statutes, regulations, or Executive Order,
would be an appropriate basis. At first, we hoped that the Ethics in Government
Act, administered by OGE, could serve such a basis. The difficulty was that OGE
did not historically believe that amounts of compensation were normally relevant to
conflicts analyses.

OGC worked with OGE to devise an interpretation of the authorities provided in
the Ethics in Government Act that would support the collection of compensation
amount information for ongoing activities as well as activities being reviewed for
compliance with the relevant rules. At that time, OGE did not believe that the au-
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thorities in the Ethics in Government Act could support the collection of compensa-
tion amount for completed and closed outside activities.

On January 27, 2004, I issued a directive informing Deputy Ethics Counselors
[DECs] that in the context of any agency evaluation of any previously approved, on-
going outside activity for continued compliance with existing law and in order to re-
quest prior approval for any new outside activity, employees would be required to
provide both retrospective (if applicable) and prospective compensation information.
Such amounts were to be noted on the HHS 520. This allowed NIH to collect com-
pensation amounts for all ongoing outside activities.

HHS explained to Committee staff the potential difficulties in collecting informa-
tion pertaining to completed and closed outside activities. Referencing these discus-
sions in its February 25, 2004 letter to the Department, the Committee said ‘‘the
Department is attempting in good faith to assist the Committee.’’

In addition, HHS continued to work to develop an interpretation of the Ethics in
Government Act that would support the collection of information for completed out-
side activities. In so doing, we discussed the legitimate and important need for NIH
to collect the information NIH and OGC felt was important for the agency to collect.
As a result, OGE agreed that, in this case, the Ethics in Government Act and its
implementing regulations providing the DAEO with authority to evaluate the agen-
cy’s supplemental standards to determine their continued adequacy and effective-
ness in relation to current agency responsibilities, supported the collection of infor-
mation regarding completed and closed activities with pharmaceutical and bio-
technology companies. OGC further applied the same reasoning to all for-profit enti-
ties.

As a result of these efforts, Dr. Zerhouni was able to write to the Committee on
March 12, 2004, that ‘‘We consider this collection [of information] authorized by the
Ethics in Government Act of 1978 and Executive orders mentioned above.’’ It is my
understanding that NIH decided to manage litigation risk from NIH employees who
might not wish to comply with a required collection of information by first attempt-
ing to collect the information on a voluntary basis.

However, because of inadequate response, I believe that Dr. Zerhouni is now going
to instruct all NIH employees who had consulting arrangements since January 1,
1999 that are now closed to report the compensation amounts received pursuant to
the consulting as a requirement and condition of their employment.

Background. HHS has a workforce of more than 60,000 individuals, of which ap-
proximately 1,000 file public financial disclosure reports and 25,000 file confidential
financial disclosure reports and receive annual ethics training. These 60,000 em-
ployees safeguard the nation’s health and provide essential human services through
myriad programs, policies, and initiatives that affect countless stakeholders and a
large part of the American economy. Whether in allocating grant funds, awarding
contracts, entering into public-private partnerships, approving lifesaving drugs, pro-
tecting patient privacy, or reducing health care costs, our employees must address
the concerns of the many while avoiding the appearance or fact of undue influence
by the few. To assist those who bear that responsibility, the Ethics Division advises
on how to ensure these duties are carried out impartially and unimpeachably. This
is largely accomplished through legal advice to agency decision-makers and ethics
officials, guidance to employees, education of the workforce, development of guid-
ance documents, and, when necessary, liaison with OGE.

In HHS, as in most large Cabinet Departments, the DAEO oversees and coordi-
nates a decentralized Departmental ethics program. As DAEO, I appoint Deputy
Ethics Counselors (DECs) chosen by each operating division, such as the Food and
Drug Administration (FDA), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC),
and NIH. Each of these DECs, along with agency heads and management in each
component, are responsible for running ethics programs tailored to the needs of ex-
tensive, geographically dispersed workforces composed of many professionally
trained employees with varied responsibilities that range from insuring the health
care needs of the elderly and disadvantaged to ensuring the safety and efficacy of
drugs and medical devices.

The DECs are senior management officials within each component, and they have
staff who assist them in carrying out the ethics functions, either as collateral duties
or as members of an ethics program office. NIH in particular has such an office
under its DEC. As managers closest to day to day operations, they are equipped and
responsible for identifying and evaluating the relevant ethics issues in their compo-
nent. Additionally, the DECs and their staff possess the scientific and technical ex-
pertise necessary to identify and resolve ethics issues in situations involving science,
medicine, and other complex fields. Within their respective operating divisions, the
DECs are responsible for establishing a system for reviewing public and confidential
financial disclosure forms, considering outside activity requests, providing ethics ad-
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vice to individual employees, initiating ethics education and training programs, and
ensuring that violations of the conflicts statutes or the conduct standards are re-
ported to investigatory authorities and where appropriate, seeing that disciplinary
action is taken. Individual employees are, of course, ultimately responsible for their
own actions.

In addition, the Ethics Division has responsibilities similar to those of a DEC but
for the Office of the Secretary and with respect to political appointees. Staff lawyers
within the Ethics Division provide legal advice to the DECs to assist them in their
role in making ethics decisions. Furthermore, we conduct training such as an all day
DEC workshop each year to keep DECs current on ethics law, and approximately
thirty ethics officials from across the Department attend the annual OGE conference
and its various break-out sessions or classes conducted on a wide variety of ethics
topics. OGE’s periodic program reviews or audits provide us with a sense of how
well the Department’s components meet their ethics responsibilities. In these re-
views, OGE has recognized that the Ethics Division provides sound guidance and
instruction and that a clear ‘‘road map’’ is in place.

Ethics Initiative. Based upon a process begun by the General Counsel in Decem-
ber, the Ethics Division has undertaken a series of efforts to intensify our ability
to scrutinize and oversee the Department’s ethics activities. We are dedicating addi-
tional resources to enhance the Ethics Division. As part of this initiative, the De-
partment will institute systematic oversight of the ethics programs within the var-
ious operating divisions of the Department through regularized compliance auditing
and program review, as well as dramatically strengthen our ability to provide guid-
ance to these programs and their officials. The initiative will increase component ac-
countability for ethics program implementation, augment financial disclosure review
and training development, and enhance the capabilities of the Ethics Division and
the authority of the DAEO. Our staffing will more than double from 11 to 25. To
my knowledge, this will make us the largest single legal office devoted exclusively
to government ethics, outside of OGE. We will create two units within the Ethics
Division: the Advice and Financial Disclosure Branch and the Education and Pro-
gram Review Branch. These branches will be staffed by a mix of attorneys, para-
legals, computer/training developers, legal resource analysts, auditors, and support
staff.

The steps we are undertaking will enhance the Department’s operations and work
on behalf of the public. Specifically, this initiative will strengthen the Department’s
identification and prevention of employee actions that would or would appear to be
motivated by private, pecuniary, or associational interests, rather than an impartial
assessment of the public interest.

Historical Context. To provide further background to the Committee in connection
with its review of these issues, following is an understanding of how we came to
where we are on the issues of financial disclosure, outside consulting arrangements,
and awards at NIH.

a. Financial Disclosure. The degree to which the public may have access to the
personal financial information of employees at NIH is governed by federal law and
OGE regulations. The Ethics in Government Act and implementing regulations in
5 C.F.R. part 2634 provide for two types of financial reporting: (1) public disclosure
of detailed information about assets, income, liabilities, and outside affiliations on
a report form called the SF 278; and (2) a less intrusive, confidential version known
as the OGE 450. On the SF 278, filers must disclose income amounts and asset val-
ues within broad categories, by checking, for example, a block indicating a figure
between $1,001 and $15,000, and so on. The OGE 450 does not ask for any disclo-
sure of amounts, only the identity of holdings and income sources, in other words,
the information necessary at a minimum to assess conflicts.

By statute, the public SF 278 filing requirement is reserved exclusively for highly
paid, senior employees, such as Senate confirmed Presidential appointees, non-ca-
reer and career members of the Senior Executive Service, Schedule C political ap-
pointees in the General Schedule, uniformed service officers in the Public Health
Service Commissioned Corps at pay grade O-7 or above, Administrative Law Judges,
and employees in other pay systems if the lowest rate of basic pay for that pay plan
exceeds $104,927 per year. The confidential OGE 450 basically is filed by career em-
ployees in the General Schedule, generally at grade levels 12 or above, and by spe-
cial Government employees who do not serve beyond 60 days. Under current law,
increased public disclosure can occur only through a process of demonstrating to
OGE that the duties of a particular position B that would not ordinarily be required
to file publicly under the existing rules B is nevertheless equivalent to the positions
that do file. This process is required because many of the alternative pay systems
at NIH do not have minimum rates of basic pay that exceed the threshold.
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In 1997, the Ethics Division wrote to the Director of OGE asking for an interpre-
tation of the law to require employees hired under the authority of Title 42, Section
237, establishing the Senior Biomedical Research Service (SBRS), to file SF 278s if
the actual annual salary received by the employee was equal to or above 120% of
the rate of basic pay for GS-15, Step 1. The letter urged that these employees be
required to file public financial disclosure forms and argued that not doing so would
be ‘‘inconsistent with what would seem to be the prevailing rule in the post-employ-
ment context [and] appears contrary to the purpose of the public financial disclosure
requirement. Conceivably an . . . employee with a salary equivalent to an Assistant
Secretary would not be required to file a Public Financial Disclosure Report . . . [A]ll
SBRS employees with such salary above 120% of the GS-15, step 1, level should be
automatically required to file a Public Financial Disclosure Report.’’

On February 11, 1998, the Director of the OGE declined that request and re-
sponded that for purposes of the public financial disclosure requirement, the term
‘‘rate of basic pay’’ was defined as ‘‘the lowest level of pay authorized for a position’s
pay grade.’’ Director Potts opined that the definition of ‘‘rate of basic pay’’ for SBRS
employees is the lowest step or entry level pay authorized for a particular pay grade
or range. Thus, since the entry level minimum pay authorized for SBRS positions
is set by statute as the minimum rate payable for GS-15, and since that will always
be less than the Ethics in Government Act SF 278 threshold of 120% of GS-15, Step
1, the SBRS employees would not be required by the Ethics in Government Act to
file public financial disclosure reports. Like the SBRS employees hired under the au-
thority of Section 237, the employees hired under the authority of section 209(f)
(who do not have any fixed rate of basic pay) have a ‘‘rate of basic pay’’ that is less
than the statutory SF 278 threshold.

Although, for the reasons stated above, ‘‘Title 42’’ employees are not statutorily
defined as SF 278 public financial disclosure report filers, it is our understanding
that all of the NIH Institute and Center Directors who were appointed under section
209(f) continued to file public financial disclosure form SF 278s even during the
time they were not required to do so. To ensure that this continues to be the case,
as well as to increase transparency with respect to the next level of senior employ-
ees identified by NIH, we have been successful in securing an OGE equivalency de-
termination for 93 positions that requires, as of February 6, 2004, the Directors,
Deputy Directors, Scientific Directors, and Clinical Directors within each NIH Insti-
tute and Center to file publicly available SF 278s. This determination was in re-
sponse to our letter of January 12, 2004. Following our request that NIH identify
other positions with equivalent authority and responsibilities that meet the statu-
tory test, we recently forwarded to OGE a list of another 506 positions for this spe-
cial classification.

b. Outside Consulting and Financial Interests. HHS employees currently are re-
quired by an agency supplemental regulation to seek prior approval only for profes-
sional or consultative activities, teaching, speaking, or writing, and board service.
They submit an HHS Form 520 that solicits detailed information about the proposed
activity, and each operating division may specify various levels of review, which may
start with the supervisor and end with the DEC.

The HHS Form 520, which was designed in 1982 and has since remained virtually
unchanged. It does not require the applicant to specify the amount of compensation
to be received in connection with the outside activity. Until recently, it was not un-
derstood that this information would be relevant to the outside activity approval
process because the requisite legal analysis focuses on the identity of the payor and
the nature of the outside activity. This information is critically important and so I
have taken steps, as DAEO, consistent with the Privacy Act, to obtain this data in
the future for all outside activity requests.

Approval requires an assessment of whether the proposed outside activity violates
any statute or regulation, including the OGE Standards of Ethical Conduct for Em-
ployees of the Executive Branch or the HHS supplemental ethics regulation. In-
cluded in the OGE Standards is the requirement that the proposed activity cannot
create an actual or apparent conflict that would result in recusals that would mate-
rially impair an employee’s ability to do his job.

In evaluating conflicts, the reviewer must address two provisions that form the
core of Federal ethics law. A criminal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 208, deals with an ‘‘actual
conflict’’ due to the employee’s own or imputed financial interest in the resolution
of a government matter. A regulatory provision in the OGE Standards, 5 C.F.R.
§ 2635.502, principally addresses disqualifications called for when an ‘‘appearance of
a conflict’’ arises from a ‘‘covered relationship.’’

Under section 208 of the criminal code, to avoid a conflict of interest that results,
for example, from stock ownership or outside employment, a federal employee must
not participate personally and substantially in a particular matter that, to his
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knowledge, directly and predictably affects his own financial interest or that of his
outside employer. To prevent an ‘‘appearance of a conflict’’ that results from serving
in a role short of employment, for example, as an advisor, consultant, or other type
of independent contractor compensated with fees and expenses, a different rule
applies[6 CFR 2635.502].

Both sections are disqualification provisions in that they do not prohibit the acqui-
sition of an asset or relationship, rather they bar actual ‘‘participation’’ in a poten-
tially conflicting matter, either personally or through the direct and active super-
vision of the participation of a subordinate. However, neither section is triggered by
mere knowledge of, or official responsibility for, a particular matter. In short, under
5 C.F.R. § 5501.106(d)(4), prior approval to engage in an outside activity ‘‘shall be
granted,’’ provided there are no other statutory or regulatory impediments.

In addition, a number of statutes and regulations do preclude certain outside ac-
tivities. For example, if an employee sought approval to be a lobbyist, the anti-rep-
resentation statutes, 18 U.S.C. §§ 203 and 205, would be implicated. If the activity
were clearly one that should be done as an official duty, then approval would be
denied, under 18 U.S.C. § 209, as an improper salary supplementation. Another reg-
ulation prohibits the use of public office for private gain 5 CFR 2635.702.

Another regulation, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.807, precludes compensation, subject to cer-
tain exceptions, if an employee wants to teach a course, deliver a speech, or write
a book that relates to his official duties. (Consulting, technically, is not covered by
this section, but the analysis does provide guidance in evaluating many outside ac-
tivities.) For career employees, compensation is precluded if, among other things,
the teaching, speaking, or writing deals in significant part with any current assign-
ment (or one completed within the last year) or any ongoing policy, program, or op-
eration of the agency. However, the provision contains an important explanatory
note. A career employee may receive compensation for ‘‘teaching, speaking, or writ-
ing on a subject within the employee’s discipline or inherent area of expertise based
on his educational background or experience even though the [activity] deals gen-
erally with a subject within the agency’s areas of responsibility.’’

Finally, there are also special ethical restrictions that focus on the receipt of
earned income by political appointees. Under Executive Order 12,731, issued by the
first President Bush and modifying Executive Order 12,674, certain Presidential ap-
pointees may not receive ‘‘any earned income for any outside employment or activity
performed during’’ their Presidential appointment. Similarly, the Ethics in Govern-
ment Act limits the annual amount of outside earned income, including honoraria,
that highlevel political appointees such as noncareer members of the Senior Execu-
tive Service may receive. This year, that limit is $23,715.

As noted earlier, outside activities must also comply with applicable provisions
governing the avoidance of actions creating an appearance of violating the ethical
standards, including the prohibition against use of official position for an employee’s
private gain or for the private gain of any person with whom the employee has em-
ployment or business relations or is otherwise affiliated in a non-governmental ca-
pacity.

As can readily be seen, supervisors, ethics program officers, and the DECs, in par-
ticular, have difficult assessments to make when reviewing outside activity requests.
For example, at NIH, review of the requests often necessitates an ability to analyze
the relationship between technically complex official scientific duties and similarly
complex outside activities, both of which might be in the same general field of exper-
tise. Even when the activities are approved, individual employees remain personally
responsible for abiding by their recusal obligations and avoiding violations of any
other applicable provisions. These responsibilities are exacerbated by mergers, ac-
quisitions, joint ventures, partnerships, and even name changes, within industry
that, on any given day, may make it difficult to know whether one has a conflict
to avoid.

As outlined in the Blue Ribbon Panel report, prior to 1995, NIH had stringent
internal policies that barred certain outside activities, limited the amount of outside
compensation, capped the number of hours that could be spent in outside work, and
precluded the receipt of stock or stock options as compensation. However, during a
program review conducted in 1995, OGE notified NIH that its requirements went
beyond the 1993 executive-branch wide Standards of Ethical Conduct. By Executive
Order, OGE was required to ensure uniformity within the executive branch with re-
spect to the core ethics requirements. OGE did not permit agencies unilaterally to
impose ethics requirements or policies that were more restrictive than the OGE
Standards, absent the submission to OGE for its approval a supplemental regula-
tion with adequate justification. The then NIH Director did not pursue that option,
and the internal policies at NIH were changed to conform to the case-by-case eval-
uation process prescribed in the OGE regulations.
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Therefore, whether NIH employees can hold ‘‘drug or biotech’’ stocks or consult
with companies in these industries is governed by the application of OGE regula-
tions. Currently, conflicting stock holdings are subject to a de minimis exception
that allows employees to work on specific party matters as long as the value of the
affected stock does not exceed $15,000 and on a general matter if the value of any
one affected holding does not exceed $25,000, subject to a $50,000 cap when cumu-
lating all affected interests. Also, NIH employees can consult with various compa-
nies involved in scientific research, if the legal requirements are satisfied.

c. Awards. Another important issue is whether NIH employees should be allowed
to receive bona fide awards from outside entities with interests affected by NIH pro-
grams and operations. Depending upon the resolution of these questions, it is con-
ceivable that the NIH Director might be barred from receiving the Nobel Prize in
Physiology or Medicine because, as we understand, the awarding entity on behalf
of the Nobel Committee is the Karolinska Institute, which collaborates in research
matters with NIH.

Bona fide awards for meritorious public service or achievement are conceptualized
as gifts. Gifts to executive branch employees are governed by 5 U.S.C. § 7353, which
bars the solicitation or acceptance of anything of value from persons or entities de-
fined as prohibited sources, subject to such reasonable exceptions as the supervising
ethics office for the executive branch, by regulation, deems appropriate. OGE imple-
mented this statute in the Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Exec-
utive Branch at 5 C.F.R. Part 2635, Subpart B. These rules expressly permit em-
ployees to accept bona fide awards and cash incident thereto from most prohibited
sources, e.g., contractors, grantees, regulated entities, applicants for governmental
action, etc., including organizations a majority of whose members are of the enumer-
ated type, provided that the award is determined by agency ethics officials to be
part of an established program of recognition, as defined in regulatory criteria. Spe-
cifically, under 5 C.F.R. § 2635.204(d)(1), the reviewer must ascertain whether the
award is made as part of an established program of recognition for meritorious pub-
lic service or achievement:
(1) Under which awards have been made on a regular basis or which is funded,

wholly or in part, to ensure its continuation on a regular basis; and
(2) Under which selection of award recipients is made pursuant to written stand-

ards.
This exception to the prohibited gifts rule is unavailable, however, if the awarding

entity is a special type of prohibited source, i.e., a person or entity who ‘‘has inter-
ests that may be substantially affected by the performance or nonperformance of the
[award recipient’s] official duties.’’

As OGE notes in their testimony today, ‘‘one possible reading’’ of this phrase could
be to bar an agency official from receiving an award from any entity that has mat-
ters pending under that individual’s official responsibility, i.e., from any entity or
person doing business with the recipient’s office, or it could specify a ‘‘situational’’
approach predicated on the interpretive assumption that the use of terms such as
‘‘performance’’ and ‘‘duties’’ suggests that some actual involvement by the official
must at least be reasonably foreseeable. Included with the Committee’s initial in-
quiry on this subject was an opinion of the Congressional Research Service that sug-
gests the former interpretation. When NIH asked for help in preparing a response
to the Committee’s inquiry and the Congressional Research Service analysis, I draft-
ed a White Paper describing the existing policy and its derivation.

That paper pointed out that, because the above-quoted phrase appears in OGE’s
regulation, the phrase’s meaning is ultimately a matter for OGE deliberation, that
OGE has not formally opined on it, and that OGE may well choose a different ap-
proach than that of the Department. Furthermore, the paper observed an alter-
native to OGE clarification: that AFederal departments and agencies were author-
ized to issue, jointly with OGE approval, supplemental ethics regulations to estab-
lish prior approval procedures for outside activities, to impose prohibited financial
holdings requirements, and to address ethics issues unique to the programs and op-
erations of the respective agencies.@

Today, the Acting Director of OGE provides in her statement the first definitive
written guidance on the subject. OGE’s analysis articulated in her testimony today
does not adopt a bright line. Moreover, some of the factors relied upon by HHS are
factors she has articulated. We are required to implement the OGE interpretation,
of course, absent a change in law, OGE regulation, or, one other important possi-
bility. As mentioned in the White Paper provided to NIH and, in turn, to the Com-
mittee last July, agencies are ‘‘authorized to issue, jointly with OGE approval, sup-
plemental ethics regulations to . . . address ethics issues unique to the programs and
operations of the respective agencies.’’ Therefore, if NIH policymakers decided to go
so far as to outright prohibit the receipt by all or certain NIH officials or employees
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of all or some awards from outside entities with which NIH interacts, a request for
such a provision could be included in a supplemental regulation submitted for OGE
approval.

In addressing the issue of awards, it is necessary to guard against monetary
awards and prizes that may appear to be little more than a payment for delivering
a speech. As noted earlier, federal employees cannot receive compensation for speak-
ing that relates to their official duties within the meaning of a very detailed regula-
tion, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.807. Moreover, a criminal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 209, bars federal
employees from receiving a supplementation of salary for performing their official
duties, and another, 18 U.S.C. § 201, proscribes illegal gratuities tied to an official
act. But a bona fide award for meritorious public service or achievement and any
money that is associated with the honor are considered gifts, rather than compensa-
tion. As you can readily see, there is a continuum between the permitted activity
on the one hand B accepting a prestigious award with the prize money and then
delivering the speech that is routinely expected of the honoree at the award presen-
tation B and the prohibited activity on the other B accepting money to deliver a
speech in the guise of receiving an award.

Unfortunately, the ethics rules do not provide us much guidance in distinguishing
between the two scenarios. Fortunately, the Acting Director of OGE in her written
statement submitted today has endeavored to tackle these issues and has even sent
us in the direction of tax law for help in determining whether an award is ‘‘intended
primarily to provide gratuitous honorific recognition of achievement’’ or is instead
‘‘primarily compensatory in nature.’’ I am grateful to Director Glynn and her staff
for providing this valuable assistance.

It must be considered that even though particular conduct may be permitted
under the applicable statutes and regulations, and even where employees sincerely
believe there is no appearance of impropriety in the conduct, there may be instances
where employees should exercise common sense and prudence to abstain from the
conduct. However, ethics officials are not empowered to compel that abstention.

In conclusion, the Blue Ribbon Panel’s recommendations are certainly a helpful
starting point. But we remain open-minded and interested to hear from NIH regard-
ing its evaluation of the recommendations. As the Department moves forward with
respect to the recommendations and requests from NIH, we will carefully consider
what steps should be taken. At the same time, HHS, and, in particular, the ex-
panded Ethics Division [of the Office of General Counsel], will continue accelerating
and implementing our plans to independently audit ethics programs in the Depart-
ment’s components, ensure extensive education and training, increase transparency
in the form of thorough and accurate disclosure, and provide advice and ethics coun-
sel to the nation’s premier professionals in the ever-changing field of biomedical re-
search.

We would also very much welcome hearing from the Committee about what
changes it believes are required to strengthen the ethics rules, policies, and proce-
dures at NIH. HHS will continue to cooperate with the Committee as the Committee
addresses these important issues. In this manner, working together, our two
branches of government can achieve our collective goal of ensuring public confidence
in agency programs and operations through whatever means will best accomplish
that objective. The objective is especially meaningful and important because so too
is the mission of NIH to generate knowledge which will advance our ability to care
for human ailments and improve the lives of all Americans.

Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today. I would be pleased to an-
swer any questions that you may have.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Mr. Swindell.
Dr. Kington, good morning.

TESTIMONY OF RAYNARD S. KINGTON

Mr. KINGTON. Good morning. Mr. Chairman, members of the
subcommittee, I am the Deputy Director of the National Institutes
of Health. I am also the Deputy Ethics Counselor at NIH as well
as co-chair of the NIH Ethics Advisory Committee.

The Director of NIH appointed me as the DEC, Deputy Ethics
Counselor, on January 12, 2004. At the time of my appointment
the Director expanded the role of the DEC’s jurisdiction over the
immediate senior staff and institute and center directors to include

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00298 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



291

institute and center deputy directors, scientific directors, clinical di-
rectors, extramural program directors.

In regard to this group of the most senior managers at NIH, I
am directly responsible for reviewing and approving applications to
permit various outside activities pursuant to the ethic regulations.
As Dr. Zerhouni testified before this subcommittee last week, he
created the NIH Ethics Advisory Committee, or NEAC, in the Of-
fice of the Director to provide independent peer review of activities
involving outside organizations.

The NEAC, which conducted its first meeting on January 20 of
this year advises the NIH Deputy Ethics Counselor on conflicts of
interest and helps to ensure the activities involving acceptance of
compensation from outside sources receive uniform oversight at the
NIH.

NEAC reviewed applications for proposed activities with outside
organizations that stand the greatest chance of posing risks to
NIH’s objectivity or appearances thereof including where an award
is valued at $2,500 or more, where total income from an activity
from an outside organization exceeds $10,000 or is unknown, where
outside compensation is in the form of equity, or when the activity
involves a drug or biotech company or where the activity involves
any senior NIH leadership such as scientific or clinical directors.

The committee is co-chaired by myself and the Deputy Director
for Intramural Research, Dr. Michael Gottesman. It consist of 10
rotating members and two ex officio ethics advisors all of whom are
full-time Federal employees. The rotating members are nominated
by the institute and center directors and appointed by myself and
Dr. Gottesman.

Membership represents the categories of employees submitting
proposals to the NEAC including two IC directors, deputy directors,
scientific directors, clinical directors, extramural directors, and
other OD, Office of the Director, senior staff. During the central-
ized NIH review committee members review each proposed activity
to assess whether it creates an actual or an apparent conflict of in-
terest. The committee reviews the proposals based on criteria set
forth and the standards of ethical conduct for employees of the ex-
ecutive branch promulgated by the U.S. Office of Government Eth-
ics and the Department of Health and Human Services Regula-
tions.

To ensure oversight activities that had already been approved
prior to the creation of NEAC. We also instructed that all existing
consulting relationships with pharmaceutical or biotechnology
firms be stopped and resubmitted to the NEAC for its review and
input before they could be reapproved and, if appropriate, contin-
ued by the NIH ethics counselor.

I am pleased to answer any additional questions you might have
about the current NIH ethnic program. Thank you.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Dr. Kington.
Mr. Maskell.

TESTIMONY OF JACK MASKELL

Mr. MASKELL. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee,
thank you for the invitation to present testimony in this matter
today. I am a legislative attorney with the American Law Division
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in CRS and have worked there on legal and legislative issues con-
cerning ethics and Government for about 30 years.

I began working with the subcommittee staff a year ago con-
cerning the legal issues of large cash awards or prizes being given
by private laboratories or clinics for the directors of the Institutes
of NIH. In the course of that work the scenario that developed was
as follows:

An agency of the Federal Government makes grants for research
or clinical studies to a private facility totaling millions of dollars
a year. That private facility then gives a substantial cash award or
prize of several thousand dollars to the Director of the very Federal
agency making those grants.

One does not need to have an intricately detailed knowledge of
Federal law and regulations on ethics to see the obvious appear-
ance problems and potentials for more serious consequences in that
scenario. Beyond any mere appearance problem, however, this sce-
nario raised specific questions of violations of Federal ethics regula-
tions, and the statutes underlying them.

I prepared a fairly detailed analysis of some of the legal and eth-
ics issues involved for the subcommittee, and with the subcommit-
tee’s permission, I have appended that analysis to my statement
today.

Simply put, it appears that an agency head, with administrative
and operational authority over all aspects of that agency’s functions
and programs, should not under Federal law and regulation be ac-
cepting cash gifts, awards or prizes from a private grantee of his
own agency, that is, a private source that is dependant upon and
so interested in the official duties, responsibilities and powers of
that administrator.

The regulatory exception to the general gift ban for bona fide
awards or prizes for meritorious service applies only when the
donor of the award is a sufficiently independent source. The stand-
ard is that the donor may not ‘‘have interest that may be substan-
tially affected by the performance or nonperformance of the em-
ployee’s official duties.’’ The example specifically given in the Office
of Government Ethics regulations of a permissible award is an NIH
official receiving the Nobel Prize. The Department of Justice, ana-
lyzing the awards issue under a related criminal statute, explained
that acceptable bona fide awards must come from donors who are
‘‘detached from and disinterested in the performance of the public
official’s duties.’’

I believe it would strain credibility to argue that a grantee regu-
larly receiving millions of dollars in grants from a Federal agency
is ‘‘detached from’’ or ‘‘disinterested in’’ or ‘‘independent of’’ the du-
ties, powers, and responsibilities of the Director of that agency.

Even when the agency head or other supervisory personnel are
not directly participating in the award of a grant, or actually par-
ticipating in certifying the private entity as a ‘‘comprehensive’’
treatment facility, the actual authority over those subordinate em-
ployees making the decisions, promotion, pay and work assign-
ments and other things, the inherent influence of supervisors and
agency heads over such subordinate employees, and the natural in-
clination of employees to want to please their superiors, all counsel
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against such agency heads and management personnel receiving
cash awards from these private grantees under the regulation.

While there certainly may be some leeway in the interpretation
of the language of the regulation, the Supreme Court, in a unani-
mous decision authored by Justice Scalia in 1999, has given some
guidance by explaining fairly clearly that a private entity has inter-
ests that ‘‘may be substantially affected by the performance of’’ an
official’s public duties when that official ‘‘has the capacity to exer-
cise governmental power or influence in the donor’s favor,’’ regard-
less of whether there is any specific, particular matter on the desk
of the official relating to that private entity.

In fact, if there is a particular matter pending before the official
relating to the private entity at the time of the cash payments,
questions of both the application of criminal laws as well as ethics
violations could be implicated.

That Supreme Court decision, known as the Sun-Diamond case,
related to criminal charges concerning the then Secretary of Agri-
culture for accepting gifts of travel and entertainment from private
entities regulated by his Department. The indictment charged the
parties ecretary with the giving of ‘‘illegal gratuities’’ under the
Federal bribery statute. There were no allegations that the Sec-
retary ever did any official act for the donors, or that any specifi-
cally identified official matter was pending before the Secretary in-
volving those donors.

The Independent Counsel argued before the Court that the mere
position of the Secretary, and the authority and power of the Sec-
retary to affect the interests of the donor were enough to invoke
the felony ‘‘illegal gratuities’’ prohibition upon making or accepting
gifts or payments from them.

The Supreme Court, however, disagreed with the Independent
Counsel, and Justice Scalia, writing for a unanimous Court ex-
plained in dicta that there is a multi-layered web of ethics laws
and regulations in place for Federal officials, and that while such
so-called ‘‘status gifts’’ are not necessarily ‘‘illegal gratuities’’ (be-
cause they can not be tied to any specific, identified official act),
they do violate the language of the express regulation that we are
discussing today, that is, they are gifts from a donor who has inter-
ests that may be substantially affected by the public duties of the
official because the public official ‘‘is in the position to act favorably
to the giver’s interest,’’ that is, the official has the ‘‘capacity to ex-
ercise governmental power or influence in the donor’s favor.’’

It is obvious that a Director of a Federal agency has the official
capacity, position and authority to exercise governmental power or
influence which may affect the fortunes and interests of a grantee
of that agency. Merely because a Director might have ‘‘delegated’’
certain grant functions to subordinates does not relieve or divest
the officer of his official authority and responsibility. This is how
the levels of responsibility and accountability are constructed in the
Federal service.

If we are to err on the side of caution, the overall public interest
would seem to dictate broadly prohibiting those ultimately respon-
sible for grant decisions from personally benefiting from cash
prizes, awards, or other such gifts given by grateful recipients of
those Federal grants.
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Thank you and I am willing to answer questions that you may
have.

[The prepared statement of Jack Maskell follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JACK MASKELL, LEGISLATIVE ATTORNEY, CONGRESSIONAL
RESEARCH SERVICE

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: Thank you for the invitation
to speak to you today on the matter of ‘‘awards’’ from private sources. My name is
Jack Maskell, and I am a legislative attorney with the American law Division of the
Congressional Research Service. I began working with the subcommittee staff a lit-
tle more than a year ago concerning the legal issues of private cash ‘‘awards’’ or
‘‘prizes’’ being given to the directors of the Institutes of the National Institutes of
Health from private laboratories or clinics. In the course of that work, the scenario
that developed was as follows:

An agency of the Federal Government makes grants for research or clinical
studies to a private laboratory/ clinic in the sum of tens of millions of dollars
a year. That private laboratory/clinic then gives a cash ‘‘award’’ or ‘‘prize’’ of
several thousand dollars to the Director of the very federal agency making those
grants.

One does not need to have an intricately detailed knowledge of federal law and
regulations on ethics to see the obvious ‘‘appearance’’ problems and potentials for
more serious consequences in that scenario. In fact, preventing appearances of im-
propriety and increasing confidence in the public’s perception of the fairness of the
administration of federal programs is one of the principal purposes behind federal
ethics regulations and laws. Crandon v. United States, 494 U.S. 152, 164-165 (1990);
H.R. Rpt. No. 748, 87th Cong., 1st Sess. 4-6 (1961); 5 C.F.R. 2635.101(a).

Upon further research and analysis it became clear that even beyond any mere
‘‘appearance’’ problem, however, this scenario raised specific questions of violations
of federal ethics regulations, and the statutes underlying them. I prepared a fairly
detailed analysis of some of the legal and ethics issues involved for the sub-
committee, and with the subcommittee’s permission, I have appended that analysis
to my statement today.

Simply put, it appears that an agency head, with administrative and operational
authority over all aspects of that agency’s functions and programs, should not under
federal law and regulation be accepting cash gifts, ‘‘awards’’ or ‘‘prizes’’ from a pri-
vate grantee of his own agency, that is, a private source that is dependant upon
and so interested in the official duties, responsibilities and powers of that adminis-
trator. This is particularly the case with certain private clinics and laboratories
which have a continuing ‘‘certification,’’ as well as a substantial and continuing
grant, relationship with the agency.

As a brief background, federal law now prohibits the receipt of ‘‘gifts’’ by federal
officials from ‘‘interested parties,’’ or what are also called ‘‘prohibited sources.’’ In
the executive branch there are two general categories of interested parties. The first
are those that are prohibited sources agency-wide, that is, for everyone in the agen-
cy, and includes those private entities seeking official action from, doing business
with, or that are regulated by one’s agency. 5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(1); 5 C.F.R.
§ 2635.203(1)-(3). The second category are those that are prohibited sources for a
particular officer or employee in question, that is, a restriction which is personal to
the particular official—and that includes those ‘‘whose interests may be substan-
tially affected by the performance or nonperformance of the individual’s official du-
ties.’’ 5 U.S.C. ’7353(a)(2); 5 C.F.R. § 2635.203(4).

While most gifts may not be accepted from either category of interested parties
(agency-wide or personal), there is a specific exception in executive branch regula-
tions for the receipt of a bona fide award or prize for meritorious public service,
when the donor of the award is a sufficiently independent source. Specifically, the
awards exception allows an official to accept a bona fide award under certain cir-
cumstances from someone who is not in that second, ‘‘personal’’ category of inter-
ested parties, that is, an entity which does not have ‘‘interests that may be substan-
tially affected by the performance or nonperformance of the employee’s official du-
ties.’’ 5 C.F.R. 2635.204(d)(1). The example specifically given in the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics regulations, is an NIH official receiving the Nobel Prize. 5 C.F.R.
2635.204(d), note. The Department of Justice, analyzing the ‘‘awards’’ issue under
a related criminal statute, explained that acceptable bona fide awards must come
from donors who are ‘‘detached from and disinterested in the performance of the
public official’s duties.’’ 8 Op. O.L.C. 143, 144 (1984).

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00302 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6621 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



295

It would strain credibility to argue that a grantee regularly receiving millions of
dollars in grants from a federal agency is ‘‘detached from’’ or ‘‘disinterested in’’ or
‘‘independent of’’ the duties, powers, and responsibilities of the Director of that
agency. Even when the agency head or other supervisory personnel are not directly
participating in the award of a grant, or actually participating in certifying the pri-
vate entity as a ‘‘comprehensive’’ treatment facility, the actual authority over those
subordinate employees making the decisions, the inherent influence of supervisors
and agency heads over such subordinate employees, and the natural inclination of
employees to want to please their superiors, all counsel against such agency heads
and management personnel receiving cash awards from these private grantees
under the regulation.

While there certainly may be some leeway in the interpretation of the language
of the regulation, the Supreme Court, in a unanimous decision authored by Justice
Scalia in 1999, has given some guidance by explaining fairly clearly that a private
entity has interests that ‘‘may be substantially affected by the performance of’’ an
official’s public duties when that official ‘‘has the capacity to exercise governmental
power or influence in the donor’s favor,’’ regardless of whether there is any specific,
particular matter on the desk of the official relating to that private entity. United
States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 526 U.S. 398, 405-511 (1999). In fact,
if there is a particular matter pending before the official relating to the private enti-
ty at the time of the cash payments, questions of both the application of criminal
laws as well as ethics violations could be implicated.

That Supreme Court decision, known as the Sun-Diamond case, involved a 31-
count criminal indictment against the then Secretary of Agriculture for accepting
gifts of travel and entertainment from private entities regulated by his Department.
The indictment charged the Secretary with the acceptance of ‘‘illegal gratuities’’
under the federal bribery statute. There were no allegations that the Secretary ever
did any official act for the donors, or that any specifically identified official matter
was pending before the Secretary involving those donors. The Independent Counsel
argued before the Court that the mere position of the Secretary, and the authority
and power of the Secretary to affect the interests of the donor were enough to in-
voke the felony ‘‘illegal gratuities’’ prohibition upon accepting gifts or payments from
them. The Supreme Court, however, disagreed with the Independent Counsel, and
Justice Scalia, writing for a unanimous Court explained in dicta that there is a
multi-layered web of ethics laws and regulations in place for federal officials, and
that while such so-called ‘‘status gifts’’ are not necessarily ‘‘illegal gratuities’’ (be-
cause they can not be tied to any specific, identified official act), they do violate the
language of the express regulation that we are discussing today, that is, they are
gifts from a donor who has interests that may be substantially affected by the public
duties of the official because the public official ‘‘is in the position to act favorably
to the giver’s interest,’’ that is, the official has the ‘‘capacity to exercise govern-
mental power or influence in the donor’s favor . . .’’ Sun-Diamond, supra at 408, 411.

It is obvious that a Director of a federal agency has the official capacity, position
and authority to exercise governmental power or influence which may affect the for-
tunes and interests of a grantee of that agency. Merely because a Director might
have ‘‘delegated’’ certain grant functions to subordinates does not relieve or divest
the officer of his official authority and responsibility. As noted by the United States
Court of Appeals, the head of an agency who delegated authority to a subordinate
official Adid not, however, divest . . . himself of the power to exercise his authority
or relieve him of his responsibility for action taken pursuant to the delegation.’’
Skokomish Indian Tribe v. G.S.A., 587 F.2d 428, 432 (9th Cir. 1978), see NLRB v.
Duval Jewelry Co., 357 U.S. 1, 7-8 (1958). As stated simply by Professor Bayless
Manning, one of the drafters of the model federal conflict of interest laws in the
1960’s: ‘‘[T]he head of a department or agency would have ‘under his official respon-
sibility’ all matters in the department or agency.’’ Manning, Federal Conflict of In-
terest Law, at 207-208 (Harvard University Press 1964). That is how the system of
responsibility and accountability is constructed in the federal service. Because of the
actual authority over subordinate employees and their promotions and pay, the in-
herent influence of supervisors and agency heads over such subordinate employees,
and the natural inclination to please one’s superiors, it would appear that the rea-
sons behind the ethics rule do not necessitate the actual or the reasonably foresee-
able active participation in a specific matter by such supervisory personnel for them
to fall outside of the narrow ‘‘awards’’ exception.

Financial disclosure. The framework of the public financial disclosure issues is
that certain personnel in the Institutes earning up to $200,000 a year in federal sal-
ary are seen as exempt from the statutory requirements for public financial disclo-
sure. This has apparently come about by virtue of the Institute’s authority under
42 U.S.C. § 209(f) and (g) to hire ‘‘special consultants’’ and experts without regard
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to civil service rules. The pay established by the agency for such positions ranges
from $38,000 to $200,000. Under this authority the Institutes have reportedly hired
high-level administrative personnel, including apparently directors, but since the
‘‘pay range’’ under this authority begins at $38,000, below the statutory threshold
for disclosure, the agency has exempted those hired under this authority from public
financial disclosure. Report of the National Institutes of Health Blue Ribbon Panel
on Conflicts of Interest Policies, Draft of May 5, 2004 at 20, 29-31.

The exemption from filing for those in a ‘‘pay range,’’ when the lowest amount in
the range is below the statutory threshold, is not necessarily required by the lan-
guage of the federal law, but is rather an interpretation of the law by the Office
of Government Ethics. The federal law merely says in relevant part that public dis-
closure is required from:

each officer or employee in the executive branch . . . who occupies a position . . .,
in the case of positions not under the General Schedule, for which the rate of
basic pay is equal to or greater than 120 percent of the minimum rate of basic
pay payable for GS-15 of the General Schedule . . . 5 U.S.C. appendix, § 101(f)(3).

The law itself does not specifically say anything about pay bands, or the lowest
level in any given pay range. The Office of Government Ethics has determined, how-
ever, that the statutory language and intent of the law means that the ‘‘basic pay’’
for a ‘‘position’’ is the lowest possible pay, that is, the so-called entry level or begin-
ning pay, for any particular pay range, rather than the pay actually received by a
particular incumbent in that position.

It should be mentioned here that in the legislative branch we do not follow OGE’s
particular interpretation of the law (with respect to similar language) applying to
legislative branch employees, and that when an employee in the legislative branch
reaches the actual annual rate of pay that is comparable to the statutory threshold
(120% of a GS-15), then that employee must file a public disclosure, regardless of
any minimum pay possible for that ‘‘pay band’’ or ‘‘pay range.’’

The Office of Government Ethics has explained that the intent of the disclosure
law was to cover a ‘‘position’’ rather than a particular employee, and that the cov-
erage of the disclosure law ‘‘is determined by the employee’s level of responsibility’’
and that the lowest level of pay possible defines that responsibility (OGE Letter to
DAEO’s, No. 98 x 2). In most cases, this is perfectly logical and effective, particu-
larly where there may be a number of ‘‘positions’’ in an occupational series, and sev-
eral corresponding pay bands to which an employee may be progressively promoted
or appointed. The pay ranges may then be fairly correlative to responsibility and,
of course, ‘‘level of pay’’ is a more easily determined and definable standard than
is ‘‘level of responsibility.’’ However, where there is merely an authority to hire and
no positions and pay statutorily defined, or merely a maximum rate of pay, then
the lowest permissible pay rate may not fairly describe the responsibility of those
in the upper echelons of pay and authority. In some cases a rigid application of the
‘‘lowest possible pay’’ interpretation does not conform to the actual facts on the
ground. Under their title 42 authority, for example, it has been explained that the
Institutes hire managers, supervisors and even directors. Clearly, their positions
and levels of responsibilities are significantly different from and greater than ‘‘con-
sultants’’ and advisors at the lower end of that possible pay range.

Policy makers must, of course, balance the interest of full disclosure for public of-
ficials with the privacy interests of federal employees and officials, and the possible
‘‘nuisance’’ factors of public disclosure and its effect on recruitment and retention
of qualified personnel. However, these policy decisions should not be confused with
any constitutional ‘‘rights to privacy’’ of public employees with regard to financial
matters. The federal courts examining the issue of privacy rights have determined
that an implied right to privacy exists under several possible provisions of the Con-
stitution when there is involved ‘‘intimate’’ family and personal relationships and
decisions, such as the decision concerning procreation and child-rearing. Whalen v.
Roe, 429 U.S. 589 (1977). The courts have not, as of yet, expressly extended any
constitutional right to privacy, however, to a public official’s financial matters or in-
terests, noting that ‘‘[f]inancial privacy is not within the autonomy branch of the
right to privacy,’’ that is, it is not within the Asphere of family life constitutionally
protected by the right of privacy.’’ Duplantier v. United States, 606 F.2d 654, 669
(5th Cir. 1979), cert. denied 449 U.S. 1076 (1981) [upholding the federal Ethics in
Government Act public disclosures for federal judges], citing Plante v. Gonzalez, 575
F.2d 1119, 1132 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied 439 U.S. 1129 (1979).

Memorandum December 4, 2003
TO: House Committee on Energy and Commerce, Attention: Alan Slobodin
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1 5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(2); 5 C.F.R. §§2635.202, 2635.203(d), 2635.204(d); 8 Op. O.L.C. 143, 144
(1984); Office of Government Ethics [OGE] Advisory Opinions Nos. 83 x 11 (July 26, 1983), and
92 x 7 (February 26, 1992); see United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 526 U.S.
398, 405-411 (1999).

2 Office of Government Ethics, Opinion 81 X 31, October 2, 1981, in Informal Advisory Letters
and Formal Opinions, 1979-1988, at 210; Paul H. Douglas, Ethics in Government, at 45-49 (Har-
vard University Press 1952); Roswell B. Perkins, ‘‘The New Federal Conflict of Interest Law,’’
76 Harvard Law Review 1113, 1137 (1963), discussing 18 U.S.C. § 209.

3 Id.; the late Senator Paul Douglas, explained in his treatise Ethics in Government, supra at
44, that often ‘‘the corruption of public officials by private interests takes a more subtle form’’
than outright bribes, through indirect financial support which may ‘‘put the public official under
such a feeling of personal obligation that the latter gradually loses his sense of mission to the
public . . .’’ Douglas noted that sometimes subtle ‘‘shifting loyalties’’ from the community to nar-
row private interests may lead an official to make decisions favorable to ‘‘his private benefactors
and patrons’’ while all the time ‘‘the official will claim—and may indeed believe—that there is
no causal relationship between the favors he received and the decisions which he makes.’’

4 ‘‘The proper operation of a democratic government requires that officials be independent and
impartial; . . . and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its government.’’ H. R. Rpt.
No. 748, 87th Congress, 1st Session, 4-6, House Judiciary Committee (1961). The Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics has recognized the imperative to ‘‘ensure that every citizen can have complete
confidence in the integrity of the Federal Government . . . ’’ 5 C.F.R. 2635.101(a).

FROM: American Law Division
SUBJECT: Cash ‘‘Awards’’ and ‘‘Prizes’’ to Agency Heads from Grantees of the

Agency
This memorandum is prepared in response to the Committee’s request, as dis-

cussed with counsel Alan Slobodin. The American Law Division previously provided
a legal analysis to your Committee, dated May 20, 2003, discussing federal law and
interpretation concerning the receipt of cash gifts, including ‘‘awards,’’ by an agency
head from a grantee of that official’s agency. In response to the Committee’s subse-
quent inquiry to that agency, the Committee received an unsigned memorandum (or
‘‘white paper’’) from the Department of Health and Human Services, dated July 11,
2003, which attempted to justify the receipt of cash awards by the head of an agen-
cy in the Department, the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of
Health, based on a particular exemption to the executive branch gifts regulation.
The Committee has asked for a legal analysis of the HHS response.

The Department memorandum would construe the gifts restriction, and the nar-
row exemption in it for bona fide ‘‘awards’’ to federal officials from disinterested
sources, in such a permissive manner as to condone the personal enrichment of the
Director of an agency directly from a source receiving significant grant funding from
his agency. The reasoning employed by the Department obscures and overlooks the
obvious and serious ethical implications in this scenario. On its face, allowing the
top administrator and final decision maker of an agency to receive cash ‘‘awards’’
or ‘‘prizes’’ from those private entities concerning whom the agency must make de-
terminations involving millions of dollars in grant funds implicates the precise con-
flicts of interest and ethical issues that are addressed in various criminal laws, stat-
utes on gifts, and standards of conduct regulations. As developed below, under the
common understanding of the language used in the gift regulations and exemptions,
and under relevant administrative rulings and examples, as well as legal interpreta-
tions by the Supreme Court,—a private grantee of the Federal Government clearly
‘‘has interests that may be substantially affected’’ by the official powers and duties
of the Director of the grantor federal agency, and as such, may not be the source
of substantial gifts of cash, even in the form of ‘‘awards,’’ given to that particular
Government official.1

Background. The limitations and restrictions on gifts, and the prohibitions on pri-
vate salary supplementation of federal employees are, as noted by the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics, ‘‘aimed at preventing the Government employee from becoming be-
holden to anyone in the private sector who might affect the independence or judg-
ment of that employee.’’ 2 There is, of course, a grave concern that official decisions
may actually be influenced, even subtly influenced, when a private recipient of fed-
eral largess ‘‘awards’’ the responsible federal official with cash in appreciation of his
public duties.3 Such conduct not only provides a potential lucrative reward for those
past decisions favorable to the grantee, but also provides an opportunity for a poten-
tially generous ‘‘incentive’’ for future official conduct favorable to the grantee by that
official and other agency officials who are possible future recipients of such
‘‘awards.’’ In addition to actual influence over official decision-making, however,
there is an extended concern that permitting such conduct diminishes the confidence
of the public in the independent, impartial and even-handed administration of fed-
eral programs.4 The Supreme Court has noted the important interest of the Govern-
ment in adopting rules to avoid even ‘‘potential conflicts of interest in the perform-
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5 Crandon v. United States, 494 U.S. 152, 164-165 (1990).
6 18 U.S.C. § 201(c)(1)(B); 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)(2);18 U.S.C. § 208.
7 18 U.S.C. § 209.
8 8 Op. O.L.C. 143, 144 (1984).
9 As noted by the Supreme Court there is now ‘‘an intricate web of regulations . . . governing

the acceptance of gifts and other self-enriching actions by public officials.’’ United States v. Sun-
Diamond Growers of California, 526 U.S. 398, 409 (1999).

10 P.L. 101-194, Sec. 303, November 30, 1989, 103 Stat. 1746.
11 See Executive Order No. 11222, Section 201, May 8, 1965 (now superseded by E.O. 12674,

April 12, 1989), and former regulations, 30 F.R. 12529, October 1, 1965, 5 C.F.R. § 735.202.
12 5 U.S.C. § 7353(b).

ance of governmental service’’ to ‘‘maintain[ ] the public’s confidence in the integrity
of the federal service.’’ 5

To address the ethical issues inherent in the receipt of things of value by federal
officials from private sources when there exists any ‘‘nexus’’ between the interests
of the donor entity and the official duties and responsibilities of the recipient federal
official, there has developed in the Federal Government a multi-layered structure
of criminal laws, general statutes, and standards of conduct regulations which seek
to regulate these situations. The criminal laws include the federal bribery statute
which provides criminal penalties for any federal official who receives something of
value ‘‘in return for’’ being influenced in the performance of an official act; the ‘‘ille-
gal gratuities’’ clause of the same bribery statute which prohibits the receipt of
things of value that are connected to official duties in particular ways,—received
‘‘for or because of’’ a particular official act performed or to be performed by the offi-
cer or employee; and a criminal conflict of interest provision which prohibits federal
employees in the executive branch from working on or being involved ‘‘personally
and substantially’’ in any official particular matter in which they have a personal
or imputed financial interest.6 In addition to these provisions of criminal law, it
should be noted that a specific criminal provision of federal law also prohibits the
receipt of money or things of value intended as private ‘‘compensation,’’ or as a sal-
ary supplementation, for one’s official duties performed for the United States Gov-
ernment.7 Under this latter provision, 18 U.S.C. § 209, there has been developed and
recognized by the Department of Justice an exemption from the criminal law for
bona fide awards to federal officials for their public service from sources ‘‘detached
from’’ and ‘‘disinterested in’’ the area of responsibilities of the recipient federal offi-
cial.8

Statute and General Regulations on Gifts. In addition to the provisions of federal
criminal law noted above, there are non-criminal statutes of general applicability,
as well as administrative regulations governing the acceptance of gifts and other
‘‘self-enriching’’ activities of federal officials.9 The principal statutory provision in
federal law regarding gifts from private sources was adopted as part of the Ethics
Reform Act of 1989,10 codifying for the most part somewhat similar ethical rules and
limitations on the receipt of gifts by federal employees which had been in effect for
the executive branch since 1965 by way of Executive Order and agency regula-
tions.11

The current law on gifts from outside sources, codified at 5 U.S.C. § 7353, pro-
hibits the receipt of ‘‘anything of value’’ by a federal official from what have come
to be known as ‘‘prohibited sources.’’ In the current gifts law, the ‘‘prohibited
sources’’ are expressly set out in two separate categories of persons or entities, to
include those persons:

(1) seeking official action from, doing business with, or (in the case of execu-
tive branch officers and employees) conducting activities regulated by, the indi-
vidual’s employing entity; [5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(1)] or

(2) whose interests may be substantially affected by the performance or non-
performance of the individual’s official duties. [5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(2)]

Under the gifts statute, the supervisory ethics offices for particular employees and
officials may issue regulations detailing the gift limitations and providing reason-
able exceptions to the general prohibitions.12 The Office of Government Ethics has
issued gift regulations under this statutory provision for the executive branch of
Government, setting out numerous restrictions and exemptions to the general prohi-
bition. Under the regulations, the Office of Government Ethics sets out the cat-
egories of what constitutes a ‘‘prohibited source’’ from whom things of value may not
be received as follows at 5 C.F.R. § 2635.203:

(d) Prohibited source means any person who:
(1) Is seeking official action by the employee’s agency;
(2) Does business or seeks to do business with the employee’s agency;
(3) Conducts activities regulated by the employee’s agency;
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13 5 C.F.R. § 2635.203(d).
14 8 Op. O.L.C. 143, 144 (1984).
15 5 C.F.R. § 2635.204(d), note.
16 OGE, Memorandum, DO-02-016, ‘‘18 U.S.C. § 209 Guidelines,’’ July 1, 2002, see OGE Advi-

sory Letter 83 x 10. Emphasis added.

(4) Has interests that may be substantially affected by performance or non-
performance of the employee’s official duties; or

(5) Is an organization a majority of whose members are described in paragraphs
(d)(1) through (4) of this section.13

Regulatory Exemption for Certain Bona Fide Awards. Based on the guid-
ance and principles developed in the Department of Justice’s exemption for bona
fide awards under 18 U.S.C. § 209, the Office of Government Ethics promulgated an
exception from the gifts prohibitions for certain ‘‘bona fide awards’’ for meritorious
public service given by certain entities to federal officials when the recipient federal
officials are not in positions to affect the interests of the donor of the award or prize.
The current regulatory exemption provides as follows, at 5 C.F.R. § 2635.204:

(d) Awards and honorary degrees. (1) An employee may accept gifts, other
than cash or an investment interest, with an aggregate market value of $200
or less if such gifts are a bona fide award that is given for meritorious public
service or achievement by a person who does not have interests that may be
substantially affected by the performance or nonperformance of the employee’s
official duties or by an association or other organization the majority of whose
members do not have such interests. Gifts with an aggregate market value in
excess of $200 and awards of cash or investment interests offered by such per-
sons as awards or incidents of awards that are given for these purposes may
be accepted upon a written determination by an agency ethics official that the
award is made as part of an established program of recognition:

(i) Under which awards have been made on a regular basis or which is fund-
ed, wholly or in part, to ensure its continuation on a regular basis; and

(ii) Under which selection of award recipients is made pursuant to written
standards.

The examples given by the Office of Government Ethics and the rulings by that
agency, as well as the Department of Justice interpretations under § 209, have dem-
onstrated that a bona fide award, to fit the exemption, must (among other qualifica-
tions for a cash award) come from a person, group, or entity that is to a certain
degree ‘‘independent’’ of the recipient public official, in the sense that the public offi-
cial is not in a position to act favorably to the giver’s interests. The Department of
Justice has expressly stated that the exemption from the criminal statute at 18
U.S.C. § 209 that it has recognized for bona fide awards to federal officials from out-
side sources, must come from donors who are ‘‘detached from and disinterested in
the performance of the public official’s duties.’’ 14

The example expressly provided in the published regulations of the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics uses the Nobel Prize to illustrate the type of ‘‘award’’ from inde-
pendent sources that may be received by a federal official:

Example 1: Based on a determination by an agency ethics official that the prize
meets the criteria set forth in § 2635.204(d)(1), an employee of the National In-
stitutes of Health may accept the Nobel Prize for Medicine, including the cash
award which accompanies the prize, even though the prize was conferred on the
basis of laboratory work performed at NIH.15

Similarly, an advisory ruling from the Office of Government Ethics provided another
example of when the receipt of a bona fide award by a particular official would not
raise ethics and conflict of interest concerns, that is, again, when the recipient/
awardee is not in a position to exercise official duties or responsibilities that may
substantially affect the interests of the donor:

A nonprofit organization presents its annual award consisting of $5,000 and a
medallion for ‘‘Greatest Public Service Performed by an Elected or Appointed
Official’’ to an employee of the Bureau of Prisons. The organization applied
long-standing written criteria in judging all of the candidates. The organization
has no relationship with the Bureau of Prisons. Because it is a bona fide award
for public service, it is not intended to compensate the employee for his services
to the Bureau of Prisons and would not violate section 209.16

Where there existed apparent or potential conflicts of interest for employees of an
agency with respect to the donor entity, however, because those employees worked
in a subject ‘‘area’’ of interest to the donor, the Office of Government Ethics, in ap-
plying an earlier version of the exemption, found that the requisite independence
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17 OGE Opinion 83 x 11, July 26, 1983.
18 ‘‘Analysis of Ethics and Related Issues Concerning the Receipt of Lecture Awards by Na-

tional Institutes of Health Employees,’’ 2-3, July 11, 2003.
19 Id. at 3.
20 OGE Opinion 94 x 5, February 7, 1994.
21 In the facts provided by the Committee, one grantee facility which gave the agency Director

a several thousand dollar ‘‘lecture award,’’ the Arizona Cancer Center of the University of Ari-
zona, advertizes itself as a ‘‘National Cancer Institute-Designated Comprehensive Cancer Cen-
ter’’ (http://www.azcc.arizona.edu). In the relevant time period, in Fiscal Year 1999, for example,
the University of Arizona received grants from the National Cancer Institute in the amount of
$22,193,000, and contracts in the amount of $237,000; and in Fiscal Year 2000 received grants
from NCI in the amount of $25,249,000 and contracts in the amount of $486,000. Fact Book,
National Cancer Institute, 1999, at E-12; Fact Book, National Cancer Institute, 2000, at E-11.

or disinterestedness of the donor was not present, and that the awards could not
be accepted.17

The Office of Government Ethics has not published an interpretation specifically
addressing the issue of the head of an agency receiving cash ‘‘awards’’ from a grant-
ee of that agency. There is, however, no ruling from the Office of Government Ethics
which interprets this narrow exception from the general gifts prohibition for bona
fide ‘‘awards’’ in such a manner as to allow the personal enrichment of a federal
official, such as an agency Director, from any entity, such as a grantee of the Direc-
tor’s agency, which is so vitally concerned with and connected to the area of official
responsibilities and powers of the intended recipient. Under the general principles
of the administrative and regulatory exemptions, a grantee of an agency can hardly
be said to be ‘‘detached from’’ or ‘‘disinterested in’’ the official duties and responsibil-
ities of the Director of the grantor federal agency. As explained below, such conduct
not only raises general ethics and conflict of interest concerns and appearances, it
appears to specifically violate the express prohibition on gifts from interested par-
ties.

Meaning of Phrase ‘‘Interests That May Be Substantially Affected’’ by the Officer’s
Duties. The regulatory exception for bona fide awards thus does not allow, for obvi-
ous ethics and conflict of interest reasons, a public official to receive an award from
an entity which is in the ‘‘fourth category’’ of regulatory ‘‘prohibited sources,’’ that
is, from an entity that ‘‘has interests that may be substantially affected’’ by the per-
formance or nonperformance of that official’s public duties. The Memorandum from
the Department of Health and Human Services admits its confusion and lack of un-
derstanding of the plain language of this category of ‘‘prohibited sources’’ in the
OGE regulations.18 The Department ‘‘white paper’’ speculates that this fourth cat-
egory in the regulations could not mean ‘‘grantees’’ of the agency because, it argues,
such entities are already covered by the regulations in another category of prohib-
ited sources, that is, those doing business with the agency. Such an interpretation,
the Department ‘‘white paper’’ argues, would create a meaningless ‘‘tautology’’ that
an employee could ‘‘accept an award from a ‘‘prohibited source’’ provided that it is
not a ‘prohibited source,’ ’’ 19 and the Department eventually concludes that the pro-
vision does not limit an award to the agency’s director merely because the donor
is a grantee of that agency.

The Department’s expressed confusion concerning the categories of ‘‘prohibited
sources’’ may be substantially clarified, in the first instance, by looking at the expla-
nations of the Office of Government Ethics in its advisory opinions and rulings.
OGE has explained that the first three categories of ‘‘prohibited sources’’ in its regu-
lations (which correspond to the first category of prohibited sources in the statute,
5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(1)) are intended as ‘‘agency-wide’’ prohibited sources of gifts.20

That is, that such entities in the first three categories are ‘‘prohibited sources’’ from
whom gifts may not be received by everyone employed in the particular agency, re-
gardless of the employee’s duties, responsibilities or functions. The ‘‘fourth category’’
of prohibited sources in the OGE regulations (which corresponds to the second, sepa-
rate category in the statute, 5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(2)), however, is not merely a repeti-
tious statement of, or another, agency-wide limitation, but rather is intended to be
a restriction which is personal for the particular public official in question, and is
dependant upon the incumbent’s official authority, powers and duties.

Thus, an entity such as a research laboratory and treatment facility which re-
ceives grants from a federal agency and has a continuing relationship with that
agency,21 would be a ‘‘prohibited source’’ of ‘‘gifts’’ generally for every officer and em-
ployee in the agency under one of the first three regulatory categories of prohibited
sources (those seeking action from, doing business with, or regulated by the agency).
However, that laboratory would also be a ‘‘prohibited source’’ under the fourth cat-
egory of the regulations, and thus a ‘‘prohibited source’’ even of ‘‘awards,’’ only if
the particular officer in question were in a position to exercise governmental author-
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22 Employees in the agency who are in jobs that do not involve the making, evaluation, ap-
proval, or oversight of grants to that laboratory/facility, nor supervising those who have such
responsibilities, would still be prohibited from receiving ‘‘gifts’’ from that facility (merely because
of its status as a grantee of the agency), but would not be prohibited from receiving a bona fide
award from that laboratory/facility because their particular responsibilities do not affect its in-
terests.

23 United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 526 U.S. 398, 405-411 (1999).
24 United States v. Niederberger, 580 F.2d 63, 69 (3rd Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 980

(1978)(golfing trips for I.R.S. officer paid for by Gulf Oil Corp. when officer was merely ‘‘in a
position to use his authority in a manner which could affect the gift-giver’’); United States v.
Allessio, 528 F.2d 1079, 1082 (9th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 426 U.S. 94 (1976)(gift to prison ad-
ministrator).

25 526 U.S. at 405-406.
26 526 U.S. at 406.
27 526 U.S. at 408.

ity which could substantially affect the interests of that grantee.22 Clearly, a labora-
tory/facility which is a ‘‘grantee’’ of a particular agency may be a ‘‘prohibited source’’
for general ‘‘gifts’’ for every officer and employee of the agency (merely because of
the laboratory’s status as an agency ‘‘grantee’’) and, at the same time, may also be
a ‘‘prohibited source’’ for the Director of that agency for an ‘‘award,’’ because the Di-
rector’s general supervisory, administrative and operating authority relative to all
of his agency’s decisions may, obviously, have a substantial effect on the interests
of the laboratory/facility. It is thus the ‘‘status’’ of the position that the intended re-
cipient holds, and the incumbent’s ability or capacity to exercise governmental au-
thority affecting the donor entity, that is the relevant measure of the application
of the fourth ‘‘prohibited source’’ category.

In further clarification of the phrase used in the regulatory exemption, the Su-
preme Court of the United States clearly explained that for a particular public offi-
cial, this ‘‘fourth category’’ of ‘‘prohibited sources’’ in the Office of Government Eth-
ics regulations, from whom things of value may not be received because the donor
has ‘‘interests that may be substantially affected’’ by the duties of the official, re-
lates to those situations where the public official ‘‘is in a position to act favorably
to the giver’s interests,’’ that is, where the public official has the ‘‘capacity to exer-
cise governmental power or influence in the donor’s favor,’’ regardless of whether
there is a particular, identifiable matter immediately before the official.23 The clause
in the ethics regulation thus clearly is directed at the powers and responsibilities
of the office of the incumbent recipient, rather than the immediacy of any particular
matter and, in the case of a grantee of a federal agency, would obviously be applica-
ble to the Director of the agency who has final statutory, administrative and oper-
ational authority over the agency decision-making vitally affecting the interests of
the donor entity.

In United States v. Sun-Diamond, the Supreme Court analyzed a prosecution of
a federal official, the Secretary of Agriculture, under the ‘‘illegal gratuities’’ clause
of the bribery statute for his receipt of various gifts from business entities which
could be affected by the exercise of the Secretary’s official duties because they had
businesses that were regulated by the Department. It should be noted that for a
number of years, in several federal circuits, so-called ‘‘status gifts’’ were successfully
prosecuted as ‘‘illegal gratuities.’’ 24 Status gifts were things of value received by an
official which were given because of that employee’s official position in the Govern-
ment, that is, given to an officer or employee who ‘‘was in a position to benefit’’ the
private donor entity. The United States Government in Sun-Diamond argued unsuc-
cessfully for that specific interpretation in the case of the Secretary of Agriculture:

The Independent Counsel asserts that ‘‘section 201(c)(1)(A) reaches any effort
to buy favor or generalized goodwill from an official who either has been, is, or
may at some unknown, specified later time, be in a position to act favorably to
the giver’s interests.’’ Brief for United States 22 [Court’s emphasis]. The Solic-
itor General contends that § 201(c)(1)(A) requires only a showing that a ‘‘gift
was motivated, at least in part, by the recipient’s capacity to exercise govern-
mental power or influence in the donor’s favor’’ without necessarily showing that
it was connected to a particular official act. Brief for United States Dept. of Jus-
tice as Amicus Curiae 17 [Court’s emphasis].25

The Supreme Court, however, found that for a violation of the ‘‘illegal gratuities’’
provision, there must be some particular, identifiable ‘‘official act’’ to which the gift
is connected.26 The Supreme Court noted in Sun-Diamond that so-called ‘‘status
gifts,’’ that is, gifts to a federal official which were prohibited ‘‘by reason of the re-
cipient’s mere tenure in office’’ because they were in a position to act favorably on
the donor’s behalf,27 were not necessarily ‘‘illegal gratuities,’’ but rather would come
within, be regulated by, and would violate the OGE regulations on gifts. Specifically,
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28 526 U.S. at 411, citing to the gifts regulations at 5 C.F.R. § 2635.203(d)(4).
29 526 U.S. at 405, 411.
30 The timing of the offer and receipt of things of value, in relation to a particular official mat-

ter actually pending before a recipient Government official is a relevant circumstantial consider-
ation in determining the requisite ‘‘intent’’ needed for an ‘‘illegal gratuity,’’ that is, the intent
to be rewarded or compensated for a particular official act. United States v. Biaggi, 853 F.2d
89, 99-100 (2nd Cir. 1988), cert. denied 489 U.S. 1052 (1989), evidence of required intent to re-
ward may be inferred from the size of gift, and ‘‘the nature and sequences of events’’; United
States v. Jennings, 160 F.3d 1006, 1014, 1017-1018 (4th Cir. 1998), (referring to federal bribery
law at 18 U.S.C. § 201 and similar language at 18 U.S.C. § 666, regarding bribery and gratuities
in federally funded programs): ‘‘Direct evidence of intent is not necessary,’’ but may be inferred
from circumstances including timing and sequences of gifts and acts. Note also 18 U.S.C. § 209,
where donor’s interest in immediate official matter, although clearly not necessary for a viola-
tion, may arguably provide further evidence of ‘‘intent to compensate’’ and ‘‘appearance of a con-
flict of interest . . . sufficient to violate § 209.’’ United States v. Moore, 765 F.Supp. 1251, 1254
(E.D.Va. 1991). The law at § 209 has been described as a conflict of interest statute ‘‘in the
strictest sense,’’ that is, an ‘‘employee does not have to do anything improper in his office to
violate the statute,’’ but rather his special status as a government employee ‘‘makes an
unexceptionable act wrongful—wrongful because of the potential dangers in serving two pay-
masters.’’ Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Special Committee on the Federal
Conflict of Interest Laws, Conflict of Interest and Federal Service, at 55-56 (Harvard University
Press 1960). There may also be other considerations of felony violations when a public official
actually participates ‘‘personally and substantially’’ in a particular agency matter in which the
official has his own personal, financial interest. 18 U.S.C. § 208.

31 42 U.S.C. §§285a-1, 285a-2.
32 According to the NCI web-site (http://www3.cancer.gov/mab/hnc1.htm), the Office of the Di-

rector ‘‘(1) Serves as the focal point for the National Cancer Program; (2) develops a National
Cancer Plan and monitors implementation of the plan; (3) directs and coordinates the Institute’s
programs and activities; and (4) develops and provides policy guidance and staff direction to the
Institute’s programs in areas such as program coordination, program planning, clinical care and
administrative management.’’

the unanimous court found such gifts, that is, things of value given to a public offi-
cial who has the capacity to act favorably on the donor’s behalf at some time, to
be gifts which would violate the regulations expressly prohibiting the receipt of gifts
from anyone who ‘‘has interests that may be substantially affected by performance
or nonperformance of the employee’s official duties:’’

[I]t is interesting to consider the provisions of 5 C.F.R. § 2635.202 (1999), issued
by the Office of Government Ethics . . . The first subsection of that provision, en-
titled ‘General prohibitions,’ makes unlawful approximately (if not precisely)
what the Government asserts [the statute] makes unlawful: acceptance of a gift
‘‘[f]rom a prohibited source’’ (defined to include any person who ‘‘[h]as interests
that may be substantially affected by performance or nonperformance of the em-
ployee’s official duties . . .’’ 28

The Supreme Court in Sun-Diamond thus explicitly explained that the prohibition
in the executive branch regulation on accepting gifts from one who ‘‘has interests
that may be substantially affected by the performance or nonperformance of the em-
ployee’s official duties,’’ is a prohibition on receiving things of value from private
sources by a federal official who is merely ‘‘in a position to act favorably to the
giver’s interests,’’ that is, that the recipient public official has the ‘‘capacity to exer-
cise governmental power or influence in the donor’s favor.’’ 29 There need not be any
identifiable, particular governmental matter currently before, or ‘‘on the desk of,’’
the official to violate this provision of ethics regulation under the Supreme Court
explanation. In fact, if there is a particular, identifiable matter involving the donor-
entity immediately before the Government official who is at the same time receiving
significant cash ‘‘awards’’ or other gifts from that entity, there may very well be
more than merely an ‘‘ethics’’ violation of the gift regulation, but rather potential
felony violations of federal criminal law.30

Authority of Agency Director. As a general matter, it is obvious and beyond rea-
soned argument that a Director of a federal agency has the official capacity and au-
thority to exercise governmental power or influence which could have a favorable
or unfavorable impact on the interests of a grantee of that agency, particularly an
entity with a continuous grantee and certification relationship with that federal
agency. In fact, under federal law, the Director of the agency in question, the Na-
tional Cancer Institute, has express administrative control and statutory authority
over all of the relevant functions of the Institute,31 and thus oversees the grant
functions, administration and oversight of grantee programs.32

One may not convincingly argue, under either general or conflict-of-interest-spe-
cific legal principles, that an agency grantee has no interests which may be substan-
tially affected by the official authority, duties and responsibilities of that agency’s
Director merely because the Director has ‘‘delegated’’ certain functions regarding
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33 Skokomish Indian Tribe v. General Services Administration, 587 F.2d 428, 432 (9th Cir.
1978).

34 Skokomish Indian Tribe, supra at 432. For conflict of interest purposes it may be noted that
the act, decision and discretion of delegating certain authority or not delegating authority, to
whom such authority is delegated, and the nature—reviewability, timing, extent—of such dele-
gation may involve, in themselves, the exercises of official duties that may substantially affect
a grantee.

35 NLRB v. Duval Jewelry Company, 357 U.S. 1, 7-8 (1958); Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission v. Exchange Security Bank, 529 F.2d 1214, 1218-19 (5th Cir. 1976).

36 See, for example, definition of ‘‘official responsibility’’ for purposes of certain criminal conflict
of interest laws as including ‘‘direct administrative or operating authority, whether intermediate
or final, and either exercisable alone or with others, and either personally or through subordi-
nates, to approve, disapprove, or otherwise direct Government action.’’ 18 U.S.C. § 202(b). Em-
phasis added.

37 Bayless Manning, Federal Conflict of Interest Law, at 207-208 (Harvard University Press
1964).

38 While not requiring ‘‘personal and substantial’’ participation in a particular governmental
matter affecting the donor to incur the prohibition on ‘‘awards,’’ even that much stricter criminal
standard of responsibility and duties would not, as discussed by Roswell Perkins, ‘‘create a loop-
hole for the lazy executive in the chain of command who may not have bothered to dig into the
substance’’ of a particular matter. Roswell Perkins, ‘‘The New Federal Conflict of Interest Law,’’
76 Harvard Law Review 1113, 1128 (1963).

39 United States v. Mississippi Valley Generating Co., 364 U.S. 520, 549 (1960). The language
of the regulatory limitation prohibiting an ‘‘award’’ when the donor entity has interests that
‘‘may be’’ influenced by the official duties of the recipient indicates a focus on potential perform-
ance or influence. The Supreme Court noted in another ethics context, that the Government ‘‘ap-
propriately enacts prophylactic rules that are intended to prevent even the appearance of wrong-
doing . . .’’ Crandon v. United States, 494 U.S. 152, 164 (1990).

grants to subordinate officials. A delegation of authority by a federal official is not
a divestiture of official authority or responsibility.33 As noted by the United States
Court of Appeals, the head of an agency who delegated authority to a subordinate
official ‘‘did not, however, divest . . . himself of the power to exercise his authority or
relieve him of his responsibility for action taken pursuant to the delegation.’’ 34 In
fact, the Supreme Court has found that an official may not administratively divest
himself of statutory authority.35

A superior thus clearly has ‘‘official responsibility’’ for, as well as ‘‘official author-
ity’’ over, the actions of those subordinate officials in the chain of authority and com-
mand in his federal agency.36 The assignment, review, oversight, and supervision of
official actions of subordinate employees, as well as the express authority retained
by that official to direct the overall functions and programs of the agency, are all
among the official responsibilities and duties of a federal officer such as an agency
Director. In explaining the conflict of interest principles in the concept of the ‘‘offi-
cial responsibilities’’ of a federal officer, Professor Manning expressly noted that:
‘‘[T]he head of a department or agency would have ‘‘under his official responsibility’’
all matters in the department or agency.’’ 37

It should be emphasized that there is not a requirement under the gifts prohibi-
tion/‘‘award’’ restriction that the recipient official must actually participate ‘‘person-
ally and substantially’’ in any current governmental matter affecting the donor/
grantee for the prohibition on awards to apply, as there is under several criminal
conflict of interest laws.38 As noted, the restrictions on awards from interested par-
ties is concerned, for obvious ethical and conflict of interest reasons, with the power
to exercise governmental authority in the donor’s favor, that is, it is concerned with
the status of the recipient official vis-a-vis the donor, and not with whether such
authority is actually exercised in a particular, identifiable matter. Like many con-
flict of interest rules, this regulation does not require actual corruption, loss by the
Government, or wrongful official acts, but rather is preventative and prophylactic
in nature, and thus is, as the Supreme Court noted concerning another conflict of
interest law, ‘‘directed not only at dishonor, but also at conduct that tempts dis-
honor.’’ 39 Under the relevant legal and administrative interpretations of, and the
plain meaning of the language employed in the gifts/‘‘award’’ limitations, therefore,
an entity such as a cancer research and treatment facility which has a continuing
grant and certification relationship with a federal agency such as the National Can-
cer Institute, clearly has interests that may be substantially affected by the actual,
statutory operational, administrative and supervisory duties, responsibilities and
authorities of the Director of that agency, and may thus not be a source of cash
‘‘awards’’ to that Director.

SUMMARY/CONCLUSION

1. A federal official in the executive branch may not, under federal ethics regula-
tions, receive a cash ‘‘award’’ or ‘‘prize,’’ even a ‘‘bona fide award,’’ from a donor
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40 5 U.S.C. § 7353(a)(2); 5 C.F.R. §§ 2635.202, 2635.203(d), 2635.204(d).
41 United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 526 U.S. 398, 405-411 (1999); 8 Op.

O.L.C. 143, 144 (1984); OGE Advisory Opinions Nos. 83 x 11 (July 26, 1983), and 92 x 7 (Feb-
ruary 26, 1992). There need not be a particular identifiable matter before or ‘‘on the desk of’’
the official for the regulation to apply, and if there is such an official matter immediately before
the officer while he is receiving things of value, gifts and cash from that entity, then other, more
serious criminal violations may be implicated.

42 42 U.S.C. §§285a-1, 285a-2. NLRB v. Duval Jewelry Company, 357 U.S. 1, 7-8 (1958);
Skokomish Indian Tribe v. General Services Administration, 587 F.2d 428 (9th Cir. 1978). An
official need not have ‘‘personal and substantial’’ participation in a particular matter for the reg-
ulation to apply (Compare to 18 U.S.C. § 208).

which has interests that may be substantially affected by the performance or
nonperformance of the official’s governmental duties.40

2. An entity is not a ‘‘disinterested’’ nor ‘‘detached’’ source, and specifically has inter-
ests that ‘‘may be’’ substantially affected by the performance or nonperformance
of the official duties of a federal officer when that officer is ‘‘in a position to act
favorably to the giver’s interests,’’ that is, when he has the ‘‘capacity to exercise
governmental power or influence in the donor’s favor.’’ 41

3. The Director of a federal agency has the official authority, responsibility and duty
to direct, oversee, manage and supervise the agency decisions regarding the
making of grants and the continued certification of certain grantee entities, may
not divest himself of such authority and responsibility by way of delegation, and
thus, obviously, has significant federal authority, power, capacity and official re-
sponsibilities that may substantially affect the interests of such a grantee of
that agency.42

4. The federal gift restrictions, therefore, prohibit the Director of a federal agency
such as the National Cancer Institute from personally enriching himself by ac-
cepting large cash ‘‘awards’’ or ‘‘prizes’’ from grantees of his own agency.

Mr. GREENWOOD. We thank you very much, Mr. Maskell.
Dr. Varmus.

TESTIMONY OF HAROLD VARMUS

Mr. VARMUS. Thank you, Mr. Greenwood. Thank you and your
colleagues for holding this hearing and giving me an opportunity
to speak. I agree with you that if there are concerns about ethics
practices of the NIH that the vit unshanum on those practices will
be useful to maintain the integrity and utility of the NIH.

I have been asked to speak about some historical matters so I
will be addressing some of the questions Ms. DeGette raised in her
opening statement and not the specific cases that you mentioned
in your opening comments, Mr. Chairman.

What I would like to do is give you a brief historical review of
the situation, comment a bit on the evolution of views about man-
agement of conflict of interest and ethics matters, and comment on
the current status of issues at the NIH.

My current opinions are based on three phases of my career.
First, as a faculty member at the university of California during
the 1970’s and 1980’s; second, as Director of the NIH from 1993 to
1999; and, finally, in my current capacity as the head of an aca-
demic health center in New York.

Some brief history. During the 1970’s and 1980’s biomedical re-
search was profoundly transformed by the birth of the bio-
technology industry. This enterprise, as you know, has generated
some remarkable products, hepatitis B vaccines, human insulin,
hormones that we use to protect patients undergoing chemo-
therapy, major advances the public welcomes.

The growth of this industry was also remarkable because it de-
pended heavily on an unusually intimate relationship between in-
dustry and the nonprofit sector, especially scientists and academic
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institutions. These scientists are largely supported by Federal
funds. They are often in State universities, receive public salaries.
They are nearly always beneficiaries of Federal research grants.

They were not simply the authors of information that was used
by the biotech industry. They were also intimately involved in the
development of that industry as founders, consultants, board mem-
bers, collaborators, and the source of newly trained employees.

Now, in that period there was no uniformity of practice with re-
spect to how academic institutions managed the many potential
conflicts and outside activities conducted by their employees. Gov-
ernment scientists, especially those working as bench scientists in
the intramural program of the NIH were subject to much more se-
vere limitations.

Despite the fact that they are neither regulators of non-Govern-
ment research nor responsible as bench scientists in the intramural
program for awarding grants and contracts in distinction to sci-
entists of the NIH who work in the extramural program that
awards grants and contracts.

In fact, you could argue that Government scientists in the intra-
mural program have position descriptions very similar to those of
academic scientists at universities and health centers.

Now, when I came to the NIH as director in the fall of 1993, it
was quite clear from a number of sources that the intramural re-
search program was held in relatively low esteem by outside sci-
entists and morale was low. That is well documented by a long ar-
ticle that appeared in Science Magazine in August 1993 and other
pieces of evidence that included the inability to recruit scientists
from the outside. Nearly all recruits were people who had been
trained within the NIH, and it was also apparent from the well-
documented loss of many of the most prominent scientists at the
NIH to academic or industrial sectors.

This was not simply due, in my view, to the restrictions on out-
side activity interactions but that certainly was a component, both
the limitations on industrial interactions and restrictions on other
outside activities including bans and honoraria and so forth. One
of the things that I did when I came to the NIH was to try to re-
store the NIH, especially the intramural program, to its former
high regard.

We brought together a distinguished group, our own Blue Ribbon
Panel, to look at issues of management, evaluation procedures, fa-
cilities.

Then in 1995 when we were advised by the Office of Government
Ethics that NIH had dramatically improved its oversight of outside
activities which had been critically reviewed several years earlier,
and that we were advised that NIH had come into compliance with
less restrictive policies employed by other Federal agencies, I lifted
the restrictions as another step toward making the NIH intramural
program more welcoming to outside scientists.

Included in that lifting of restrictions was the explicit directive
that all outside activities would be carefully reviewed by ethics offi-
cers to ensure they did not interfere with the conduct of official du-
ties.

Later I also sought permission from the Department to expand
the use of alternative pay scales, again as part of a multi-factored
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approach to improving the intramural research programs assigned
to equality.

I believe that in the aggregate those steps have been successful.
The intramural program does have the very high regard in these
scientific communities that it had 20 years ago. It competes effec-
tively with academic institutions for outstanding job candidates at
the junior level. Many of its current leaders have been brought to
the NIH in the last decade in the extramural community.

It is difficult to know how much to ascribe that to changes in
compensation, policies governing outside activities, to new build-
ings, to the altered reputation itself, or to improved management
practices. But to give you one example, the vaccine research center,
a brand new entity on the campus, has successfully recruited 10
new outstanding staff to conduct research in the pursuit of an
AIDS vaccine and the director of the vaccine research center ad-
vises me that if he did not have the salary capabilities conferred
by Title 42 and the ability to offer the possibility of outside activi-
ties, that he would have had a very difficult time in making those
recruitments.

There have been many changes in the approach that the extra-
mural community has made; that is, the academic community has
made to issues of outside activities over the last 41⁄2 years since I
left the NIH. A number of important cases and meetings have
brought to the attention of this community the need for clear defi-
nitions of what conflicts of interest are when they pertain to indi-
viduals and institutions.

More attention has been given to conflicts of commitment; that
is, situations in which excessive reimbursement or unusual
amounts of time given to an outside activity may deflect attention
to the prime interest of an academic scientist. We are paying more
attention to appearance of conflict of interest. Complicated cases
are now reviewed by conflict of interest committees composed of
scientists, administrators, lawyers, and many informed lay persons.

I have testified, of course, to Dr. Zerhouni’s Blue Ribbon Panel.
I agree largely with the recommendations the Blue Ribbon Panel
has made. I have emphasized the continued importance of allowing
participation in outside activities including consulting for industry
to maintain the vibrancy of the intramural research program to en-
sure that the talents of its members are fully utilized for the ben-
efit of society, and to provide the tools necessary for effective re-
cruitment and retention of outstanding scientists.

I have also argued in contrast to the policies we have put in
place in the mid-1990’s that rules of engagement now need to be
more explicit, more restrictive. We have learned something over the
last several years. Some reasonable limits in the number of hours
devoted to and the amount of compensation received from an out-
side activity.

I have suggested that senior personnel such as institute and cen-
ter directors who are responsible for the award of grants in the de-
velopment of programs be barred from certain activities. I have ap-
plauded Dr. Zerhouni’s creation of his trans-NIH committee, the so-
called DEAC. I commend him for trying to enlarge the group of in-
tramural scientists who must provide full general disclosure. I be-
lieve in disclosure.
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Final actions by the Director of NIH on these and other matters
addressed in the panel’s report should take into consideration your
deliberations here, public comments on the report, the views of
NIH employees and others. I appreciate the efforts you are making,
Mr. Chairman, to study these complex issues and I will be pleased
to respond to any questions you might have. Thank you for indulg-
ing me with my slightly overlong presentation.

[The prepared statement of Harold Varmus follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HAROLD VARMUS, PRESIDENT, MEMORIAL SLOAN-
KETTERING CANCER CENTER

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: Thank you for an opportunity to
speak with you about rules governing the outside activities of scientists employed
by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and about my views of the recommenda-
tions recently made to the NIH Director by the panel he established to review prac-
tices related to conflicts of interest. I welcome the public discussion of these topics,
because the NIH is of such importance to the future of biomedical research and
health care, and the conduct and management of its research program are therefore
matters of general concern.

My current opinions about the complex issues being addressed at your hearing
today are based on my experiences in three phases of my career—first, as a faculty
member at the University of California, San Francisco, Medical School from 1971
to 1993; second, as the Director of the NIH, from 1993 to the end of 1999; and,
third, as the current head of the Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center (MSKCC)
in New York City. Each of these phases offered lessons that are pertinent to our
important discussion here today.

Phase 1: Birth of the biotechnology industry
It helps to begin with some history. During the 1970’s and 1980’s, biomedical re-

search was transformed by advances in molecular biology and genetics that led to
the development of recombinant DNA technology. Once the government and the sci-
entific community reached agreement about reasonable means to monitor the safety
of these new methods, an industry based on them—the biotechnology industry—was
born and grew rapidly, especially in the Bay Area, where I was working. Soon this
new enterprise generated and began to manufacture some of its now numerous
products—such as human insulin, hepatitis B virus vaccine, and hormones that pro-
tect the bone marrow after cancer chemotherapy—major advances in health care
that help to justify to the public the major investment that our country has made
in basic biomedical sciences.

The growth of the biotechnology industry was also remarkable because it de-
pended heavily on an unusually intimate relationship between the industry and the
non-profit sector, especially scientists in academic institutions. These academic sci-
entists, largely supported by public funds (often salaried by state universities and
nearly always beneficiaries of Federal research grants), were not only the authors
of the published knowledge on which the biotechnology industry was built; they
were also the founders, the consultants, the board members, the collaborators, and
the sources of newly trained employees for the companies. Different academic insti-
tutions displayed a wide range of attitudes towards these activities, without con-
sensus on the nature or seriousness of any potential conflicts and often without
clear guidelines for preventing or governing them.

One indisputable feature of this change was the enhanced fertility and frequency
of relationships between the academic and industrial sectors. In contrast, govern-
ment scientists, such as those working in the intramural program (IRP) of the Na-
tional Institutes of Health, were more likely to be subject to limitations to their par-
ticipation in these productive and interesting interactions, despite the fact that they
were neither regulators of non-government research nor responsible for awarding
grants and contracts. In fact, in most ways, the government scientists in the IRP
could be viewed as having position descriptions very similar to those of academic
scientists at universities, health centers, and research institutes: to perform not-for-
profit research, largely with public funds, with the intention that the findings will
be useful for the control of disease. (The major differences between IRP and aca-
demic scientists are related to funding mechanisms, review procedures, and the
speed of the IRP’s response to new health threats.)
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Phase 2: Strengthening the NIH IRP
The governmental restrictions, however, on industrial interactions and other ‘‘out-

side activities’’ (such as bans on honoraria for speaking, editing, and writing), com-
bined with less generous salary scales and many concerns about the management
of research activities in the Federal agency, contributed to the relatively low esteem
in which the IRP was held by outside scientists and to the low morale in the pro-
gram when I arrived at the NIH as Director in the fall of 1993. Worrisome con-
sequences of these attitudes included ineffective recruiting of new staff from the ex-
ternal scientific community (it was reported that 70% of recently recruited staff had
been trained in NIH laboratories) and the recent loss of some of NIH’s most promi-
nent scientists to the academic or industrial sectors. (Some of these issues are dis-
cussed in a lengthy news article that appeared in Science magazine in August, 1993;
J.Cohen, ‘‘Is NIH’s Crown Jewel Losing Luster,’’ Science 261: 1120, 1993.)

As a proud product of the NIH intramural training program in the late 1960’s,
when it was considered to be in an extraordinarily productive phase, I was intent
on trying to return the IRP to its earlier stature in my new position. To achieve
this, my colleagues and I energetically and successfully followed the recommenda-
tions made by a panel of distinguished investigators that we convened to address
concerns about management, evaluation procedures, and facilities in the IRP (Re-
port of the External Advisory Committee of the Director’s Advisory Committee and
Implementation Plan and Progress Report, November 17, 1994). I sought permission
from the DHHS, again successfully, to expand the use of alternative pay scales, in-
cluding the Senior Biomedical Research Series, and alternative hiring authorities,
such as Titles 38 and 42. When advised by the Office of Government Ethics in 1995
that NIH had dramatically improved its oversight of outside activities, following a
critical appraisal in 1991, and should come into compliance with the less restrictive
policies employed at other Federal agencies, I lifted the restrictions as another step
towards making the NIH IRP more welcoming to outstanding scientists, with the
explicit understanding that all outside activities would be carefully reviewed by eth-
ics officers to insure that they did not interfere with the conduct of official duties.

In my estimation—and, I believe, in the estimation of most of the scientific com-
munity—the IRP has largely regained its stature and its productivity. It competes
effectively with academic institutions for outstanding job candidates at the junior
level, and many of its current leaders have been brought to the NIH campus in the
past decade from the extramural community. It is difficult, of course, to know how
much to attribute the improved status of the IRP to changes in compensation, poli-
cies governing outside activities, new buildings, altered reputation, or improved
management practices. But, to offer one example, the Director of the new Vaccine
Research Center (VRC) has told me that he would have been unable to recruit most
of the seven junior and three senior scientists he has hired at the VRC since his
arrival in 1999 if he did not have Title 42 authorities to offer salaries competitive
with those provided at outside institutions; furthermore, while his new staff mem-
bers fully understand the need for careful review of their outside activities for con-
flicts of interest and commitment, they would have been discouraged from coming
to the NIH if it were considered unethical to use their general knowledge to advance
the practical use of new information by consulting for industry.
Phase 3: Growing sophistication of approaches to outside activities

During the nearly four and a half years since I left the NIH for MSKCC, I have
closely observed and participated in the evolution of attitudes at academic health
centers towards outside activities, particularly those that involve the for-profit, in-
dustrial sector. In view of the dangers posed by conflicts of interest in clinical re-
search, many academic health centers—acting alone and through their associa-
tions—have re-examined their rules for the conduct of clinical research. They have
also sought clear definitions of conflicts of interest that affect individual investiga-
tors or entire institutions, and they have applied them to the conduct of basic lab-
oratory research as well as clinical research. As a by-product of these deliberations,
more attention is now also given to the conflicts of commitment that result from the
devotion of relatively extensive time to, or the receipt of relatively generous reim-
bursement from, an outside activity. Furthermore, academic institutions increas-
ingly appreciate the importance of even the appearance of conflicts of interest or
commitment, since a perceived potential for conflict can undermine public confidence
in medical research.

Importantly, the accumulated experience with a wide variety of outside activities
undertaken by employees at many non-profit research institutions indicates that
complicated cases are generally uncommon, but difficult to judge by a simple rule
book. For this reason, many academic centers, including our own at MSKCC, have
established conflict of interest committees, composed of scientists, administrators,
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lawyers, and informed laypersons, to review unusual and complex situations on a
case-by-case basis and make recommendations to institutional leaders for the man-
agement of those cases.
Advice to the Blue Ribbon Panel

These more sophisticated approaches to management of outside activities in aca-
demia should also be applied to the NIH IRP, as I maintained when I testified be-
fore the Blue Ribbon Panel that Elias Zerhouni, Director of the NIH, recently as-
sembled to advise him about conflict of interest policies. More specifically, I empha-
sized the continued importance of outside activities, including consulting for indus-
try, to maintain the vibrancy of the IRP, to ensure that the talents of its members
are fully utilized for the benefit of society, and to provide the tools necessary for
effective recruitment and retention of outstanding scientists. I also argued that
rules of engagement need to be more explicit and frequently revisited—and revised
if necessary—while remaining consistent with the cardinal principle of non-inter-
ference with the performance of official duties. I applauded Dr. Zerhouni’s creation
of a trans-NIH conflict of interest committee and his already successful efforts to
enlarge the group of IRP scientists required to provide full public disclosure, not just
internal disclosure, of their compensated outside activities. I also argued that some
reasonable limits should be placed on the number of hours devoted to and/or the
amount of compensation received from an outside activity. Finally I recommended
that senior NIH personnel, such as Institute and Center Directors, who are respon-
sible for the award of grants or the development of extramural programs and who
are unable to recuse themselves in favor of an appropriate superior should not be
permitted to engage in outside activities involving potential or actual beneficiaries.
(I also proposed some of these policy changes in written testimony submitted to the
Labor-HHS Subcommittee of the Senate Appropriations Committee on January 15,
2004.)

In general, I agree with the Blue Ribbon Panel’s recommendations, as presented
to your Committee last week by Bruce Alberts and Norman Augustine, with a few
qualifications. I believe that exclusion of senior Institute and Center personnel from
consulting for industry or academia should be based on function (namely, formula-
tion or funding of extramural programs as opposed to direction of intramural re-
search), rather than seniority or title. I also believe that exemptions should be per-
mitted from the ban on reimbursement with equities if reviewed favorably by the
trans-NIH conflict of interest committee. Final actions by the NIH Director on these
and other matters addressed in the Panel’s report should take into consideration
public comments on the report, the views of NIH employees and grantees, and the
opinions formed by this Committee and the Congress as a consequence of these
hearings.

I appreciate the efforts you and your colleagues are making, Mr. Chairman, to
study these complex issues by holding this series of hearings. Your actions and
views can have important consequences for one of the world’s most esteemed re-
search organizations.

I would now be pleased to respond to any questions you might have.

Mr. GREENWOOD. That is quite all right. Thank you, Dr. Varmus.
The Chair would recognize the Chair of the full committee, Mr.

Barton, for purposes of inquiry for 10 minutes.
Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I may not have

10 minutes of questions but I do have a few. I want to start with
Ms. Glynn. On page 4 of your testimony you say, and I am quoting
from it, ‘‘It would be somewhat peculiar to say that the agency had
and other senior management essentially may never receive an
award from anyone involved with the agency.’’ Well, I am not sure
I think that is so peculiar so why would it be peculiar if we just
had a blanket categorization that you couldn’t receive a cash
award?

Ms. GLYNN. I think you have to remember that the rule we are
talking about, the one promulgated by my office, is an executive
branch-wide rule so it would have similar applicability at DOD, for
example, and NIH. We are very concerned when we promulgate
these rules that we don’t go overboard while trying to address the
issues that are present at one particular agency.
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For example, at DOD you would have to assume that virtually
every company in the country would be a prohibited source for Sec-
retary Rumfeld to receive an award from because virtually every
major corporation in the country——

Chairman BARTON. I may be misinterpreting your testimony but
I am talking about cash awards. I am not talking about getting a
plaque for good guy of the year.

Ms. GLYNN. That is right, sir.
Chairman BARTON. Where there is a cash stipend that goes with

it.
Ms. GLYNN. Yes, sir. I understand that. That is the reason we

came up with this test that affords at least a small modicum of
flexibility. Frankly, I would say, for example, in the DOD example
I just gave there is no way that Secretary Rumfeld would ever be
approved to accept an award from Northrup Grumman or Lockheed
Martin. But by contrast, Coca Cola or Disney does do business with
DOD and they might conclude that any matters involving Coca
Cola or Disney is far removed from any of the work that he would
do.

Chairman BARTON. I am checking with the House Ethics Com-
mittee and the Congressional Research but I am not aware that a
Member of Congress while he or she is in Congress can receive any
kind of a cash award. It is just not done and there are 435 of us
so there are 434 watchdogs. At least whatever the other party is,
you know they are going to watch us like a hawk and we watch
them.

Ms. GLYNN. Sure. The President in an executive order has issued
an outside earned income ban for all Presidential appointees. But
one exception to that ban is our regulation that allows these bona
fide awards. Once again, I think the head of NIH, if he were eligi-
ble to receive a Nobel prize would probably not want to have to
turn that prize down even though it involves a cash award.

Chairman BARTON. Well, not just in NIH and FDA but Govern-
ment-wide how many Federal employees each year either receive or
are offered cash awards? Are we talking about hundreds, thou-
sands, tens of thousands?

Ms. GLYNN. We have no data on that, but I’ll be honest, with my
informal discussions with agency ethics officials in preparation for
this hearing, awards at other agencies are infrequent.

Chairman BARTON. Infrequent?
Ms. GLYNN. Yes, sir.
Chairman BARTON. Could you ask your staff to compile whatever

inquiries you have—is it a requirement that if one is offered a cash
reward, they have to touch base with your department?

Ms. GLYNN. No, it is not a requirement but we certainly could
do a sort of informal survey of major agencies.

Chairman BARTON. Should it be a requirement? Should we re-
quire by statute that any Federal employee that is offered a cash
award has to have it cleared by your office or some office?

Ms. GLYNN. I hate to invite that little bit of extra work. Maybe
perhaps for a certain level of employee; I am not sure that I would
want every GS-9 who gets offered a cash award to have to clear
it through our office.
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Chairman BARTON. So under current statute someone—there is
no requirement that any person offered a cash award touch base
with your group?

Ms. GLYNN. No, sir.
Chairman BARTON. So it is all voluntary?
Ms. GLYNN. They have an ethics official. Remember the ethics

program is a decentralized program so there is a designated ethics
official at every agency. That person would normally be involved in
the approval of such awards.

Chairman BARTON. But do they——
Ms. GLYNN. They are not required to consult with us, though.
Chairman BARTON. So yours is purely——
Ms. GLYNN. Anecdotal evidence.
Chairman BARTON. [continuing] a service that is available if they

want to use it.
Ms. GLYNN. Yes.
Chairman BARTON. It is not mandatory.
Ms. GLYNN. Yes, sir.
Chairman BARTON. Okay. Now, Mr. Swindell, you are the person,

I believe, that on Dr. Clausner’s request to receive the award from
the University of Pittsburgh, you are the one that said that was
okay. Is that right or wrong?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, sir. I am the one that signed that approval
and it is not a decision that I look back on with fondness or pride.

Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. SWINDELL. I think the situation was one where I relied too

uncritically on the direction and information provided to me by
General Counsel Rabb at that time. In that regard, let me provide
some background of how we had to operate back in that prior ad-
ministration.

We and other attorneys in the Office of General Counsel at that
time had been specifically instructed to provide advice and evaluate
issues based on whether any reasonable argument could be made
that a particular course of action was legally supportable. The view
was that the decisionmakers, the political appointees and other
senior officials were to be responsible and accountable themselves
for the choices that they made. To say no to anything the lawyers
would have to demonstrate that was the only real possible answer.

Chairman BARTON. Now, wait a minute. That is the political
guidance that came to you or that is your——

Mr. SWINDELL. I will read to you, Mr. Chairman, a copy of a note
to a file that I wrote 10 years ago in 1994. I was a staff attorney
in the Ethics Division at that time. I provided the committee a copy
of the note. If you will permit me to quote from it because I think
it is pretty interesting.

Chairman BARTON. These are your words?
Mr. SWINDELL. These are my words written to a note to the file

in 1994.
Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. SWINDELL. This is 3 years before the Clausner award. It

said, My supervisor indicated to me that the General Counsel in-
structed him to confine ethics advice to purely legal answers. We
are no longer to provide observations about the wisdom of par-
ticular actions or policy or how things may appear on the front
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page of the Washington Post or possible political ramifications of
options.

These matters are for policymakers. The General Counsel does
not desire career objective view as a check on official actions. We
are to decide only if there is a legal objection, i.e., whether the ac-
tion or option is legally supportable under the law and regulations.

My supervisor, in turn, instructed me to carry out the General
Counsel’s wishes. He said that he had written a note to the file to
document this instruction and advised me to do the same. There
may arise situations where when we comply with these instruc-
tions and are prevented from providing full counsel——

Chairman BARTON. I have the gist of it. So what you are basi-
cally saying is as long as at some point in the past you have writ-
ten a note to the file to cover your bottom, it is okay. Whatever the
guys on top tell you to do, you are going to find a way to do.

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, essentially——
Chairman BARTON. Tell us your title at HHS right now.
Mr. SWINDELL. It is Associate General Counsel.
Chairman BARTON. For what?
Mr. SWINDELL. For ethics.
Chairman BARTON. For ethics?
Mr. SWINDELL. That is right. I can assure you that we do not op-

erate under this type of advice under the current administration.
Chairman BARTON. And what was your title in 1994?
Mr. SWINDELL. I was a staff attorney in the ethics division.
Chairman BARTON. For ethics.
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, sir.
Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. SWINDELL. The problem is——
Chairman BARTON. So, as I understand that note, though, the di-

rection is even though you are in the ethics division, you are not
supposed to use any ethics. You are supposed to use your legal
training to render the decision that the political higher ups ask you
to render.

Mr. SWINDELL. It is a fair criticism to render the precise answer
and allow the individual to take the risk of the appearance.

Chairman BARTON. Okay. Does an associate general counsel or
an assistant general counsel in HHS and ethics, is it ever ethical
to just resign or to say, ‘‘I can’t do that,’’ and give you what my
real opinion is?

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, there was a restrain on us. I checked my
bar rules to make sure. The bar rules require lawyers to provide
counsel on ethics, political, social, and so forth. They also say the
client waive those.

Chairman BARTON. Do you view the job of the Ethics Division as
a watchdog for the integrity of the American people or as a lapdog
for whoever the superiors happen to be at the time? That is a seri-
ous question.

Mr. SWINDELL. It is a very serious question. Unfortunately, I do
not view it the bad way. I view it as we want to do the right thing.
I have devoted a dozen years of my career to working on ethics. I
was very concerned about the restraints on us. I kept being reas-
sured that the officials would be responsible for the risk of their as-
sessment of what people think about them.
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Chairman BARTON. My time has expired. I want to ask a ques-
tion of Dr. Varmus very quickly.

You were an NIH director in the mid-1990’s and my briefing
book says you are the one that made the decision to life the restric-
tions on consulting at NIH. Is that true?

Mr. VARMUS. Yes. Of course, in consultation with other people.
Chairman BARTON. But it was your ultimate decision. In hind-

sight do you think the decision you made then, if you had to make
it today knowing what you know now, would you make the same
decision?

Mr. VARMUS. As I have indicated, I think we have learned a lot
about the problems of managing this kind of—these outside activi-
ties and the difficulties of appearance of conflicts and I would do
it somewhat differently as I have indicated in my testimony.

Chairman BARTON. Okay. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. If the gentleman will yield, I want to clarify

one thing. I know he has no time to yield but, Mr. Swindell, you
said you received those directions from your superior. Would you
identify your superior?

Mr. SWINDELL. My superior at that time, his name was Jack
Kress.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Jack Kress with a C or a K?
Mr. SWINDELL. K-R-E-S-S.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And did Mr. Kress indicate to you what moti-

vated him to render that advice to you, whether he had been chas-
tised from someone in a superior position to him or what the gen-
esis of that was?

Mr. SWINDELL. It was my understanding that this came after a
performance review that he had. In fact, about 6 months——

Mr. GREENWOOD. And who would have been reviewing his per-
formance?

Mr. SWINDELL. The General Counsel Harriet Rabb. In fact, about
6 months later my supervisor shared with me a criticism he had
received from the General Counsel about a memorandum that I
had drafted for the supervisor’s signature that stated that certain
conduct would not be prudent. She said that this was our old prob-
lem of giving opinions about appearances rather than just stating
legal conclusions backed by law.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you ever have a sense of what motivated
Ms. Rabb to do that, whether someone in a superior position to her
had——

Mr. SWINDELL. I don’t know.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. The gentlelady from Colorado is recog-

nized for 10 minutes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Swindell, you had

mentioned with the Chairman’s example that that waiver was
given under the previous administration but the waiver that was
given to Tom Scully was given under this administration. Correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. Are you talking about a conflict of interest?
Ms. DEGETTE. Yes, sir.
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, the Scully waiver.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. That was the one on May 12, 2003. Right?
Mr. SWINDELL. I am not sure.
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Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Now, in that situation basically you rec-
ommended that HHS Secretary Thompson issue a waiver to Tom
Scully who was the head of CMS—we all know him—so that he
could negotiate employment with persons having matters before
Mr. Scully which included lobbyist and law firms with drug compa-
nies and health care companies as their clients. Is that right?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, I prepared the document that the Secretary
signed.

Ms. DEGETTE. Now, Mr. Scully told you in his memo, and I am
quoting, ‘‘These entities are likely to have substantial interest in
matters pending before the Department and Mr. Scully has respon-
sibility for such particular matters that may affect the financial in-
terest of the firms with which he may seek employment.’’ Is that
correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. I will be able to explain in a moment the process.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. I understood but that is what he said to you

in his memo. Right?
Mr. SWINDELL. I am not sure there was a memo to me.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Actually, this is your memo.
Mr. SWINDELL. This is my memo to the Secretary.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. So did you write those words?
Mr. SWINDELL. If they are in the document I wrote those words.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Now——
Mr. SWINDELL. Actually, a staff attorney prepared it.
Ms. DEGETTE. The HHS regulations on post-employment restric-

tions state that current employees who have begun seeking or ne-
gotiating for non-Federal employment must recuse themselves from
participating in any official matter that involves the perspective
employer including a legislative initiative or policy initiative that
affects the perspective employer as a member of a defined class. Is
that right?

Mr. SWINDELL. If it is in the document, that is right.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now, have you ever given the kind of waiver you

gave to Mr. Scully to a Senate confirmed official while he was the
agency lead on a major piece of legislation?

Mr. SWINDELL. I don’t know about the specifics about legislation
but there have been many waivers like that granted in the past in-
cluding one approved by President Clinton with regard to Donna
Shalala when she was head of HHS and talking to universities. Of
course, universities——

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, but at this time this was right in the middle
of Mr. Scully’s negotiations with Congress on the Medicare bill,
right?

Mr. SWINDELL. As it turns out——
Ms. DEGETTE. May 2003.
Mr. SWINDELL. I think afterwards that was the case.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. SWINDELL. By the time he came to me I was not aware of

what all he was involved in.
Ms. DEGETTE. He didn’t tell you he was involved in those? Didn’t

your memo exactly say that he had substantial interest pending
before——

Mr. SWINDELL. That is a presumption that would be the case,
that there would be industries——
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Ms. DEGETTE. Now, did anybody tell you to give Mr. Scully this
waiver? You said before your boss told you. That was your deci-
sion?

Mr. SWINDELL. No. The manner in which we deal with conflicts
of interest when someone leaves the Government, I will be happy
to explain the process and why it is important.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Briefly, please.
Mr. SWINDELL. Section 208 of the criminal statute and some reg-

ulations require employees to recuse from matters once they start
talking about employment.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Did Mr. Scully recuse himself from negoti-
ating the Medicare bill?

Mr. SWINDELL. I don’t know whether he recused from negotiating
the Medicare bill. The key point is there are some narrow distinc-
tions in the law itself that talk about two types of matters, the par-
ticular matters of general applicability and particular matters in-
volving specific parties.

The ethics concerns for the particular matters of general applica-
bility are less than they are for a particular matter involving spe-
cific parties. The idea is if you are someone like the head of an
agency and you are talking with someone in the agency that you
regulate, then you are going to be recused from doing your job to-
tally. It means that you——

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, not really. Only if you are looking for an-
other job and there is a major bill pending before Congress that af-
fects lots and lots of people to whom you are applying for a new
job. Right?

Mr. SWINDELL. If the same situation was with Donna Schlala,
the idea is that the agency head, if they start talking with someone
when they are trying to leave the agency, they will have recusal
obligations that are very, very extensive and basically can’t do their
job.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Well, I understand but when Donna
Shalala—I really do understand but here is the thing. Did you then
as part of your waiver to Mr. Scully say, ‘‘Now, don’t negotiate spe-
cific pieces of legislation with Congress in which these folks may
have a financial interest.’’

Mr. SWINDELL. No, because a piece of legislation is a particular
matter of general applicability which is what the waiver covered.

Ms. DEGETTE. So how many times have you given those types of
waivers to senior government officials like the one to Mr. Scully?

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, first of all, they are issued by management,
not me. These are signed by the Secretary or Assistant Secretary.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. So it was the Secretary.
Mr. SWINDELL. The Secretary approved it.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. But it was your recommendation?
Mr. SWINDELL. Sure.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. I am sorry. Maybe we will have another

round and we can explore this further.
Mr. SWINDELL. I would be happy to provide the Congress with

a statement explaining the law.
Ms. DEGETTE. That would be super. That would be great.
Now, Dr. Kington, I actually got all the different statute books

that had the different ethical rules in it. It seems to me there are

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00323 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



316

lots of ethical rules, Ethics in Government Act, Privacy Act, Free-
dom of Information Act, the internal NIH rules. Is this causing
some confusion and angst among your researchers as to what they
can and can’t do right now?

Mr. KINGTON. Fortunately, we have a large staff of attorneys
mostly who advise us on compliance with the law. There are mul-
tiple laws involved and it is challenging to get the precise answer.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. I am sure the attorneys love that. I used
to be an attorney. My question is about the researchers. Are they
feeling confused about——

Mr. KINGTON. Certainly now when we are in this period of tran-
sition, yes. We try to give them as much direction as we possibly
can given what we know about the law.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Dr. Varmus, when you assumed the direc-
torship of the NIH, did you find that the institutes were populated
with second-rate scientists?

Mr. VARMUS. There were some, yes. There were many reasons to
believe the review processes had not been stringent enough. NIH
had not been able to recruit the best people to come into these staff
positions. There was much reason to believe based on both con-
versations and reportage that the NIH intramural program did not
have the—was not held in the esteem which it was held 10 to 20
years earlier.

Ms. DEGETTE. And do you think that was mainly or solely be-
cause of the issue of outside compensation?

Mr. VARMUS. As I have indicated in my testimony and in my
statement, Ms. DeGette, only partly. There are many other reasons
having to do with management and review processes. It is a com-
plex situation and we tried to deal with matters across the board.

Ms. DEGETTE. And, you know, you probably wouldn’t be sur-
prised to hear last week in our hearing some of the testimony was
that the younger scientists, the people doing a lot of the basic re-
search at NIH right now, and since you came in in the mid 1990’s,
morale is pretty good now. Also interestingly, most of these re-
searchers aren’t receiving this outside compensation. Would that
surprise you?

Mr. VARMUS. That doesn’t surprise me, no. I think the issue is
not simply whether you are active in that process but whether the
intramural program scientists who don’t have responsibilities for
regulation, for making grants, whether they have the opportunities
that their equals on the outside have. I think it is a simple
matter——

Ms. DEGETTE. And it is not so much for them about compensa-
tion as about research opportunities. Wouldn’t that be fair to say?

Mr. VARMUS. Well, it is a mixture. What kind of atmosphere ob-
tains the intramural program. Do people feel like they are second-
class citizens. Do they not have the opportunity even if they don’t
use it to undertake consultations to carry out outside activities.

Remember that not all of the outside activities are concerned
with industrial relations. In many cases this is just a matter of
honoraria for talks and special publications. When I came to the
NIH the whole intramural program was called the honorarium ban
in which matters of writing special kinds of review articles or giv-
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ing lectures could not be compensated as they were for people on
the outside. It created an atmosphere——

Ms. DEGETTE. You know, I have got to say this happens to Mem-
bers of Congress all the time. I get invited to speak to groups and
they might invite somebody from private industry or something to
speak and give them a cash award. When I go, I get a really nice
placque. We all have rooms full of them. But for me it is the honor
of going and speaking to the group. I know that someone else from
a university or somewhere else might be allowed to take a cash
award. Truly, most of these folks it is about the prestige of the
event.

Mr. VARMUS. As a former Presidential appointee, I feel your pain
about not getting awards.

Ms. DEGETTE. It is actually not painful for me.
Mr. VARMUS. We have to also recognize that an intramural sci-

entist is very different from a legislator or very different from
someone who runs an agency. It creates an atmosphere that people
don’t find attractive when they are making choices of jobs when
they can go to a place where the world seems open to them where
very similar kinds of work are being done at a university labora-
tory, for example, as opposed to going to the NIH. The NIH is
just——

Ms. DEGETTE. I just have one more question because under this
Blue Ribbon Panel recommendation, the senior appointees at the
NIH would not be able to accept these kinds of awards as I under-
stand it. It would just be the more junior researchers who aren’t
getting them right now. My question is why not make a more
bright line rule and at least set some pretty clear standards so peo-
ple wouldn’t be confused about it.

Mr. VARMUS. Because I think we have to distinguish not between
juniors and seniors. We have to distinguish between those who
have certain kinds of functions. Every opportunity has a risk and
I don’t deny that there are risks. That is why we have the NIHEAC
and why we have rules. I, too, now would argue that it is useful
to have some guidelines that will prevent conflicts of commitment
and outright conflicts of interest. I don’t think it is appropriate to
ban all these activities because they do have utility. It is not dif-
ficult to imagine someone saying, ‘‘Gee, it seems a shame to have
all these talented people at the NIH who are unable to provide any
advice.’’

Ms. DEGETTE. Let us be clear and then I am finished. I appre-
ciate the Chairman’s indulgence. No one is suggesting that we ban
all these outside activities. What we are talking about is what we
do about compensation. We can explore that further. Thank you.

Mr. GREENWOOD. If the gentlelady would yield, certainly a CRDA
is a perfectly acceptable manner by which the scientists at NIH get
to work collaboratively with private sector scientists to produce ex-
cellent results for the public for which there is no compensation.

Mr. VARMUS. I agree.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I have not come to the point where I am pre-

pared to say there should be no outside compensation but I think
it is important to note that even if we did, that would certainly not
be an impediment to the NIH scientists working collaboratively in
the private sector for the good of mankind.
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Ms. DEGETTE. And reclaiming the time that I don’t have, I con-
cur with the Chairman which is I am not to the point where I
think we should ban it but I think there are so many issues here
and they are very complex that I think it should be a real consider-
ation.

Mr. VARMUS. And they are concerned. Even those of us who are
outside of Government now in the academic sector feel this very
acutely. We have all been revising our rules, changing the way in
which we monitor our investigators to avoid the same kinds of con-
flicts you are worried about because, indeed, many of our people
are supported, almost all of them are supported with public money
they receive from the NIH and many of them at public institutions
like State universities have other kinds of public monies. These are
major concerns.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady. The Chair
would note—first, the Chair would ask unanimous consent that the
document binder be incorporated into the record. Without objection
it is.

The Chair would note that there is a series of votes in process
right now so we are going to have to recess probably until 12:30.
We apologize to the witnesses for keeping you that much longer but
it will take us that long to get through the series of votes and get
back here. The committee is in recess until 12:30.

[Whereupon, at 11:37 a.m. the subcommittee recessed to recon-
vene at 12:37 p.m.]

Mr. GREENWOOD. A quorum being present, the hearing will re-
convene, and the Chair recognizes himself for 10 minutes for pur-
poses of questions. And I am going to begin with you, Mr. Swindell.

Your testimony on page 4 states that HHS employees must ad-
dress the concerns of the many while avoiding the appearance or
fact of undue influence by the few. Is that correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. I don’t have a copy.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And you agree that HHS employees attempt to

accomplish avoiding appearance of undue influence in part through
legal advice provided by your division, or, if they are political ap-
pointees, from you as the HHS designated agency ethics official. Is
that correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, I am.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Well, I didn’t ask you if that is who you

were. I said, ‘‘And you agree that HHS employees attempt to ac-
complish avoiding the appearance of undue influence in part
through legal advice provided by your division, or, if they are polit-
ical appointees, from you as the HHS designated agency ethics offi-
cial.’’

Mr. SWINDELL. The HHS Ethics Division—its principal clientele
are the political appointees. The DECs who run the programs with-
in the Department do the ethics in those components, and as need-
ed, and they consult the Ethics Division.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. So, for example, in 1996 when Dr.
Clausner was offered a $30,000 award from the University of Pitts-
burgh, he sought advice on whether to accept this award. Is that
correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. He came to the General Counsel to seek advice
about that.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. In 1996, the first time out.
Mr. SWINDELL. The first time out.
Mr. GREENWOOD. When the answer was no.
Mr. SWINDELL. Okay. I was not the head of the office then, but

you are right, I do recall. That is right.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And the advice he was given was that

he could not accept the award, is that right?
Mr. SWINDELL. That is correct.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. If you go to Tab 10, that binder right in

front of you there, you will see a memo by the Ethics Advisor at
the National Cancer Institute, Dr. Maureen Wilson, advising Dr.
Clausner to decline the award because the University of Pittsburgh
was a prohibited source. Can you identify that?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Am I characterizing that document cor-

rectly?
Mr. SWINDELL. Correct.
Mr. GREENWOOD. It is a memo by Wilson advising Clausner to

decline the award, because the University of Pittsburgh was a pro-
hibited source. Okay.

Do you know who Michele Russell Einhorn is?
Mr. SWINDELL. She was an attorney in the Ethics Division at

that time.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. If you go to Tab 12, you will see Ms.

Russell-Einhorn sent you an e-mail on October 7, 1996, that in-
cluded another e-mail. Do you see that?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. In the message she sent to you and others she

writes about a phone call with the Office of Government Ethics and
the OGE which said Dr. Clausner could not accept the award for
three reasons: an ongoing lawsuit involving Pittsburgh and the Na-
tional Cancer Institute, a contract dispute between Pittsburgh and
the National Cancer Institute, and the fact that Pittsburgh is a
grantee contractor in a cooperative group trial participant funded
by the NCI. Do you see that? Okay.

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So you were aware that Ms. Russell-Einhorn

had consulted the Office of Government Ethics and was told that
Dr. Clausner could not accept the award from the University of
Pittsburgh. Is that right?

Mr. SWINDELL. I was an addressee among all of the staff mem-
bers. I was not focusing on NIH issues at that time, but I obviously
know about this.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I didn’t ask you if you were the only one who
knew about it. I was asking you if you knew about it.

Mr. SWINDELL. I would have received the message. I don’t know
if I would have focused on it at the time.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Would you have read it?
Mr. SWINDELL. I would assume I would have read it.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. In 1997, you were aware about OGE’s

past advice when the University of Pittsburgh offered the award
again to Dr. Clausner but this time with a $40,000 cash gift. Is
that right?
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Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, I looked—asked the staff to look and to see
what had happened.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Did you confer with the Office of Govern-
ment Ethics regarding the 1997 Pittsburgh award?

Mr. SWINDELL. That is something I have tried to think whether
we did or not. I have a visual impression in my mind that a staff
member was talking to me about some aspect of the opinion, about
the reasonably foreseeable language, but no one can indicate that
we made any—no record that we talked with them.

Mr. GREENWOOD. What would be the routine, standard operating
procedure?

Mr. SWINDELL. It varies, depending upon what the issue is, if
there is confusion. Obviously, when I looked at this, I thought we
were going in the right direction with the concept about what we
call a bad prohibited source, something that is—there is really
something going on precisely at the time, the timing—and, yes, it
talks about being a grantee, but I am afraid I didn’t really pick up
on that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I mean, isn’t that a huge red flag?
Mr. SWINDELL. If that had been the answer——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Isn’t the fact that Pittsburgh—the University

of Pittsburgh was a grantee, isn’t that a gigantic red flag?
Mr. SWINDELL. Of course it is. But it is an exception to the gift

rules for getting gifts from grantees, to get a bona fide award.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right.
Mr. SWINDELL. So the concept exists that one could get a bona

fide award from a prohibited source. This is the crux of the issue
that the General Counsel and the Acting Director of OGE has now
given us guidance as to what—how we analyze this.

You know, trying to think back 7 years and what was in my
mind with the General Counsel asking—there were about six law-
yers working on this issue, asking questions, trying to find out
about what the University of—the Dixon Prize was, its connection
to the University of Pittsburgh.

If the answer had been the mere fact that it was a grantee, that
would have been the end of it from—OGE could have said, ‘‘It is
a grantee; that is the end of it.’’ So in grappling——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Why was that difficult to find out?
Mr. SWINDELL. It is not difficult to find out. As I said, I am not

sure whether we called or not. I just don’t have any records that
we did.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Were you aware that Dr. Wilson sent a memo
dated October 1, 1997, to Dr. Clausner raising concerns about the
Pittsburgh award? If you look at Tab 22, it might refresh your
memory.

Mr. SWINDELL. I assume she is giving the results of whatever we
have been finding out about the University of Pittsburgh.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you talk with her regarding your rec-
ommendations in the memo?

Mr. SWINDELL. I don’t recall.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you agree with her recommendations?
Mr. SWINDELL. I guess the recommendation is that Dr. Clausner

would have to assure that he didn’t have matters pending in front
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of him that were consistent with the opinion. So to the extent that
that is the case, I would agree with it, but——

Mr. GREENWOOD. So you would agree with her?
Mr. SWINDELL. Mr. Chairman, as I explained earlier, the whole

result of this opinion was very technical, trying to see. The General
Counsel was obviously interested. We were under an obligation to
take a look at this, and if there was no legal way to stop this
award, then it was not our duty to stop it. The individual was sup-
posed to take the heat for this kind of decision and the appearance
of this kind of decision.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Wait a minute. Wait a minute. You are not al-
lowed to take money from prohibited sources, correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. You are not allowed to receive a gift from a pro-
hibited source.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Right. Okay. And a source becomes prohibited
de facto if the source is a recipient of the entity headed by the guy
who is going to take the money, right?

Mr. SWINDELL. It is a——
Mr. GREENWOOD. What is the hard part?
Mr. SWINDELL. Well, I will defer to the Office of Government

Ethics to explain better than I can. But there is an exception to
this idea that you can’t get gifts from prohibited sources. It focuses
on whether the entity is a—whether the offeror of the award is an
entity that has interest that can be substantially affected by the
performance or non-performance of the——

Mr. GREENWOOD. All right. Where is the cloudy part in that?
Mr. SWINDELL. Well, it doesn’t say agency head. If the idea is you

are going to—if that means the same thing as grantee, then it is
a circuitous argument. You can’t have—they can’t be the same. It
can’t be just a grantee, because you have got an exception to a rule
for grantees. So it had to mean something different.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Let me ask Mr. Maskell. Do you think there is
anything cloudy about this? Maybe I am missing something. It
looks like a no-brainer to me.

Mr. MASKELL. I understand I am preaching to the choir here, but
no, I—the problem is you have two sets of prohibited sources. The
first three you have are agency-wide prohibited sources. That is
someone who does business with, is regulated by, or seeking action
from the agency—everybody—that includes grantees and contrac-
tors.

But the other prohibited source, the fourth prohibited source, is
personal to the individual. That is why it is not duplicative, and
that is why it is not circuitous. The fourth one is personal, and it
says if that source can be—has interest that can be affected by the
performance and non-performance of that individual’s official du-
ties, then they cannot accept even an award from them. I thought
it sounds pretty clear to me that——

Mr. GREENWOOD. I will bet it is crystal clear to you.
Mr. MASKELL. [continuing] an agency head has that authority.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And if you were told don’t—if it was your job,

if you had Mr. Swindell’s job at the time, and you were told—I
know this is hypothetical——

Mr. MASKELL. I know.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] but if you were told, ‘‘You can’t say
no’’—even if they put this incredible restraint on you, which is,
‘‘You can’t say no, if there is any legal reason—there has to—using
the letter of the law is the only guidance here.’’ Would you still find
any difficulty in the letter of the law prohibiting this?

Mr. MASKELL. I can’t speak to the political pressures that Mr.
Swindell felt at that time. But that is——

Mr. GREENWOOD. I am not asking you to. I am just saying, is
there any question——

Mr. MASKELL. That is probably another reason to have a bright
line. I personally would have cited that rule, and I would have
cited 18 U.S.C. Section 209 and said you are not allowed to——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Swindell, do you think there was any polit-
ical pressure involved here?

Mr. SWINDELL. There was pressure, obviously, to provide the ad-
vice that—according to the instructions. Obviously, the person who
renders that advice, to tell us how to give advice, obviously was a
political appointee. But I don’t think politics entered into it.

I think what we have——
Mr. GREENWOOD. You don’t think Clausner was trying to get

friends of his to give him a green light on this?
Mr. SWINDELL. That is certainly possible, but I don’t have any

facts to know that. I think——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Wilson wrote—let me interrupt you. She

wrote, ‘‘Given that the litigation was only recently settled, the
major issue to be overcome is the appearance that the NCI agreed
to cooperate with Pittsburgh to settle the litigation, including the
monetary payments, as well as other tangibles and intangibles, and
that this award is being made as a result of that agreement.’’ Did
you see that memo?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, and that is what—that is the point, is that
he is going to have to assess those appearance situations personally
and assume those risks. I think it is very good that Jake Wilson
wrote that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, let me just finish here. Just a second.
Whether you read this memo or not, do you agree with the NCI
Ethics Advisor that there is an appearance issue to be overcome?
That you got, right?

Mr. SWINDELL. I got that.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And you had it then. You knew that there was

an appearance issue.
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes. I was very—a number of us were concerned

about the looks of that. Sure.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. As the designated agency ethics official

for the Department of Health and Human Services, did you advise
Dr. Clausner about the appearance of undo influence or conflict of
interest in his accepting a $40,000 cash gift from a grantee institu-
tion involved in a lawsuit with the National Cancer Institute that
had recently been settled?

Mr. SWINDELL. I didn’t personally give him advice other than
what was in the opinion.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you know whether anyone said to him,
‘‘This looks like hell, but we are not going to’’——
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Mr. SWINDELL. The communications with Clausner were from the
General Counsel. I don’t know what she would have said.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you address the appearance issue in your
memorandum to Dr. Clausner?

Mr. SWINDELL. I think it stresses in there—it is very careful. It
stresses in there about the fact that he is going to have to make
his determination in accordance with the limitations and what the
meaning of it was.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Wait a minute. Did you address, did you say,
did you indicate anything about the appearance problem?

Mr. SWINDELL. I don’t recall what is in the memo precisely.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Go to Tab 23 and look at your memo there.
Mr. SWINDELL. Okay.
Mr. GREENWOOD. My question is: in your memo to Clausner, did

you say—did you address the appearance issue, or did you just ad-
dress the strictly legalistic—give a strictly legalistic response, pur-
suant to what you had been instructed to do——

Mr. SWINDELL. Right.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] by your superior, a la per the note

in the file?
Mr. SWINDELL. You are correct. It doesn’t look like that I really

stressed that issue with him.
Mr. GREENWOOD. You weren’t supposed to, right? You had just

been told—you had been told——
Mr. SWINDELL. That is right. I mean, I wanted to make sure that

he attested to things. I remember that was one important thing to
me, that he—that we apprised him what the law was that we un-
derstood, and that he was supposed to attest to the facts, that he
didn’t have anything, you know, within the meaning of the rule in
front of him, because I wanted to make sure that he was under-
standing that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. But basically you said technically—technically,
the Emperor has clothes on, but the fact that you appeared to ev-
erybody else to have no clothes on, you didn’t bother to incorporate
that into your memo.

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, certainly, as I said, this is—I was in a dif-
ficult situation back then. I was new. I was an acting person only
there for just, you know, a few months when this occurred. I agree
this could have been done a lot better.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. The gentlelady from Colorado is recog-
nized.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, I just wanted to—are you yielding to me?
Mr. GREENWOOD. No, it is your turn.
Ms. DEGETTE. Oh, great. But following up on the chairman’s

questions, Mr. Swindell, you have said several times that in a situ-
ation like Dr. Clausner’s situation it is a personal determination.
And, in fact, in your memo, after going through all of the stand-
ards, on page 5 of your memo you do say you will need to apply
this interpretive guidance to your own situation. But here is——

Mr. GREENWOOD. I am sorry. I made an error.
Ms. DEGETTE. Go ahead.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Stearns has not had a first round.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So——
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Ms. DEGETTE. Can I just follow up on your question just with
this—on your questioning, Mr. Chairman?

Mr. GREENWOOD. In think in fairness——
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] do that on your time. We will give

Mr. Stearns his shot now. We will give you as much time as you
would like.

The gentleman from Florida is recognized.
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Are we have 5 minutes

or——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Ten minutes.
Mr. STEARNS. Ten minutes. Okay, good. I have three questions.
Let me just start—I have a subcommittee that deals with over-

sight on financial accounting standards, and we are having a de-
bate on whether stock options should be expensed. And I guess last
week’s advisory—Blue Ribbon Panel of the Advisory Committee to
the Director examined the conflict of interest that NIH employees
eligible to engage in compensation outside of professional activities,
should they receive compensation in the form of stock options or
other equities for their service.

And so, Dr. Kington and Ms. Glynn, these are questions for you.
And I will start with you, Ms. Glynn. It seems to me that offering
these stock options to these individuals creates some problems. The
Financial Accounting Standards Board would like to expense all of
these, so that the people who invest in these companies know what
stock options are being provided.

And lo and behold, these have all been kept pretty silent. And
so I guess my question is—the current compensation involving
stock options, is that ethical? Is it protecting the stockholders, the
taxpayers, the patients? I guess everybody involved.

And then for you, Dr. Kington.
Ms. GLYNN. I think the major problem in permitting acceptance

of either stock or stock options as a form of compensation is that
it creates a kind of continuing financial interest in the company,
so that even after your consulting work is completed you continue
to have a conflict of interest with anything affecting that company,
because, in effect, you are sort of an owner of the company.

So from that perspective, what that means is that once your con-
sulting concludes you must continue to be recused from matters in-
volving the company. What we have is, then, a potential for not
only recusal during the consulting period but a continuing recusal
once the consulting is finished, and that is problematic.

I have heard—and, you know, from OGE’s perspective we are
certainly not experts on this, but I have heard that one of the prob-
lems in barring stock options or stock as compensation is that it
tends to favor payers that are from bigger established organiza-
tions that can afford to pay scientists cash versus the smaller start-
up types that don’t have any cash to pay, and this is all they can
afford.

Now, understand, I am not taking any position on that, because
it sort of begs the question of whether the consulting was proper
to begin with, whether it is paid in cash or stock or stock options.

Mr. STEARNS. Dr. Kington?
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Mr. KINGTON. Well, NIH fully recognizes the problem with pay-
ment to employees who consult with stock options, and we were
very receptive to the Blue Ribbon Panel’s recommendation that
that not be allowed.

Mr. STEARNS. Yes. Because, you know, these people that have the
stock option then will try to promote the company. And the ways
they can do it are varied and multiple, and you can’t—no one
knows about it.

Mr. VARMUS. Can I comment just briefly on that, Mr. Stearns?
Mr. STEARNS. Sure.
Mr. VARMUS. First of all, NIH employees are allowed to own

stock.
Mr. STEARNS. Oh, no, no. Yes, they can own stock in a——
Mr. VARMUS. So if you buy stock, you become interested in——
Mr. STEARNS. Well, we are talking about stock options that are

given to you.
Mr. VARMUS. I understand. I understand. But I think that the

holding of stock—I am just commenting on Ms. Glynn’s remark—
you know, that doesn’t necessarily create a conflict of interest. It
just means you have an interest in——

Mr. STEARNS. But this is your own money that you make after
the bottom line, after you pay taxes, you invest. This is compensa-
tion that is part of the——

Mr. VARMUS. It is an alternative means of compensation, and I
think——

Mr. STEARNS. Do you disagree with these two people?
Mr. VARMUS. I do a little bit, in the sense that I think one of the

reasons that the NIHEAC was established, the NIH Ethics Advi-
sory Committee, is to look at issues of that kind, because there are
instances in which companies simply don’t have much capital to
spend on consultants, and——

Mr. STEARNS. Well, if these people are—why should they be
working for the NIH when they get—they are consulting for this
company and they are getting stock options?

Mr. VARMUS. Well, if we do entertain the idea of consultation,
and we think that is potentially valuable in both directions, it
seems to me that the——

Mr. STEARNS. Well, let me give you a hypothetical.
Mr. VARMUS. Yes.
Mr. STEARNS. You are working for NIH, and you are under re-

tainer with a company to advise them—Company X. And they have
ground-breaking technology, and they offer you stock options. And
they are paying you, and you are getting paid by NIH, and you are
sharing the information from them with the NIH. Should you get
stock options from them without making it public that you are get-
ting these stock options? Is that what you are saying, it should
be——

Mr. VARMUS. No, I am not.
Mr. STEARNS. [continuing] private?
Mr. VARMUS. No, I am all for disclosure——
Mr. STEARNS. I think we are talking about——
Mr. VARMUS. [continuing] and I am all for discussing each of

these instances on a one-by-one basis. I think there could be condi-
tions under which reasonable people would say that the fraction of
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the total stock being held by the employee is extremely small, that
the——

Mr. STEARNS. It depends upon what the stock does, whether it
is small or not, and it depends upon the stock option.

Mr. VARMUS. Well, as a fraction of the total company stock issue,
that—I think that——

Mr. STEARNS. I mean, if they gave them $100,000, eventually it
could be worth $4 million. That would be quite an incentive for this
person.

Mr. VARMUS. Well——
Mr. STEARNS. How does he keep his conflict of interest separate?
Mr. VARMUS. Well, the conflict of interest, of course, would arise

if there were some situation in which the conflict arose. The as-
sumption is that——

Mr. STEARNS. So you disagree with the Blue Ribbon Panel of the
Advisory Committee to the Director on this.

Mr. VARMUS. I think that being cautious about stock is very ap-
propriate, and I am just arguing for what I think we have all been
arguing for in a sense, that in some cases the nature of the com-
pensation should be a matter for, in a sense, case adjudication. And
that the reason we have at all our institutions committees to look
at these is to try to be sure that we don’t write a blanket rule that
obviates the possibility of——

Mr. STEARNS. So you think if the company gives a flat fee that
is the same as stock options.

Mr. VARMUS. No, I am not saying that.
Mr. STEARNS. I mean, wouldn’t a flat fee be more ethical than

getting a stock option, which is based upon the performance of the
company?

Mr. VARMUS. All of these—as we learn from these experiences,
they are all different. And I—you know, I take your point, and I
think the stock options are more problematic. But I would opt in
my ideal world for a more flexible policy, that is all.

Mr. STEARNS. Have you taken stock options in a situation like I
just described?

Mr. VARMUS. Not at the NIH, of course, but I did as a——
Mr. STEARNS. When you were working for NIH, did you get——
Mr. VARMUS. No, no. No, absolutely not.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Mr. VARMUS. I, as a Presidential appointee, gave up everything

that could remotely be considered——
Mr. STEARNS. That is my point. As a Congressman, I——
Mr. VARMUS. But I was in charge of the NIH.
Mr. STEARNS. I mean, I don’t get stock options, and there is no

one in this room that gets stock options. And if you are working
for NIH, you are advocating they should get stock options with a
company they are consulting instead of—that is what you are advo-
cating.

Mr. VARMUS. What I am arguing is that people at NIH have dif-
ferent functions. The Director of NIH——

Mr. STEARNS. Well, they are Government employees, though.
Mr. VARMUS. Yes, but some—but Government employees who

work in the intramural program as——
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Mr. STEARNS. Well, why should we make an exception for NIH
if we don’t make it for the Congressmen and Senators and Presi-
dents?

Mr. VARMUS. I think the functions are very different. This is ob-
viously a complicated issue, but it is one that I think is important
to bring up, that——

Mr. STEARNS. Well, I think you can get into conflict of interest,
and I think the Blue Ribbon Panel and the Advisory Committee to
the Director made that clear.

Let me move on. I just have so much time. I have to stop you.
Mr. VARMUS. They didn’t say conflict of interest. They said con-

flict of the commitment.
Mr. STEARNS. Let me say I—the question I have now—on Feb-

ruary 10, the NIH Office of Management Assessment forwarded a
final advisory report from the HHS Office of Inspector General for
review of a conflict of interest allegation concerning a Board of Sci-
entific Counselors ad hoc reviewer.

NIH Deputy Director Michael Gutzman and NCI Director An-
drew von Eschenbach were among the recipients of this report. In
this report, the IG recommended that the National Cancer Insti-
tute modify its process for selecting ad hoc reviewers to allow a
principal investigator to object in writing directly to the Board of
Scientific Counselors’ Executive Secretary if he or she believes the
selected BSC ad hoc reviewer has a conflict of interest.

I guess the question is: has this recommendation been imple-
mented? Anybody?

Mr. KINGTON. This is the first I have heard of that recommenda-
tion.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay. Another question is, based upon this report,
we know that NIH intramural researchers know in advance. I
think the staff has advised—probably advisable, Dr. Kington, that
you should follow up in writing on this, since this was provided in
writing with the recommendation. And I guess we in the Oversight
Subcommittee see—think not only should you know about it, but
it should be implemented.

So I guess the fact that you, one, don’t know about it, is a con-
cern of ours. And then, two, give you a chance to answer, come up
to speed, and then see if you can implement it.

Mr. KINGTON. We would be happy to respond.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay. And last, Mr. Chairman, if you bear—for-

bearance here, based on this report we know that NIH intramural
researchers know in advance who is on the list of ad hoc reviewers
and who can object if they think a proposed reviewer has a conflict
of interest.

This is like the preemptory challenges in courts where each side
gets a chance to strike against a potential juror they don’t like.
Given that intramural researchers have this right, why shouldn’t
a private partner negotiating a CRADA with intramural research-
ers know if those researchers are consulting for the competition?

Let me repeat that—with intramural researchers know if those
researchers are consulting for the competition. Shouldn’t a private
partner in the CRADA have the right to know and the right to ob-
ject to a perceived conflict of interest? Dr. Kington? It is a little
hard to understand the question. It is sort of laid out as—some-
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times we lay these questions out to get them on the record, and
that is the way this question is, so——

Mr. KINGTON. I will refrain from commenting.
Mr. STEARNS. Well, no, we are asking you to comment. You are

forced to comment here.
Mr. KINGTON. Clearly, any time there is a situation in which the

Government has entered into a CRADA with another private com-
pany, we have decided that is the best way that we can achieve
some scientific goal. And, obviously, we should be very concerned
if there is a possibility of an appearance of conflict with an em-
ployee who might be involved with a competitor. So, yes, there
should be some—that is of concern.

Mr. STEARNS. I guess it is just public information that the intra-
mural researcher knows this information, whereas a private part-
ner in CRADA does not. And I guess we are saying that shouldn’t
this private partner have this right, too, so we have transparency
here? Does that make sense?

Mr. KINGTON. On the face of it, yes. I mean, we absolutely want
our partners to have faith that we are reasonable partners, that we
are actually committed to working with them. So, yes, we would be
concerned about appearance of—we should be concerned about ap-
pearance of conflict of interest.

Mr. STEARNS. And so that this private partner should be told,
should have the right to know, and the opportunity to object if
there is perceived conflict of interest?

Mr. KINGTON. I am not sure if that necessarily has to be—and
I want to make that comment as a policy. There is no question that
we should do whatever is necessary to remove the possibility of a
serious conflict or appearance of conflict of interest, and we are
committed to that, however we could achieve that.

Mr. STEARNS. Yes. Well, I honestly feel you are—you want to do
that. So if you don’t mind, you might tackle this question, too——

Mr. KINGTON. I would be happy to.
Mr. STEARNS. [continuing] in your reply, and we can look at it.
I thank the chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Now the gentlelady from Colorado is recog-

nized.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Okay. Mr. Swindell, if you will recall, we were having this dis-

cussion about who—how we decide what standards to apply. In
your memo, you had said to Dr. Clausner, ‘‘You will need to apply
this interpretive guidance to your own situation.’’

And I think you said in response to the chairman’s questions
that his interpretive guidance would be sort of how would it look
to the public or would it pass the smell test? Would that be accu-
rate?

Mr. SWINDELL. That is essentially what the General Counsel
said. The smell test or The Washington Post test was something
that we don’t advise about.

Ms. DEGETTE. Now, at this time, Dr. Clausner was the Director
of the National Cancer Institute, right?

Mr. SWINDELL. That is correct.
Ms. DEGETTE. But, you know, so one would hope he might have

a press liaison to help him figure that out. But how is everyone
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else going to figure that out? It seems to be a very, very nebulous
standard.

Mr. SWINDELL. That is a very good point, and that is the problem
with it.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. SWINDELL. And that is why we are not going to operate

under that and haven’t operated under that kind of analysis about
these questions.

Ms. DEGETTE. But even under the new guidelines there seems to
be a lot of personal discretion as to whether there are conflicts that
I am not sure any ethics board could address.

Mr. SWINDELL. It is difficult. I mean, the idea is is that the stat-
utes and the regulations to some extent are intended to codify what
an appearance is. And we have tried to, in our advice-giving now,
since the very beginning of this administration when I spoke with
Governor Thompson’s people when they came in and actually dis-
cussed how we would give advice in the problems we had, that
what we will do is we will counsel what we believe the law means,
what the regulations mean, and the regulations themselves in
part—some aspects of what an appearance is, but that we will try
to also give advice about what we will call perception or optics.

Ms. DEGETTE. But which is a moving target, isn’t that fair to
say?

Mr. SWINDELL. It is.
Ms. DEGETTE. Yes. Now, Dr. Varmus and others have talked

about how employees at NIH, while public employees, are different
than, say, Congressional employees. And I should add for the
record it is not just Members of Congress, it is our staffs, it is all
of the employees of the U.S. Government.

I wanted to ask you, Ms. Glynn, because I got to thinking, what
are the ethical standards with respect to outside compensation and
award, say, for the EPA employees? Because we have employees
over there who are doing scientific environmental research.

Ms. GLYNN. Right. Can I address something else before I answer
that question?

Ms. DEGETTE. If we have time at the end, you can address that.
Ms. GLYNN. Okay. I mentioned in my oral statement, there is one

broad, bright line rule for the entire executive branch, and that is
in the rule published by my office. And as far as outside employ-
ment or activities is concerned, that rule is that the outside activity
can’t be such a conflict with your job that it would require recusal
essentially from most important aspects of your job.

But a second part of that rule is that the outside activity can’t
be prohibited by a statute or any other regulation, and another reg-
ulation is that it can’t be an appearance of a conflict of interest.
It can’t be use of public office for private gain——

Ms. DEGETTE. So do researchers over at the EPA get outside in-
come? Do you know?

Ms. GLYNN. And, remember, each agency is allowed to imple-
ment, supplement——

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Ms. GLYNN. [continuing] more difficult, you know, more strin-

gent.
Ms. DEGETTE. Yes, I understand.
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Ms. GLYNN. Okay. EPA, for example, does—for certain categories
of employees—does have more stringent rules. It is not exactly
across the board, but it does have more stringent rules.

My impression is that this is not a problem—this compensation
issue is not a problem at most science agencies, however.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. What about the NSF or the CDC? Do you
know if they have supplemental rules?

Ms. GLYNN. Mr. Swindell can speak better than I can about
CDC, but NSF definitely has supplemental rules as well.

Ms. DEGETTE. And do they allow their researchers to take this
type of outside compensation?

Ms. GLYNN. There is no broad prohibition on it. There are some
prohibitions, but not an across-the-board prohibition. However,
once again, based on my conversations—informal—with ethics offi-
cials at these agencies it is not that common to permit employees
to receive compensation there.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Mr. Chairman, I think it would be very
helpful—maybe Mr. Maskell or someone could supplement the
record by giving us the standards at all of the Government agen-
cies about what kinds of outside compensation are allowed for the
employees.

Ms. GLYNN. Sure. I mean, you can actually find them in the Code
of Federal Regulations——

Ms. DEGETTE. Yes, we have got that.
Ms. GLYNN. [continuing] you have back here. But they are all

listed there.
Ms. DEGETTE. That would be helpful.
Mr. VARMUS. It is important, Ms. DeGette, to note who is——
Ms. DEGETTE. Yes, sir.
Mr. VARMUS. [continuing] what functions are being performed by

the agency. So the NSF, for example, makes grants but doesn’t
have the equivalent of an intramural research program. There are
no scientists doing scientific work in the National Science Founda-
tion. They are developing grant programs and administering
grants.

Ms. DEGETTE. That is a really good point. Thank you, Dr.
Varmus. But, you know, and that kind of leads into my next level
of questioning, which is the researchers at NIH are primarily doing
basic research. Is that right?

Mr. VARMUS. It depends what you mean by ‘‘basic.’’ There are
many who are doing clinical research, if you are contrasting labora-
tory and research with patients. But it is—I think we have to de-
fine the term ‘‘basic research.’’

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, okay, let me put it in a different way.
Mr. VARMUS. They are not doing applied research.
Ms. DEGETTE. Most of the private companies don’t have a big in-

vestment in basic research.
Mr. VARMUS. Actually, many of them do now. That is a major

change that actually came about during the growth of the bio-
technology industry, and many fundamental findings have been
made in the biotech industry. And now large pharmaceutical
houses have acquired those companies, have engaged themselves in
basic research. The continuum is much more complex than it was
30 years ago.
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Ms. DEGETTE. You know, it is interesting because I was talking
to, actually, some of the pharmaceutical representatives who said
that the bulk of the basic research is still being done at NIH, and
that——

Mr. VARMUS. Or with NIH dollars, because that——
Ms. DEGETTE. Or with NIH dollars, and that——
Mr. VARMUS. [continuing] over 80 percent of our money—of

NIH’s money goes to universities and academic health centers and
colleges.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. So I guess my question is, for some of the
scientists coming in, especially the newer scientists who are the
ones that theoretically these new ethical rules would apply to, I am
not sure I buy the fact that these people would not be—these top
flight folks would be attracted to NIH if their outside compensation
were greatly constrained or even eliminated, because many of them
are doing basic kinds of research and not the advanced kinds of re-
search. Would you disagree with that?

Mr. VARMUS. Well, the choice that most are making is whether
to go to the NIH intramural program to do research or to do essen-
tially very, very similar work under somewhat different terms. And
I don’t mean simply financial terms, but in terms of review and re-
sponse to a different kind of system of organizing research at uni-
versities, academic health centers, colleges, universities. That is
the usual choice.

Ms. DEGETTE. With NIH dollars in many cases at those academic
centers.

Mr. VARMUS. And salaries being set independently and different
sets of rules. So it is a different environment, and it has seemed
I think—and especially in the 1980’s—more favorable to most to
work in the extramural community as opposed to the NIH.

Ms. DEGETTE. Now, when you were—I assume you participated
in trying to recruit folks to come to NIH when you——

Mr. VARMUS. Absolutely.
Ms. DEGETTE. [continuing] were there. And did these folks tell

you that their decision of where to go was in part—I mean, how
important was the outside compensation?

Mr. VARMUS. Very important, especially for the people I was re-
cruiting, because I was recruiting people at the upper end of the
spectrum.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Who now, of course, won’t be entitled to
that, many of them.

Mr. VARMUS. Pardon me?
Ms. DEGETTE. Now many of those folks won’t be entitled to that

compensation. So do you——
Mr. VARMUS. Well, but the——
Ms. DEGETTE. [continuing] think now we are going to——
Mr. VARMUS. Ms. DeGette, we have two issues on the table with

respect to compensation. One is the outside activities, and we are
all agreeing that for certain high-level people those should be pro-
hibited or restricted.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. VARMUS. But there are also salary issues, which we are not

discussing today, that are very important with respect to using pay
scales such as those that are allowable under Title 42 that make
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compensation more competitive with the kinds of salaries that we
have talked about.

Ms. DEGETTE. You know, I used to sit on a college board, and
we used to have these big debates vis-a-vis the economics depart-
ment and say, ‘‘Well, you know, these people could go to private in-
dustry, and maybe we should pay the economics professors, you
know, $200,000 a year, and we should pay the classics professors
$20,000 a year.’’

And those were really tough discussions that we had, and I think
those discussions are endemic throughout the academic world, and
particularly difficult when you are talking about biotechnology and
all kinds of cutting edge research.

But, you know, the problem I think we have is that, No. 1, I
don’t think we can make the assumption that people are simply
going to the NIH because of outside compensation. And, No. 2, I
think we have continuing tough, tough issues about conflicts of in-
terest which only get murkier, not clearer, the more levels of ethics
rules that we try to place, especially because of the nature of re-
search.

And this is really, I think, what we are struggling with now. And
I don’t know the solution, but I just don’t fundamentally agree with
the premise that this outside—if we really constrain this outside
compensation, so long as we continue to allow collaboration, that
that is going to severely affect the quality of research scientists at
NIH. That is just my view.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady.
The gentleman Mr. Walden is recognized for 10 minutes.
Mr. WALDEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Swindell, you were Acting Director of HHS Ethics Division

at the time Dr. Clausner requested to receive the Dixon Prize in
1997, weren’t you?

Mr. SWINDELL. That is correct.
Mr. WALDEN. Okay. And as I recall, in your testimony you said

there was sort of an edict from up above about not giving anything
more than just a description of the law, correct? I mean, that——

Mr. SWINDELL. That is correct.
Mr. WALDEN. [continuing] may not be the lawyerly—that is cor-

rect?
Mr. SWINDELL. That is correct.
Mr. WALDEN. Was there a reason to believe that if you didn’t fol-

low the instructions, to ignore appearance issues, that that might
affect you getting a permanent appointment? Was it that kind of
a feeling in the——

Mr. SWINDELL. No. At the time, there was actual concern within
the whole Ethics Division that it would be dissolved and moved
into another division. I had no desire to have to give any advice
to the General Counsel for the purpose of personal advancement.

The Ethics Division at the time, they were going to merge it into
what was called the Business and Administrative Law Division.

Mr. WALDEN. Why would they want to do that? What was the
talk?

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, there were difficulties I think with my su-
pervisor about how we gave ethics advice, which, of course, precip-
itated this direction of how we were supposed to get——
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Mr. WALDEN. And who was your supervisor then?
Mr. SWINDELL. Jack Kress.
Mr. WALDEN. And who did Jack Kress work for?
Mr. SWINDELL. Harriet Rabb.
Mr. WALDEN. And was this coming from both Mr. Kress and Ms.

Rabb?
Mr. SWINDELL. I read into the record earlier today, Congressman,

that—I wrote a note to the file that indicated that my supervisor
had told me that the General Counsel directed us to provide precise
legal issues, that we weren’t supposed to give advice about the ap-
pearances of things.

Mr. WALDEN. I mean, I just find that amazing. You know, when
I get counsel, I want to know all of the potential ramifications, so
I know——

Mr. SWINDELL. As I mentioned earlier——
Mr. WALDEN. With ethics, it is about appearance as much as le-

gality in public service.
Mr. SWINDELL. Obligation, yes. And it was a difficult cir-

cumstance to be in.
Mr. WALDEN. Was Harriet Rabb the one who contacted you about

the Pittsburgh award regarding Dr. Clausner?
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. WALDEN. And she was, what, the General Counsel?
Mr. SWINDELL. She was the General Counsel.
Mr. WALDEN. Is it standard operating procedure for the HHS

General Counsel to get involved in award receipt requests of this
nature?

Mr. SWINDELL. I would not normally think so.
Mr. WALDEN. Did it happen any other time with her?
Mr. SWINDELL. No, not that I can recall.
Mr. WALDEN. Do you recall any other HHS General Counsel ever

getting involved in other requests of this nature?
Mr. SWINDELL. No, I don’t recall another one.
Mr. WALDEN. What made this one so special, do you think, that

it rose to the level of——
Mr. SWINDELL. I do not know why this was so special, but it was

obviously—she wanted an answer. It was very difficult to—she was
somewhat inscrutable, because she also seemed to understand that
this was unseemly. But nevertheless—so I don’t know what her di-
rections were.

Mr. WALDEN. What makes you say that she seemed to under-
stand it was unseemly?

Mr. SWINDELL. She would frown about the fact, you know, he is
trying to make a big deal about getting some money. You know, I
just think——

Mr. WALDEN. Mr. Clausner.
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. WALDEN. Dr. Clausner.
Mr. SWINDELL. Dr. Clausner.
Mr. WALDEN. Do you recall Harriet Rabb contacting you on be-

half of any other official for this kind of award? Or was this just
a very unique situation?

Mr. SWINDELL. I thought it was very unique, yes.
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Mr. WALDEN. Did you or anyone else ever inquire as to why she
was involved in this?

Mr. SWINDELL. Why she was in this? No, did not.
Mr. WALDEN. Just one of those things that came down from

above, and you read the law and gave your interpretation?
Mr. SWINDELL. We had lawyers and a couple of divisions looking

at it—the Public Health Division, Ethics Division—and trying to
evaluate the nature of the award, because there were some issues
about whether it was coming from a foundation or whether it was
coming from a university, and so forth.

Mr. WALDEN. Were they under the same constraints that you
were in terms of not being able to offer opinion outside of just the
strict statutory reading?

Mr. SWINDELL. That was generally the way the lawyers were
supposed to operate in the Office of General Counsel was we—I as-
sumed they felt that lawyers were making policy—you know, mak-
ing decisions that were left to decisionmakers.

Mr. WALDEN. And was the theory that if you put something in
writing that showed there might be evidence—or it might have the
appearance, let us say, of conflict, that, therefore, that would be
taken into account.

Mr. SWINDELL. I think that would be a problem if we did. As I
said, we had an earlier circumstance where I had drafted a memo-
randum where I said some conduct would not be prudent, trying
to get into the appearance of it. And my supervisor was told it—
I had drafted it for my supervisor’s signature.

And he had come back from his performance appraisal saying
that was the same old situation of us giving advice about appear-
ances. And, you know, he was rebuked for that, and told me as
well. So there was clear understanding how we were supposed
to——

Mr. WALDEN. And that was Jack Kress?
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. WALDEN. Okay. So he was rebuked, and I assume by that

he was rebuked by Harriet?
Mr. SWINDELL. Harriet Rabb.
Mr. WALDEN. Harriet Rabb. Do you think this went all the way

up to the secretarial level?
Mr. SWINDELL. I can’t speak to that.
Mr. WALDEN. Did you also approve Secretary Shalala’s appear-

ance in that famous milk mustache ad?
Mr. SWINDELL. That was done not only with my looking at the

issue but the Public Health Division lawyers—the idea being that
the Government ethics rules don’t govern the conduct of an agency
acting as an agency.

Mr. WALDEN. Yes.
Mr. SWINDELL. And that, therefore, this had been vetted through

the agency, it was part of a joint initiative with the National Can-
cer Institute dealing with child and immunization diseases, and so
forth. And so it came up through that vetting. The determination
was that there was legal authority under the Public Health Service
Act, so the Associate General Counsel for Public Health Service
was also involved.
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It had come up earlier in the administration—and I concurred
with my boss at the time, Jack Kress—that we didn’t think that
it was legal for her to do it at that time.

Mr. WALDEN. Why?
Mr. SWINDELL. As I recall, the milk mustache text of the ad had

some language in it that talked about health care reform at the
time, and it almost was the point of lobbying with respect to pend-
ing legislation. So we had that concern.

Obviously, the appearance concerns that she would have to take,
and she was advised about, that obviously people could criticize
her.

Mr. WALDEN. So it was somewhat controversial in the Ethics Di-
vision?

Mr. SWINDELL. Controversial in the Ethics Division and the eth-
ics community and the press. But bare minimum legality, the Pub-
lic Health Division—the Public Health Service Act, you know,
says—it says a lot of language in there about the Secretary having
authority to encourage health promotion activities, you know, and
it was thought that this would be a method of reaching teenagers.
It was popular to make them drink milk, and, therefore, you know,
have strong bones.

Mr. WALDEN. Builds bodies in seven ways.
Mr. SWINDELL. Yes.
Mr. WALDEN. Or whatever it is. Is it true that you framed the

milk mustache ad and hung it on your office on your wall?
Mr. SWINDELL. It was everywhere, and it was there to remind me

that that was the kind of advice that I was supposed to provide.
Every day we would sit up there and see the Secretary’s milk mus-
tache.

Mr. WALDEN. Now, what do you mean by that, that it was the
kind of advice you were——

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, it is a precise—it is another example of a
legal determination and allowing the policymaker to take, you
know, whatever responsibility for——

Mr. WALDEN. And they take the heat.
Mr. SWINDELL. [continuing] adverse perception.
Mr. WALDEN. Okay. Is that ad and picture still on your wall?
Mr. SWINDELL. Of course not.
Mr. WALDEN. When did it come down?
Mr. SWINDELL. The very first day of the new administration.
Mr. WALDEN. All right. Okay. I think that is all the questions I

have at this point, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Milk grows strong bones, but something else

has to draw—create strong backbones. There wasn’t a lot of that
going on.

Dr. Varmus, how did you get authorization—actually, is it—yes,
it is my turn, isn’t it?

Ms. DEGETTE. I guess.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Yes, okay. I get a second round.
How did you get authorization to convert NIH directors from full-

time continuous positions into Title 42 special consultants?
Mr. VARMUS. I don’t remember all of the details, Mr. Chairman,

but there was definitely consultation with the Department to inter-
pret the existing rules. I know that there was a fairly severe time

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00343 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



336

limit on Title 42 classification, and we couldn’t work this very well
on a 1-year basis, and we were given the authority from the De-
partment to make appointments, non-tenured appointments for 5
years under Title 42.

So this was the result of discussions that I and the Office of
Human Resource Management had with the Department.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did that include the Office of General Counsel?
Mr. VARMUS. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Were you advised——
Mr. VARMUS. And presumably with the Office of Personnel Man-

agement at the Department. I don’t remember exactly what con-
versations occurred, but we were able to make a few appointments
in that category I believe as early as 1997, late 1997 or 1998.

And then I—one of my last acts before leaving was to write a let-
ter to Kevin Therm, who was then the Deputy Secretary, asking for
permission to extend the use of Title 42 for incoming people who
we thought might be more easily recruited with the higher pay
scale that we could pay under Title 42.

And there was a legal interpretation of whether people under
Title 42 would be—could act as opposed to just being consultants,
and I believe the language says ‘‘assist and consult’’ or ‘‘assist and
advise,’’ and that was viewed as reason to allow——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Didn’t that feel like a circumnavigation of the
intent of the law to you?

Mr. VARMUS. Not to me. I thought that—and we were looking for
flexibility to adapt to circumstances that were making it very dif-
ficult to——

Mr. GREENWOOD. But didn’t that exist—doesn’t Title 42 exist,
and wasn’t its origin the notion that sometimes you need to bring
in specialists for a limited period of time to consult? And that is
why Congress created that opportunity, and that was—it was never
Congress’ intent to say, ‘‘Well, the new guys come in under Title
42.’’ I mean, I——

Mr. VARMUS. Well, it wasn’t my idea that it would be all of the
new guys either. So we were trying to find—it seemed to me that
the language was consistent with an interpretation that would say
we were bringing in people to do high-level positions who would not
be tenured, would come in perhaps for a few years, and would
serve as experts. Obviously, I didn’t make this decision single-
handedly.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, what you were advised as to the position
of the HHS General Counsel for widespread use of Title 42 conver-
sion?

Mr. VARMUS. That it was a legal application of the provision.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Who advised you of that?
Mr. VARMUS. I can’t remember all of the people involved, but cer-

tainly the General Counsel herself, and Kevin Therm as I recall.
I don’t remember specifically, and I don’t want to——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Mr. VARMUS. [continuing] since I am under oath. But I know

the——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you have any idea how many people in NIH

are under Title 42 now?
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Mr. VARMUS. I am told it is a lot—it is many more than were
on Title 42 when I left. I don’t know the exact number.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you know order of magnitude?
Mr. VARMUS. It is probably in the range of several hundred or

a thousand.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Would you be surprised if I told you it was

more like minimally 1,400? Or, actually, 4,000?
Mr. VARMUS. I am somewhat surprised, but until I heard the cir-

cumstances I wouldn’t react to it.
Mr. GREENWOOD. You wouldn’t be shocked to know that the pol-

icy that you enacted on your way out has enabled 4,000 people
to——

Mr. VARMUS. Well, I didn’t enact the policy, Mr. Chairman. I
asked for permission to enlarge——

Mr. GREENWOOD. That is what I mean. That is what I mean. I
am not—we don’t need to parse words here. I am just—it was your
idea, correct?

Mr. VARMUS. I supported it, yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. It wasn’t your idea?
Mr. VARMUS. Well, I didn’t know a lot about Title 42 to begin

with. But I began to learn about it, and it looked like a reasonable
mechanism for us to use in specific circumstances to recruit people
who were being paid very high salaries in academia and——

Mr. GREENWOOD. I understand that. But the text of the law says
special circumstances. Okay? And when I tell you that there are
4,000—we think there are 4,000 people at NIH who are now sala-
ried, paid under special—for special—special consultants, does that
seem to you—does that not strike you as something run amok?

Mr. VARMUS. I would say it is a number that surprises me. I
wouldn’t have thought it would be that large.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. When you became the NIH Director in
1993, were you aware that NIH was collecting information on com-
pensation amounts for outside consulting arrangements?

Mr. VARMUS. I am not sure I understand the nature of the——
Mr. GREENWOOD. When you became Director in 1993, were you

aware that the NIH was collecting information on compensation
amounts for outside consulting arrangements, that they were rou-
tinely gathering that information?

Mr. VARMUS. There was a limit on the amount that could be ac-
quired, so I assume that—I don’t know what you mean by the term
‘‘collection.’’ That is what I am interested in. I assume it was being
monitored because there was a restriction, especially on money
from consultation from single source.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. In May 1991, the scientists published a
story entitled ‘‘NIH Struggling to Regulate Employees’ Outside In-
come.’’ The article states that at the time NIH had begun to collect
followup information from scientists about what they were paid for
outside activities.

The information was to be used as part of a review of the NIH
salary structure to compare incomes of NIH scientists with their
counterparts in the private sector. Dr. Philip Chen, then Associate
Director for Intramural Affairs to NIH, stated, ‘‘We may use that
information as an argument in favor of the need to modify the sal-
ary structure to become more competitive with the outside world.’’
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NIH has been unable to provide the committee the amounts NIH
employees receive from past outside activities. In fact, NIH was not
collecting this information until recently, but NIH did collect this
information in the past as the article discusses. NIH was using the
information to determine whether salaries needed to be adjusted.

At the time, outside consulting was allowed to help make em-
ployee income competitive with the outside, although it was capped
at $25,000. Isn’t it true that the consulting was viewed as com-
pensation for the employee?

Mr. VARMUS. Yes, but not Government compensation. But yes,
part of the compensation package.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And wasn’t the collection of this information
discontinued when the cap was lifted?

Mr. VARMUS. As far as I know, it was.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And isn’t it true that NIH came up with an-

other way to compensate employees in order to make their salaries
competitive with the private sector Title 42? In other words, in the
good old days, in the old days, they collected information to see
how much people were making from consulting agreement, so they
could show that, in fact, how needy they must be to have to go out
and collect these outside—arrange this outside consulting. And
then that information was then used to support the notion that we
needed to use Title 42 to increase the compensation.

Mr. VARMUS. My sense was from the discussions that I had that
the Title 42 pay scale was advocated in part—in greater part by
comparison of NIH salaries with salaries that people were receiving
in academic institutions from which we were trying to recruit
them.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, where I am trying to go with this is the
NIH gathered information about outside activity in order to bolster
the argument that the scientists at NIH—the intramural sci-
entists—were underpaid, and it did that and justified the Title 42
application.

And then the question is, so that being the case, why continue—
why is it a good policy to continue with the outside consulting
agreements when we have already attempted to solve the problem
through Title 42?

Mr. VARMUS. Well, I see where you are going, Mr. Chairman. But
to the best of my recollection, most of the arguments that we made
were not based on compensation, because, in fact, a moderately
small amount—number of NIH employees were engaged in con-
sulting. What troubled me more was the difficulty of recruiting to
the NIH people who were making amounts that were considerably
in excess of what we could offer in the conventional GS or SES pay
scales.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Now, when you were Director, did you employ
retention bonuses?

Mr. VARMUS. Occasionally.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Could you describe a retention bonus and how

that system works?
Mr. VARMUS. It was quite a rare phenomenon, but it usually

would occur when someone was being offered a job on the outside
and had a written demonstration that a job was honestly offered,
not simply an idle comment. We would then apply for a retention
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bonus to help retain that person, and these were usually fairly
modest sums.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Give me an example.
Mr. VARMUS. Oh, it might be—I am conscious of being under

oath. I can’t remember the numbers exactly, but in the range of
$25 to $50,000.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And you say it was rarely used? Could
you give us an order of magnitude of the number of times that you
think it was used while you were Director?

Mr. VARMUS. Well, used in situations where I would be making
the appeal for the retention bonus, I don’t believe it would be more
than 10 to 20 times perhaps, maybe less than that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Were you the only person at the NIH that
could approve a retention bonus?

Mr. VARMUS. No. I would have to consult with my former col-
leagues to know whether—there were some pay scales in which a
retention bonus could be given by an Institute Director. During our
time at the NIH, some personnel responsibilities—some personnel
authorities were delegated to Institute directors.

I mean, it is possible in some pay scales and categories that a
retention bonus could be developed for an employee of an institute,
and I would not have been involved.

Mr. GREENWOOD. You said that you were surprised to hear that
as many as 4,000 NIH personnel could be under Title 42 now. Can
you justify that? Do you think—could you make the argument
today that but for Title 42 that anything like 4,000 employees at
NIH would go walking away because they are underpaid?

Mr. VARMUS. Well, I would have to look—I would have to hear
more about how and why it was done, and whether the pay ranges
are actually different from what people would have been assigned
if they were in the regular GS series. I don’t know the full particu-
lars. I have been away for——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Why else would they be under Title 42 if it
weren’t for salary——

Mr. VARMUS. I don’t know, Mr. Chairman. I know I would—hav-
ing heard the number, I will be interested to find out. But I hon-
estly can’t tell you I have heard the——

Mr. GREENWOOD. And you said that you had set up the policy so
that new hires could come in under Section 42. Did you—was it
your idea that people would be able to convert their status to Title
42?

Mr. VARMUS. That was a possibility, sure.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Pardon me?
Mr. VARMUS. That would be a possibility, if someone were being

promoted, for example, or doing exemplary work or being lured
away as a retention mechanism. It would seem to me to be a pos-
sible use of the Title 42.

Mr. GREENWOOD. If I told you 21 out of 27 Institute directors
converted to Title 42, would that seem like a reasonable occurrence
to you?

Mr. VARMUS. I am less surprised by that than I am by the num-
ber itself, because Title 42 is particularly useful in the higher
ranges of the institution.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Final question for you, Mr. Swindell.
When did you—you were acting in your position for 3 years. Is that
correct?

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you find that extraordinary, to be in an

acting mode for all of that time? I mean, didn’t you feel like—did
you frequently say at yearly reviews, ‘‘When am I going to be per-
manent instead of under this Sword of Damocles?’’

Mr. SWINDELL. Yes, I certainly felt that it was unusual.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did anybody ever give you an explanation as

to why you were held in limbo land all that time?
Mr. SWINDELL. No, they never did. And, of course, if I brought

up our future, it is likely the future could have been that we just
were put into another division. So I——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you ever feel that your acting status was
a way to make you cooperate?

Mr. SWINDELL. Well, a fair criticism from somebody looking at it
from that——

Mr. GREENWOOD. I am not—I am asking you if you ever felt that
way.

Mr. SWINDELL. Felt?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you ever say to yourself, ‘‘I know why I am

only Acting. That is to make me behave’’?
Mr. SWINDELL. Well, I don’t think I felt that directly, no. I mean,

I think I tried to do the best I could.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you ever think, ‘‘If I don’t give my superi-

ors what they want, I won’t get to be made—a permanent posi-
tion’’?

Mr. SWINDELL. Did I ever feel if I don’t give what they want—
I just tried to be a professional, to follow the instructions that were
given me.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. All right. Thank you, lady and gentle-
men of the panel. Appreciate your contribution today, and you are
excused.

The Chair would call our second panel consisting of Dr. Lance A.
Liotta, M.D. and Ph.D., Chief of the Laboratory of Pathology at the
National Cancer Institute, Dr. J. Carl Barrett, Ph.D., Director,
Center for Cancer Research at the National Cancer Institute; Dr.
Anna D. Barker, Ph.D., Deputy Director, Advanced Technologies
and Strategic Partnerships at the National Cancer Institute; and
Dr. Emanuel Petricoin, Lead Microbiologist, Center for Biologics
Evaluation and Research, at the Food and Drug Administration.

Welcome. You may have—I don’t know whether you were here at
the beginning of this hearing, but as I told the first panel of wit-
nesses, that pursuant to the custom of this committee we take our
testimony under oath. And so I would request if any of the four of
you object to giving your testimony under oath. Okay. I see no ob-
jection.

I also should advise you that. pursuant to the rules of the House
and of this committee, that you are entitled to be represented by
an attorney. Do any of you choose to be represented by an attor-
ney? Dr. Liotta, you are represented by an attorney. Would you
identify your attorney, or would you have your attorney identify
himself into the microphone, please?
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Mr. MORTON. Mr. Chairman, Charles Morton on behalf of Dr.
Liotta.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And Dr. Petricoin, your attorney—would your
attorney please identify himself?

Mr. SCHATZOW. Michael Schatzow, S-C-H-A-T-Z-O-W, on behalf
of Dr. Petricoin.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you.
And I assume Dr. Barrett and Dr. Barker are not represented by

counsel? Okay.
Well, in that case, would you rise and raise your right hand?
[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. You are under oath, and I believe, Dr.

Liotta, you have an opening statement?
Dr. LIOTTA. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And you are recognized for 5 minutes to give

that opening statement. Welcome.

TESTIMONY OF LANCE A. LIOTTA, CHIEF, LABORATORY OF PA-
THOLOGY; ACCOMPANIED BY J. CARL BARRETT, DIRECTOR,
CENTER FOR CANCER RESEARCH; ANNA D. BARKER, DEP-
UTY DIRECTOR, ADVANCED TECHNOLOGIES AND STRA-
TEGIC PARTNERSHIPS, NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE; AND
EMANUEL PETRICOIN, LEAD MICROBIOLOGIST, CENTER
FOR BIOLOGICS EVALUATION AND RESEARCH, FOOD AND
DRUG ADMINISTRATION

Mr. LIOTTA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members of the com-
mittee, for the opportunity to appear before you today to discuss
my role as a scientist at the NIH and my various collaborative ef-
forts. I am humbled to contribute to the NCI goal to create sci-
entific knowledge and rapidly translate this knowledge to reduce
suffering due to cancer.

I grew up loving science. My father was a science high school
teacher. Both of my parents encouraged my inquisitiveness and
creativity. I received my Ph.D. and M.D. from Case Western Re-
serve University in 1976, and then came to the Cancer Institute
immediately as a resident in pathology. I then became Chief of the
Laboratory of Pathology.

And over my 28-year career at NCI the research supported by
the Cancer Institute in my lab has generated more than 500 schol-
arly publications, 300 in the last 10 years. This productivity is only
a reflection of the wonderful colleagues and collaborators working
in the special environment of the NIH and the NCI, as well as the
vision and support of the leadership.

My research accomplishments span a wide range of scientific and
clinical disciplines all aimed at fighting cancer. Cancer metastases
is the major cause of suffering and death. Scientists in my labora-
tory discovered a series of novel genes and proteins which regulate
cancer invasion and metastasis. These discoveries are now moving
forward in clinical studies and clinical trials.

My NCI laboratory also invented new technology called laster
capture microdissection, which has enabled investigators for the
first time to pluck out molecules directly from cancer cells in a
human biopsy specimen. This was developed through research cre-
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ated with Arcturus and is now in use in more than 1,000 labs
worldwide and has generated many thousands of publications.

We created a unique joint agency initiative with NCI and the
FDA called the clinical proteomics program. The goal was to trans-
late discoveries about proteins, the functional machinery of the cell,
into direct patient benefit as fast as possible. Under the CPP, the
clinical proteomics program, we developed a new way to study can-
cer biopsies, which could map the deranged protein circuitry of the
cancer patient’s tumor—individual tumor.

The promise of this approach is improved therapeutic efficacy
with lower toxicity using a panel of drug treatment individualized
for that patient’s tumor, and this technology has already been
translated to research in ongoing clinical trials.

The great hope is that improved detection of early stage cancer
will produce more cancer cures. We set out to develop a new ap-
proach to discover markers for cancer. In 1998, under our clinical
proteomics program, we proposed that there existed in blood thou-
sands of previously unknown markers that might reflect what was
shed into the blood from early stage cancer.

We generated data in our lab from an instrument called a mass
spectrometer, and generated large amounts of data that we needed
to analyze with a pattern recognition algorithm. We tried many
pattern recognition algorithms, and then published early results
that showed that our hypothesis might be true.

We then tried Correlogic Systems software, and it looked prom-
ising. This resulted in a publication in Lancet and subsequently a
CRADA with Correlogic. I want to point out that that CRADA had
a limited work scope to use Correlogic software, and we were free
to use other software before, during, and after.

We then moved on to discover, in collaboration with our col-
leagues at NCI Frederick proteomics facility, thousands of new
markers and identified them, never before known in the blood. And
because the U.S. Government is steward of this list of new mark-
ers, it is not in the CRADA—of any CRADA we have—we believe
this can have broad public health benefit, which will stimulate the
large diagnostic industry.

This committee is investigating outside activities by NIH sci-
entists. Because I have had outside activities during the course of
my career, let me address this issue. I take my job as a dedicated
public servant very seriously. I believe that I have upheld and
maintained the highest ethical standards in all of my official capac-
ities.

I have consulted with the appropriate personnel and endeavored
to follow the regulations within NIH guidance and obtained guid-
ance at all times when it was needed with respect to such regula-
tions. I would never knowingly engage in a conflict of interest and
would immediately cease such activity if there were a change in
the circumstance that led me to believe that an approved activity
had become one which had a potential conflict.

My only recent paid outside activity has been an approved con-
sulting agreement with Biospect. And I want to assure you, Mr.
Chairman, that I never consulted with Biospect about my CRADAs,
never consulted with them about my Government work, and this
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was explicitly excluded in my consulting agreement, along with
my—the other exclusions in my ethics package.

My work on this consultation was placed on hold during the
NIHEAC rereview of outside activities concurrent with the Blue
Ribbon Panel. Last week I learned new information relative to this
activity that Biospect requested raw data which we make publicly
available to anyone. Because this new information might create
even the slightest potential perception of a conflict, I immediately
withdrew this activity. That is because my Government mission is
sacred to me.

In conclusion, I am honored to serve as a scientist in the intra-
mural program of the NCI. I have cherished the opportunity to par-
ticipate in the creative intellectual environment that I feel is un-
paralleled in the world.

[The prepared statement of Lance A. Liotta follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF LANCE A. LIOTTA, CHIEF OF THE LABORATORY OF PATHOL-
OGY AND CHIEF OF THE SECTION OF TUMOR INVASION AND METASTASES IN THE
CENTER FOR CANCER RESEARCH, NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE, NIH

Thank you Chairman Greenwood and Members of the Committee for the oppor-
tunity to appear before you today to discuss my role as a scientist at the NIH and
my various collaborative efforts.

I grew up loving science. My father was a science high school teacher. Both of
my parents encouraged my inquisitiveness and creativity. I began inventing things
at an early age. By college I was spending my summers working and inventing solu-
tions for the Dupont Corporation at its Experimental Station in Wilmington, Dela-
ware. I have always had a passion to be an inventor, and today I have over 80 pat-
ents and patents pending, which list me as an inventor.

My interest in medical diagnostics and pathology began during my undergraduate
years (1965-1969). At that time I began doing research that led to patents for diag-
nostic test technology for infectious disease, as well as, general blood and body fluid
testing methodologies. While in medical school, I was employed part time as a med-
ical laboratory technician for the medical student health clinic. I was responsible for
blood, culture and urine analysis, including the report generation. This training al-
lowed me to gain exposure and expertise within the broad field of diagnostic testing
methodology, and pathology diagnostic service labs.

I received my Ph.D. in Biomedical Engineering from Case Western Reserve Uni-
versity (‘‘CWRU’’) in 1974. Two years later, I graduated from CWRU’s M.D./Ph.D.
program with my M.D. My Ph.D. work focused on mathematical modeling and ex-
perimental analysis of cancer invasion and metastasis. Cancer metastasis is the
very definition of malignancy and causes this disease to be lethal. My Ph.D. allowed
me to gain broad expertise in instrumentation, computer algorithms, mathematical
modeling, and experimental animal models of cancer and analysis of clinical
pathologic material. The results of my research convinced me that a major medical
need was an improved understanding of when and why cancer becomes malignant.
Because I was enrolled in the M.D./Ph.D. program, my Ph.D. research was super-
vised by both the Pathology Department of the Medical School and the Biomedical
Engineering Department.

In parallel with my Ph.D. studies, I worked to achieve an M.D. with an eye to-
ward a career as a research pathologist. For this reason, I took special clinical rota-
tions in diagnostic monitoring and diagnostic pathology laboratory services. When
I considered the next stage of my career, the NIH intramural program offered a su-
perb environment that would support my creative freedom to pursue research con-
tributions that could benefit public health.

Within 7 years of joining the NCI, as a pathology resident, I became Chief of the
Laboratory of Pathology and Chief of the Section of Tumor Invasion and Metastasis,
now part of the Center for Cancer Research. In these capacities I have three types
of intramural duties: clinical service, training of research and clinical fellows, and
cancer research. I am very proud of the outstanding clinical service provided by my
laboratory staff to the NIH. We are responsible for all anatomic pathology service
for the entire NIH. Our Lab hosts a world-class residency program. Here we recruit
and train research-oriented pathologists who become academic leaders. My research
contributions, supported by the NCI program, have generated more than 500 schol-
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arly publications. This productivity is only a reflection of the wonderful colleagues
and collaborators working in the special environment of the NIH, as well as the vi-
sion and support of the NCI and NIH leadership.

I am proud to have further served the NIH as the Deputy Director for Intramural
Research under NIH Director, Dr. Bernadine Healy. I played a major role in setting
up the Intramural Human Genome Program. This job gave me a great appreciation
of the significant ways in which the NIH environment has continued to attract top-
notch minds.

My research accomplishments to date span a wide range of scientific and clinical
disciplines, including:

Cancer Metastasis—My work along with my collaborators is recognized as a
groundbreaking effort to investigate the process of tumor invasion and metastasis
at a molecular level. In the mid 1970s, we proposed and experimentally dem-
onstrated the linkage between angiogenesis onset and tumor invasion and meta-
static dissemination. We proposed the concept of metastasis suppressor genes. Con-
sequently, scientists in my Laboratory of Pathology discovered a series of novel
genes and proteins, which regulate cancer invasion and metastasis, thereby pro-
viding new strategies for cancer diagnosis and treatment. As a demonstration of the
originality of these discoveries, all are covered by U.S. government-owned patents,
both issued and filed.

New Technology for Micro Analysis of Tissue—My laboratory has invented
technology in the fields of pathology diagnosis, microdissection and proteomics. Our
group invented Laser Capture Microdissection (LCM), which was developed through
a research CRADA (Cooperative Research and Development Agreement) with Arc-
turus, Inc. and, thereby, rapidly commercialized. This technology is now in use in
more than 1000 labs worldwide. The technology has enabled investigators for the
first time to make broad discoveries in genomics, functional genetics, and is now ex-
tending into personalized medicine. This partnership is a prime example of what the
NIH CRADA mechanism is designed to do: turn bench research into practical appli-
cations.

Clinical Proteomics Program—We created the first joint agency initiative be-
tween the NCI and the FDA in 1998 to develop new technology for the discovery
of proteins important for cancer diagnosis and therapy, using actual human tissue
and body fluids. Dr. Emanuel Petricoin of the FDA and I serve as co-directors. This
initiative is now called the NCI/FDA Clinical Proteomics Program (CPP).

Individualized Cancer Therapy—Under the CPP, we proposed that LCM, com-
bined with a new type of protein array, also developed in the CPP, constituted a
new paradigm for patient-tailored medicine. The promise of this approach is im-
proved therapeutic efficacy with lower toxicity, using a panel of drug treatments, in-
dividualized for the patient’s tumor. This technology has already been translated to
use in patients. It is being applied to patient tissue biopsies, conducted before, dur-
ing and after experimental therapy, as part of ongoing NCI Clinical Center Trials.

Diagnostic Tools for Detection of Early-Stage Cancer—Another major initia-
tive has been in the field of early detection of cancer. In 1997, based on our initial
studies, we hypothesized that a large number of previously undiscovered and un-
known protein markers were generated in the tissue and spilled into the blood, as
a record of the disease state or the physiologic state. This hypothesis predicted that
cancer developing in the tissue contained or shed proteins, which could be used as
a test for early diagnosis. Our challenge was not knowing the identities of these
molecules.

Proteomic Pattern Diagnostics—In 1998, in order to explore the potential ex-
istence of this new list of diagnostic markers, we applied mass spectrometry for
fingerprinting analysis of tissue and blood. This was a well-established technology,
but had not yet been applied to microdissected tissue. Even though we did not know
the identity (name, sequence) of the molecules underlying the pattern fingerprints
we recognized that this data supported our hypothesis that a large treasure-trove
of previously unknown diagnostic markers existed. In our early studies, we analyzed
our mass spectral data using visual graphing and the pattern recognition software
that was commercially available. As we reported publicly at the American Associa-
tion of Cancer Research in 1999, our results indicated the existence of a rich source
of unknown markers in cancer tissue. We also reported on the first evidence of mass
spectral fingerprinting diagnosis of cancer. Prior to this public disclosure, the U.S.
government filed patents on this concept.

Our next step, during the fall of 1998 and spring of 1999, was to look in great
depth at human serum samples from cancer and non-cancer patients, using a vari-
ety of analytical methods. We realized, based on our previous findings and expertise,
that a large number of pattern recognition approaches existed for spectral analysis,
including applications to mass spectrometry. Subsequently, under a government ma-
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terial transfer agreement, Correlogic Systems software was employed to analyze our
mass spectral data. The result was a publication in the LANCET, describing the po-
tential research feasibility of using mass spectral fingerprints in serum for early
stage ovarian cancer detection. Based on this reduction to practice, a patent jointly
owned by the U.S. Government and Correlogic was filed. I am named as an inventor
on this application. This promising research collaboration was extended to explore
additional research applications under a research CRADA. This CRADA did not in-
clude the identity of the molecules themselves, nor did it constrain the U.S. govern-
ment from its ongoing evaluation and use of other pattern recognition methods. In-
stead, the CRADA was aimed at evaluating the use of Correlogic’s software for addi-
tional research topics.

The impact of this work from 1998 to 2002 is best exemplified by the fact that
at the latest meeting of the American Association of Cancer Research, hundreds of
scientists reported on exploring this field of proteomics pattern recognition, using
a variety of methods.
An Abundance of New Diagnostic Marker Candidates

Our lab’s consistent goal has been three-fold. 1) identification of the proteins pre-
dicted to exist by our original hypothesis, 2) continuous posting of our raw mass
spectral data in the public domain, as a public service and with unfettered, full ac-
cess (i.e., others have analyzed our raw data with their own pattern recognition
methods and have published excellent results); and, 3) translation of these discov-
eries to patient benefit with the highest degree of scientific rigor, as rapidly as pos-
sible.

To that end, under the CPP, we have recently invented next-generation tech-
nology (patent applications solely owned by the Government and advertised in the
Federal Register), which allows us to amplify and identify the new molecules we
proposed to exist. Through the use of this government technology, and in collabora-
tion with colleagues in the NCI-Fredrick proteomics facility, we have now identified
thousands of specific proteins with diagnostic potential, which were previously un-
known to exist in the blood. Because the U.S. government is the steward of this in-
formation, we believe that it can have broad public health benefits and will stimu-
late the large diagnostic industry of the U.S.

I have been the recipient of over 30 awards for achievement in cancer research
and translational medicine. In addition, I have received numerous PHS Commis-
sioned Corps awards, including the NIH Director’s award, the Merit Award, the Dis-
tinguished Service Medal, the Meritorious Service Medal, the Surgeon General’s Me-
dallion, and the Surgeon General’s Exemplary Service medal. Mr. Chairman, with
the committee’s permission, I would like to include my C.V., which provides further
details concerning my publications, patents, and related career information.

According to published information, this committee is investigating outside activi-
ties by NIH scientists. Because I have had outside activities during the course of
my career, let me address this issue. I take my job as a dedicated public servant
very seriously. I believe that I have upheld and maintained the highest ethical
standards in all of my official capacity over the years as Chief of the Laboratory
of Pathology, Chief of the Section of Tumor Invasion and Metastasis, and former
Deputy Director for Intramural Research. At all times, I have endeavored to follow
the regulations governing outside activities. I have consulted with the appropriate
personnel within the NIH when guidance was needed with respect to such regula-
tions. I would never knowingly engage in any conflict of interest and would imme-
diately cease such activity if there were a change in circumstance that would lead
me to believe that an approved outside activity had become one which involved a
conflict.

The research CRADA with Correlogic was signed in April 2002. At that time,
Correlogic was a software company with an established proprietary pattern recogni-
tion software using a genetic algorithm with a lead cluster analysis. The purpose
of the CRADA was to study the application of Correlogic’s specific algorithm to ana-
lyze spectral data that had been generated and would be generated by the NCI/FDA
Clinical Proteomics laboratory (‘‘the Lab’’) from blood samples run on the commer-
cially available SELDI-TOF mass spectrometer that the Lab had purchased in 1998.
The CRADA’s goal was to find unique discriminating patterns of unknown entities
revealed by Correlogic’s proprietary algorithm applied to raw mass spectral data the
Lab had generated, and would generate. I began an NCI approved consulting with
Biospect in December, 2002. My understanding was that Correlogic was a software
company, in contrast with Biospect, that I understood to be a scientific instrument
company. When I began consulting with Biospect, I understood Biospect was in the
early stages of developing a new instrument and scientific technology which em-
ployed its proprietary chemistry to separate and identify molecules. I understood
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Biospect desired to explore the use of blood and body fluids from animal and human
sources with the goal of discovering molecules for biological and medical applica-
tions.

In view of new information obtained within the last week, I ended my outside ac-
tivity with Biospect. This activity had been approved repeatedly by my supervisor
and the NCI Deputy Ethics Counselor. During this past week I specifically learned
that Biospect requested certain information from the NIH. For me, this caused con-
cern. As a result, I terminated my relationship with Biospect effective immediately.

When I first came to the Cancer Institute at the NIH in 1976 to join the pathology
residency program, I was fresh out of medical school. I so loved the climate of intel-
lectual freedom there, that I decided to stay. Here it is 28 years later. I am very
proud to be a part of the NIH and the NCI. I am humbled in my hope that any
of my contributions may have added to the international renown of those institu-
tions. I have always been thrilled to work with colleagues who are so very dedicated
to save lives and reduce suffering through the advancement of scientific knowledge.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I wish to express my gratitude to the CCR, NCI, NIH
and PHS for giving me the opportunity to serve the public benefit within a special
creative environment that respects its scientists as individuals. Here at the NIH a
critical mass of scientists from multiple agencies can work together to further sci-
entific knowledge and employ this knowledge for the common goal of saving lives.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Dr. Liotta.
Dr. Petricoin, do you have an opening statement, sir? Okay. You

are recognized for 5 minutes.

TESTIMONY OF EMANUEL PETRICOIN
Mr. PETRICOIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Chairman, I am

pleased to be here today, so that I may provide answers to the best
of my ability to any questions that you may have and to share with
you any relevant insights.

My name is Dr. Emanuel F. Petricoin, and I am a senior investi-
gator in the Office of Cell, Tissue, and Gene Therapies in the Cen-
ter for Biologics Evaluation and Research at the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration.

I have been a U.S. Government employee since 1993, and I have
been honored to spend the entirety of my post-graduate career in
the Public Health Service. I understand from the news coverage
and your letter of invitation that you are investigating NIH ethics
concerns, consulting arrangements, and outside awards.

I appreciate the seriousness with which you are taking this in-
vestigation. I hope that I can provide information that will help
you. I believe that my outside activities, all of which were sub-
mitted, reviewed, and approved, according to the procedures in
place, were performed to the highest ethical standards.

I believe I followed, to the best of my ability, not only instruc-
tions but also the intent of the ethics guidelines. On May 7, 2004,
I was informed that Biospect, with whom I had an approved out-
side activity, had been recently and now considered based on a re-
review to be a significantly regulated entity. As a result of this new
classification, this approval had been revoked.

Upon notification of that decision, I immediately and without
hesitation, ended this outside activity. I want to note that my ap-
proved outside activity with Biospect was listed on all of my filed
OGE 450 forms, the executive branch confidential financial disclo-
sure report. And even that as of the last review cycle, in the winter
of this year, this activity was found not to be in question.

Mr. Chairman, I heard your opening statements, and I wanted
to assure you that at no time did I directly consult with Biospect
about the work and our research created with Correlogic, or pro-
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vide them with any secret or non-public information. Moreover, I
believe that my consulting agreement prohibited that very specific
activity conducted with Correlogic under our research CRADA.

Mr. Chairman, ever since I can remember, I have wanted to be
a scientist. My family always jokes with me about how they never
recall me wanting to do anything else. From the time I won my
first science fair ribbon in the fourth grade until today, I have
never envisioned myself doing anything else.

I am also Washington, D.C. local. I remember as a child driving
by the NIH and naval hospital and staring in disbelief at the size
of the buildings and that everyone inside were all scientists. I
stand before you today as an individual who I believe has been try-
ing to make a difference in the public health, especially in light of
my father’s death from a sudden heart attack when I was 21 and
my mother’s current battle with breast cancer.

My time spent in high school and college working first as a pa-
tient transporter, then in a microbiology and clinical laboratory, so-
lidified my decision to work in an area of science that could directly
affect people’s lives. I could not wait to go to college. I drove head-
long into the microbiology major, receiving my Ph.D.—my degree in
3 years and my Ph.D. in 5 years.

My Ph.D. research focused on the analysis of genes, proteins, and
surface molecules for gonorrhea vaccine development. I was imme-
diately drawn to a project that did not seem esoteric but might
allow me to contribute to work that could actually lead to a vaccine
some day.

During my thesis work, I gained expertise in immunology, cell bi-
ology, biochemistry, protein chemistry, protein separation and frac-
tionation methodologies, and was introduced into mass spectrom-
etry analysis. During my part-time employment at the Southern
Maryland Hospital, I gained valuable expertise in tissue and body
fluid collection methods, and in clinical sampling, handling, and
storage methods.

Moreover, I became adept and fully trained using a variety of
robotic and microfluidic technologies. This combined experience and
research in diagnostic practice was the basis of my choice to seek
a post-graduate career in translational medicine on my continuing
journey for bench to bedside applications.

From 1990 to 1993, I was a National Research Council fellow in
a post-doctoral position in the Division of Cytokine Biology at FDA.
I was very interested in a career with cancer-based applications,
and because of my Ph.D. training realized that new classes of mol-
ecules and proteins were being developed which may really have an
impact some day.

As icing on the cake, I was able to work in an FDA facility at
the NIH, the Nation’s premier research institute and my childhood
fantasy. From my post-graduate work I gained valuable expertise
in signal transduction biology, protein interaction technologies, pro-
tein phosphorylation, and cytokine biology.

As I entered the twilight of my post-doctoral training, I was in-
tent on being a research scientist working for direct patient benefit.
My time spent as a post-doctoral student at an FDA facility re-
viewed a different, but equally important, aspect of the translation
and delivery of medical benefit to the bedside that I had not recog-
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nized before. And I was impressed by the FDA scientists I
interacted with.

I successfully competed for a publicly advertised, tenured track,
U.S. Government position in 1993 and was tenured in the Center
for Biologics Evaluation and Research in 1998. And I am proud
that my entire post-graduate career has been spent as a U.S. Gov-
ernment scientist working at the Food and Drug Administration.

In 1997, as a result of a series of highly cited publications from
the laboratory of Dr. Lance Liotta, I decided to work with him on
a joint interagency agreement and entered into an agreement
where we were focusing on translation of research at the bench to
bedside practices.

I finally realized my dream job—working at the FDA and learn-
ing about the process of delivering safe and effect medicine to the
public. Let me explore and expand my scientific talents which link
back to the times of my laboratory experience at a hospital as a col-
lege freshman.

Mr. Chairman, I certainly receive many outside activity requests
every year. Almost all of these are dismissed immediately, because
they are invitations which directly relate to my official duties as an
FDA employee and my ongoing U.S. Government scientific re-
search.

I consider only those requests that invite me to participate not
because of my U.S. Government position and FDA expertise, but
because of my general scientific expertise built up over the years.
In those instances where I choose to pursue the opportunity, I al-
ways submit an HHS 520 form, Request for Outside Activity.

This approval form—request form is then approved or declined
after due diligence under currently established procedures. I would
never knowingly pursue any activity which I felt would run counter
to this process. And I certainly would never knowingly pursue or
continue any outside activity which I felt was in conflict with a ca-
reer spent as a scientist in the pursuit of public and patient ben-
efit.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I wish to express my gratitude to
CBER, the FDA, and the Public Health Service, for providing me
a working environment and research funding support for a body of
work which I believe is highly successful and is one that I am ex-
tremely proud of.

I will answer, as best I can, any questions you and the panel
have for me.

[The prepared statement of Emanuel Petricoin follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF EMANUEL F. PETRICOIN, SENIOR INVESTIGATOR, OFFICE OF
CELL TISSUE AND GENE THERAPIES, CENTER FOR BIOLOGICS EVALUATION AND RE-
SEARCH

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to be here today so that I may provide answers, to
the best of my ability, to any questions that you may have and share with you any
relevant insights. My name is Dr. Emanuel F. Petricoin III, and I am a Senior In-
vestigator, in the Office of Cell, Tissue and Gene Therapies in the Center for Bio-
logics Evaluation and Research, within the US Food and Drug Administration. I
have been a US Government employee since 1993, and have been honored to spend
the entirety of my post-graduate career in the Public Health Service.

I understand from the news coverage and your letter of invitation that you are
investigating NIH ethics concerns, consulting arrangements and outside awards. I
appreciate the seriousness with which you are taking this investigation. I hope that
I can provide information that will help you. I believe that my outside activities,
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all of which were submitted, reviewed and approved according to the procedures in
place, were performed to the highest ethical standards. I believe I followed, to the
best of my ability, not only the instructions but also the intent of the ethics guide-
lines. On May 7th, 2004, I was informed that Biospect, with whom I had an ap-
proved outside activity, had been recently and now considered, based on a re-review,
to be a significantly regulated entity. As a result of this new classification, this ap-
proval had been revoked. Upon notification of that decision, I immediately and with-
out hesitation ended this outside activity. I want to note that my approved activity
with Biospect was listed on all of my filed OGE 450 forms (Executive Branch Con-
fidential Financial Disclosure Report), and that even as of the last review cycle, this
activity was found not to be in question.

BACKGROUND REGARDING MY CAREER

Ever since I can remember, I have wanted to be a scientist. My family always
jokes with me about how they can never recall me wanting to do anything else.
From the time I won my first science fair ribbon in the 4th grade until today, I have
never envisioned myself doing anything else. Mr. Chairman, I am a Washington DC
local. I remember as a child, driving by the NIH and the Naval Hospital and staring
in disbelief at the size of the buildings where everyone inside were all scientists!!
I stand before you today as an individual who I believe, has been trying to make
a difference in the public health, especially in light of my father’s death from a sud-
den heart attack when I was 21 and my mother’s battle with breast cancer. My time
spent in high school and college working first as a patient transporter, then in a
microbiology and clinical laboratory, solidified my decision to work in an area of
science that could directly affect people’s lives.

I could not wait to go to college. While many of my friends and dorm mates waited
until their sophomore years to declare a major, at the University of Maryland I
charged headlong into the Microbiology major, received my degree in 3 years, and
received my PhD in Microbiology in five years in 1990. My PhD research focused
on the analysis of genes, proteins and surface molecules for gonorrhea vaccine devel-
opment. I was immediately drawn to a project that didn’t seem esoteric, but might
allow me to contribute to work that could actually lead to a vaccine some day. Dur-
ing my thesis work, I gained expertise in pathogenic microbiology and infectious dis-
ease analysis, immunology and cell biology, biochemistry and protein chemistry, pro-
tein separation and fractionation methodologies, and mass spectrometry analysis of
molecules within complex biological and bacterial samples. I successfully identified
and characterized the first gene for a gonorrhea surface molecule that later became
considered for a potential vaccine target. We employed a variety of protein analyt-
ical techniques, and were one of the first scientific groups to successfully employ
mass spectrometry to analyze the sugars attached to lipids on the surface of disease-
causing bacteria. Moreover, as a consequence of my PhD studies, I became facile in
the handling of clinical specimens and body fluids as well as diagnostic testing
methods for bacterial characterization. During my part-time employment at South-
ern Maryland Hospital, I gained valuable expertise in tissue and body fluid collec-
tion methods, clinical sample handling and storage methods, and clinical diagnostic
technology. Moreover, I became adept and fully trained using a variety of robotic
and microfluidic technologies. This combined experience in research and diagnostic
practice was the basis of my choice to seek a post-graduate career in translational
medicine—on my continuing journey for bench-to-bedside applications.

POST-DOCTORAL CAREER

From 1990 until 1993 I was a National Research Council Fellow in a post-doctoral
position in the Division of Cytokine Biology, CBER/FDA. I was very interested in
cancer-based applications, and because of my PhD training, realized that new class-
es of molecules and proteins were being developed which may really have an impact
someday. However, the scientific community lacked knowledge about the way these
proteins communicated with cells and what really caused cells to grow, die and
spread uncontrollably. I was drawn to a laboratory which was focused on trying to
understand how a widely known protein, interferon, actually worked and caused
cancer to die or quelled viral infections. As icing on the cake—I was able to work
at an FDA facility that was at the NIH—the Nation’s premier research institute and
my childhood fantasy. During my post-graduate work, I gained valuable expertise
in signal transduction biology, protein-protein interaction methodologies, protein
phosphorylation, and cytokine biology. For the first time, our laboratory identified
and characterized members of a signaling pathway that later became the well
known ‘‘JAK-STAT’’ pathway. This pathway is now thought to regulate and be in-
volved in viral disease, inflammation, and cancer. Additionally, during my post-doc-
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toral fellowship, I was able to extend my graduate expertise using mass spectrom-
etry and protein separation methods by employing new proteomic technologies.
Using these tools, I identified and sequenced a new protein, produced by many dif-
ferent cancer cell lines. This protein was experimentally demonstrated to interfere
with interferon activity.

JOINING FDA/CBER

As I entered the twilight of my post-doctoral training, I was intent on being a re-
search scientist working directly for patient benefit. My postgraduate work on the
NIH campus made me realize that the unique environment provided by a vibrant
scientific community all striving for translational medical benefit was the place I
wanted to stay. My time as a post-doctoral student in an FDA facility revealed a
different but equally important aspect to the translation and delivery of medical
benefit to the bedside that I had not recognized before. I was intrigued and im-
pressed by the FDA scientists I interacted with. I was intrigued by their unique
combination of bench-side research talents as well their understanding of what it
took to get a biologic approved for clinical benefit. I decided that I could blossom
in such a role and was ecstatic that in 1993, I successfully competed for a publicly
advertised tenure-track US Government position. I was tenured in the Center for
Biologics Evaluation and Research in 1998, and am proud that my entire post-grad-
uate career has been spent as a US Government scientist working at the US Food
and Drug Administration.

FDA/NCI COLLABORATION ESTABLISHED

In 1997, as a result of a series of highly cited scientific publications from the lab-
oratory of Dr. Lance A. Liotta of the NCI, I contacted Dr. Liotta to discuss potential
collaborative opportunities to use proteomic analysis of laser capture microdissected
human cancers. This discussion resulted in the first joint Interagency Agreement
(IAG) between the FDA and the NCI. The focus of this IAG was to work jointly to-
gether to develop and test new proteomic technology for clinical and translational
applications. I had finally realized my dream job. Working at the FDA and learning
about the process of delivering safe and effective medicine to the public let me ex-
plore and expand my scientific talents which linked back to my times as a college
freshman working in a hospital lab.

Based on our combined research and clinical expertise, we embarked on a variety
of research projects that employed a variety of emerging proteomic technologies for
discovery of diagnostic biomarkers and therapeutic targets. The overarching goal
was to develop and evaluate methods for personalized medicine and early detection
of cancer as a means to provide translational public health impact with a high de-
gree of scientific rigor and an eye towards rapid patient benefit. This goal has been
a consistent cornerstone of our joint collaboration. During the past 6 years, our pro-
gram has successfully developed a number of new exciting proteomic technologies,
with over 90 publications to our credit. These publications are the direct result of
a talent pool of highly creative scientists both within the program itself as well as
our fantastic set of scientific collaborators outside the program. We have entered
into several documented US Government Material Transfer Agreements (MTA) and
US Government Cooperative Research and Development Agreements (CRADA) that
have proved highly successful. Within each of these agreements and arrangements
we sought a clear path to facilitating and translating our work to public benefit
without constraining our ability to maintain the necessary independent and creative
freedom that has served us so successfully. In addition to the need to maintain cre-
ative freedom to operate, we are driven by a transparent process of proteomic data
dissemination into the public domain. We are proud that as US Government sci-
entists, we were the first group to offer all of our mass spectral data in the public
domain, and continue to provide all of our data to the entire scientific community
as a public service. This public dissemination of data and transparency has been
commended by the National Cancer Advisory Board. We are also proud that while
we were the first group to demonstrate the use of mass spectrometry based protein
fingerprinting for cancer applications in the spring of 1999, recently hundreds of sci-
entists at the latest meeting of the American Association of Cancer Research (April
2004) are reporting independent success using a variety of different approaches. Our
raw data has been downloaded over 500 times in the past two years, and scientists,
from around the world, including a 2002 National Medal of Science Winner, named
by President Bush as one of the nation’s leading scientists, have published ex-
tremely exciting results using our raw data as the basis of their own pattern rec-
ognition methods and tools.
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Our ongoing work continues to accelerate. We have recently invented new tech-
nology that is wholly owned by the Government and has been advertised in the Fed-
eral Register. This has allowed us to identify thousands of new biomarker molecules
that may be useful for cancer and disease diagnosis. We believe that this new diag-
nostic information archive, never before known to exist in the blood, may contain
important information for the detection of many diseases—not just cancer. We hope
that this information can translate into broad public health benefit.

I certainly receive many outside activity requests every year. Almost all of these
I dismiss immediately because they are invitations, which directly relate to my offi-
cial duties as an FDA employee and my ongoing US Government scientific research.
I consider only those requests that invite me to participate not because of my US
Government position, but because of my general scientific expertise which encom-
passes my lifetime as a scientist, and whose activities are directly unrelated to my
government job. In those instances where I chose to pursue the opportunity I always
submit an HHS 520 form for approval. This approval form is approved or declined
after due diligence under current established procedures. I would never knowingly
pursue any activity which I felt would run counter to this process, and I certainly
would never knowingly pursue or continue any outside activity which I felt was in
conflict with a career spent as a scientist in the pursuit of public and patient ben-
efit.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I wish to express my gratitude to CBER, the FDA and
PHS for providing for me a working environment and research funding support for
a body of work which I believe is highly successful and is one that I am extremely
proud of. I will answer, as best I can, any questions you may have for me.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you. Am I pronouncing—is it Petricoin?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. I am advised that neither Dr. Barrett

nor Dr. Barker have opening statements. Is that correct? You do
not have opening statements. Okay. But you are prepared to an-
swer our questions. Very good. Thank you.

All right. And before I begin, because one could not miss the pas-
sion in both of your statements, Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin. There
is no one who is questioning that you are a splendid scientist.
There is no one questioning that you have chosen careers that are
highly valuable to mankind.

It is an unusual phenomena for Federal employees to work—at
the same time they are Federal employees to work in the private
sector as well. And it obviously raises a host of ethical issues. And
what this hearing is about, and what this committee is about, is
trying to sort our way through these ethical issues.

We know things have gone wrong at the NIH ethically. We know
that there are well-document instances of that. We are trying to
understand the underlying rules, policies, culture, that has—that
leads to this, and that is why you find yourselves in front of us
today. I am sure you would rather be almost anywhere else, but
I am going to proceed with questions and hope you will understand
the spirit in which they are given.

Let me start with you, Mr. Petricoin. Some of these questions are
elementary, but I am—just follow with me here. Dr. Petricoin, do
you accept a Government check?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I accept a Government check, sir, is that what
you——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Yes.
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. When do you get paid? You need to pull the

microphone, make sure it is on and close to your mouth. Okay.
When do you get paid? Every 2 weeks?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And you put that check in a bank ac-
count and you spend the money.

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And when you joined the FDA, you were

briefed on ethics, is that correct?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes. There was ethics training that I attended.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Very good. You have received annual training?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. You have received ethics counseling?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Ethics counseling, sir? The annual ethics train-

ing.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Have you ever spoken to Vincent Tolino in the

Ethics Office?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Was that for counseling from Mr. Tolino?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir. There was times when Mr. Tolino would

advise me.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right. So I am just trying to distinguish that

between routine—that and routine training. Are you with me?
Okay, sir.

You knew the restrictions included—and you knew that there
were restrictions on certain outside activities, correct?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And you knew that restrictions include

no outside consulting with significantly regulated entities like Bio-
technology companies, is that correct?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir. I realized there were restrictions on
these significantly regulated entities.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Is Biospect a biotechnology company?
Mr. PETRICOIN. When Biospect approached me in 2002, it was my

understanding that they were an instrument company that was de-
veloping technology for protein separation, fractionation, and iden-
tification. I looked at the FDA yellow book, which lists the signifi-
cantly regulated entities. They were not listed.

And according to what was on the Ethics homepage, the next
step was to see if greater than a certain percentage—I think—I be-
lieve to the best of my recollection it is 10 percent—of their gross
revenues were regulated by the FDA. Since this was apparently a
new company, a startup company, the focus of their efforts was, in
fact, to find out applications for this tool.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you decide it was not a biotechnology com-
pany?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir, based on the fact that the next deter-
mination was on my looking at the FDA website.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Was there any question in your mind that it
was a technology company?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes. I think it was a technology company.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Why do you think it called itself bio-

technology—Biospect?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Well, the determination of a significantly regu-

lated entity, when there isn’t a revenue stream, is that to the best
of my understanding that all of its activities are solely regulated
by the FDA. And in terms of what my understanding of Biospect
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was, that did not appear to be the case. There is many areas that
are—of science and technology that the FDA does not regulate.

Mr. GREENWOOD. So you thought it could—I just want to—did
you think it was a biotechnology company?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Not necessarily. I think that——
Mr. GREENWOOD. I mean, not—I am not asking you based on the

yellow book. I am saying, you look at this company, you see what
it does, what its mission is, and you know it is a technology com-
pany. You know it uses mass spectroscopy. And it is working with
biological materials, is it not?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So, I mean, wouldn’t it seem on the surface to

be a biotechnology company, if ever there was one?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Well, not necessarily, because as I looked at

those companies that were also on the list of approved entities,
there were many entities which did technology that directly related
to biotechnology, for example.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. All right.
Mr. PETRICOIN. And so I submitted the approval to those that

could make the decision better than I. I am a scientist, not a law-
yer, so I——

Mr. GREENWOOD. That is fine. Okay. So if you would turn to Tab
27 in that notebook in front of you. That is what you just ref-
erenced. That is your request for approval of an outside activity,
which you submitted to the FDA. And you provided information on
the form about Biospect and the agreement you were engaging in
with them.

Okay. Where did you get the information that you needed about
the company to fill that form out?

Mr. PETRICOIN. This was based on an invitation letter and dis-
cussions with one of the principals that contacted me to see if I
would be interested in consulting.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And what was your understanding of
what you were being hired to do?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Basically, the understanding that I was oper-
ating under, and I operated under during the entire time, would be
to survey the public domain for applications of their technology, in-
cluding selling the machine itself all the way to, you know, envi-
ronmental monitoring to discovering new molecules associated with
disease.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And did you use the same contract as
Dr. Liotta with Biospect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes. Of course changing the name, things——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Changing the name, of course. Would you

please look at Exhibit A from Dr. Liotta’s contract, which is at Tab
32 of the binder on the table. The second paragraph reads, ‘‘Con-
sulting services will relate to general professional knowledge in
medical diagnostic technology, clinical sample acquisition, prepara-
tion, fractionation, separation, storage, and stability, regulatory fil-
ings, and regulatory inspections related to clinical pathology lab-
oratories, e.g. CAP, CLIA, GMP inspections, and 510(k) or PMA fil-
ings for new diagnostic tests.’’

Dr. Petricoin, are any of these things things that are regulated
by the FDA?
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Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir. But I would like to point out that my
consulting agreement, which I can provide to the committee, dra-
matically differs from those statements.

Mr. GREENWOOD. But that is what the company does. The com-
pany does those things. I mean, this isn’t—I am not asking you
whether you were doing things for the company that are them-
selves regulated. Obviously, the FDA doesn’t regulate the looking
up—reviewing material in the public domain, but the FDA regu-
lates many of the things that the company does.

Mr. PETRICOIN. The appearance of what Dr. Liotta would provide
them as a consult does not necessarily to me reflect that they had
solely wanted to do FDA regulatory mission-related work.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Mr. PETRICOIN. I think at the time they were exploring every op-

tion.
Mr. GREENWOOD. But isn’t it quite abundantly clear that they

were interested in getting a medical device approved by the FDA?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I think they were exploring every option, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. They couldn’t use the device, the device

couldn’t be used if it were not approved by the FDA, could it?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Actually, that’s not to my knowledge true, sir. I

think that there are things like home brew testing, which the FDA
does not have regulatory authority.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Home what?
Mr. PETRICOIN. A home brew type testing.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Beer?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Oh, excuse me. It’s a, the home brew is the ref-

erence to a diagnostic testing that certain laboratories can perform
if it’s housed in one location. At this definition, I am not an expert.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, but you don’t need a 510(k) for that, cor-
rect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, a 510(k) is an FDA. But CLIA
Mr. GREENWOOD. Was there any, I’m trying to get at, was it not

abundantly clear that this company was interested in getting FDA
approval for its equipment?

Mr. PETRICOIN. It was not abundantly clear to me. My under-
standing was they were looking at every aspect of science and tech-
nology. And science and technology being such a huge field, and the
regulations that I saw in place on the FDA website, where

Mr. GREENWOOD. Wasn’t the wonderful promise, or isn’t the won-
derful promise of this technique, this device, that it is going to be
able to allow for us to have very advanced diagnoses of potential
cancer victims? Isn’t that what it’s all about?

I mean isn’t that what they’re, isn’t that the grandeur of their
idea?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Not to my understanding.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Mr. PETRICOIN. That they had really no specific application that

they were looking at. They had developed the technology and plat-
form and they were looking at avenues to use them. That’s what
my consultation was, was to look into the public domain at where
any application, where technology such as this could possible by
used.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Why do you think they wanted you?
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Mr. PETRICOIN. I assume because of my expertise and my reputa-
tion.

Mr. GREENWOOD. In general, but not, not because of your exper-
tise in the way FDA works?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Absolutely not.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Mr. PETRICOIN. At no time did they ever ask me, nor did I give

any advice on FDA.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I understand that. Did your consulting agree-

ment with Biospect include this language? I think you said it is dif-
ferent. Your consulting agreement with Biospect did not include
the language that I just had you look at in Title 32, Tab 32, rather?

Mr. PETRICOIN. That’s right. And I would be happy to provide the
committee with my consulting

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, we would appreciate that. Is Correlogic
working on pattern-recognition based technology?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And we—oh, I’m sorry. Is Biospect work-

ing on pattern-recognition technology? Pattern-recognition based
technology, is Biospect working on that?

Mr. PETRICOIN. The first time that I heard that Biospect was
working with pattern analysis, was when my Center Director,
Jesse Goodman, brought me into his office.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Who did?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Dr. Jesse Goodman, the Center Director for Cen-

ter for Biologics Evaluation and Research.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right.
Mr. PETRICOIN. He brought me into his office and informed me

that, upon a recent re-review, the FDA had determined that
Biospect had become a significantly regulated entity, and he used
the terms pattern analysis that they had found. And that was the
first that I had heard reference to that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you know who Peter Levine is?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Who is he?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I believe his title is the CEO of Correlogic Sys-

tems.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you ever recall having a conversation with

him about his unhappiness with regard to your arrangement with
Biospect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. The recollection that I have of that conversation
was that Mr. Levine was unhappy with the fact that there seemed
to be a lot of former NCI employees in the company.

Mr. GREENWOOD. But he didn’t—was he aware that you were—
had this arrangement with Biospect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I believe so, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. How would he have known that? Did you tell

him?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I
Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you ever tell
Mr. PETRICOIN. No. Mr. Levine had that information because on

one of the instances in which Dr. Liotta and I went up to an office
facility, a temporary facility where we share joint secretarial serv-
ices, they were both actually shared by Biospect and Correlogic.
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Maybe even in some ways highlighting how little we—there was
no concern on our part. And so we went up there and Mr. Levine
saw us and asked what we were doing up there, we weren’t having
a CRADA meeting? And we told him that we were up here at a

Mr. GREENWOOD. Why wouldn’t you have volunteered that infor-
mation to him prior to that time?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I didn’t see any need to. There was no overlap
in my mind. Correlogic, in my mind, sir, was a software company
that was using algorithms to look for hidden patterns in mass spec
data. And those would be fingerprints that could be used for diag-
nosis. Biospect, my understanding was, it was an instrument com-
pany.

It was building a platform of protein separation. It was entirely
different. And thus, in my mind, there was really no reason to talk
to Mr. Levine.

Mr. GREENWOOD. When you were first made aware of these con-
cerns that Mr. Levine had, did you consider terminating your con-
sulting agreement with Biospect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I know because I thought his concerns really re-
layed to the number of former NCI employees that were

Mr. GREENWOOD. So he never expressed to you that he was un-
happy that you were working with Biospect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I think he was unhappy that we, that, you know,
Dr. Liotta and I had an outside activity that were perhaps taking
away our time. I, my recollection of the conversation was that he
expressed some question about why there were so many former
NCI employees in the company.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Why do you think he had that concern?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I guess he felt that this, you know, was nepotism

going on here? I don’t know. He just said that didn’t smell right
to him. And I said I didn’t know that that was illegal.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Barker, Correlogic made a complaint to
NCI, did it not? Could you characterize that?

Ms. BARKER. Yes, in July 2003, actually Dr. Von Eschenbach in-
formed me that Dr. Ren Archer, who was a consultant of
Correlogic’s, actually I think represents them in their, some of their
marketing activities.

He’s with Hill and Knowlton had complained to him that he felt
as though there might be some issues surrounding Dr. Liotta’s
consultancy with a competing company, with which the NCI had a
CRADA. And he represented that company, which was Correlogic.
So I spoke with Dr. Archer and he shared that concern with me,
and I assured him that we would examine Dr. Liotta’s consultancy
agreement and I would actually get back to him on that.

And that’s the only time it’s ever been raised. It hasn’t been
raised in meetings, but it was raised in that conversation.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Barrett, what was the issue that you were
looking at, at the time?

Mr. BARRETT. Which time are you referring to, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. GREENWOOD. The reference that Dr. Barker just made.
Mr. BARRETT. Oh, okay. So, I had, we had originally approved

the outside activity in 2002. And when Dr. Barker was contacted
by the representative from Correlogic, I then re-reviewed the mate-
rial that was available, and called Dr. Liotta in.
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At that point I, the question on the table, as I understood it, was
whether or not there was any conflict between the outside activity
and the ongoing CRADA that we had with Correlogic.

And so I called Petricoin in, as well, to discuss how this might
impact, if at all, the CRADA.

Mr. GREENWOOD. There wasn’t a question of were they or were
they not NCI officials and how many NCI officials, you were inter-
ested in the question of whether there is a conflict of interest?

Mr. BARRETT. Right. I was unaware of the NCI former employees
being members of

Mr. GREENWOOD. My time has expired. Now, the gentlelady from
Colorado.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And Dr. Liotta and Dr.
Petricoin, I want to add to the Chairman’s sentiments. I think both
of you are dedicated public servants and researchers and we do
have to go into this.

But I do not question your dedication to research or ethics. Al-
though I think these case studies are good examples of some of the
concerns we have, Dr. Liotta, starting with you, and also I want
to ask you some of these same questions, Dr. Petricoin.

In your written statement, and you alluded to this in your oral
presentation. You said that when you first came to the Cancer In-
stitute at the NIH, you were fresh out of medical school and you
really loved the climate and intellectual freedom. Is that a correct
paraphrase?

Mr. LIOTTA. Yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Do you still love that climate of intellectual free-

dom there?
Mr. LIOTTA. Absolutely.
Ms. DEGETTE. I would assume that’s one of the best things about

being at the NIH is being able
Mr. LIOTTA. I love
Ms. DEGETTE. Is your microphone on, sir?
Mr. LIOTTA. Yes, that’s why I stay at the NIH, because of that

intellectual and creative freedom.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Would it be fair to say that you don’t stay

at the NIH because of your ability to do outside consulting or get
speaking fees?

Mr. LIOTTA. I stay at the NIH because I’m dedicated to the mis-
sion, particularly of the Cancer Institute.

Ms. DEGETTE. And, Dr. Petricoin, I was also struck both by your
oral testimony and your written testimony. And I actually have a
14 year old daughter who is like this.

Who is so excited by the concept of researching and being a sci-
entist. And you said in your written statement you remember as
a child, driving by the NIH and Naval Hospital, and staring in dis-
belief at the size of the buildings where everyone inside were all
scientists, right?

And so I’m going to ask you the same question. What you really
love to do is the science, right? Now, I’m sorry, you need to say
words for the record.

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now, so I have the same question, is you do this

because of the science, is that what makes you stay at the FDA or
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is it because of the outside contracts and speaking fees you’re able
to attain?

Mr. PETRICOIN. No, ma’am, I stay at the NIH and the FDA be-
cause of the intellectual freedom and the creative science and the
ability to hopefully make a public health difference.

Ms. DEGETTE. And that’s why you went there a little over 10
years ago, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now, Dr. Liotta, you testified that you ended your

outside activity with Biospect last week, when you learned that
Biospect had requested certain information from the NIH. What
was that information?

Mr. LIOTTA. That was information that was publicly available to
everyone who asked for it, as part of our effort to disseminate the
raw data from our studies to anyone who requests it.

Our goal is to develop new diagnostic technology to fight cancer,
so we want as many people to be working on that as possible.

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Mr. LIOTTA. So we provide that data freely.
Ms. DEGETTE. But somehow you thought, because they were re-

questing that data, that then created a conflict of interest for you?
Mr. LIOTTA. Because I found out, unbeknownst to me, that they

had requested that data, then I could not be completely, absolutely
sure that they weren’t going to studying something that might
overlap in my, with my government work.

Even though my consulting agreement, specifically by name, ex-
cluded

Ms. DEGETTE. But because there was then a
Mr. LIOTTA. Because of that potential. And I discussed it with

my, with Dr. Barrett and Dr. Wilson, and I voluntarily withdrew
that outside activity because I didn’t want to have even the slight-
est possibility.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you. How did you find out about that re-
quest?

Mr. LIOTTA. Mr. Pugash, from the NCI, told me.
Ms. DEGETTE. And, and just last week?
Mr. LIOTTA. That’s correct.
Ms. DEGETTE. And how, did he say how he learned about it?
Mr. LIOTTA. He said that in preparation for this hearing, the

Technology Transfer Branch had been trying to study everything
that they could, that was relevant. And this, a document came up
that reflected a request by Biospect that came in.

This was part of a turnkey system that I had no decisionmaking
role in, and it just went from one office to the next.

Ms. DEGETTE. Did he tell you if they found anything else that
affected ongoing agreements between NIH Scientists and outside
companies, as a result of the request for this hearing?

Mr. LIOTTA. No, not that I recall.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Well, at least we’re doing some good, Mr.

Chairman, I guess. I, now have you ever learned information in the
midst of a consulting agreement that caused you to withdraw from
the agreement, or was this the first time?

Mr. LIOTTA. This was the first time.
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Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. And this agreement, the original agreement
was approved by ethics officials?

Mr. LIOTTA. That’s right. The original agreement was approved,
and in fact developed in concert with ethics.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay, so they actually helped you develop the
agreement?

Mr. LIOTTA. That’s right. They added language to it, they re-
viewed it and worked together with me to develop this agreement.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay, now, Dr. Petricoin, you work at the FDA.
So your ethics requirements are a little different. I think that’s im-
portant to put out at this hearing. Is that correct?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am. It is a significantly regulated entity.
Ms. DEGETTE. Significantly tighter restrictions, right? And that’s

because your agency is actually approving these drugs, right?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now you have received honoraria and/or expenses

to speak to a number of groups, including Pfizer, 3M, other private
companies who clients include pharmaceutical and biotech firms,
correct?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. About how many over the last ten or so years?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I believe I have about 20 outside activity re-

quests in my file.
Ms. DEGETTE. About 20 outside activity—are these, now how

many for honoraria for speaking?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I believe I have only a few for, that have given

me honoraria for speaking.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay.
Mr. PETRICOIN. I have many that, or I have a number for travel

reimbursement.
Ms. DEGETTE. Oh, so you actually went and spoke at some places

but didn’t receive honoraria, right?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now when you get invited to speak at something,

do you go because of the honor and prestige of speaking, or because
you might receive an honorarium?

Mr. PETRICOIN. It depends on the nature of the invitation. For
me it’s always the ability to learn when I go and give a talk.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay.
Mr. PETRICOIN. I hope to learn something. And so if they invite

me because of my general scientific expertise, it’s not related to my
FDA expertise or my FDA job, I can, under ethics, submit a request
for approval for both an honoraria and a travel expense.

And I put that request forward and the FDA Ethics Office, and
whatever process

Ms. DEGETTE. Right, but the reason you go is to learn, as you’ve
just said, not because you’re going to get paid, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. That’s right. My first level decision isn’t how I
can get more money?

Ms. DEGETTE. Right. Well, I’m asking you, I’m not asking you
this to be insulting in any way, because that would be exactly the
way I’d be if I were you. Some people are saying that there won’t
be these collaborations between NIH or FDA Scientists without
money involvement.
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I don’t buy that premise. I don’t know if you do. Do you buy that
premise?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I do not think that anyone should be making a
decision about how they advance their professional career, espe-
cially as a Scientist, where the first determinate is am I going to
be making more money.

I believe personally that it should be about learning.
Ms. DEGETTE. And you’re sort of early in your career at the FDA.

Dr. Liotta, you’re sort of mid-career, I’d say. What’s your view on
that?

Mr. LIOTTA. I’m at the NIH, and I stay there because of the med-
ical mission and goal of taking science to the public benefit.

Ms. DEGETTE. And not because of the ability to get outside con-
sulting fees or honoraria, correct? Would that be fair?

Mr. LIOTTA. That is not my primary reason, no.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Now, Dr. Petricoin, every time you spoke at

one of these—now you wouldn’t be allowed to speak, and maybe I’m
wrong. You wouldn’t be allowed to speak at these outside con-
ferences if it did, if it did have a conflict with your FDA job, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I was
Ms. DEGETTE. I mean that wouldn’t be, you wouldn’t even put

it in, right? What you’re saying is you’re invited to speak at these
because of your scientific experience outside the FDA, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. And every time one of these speaking engage-

ments does get approved by—or every time you have one, it’s ap-
proved by your superiors, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Every outside activity that I’ve ever put in, has
gone into the process of approval.

Ms. DEGETTE. And that would be Amy Rosenburg or Phil
Naguchi, correct?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, those are the two first-line approving offi-
cers, because the triage that is supposed to take place, is that you
first discuss your outside activity with your immediate supervisor.

They were my immediate supervisors at that time. Hopefully,
they would best know what I was doing in the government.

Ms. DEGETTE. And they did approve these outside engagements?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now I want to talk to you about an activity that

was approved in February of this year. I realize you didn’t actually
end up going, but I think it’s a good case study.

This is an EGFR Seminar sponsored by Imclone Systems, one of
our very favorite groups in this subcommittee, and Bristol Meyer
Squibb, both who have received a good deal of publicity because of,
of course, their submissions to your agency for approval of the drug
Herbatax.

Now, were you aware that Herbatax has come before CBER for
approval?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. And it’s likely to come there again. It’s been there

several times for approval of other indications, because it’s only
been approved for one indication, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
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Ms. DEGETTE. Now were you aware of that when you accepted
the invitation to pay for you to participate in the seminar at the
Trump International Beach Resort in Florida?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I was unaware, when I first accepted, that this
was a pharmaceutical sponsored and paid for event. When I
learned that I just simply said I’m not going.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, with all due respect, I’ve got the program
here, and it says on the top, Imclone Systems, Incorporated and
Bristol Meyer Squibb Company, 2004 EGFR Summit. So, did you
not have that?

Mr. PETRICOIN. To the best of my recollection, I had an e-mail
from Dr. Jose Baselga, who was a Scientist at Vanderbilt Univer-
sity, asking me if I would like to come and talk.

And I said that, you know, it depends on the nature of the talk,
I could give the talk. And he said to me I’ll forward you and agenda
descirbing the nature of the talk that I was to give to him. I under-
stood that I could do this as an outside activity from Dr. Baselga.

Ms. DEGETTE. Oh, okay.
Mr. PETRICOIN. And when he forwarded me the agenda, I at-

tached on this
Ms. DEGETTE. Right. But see, here’s why we’re all a little con-

fused up here. Because you submitted, and she just handed you a
copy of the Request for Approval of Outside Activity. Did you fill
that out?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I did, based on the
Ms. DEGETTE. Based on the stuff from the guy from Vanderbilt,

right? And it was approved here by your supervisors, right?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. But if you take a look at Number 16, it says addi-

tional information attached, yes, and then it says agenda, and
here’s the agenda, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I understand your concern, ma’am. I didn’t go be-
cause when I looked at it, when I looked at the agenda, the detail
of the agenda, I said whoa, wait a minute.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, well, well, well, wait a minute. You put in
for the approval and attached the agenda.

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. So did you later decide that it would be a problem

to go?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. After it was approved?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. Oh, okay. Now, but the other thing I find inter-

esting is you say you later saw an ethical problem because it was
pharmaceutically sponsored, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, when I
Ms. DEGETTE. But your supervisors had that information right

in front of them when they approved it, didn’t they? Because they
had the agenda attached.

Mr. PETRICOIN. It appears so, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now, right, he just said he did. So now, okay,

here’s the other thing. Another FDA official actually did attend in
your place, right?
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Mr. PETRICOIN. No, ma’am. A Scientist from our laboratory at-
tended on the U.S. Government

Ms. DEGETTE. Right, and they were not paid an honorarium or
expenses, right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. No, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. So that’s a different, that’s even another inter-

esting point from this whole, this whole transaction is, someone
else went to speak and they obviously didn’t do it because there
was payment involved, they did it to present the scientific issues,
right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. And aside from the ethical issues that it was spon-

sored by pharmaceutical companies, let’s say it hadn’t. Let’s say it
had been sponsored by Vanderbilt University and you had been
asked to speak. Would you have also been willing to go and speak
if there were no honorarium involved in this?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Would I have been willing to go and speak if
there were no honorariums?

Ms. DEGETTE. If the ethical objections weren’t there?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, I would have gone to learn.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. I have no further questions. Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I don’t want to belabor that, but just tell me

if I have this wrong. You said, Dr. Petricoin, that when you saw,
it was when you saw the agenda, that’s when you realized I can’t
do this?

Mr. PETRICOIN. That’s right. I said I can’t do this because this
has all

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did you see the agenda before or after you at-
tached it to your application for approval?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Well, I obviously had the agenda, I attached it
to my approval. I don’t think I looked at the agenda, to be honest
with you, sir, because I

Mr. GREENWOOD. You understand why that would make us
wince?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes. So I believe, to the best of my recollection,
that I filled out the outside activity, stapled the agenda on it

Mr. GREENWOOD. Maybe you were focused on the sunny isle
beach Florida part of the thing and not what it says up here.
Where it says, at the very top line, Imclone Systems Incorporated
and Bristol Meyer Squibb Company.

Mr. PETRICOIN. To me, sir, that would indicate, in my mind, that
I didn’t look at it at all when I attached it, because that would
have been the first thing I would have seen.

To the best of my recollection, no excuse about being busy, we’re
all busy. I probably just stapled it on and

Mr. GREENWOOD. I’m going to buy that, because it’s hard to be-
lieve

Mr. PETRICOIN. That it would be there in black and white. And
when I saw that, I basically said, you know, there’s no doubt it
says Imclone Systems Incorporated, so it makes it pretty obvious.

Mr. GREENWOOD. All right. Let me address some questions to Dr.
Barrett and Dr. Barker. There’s an LA Times story out today, I
don’t know if you’ve seen it.
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It says FDA Chief launches internal inquiry of payments. And
there’s a paragraph that says the Director of the NIH, Dr. Elias A.
Zerhouni, said to a spokesman late Monday that he would not
stand behind one of the arrangements involving Chief of the Na-
tional Cancer Institutes Pathology Laboratory.

The matter demonstrates the need for systemic review. So this
is referring—pardon me? I’m sorry, systemic reform. And by that
I am relating to Bio—consulting agreement between the Laboratory
Chief, Dr. Lance A. Liotta, and Biospect, Inc., of South San Fran-
cisco ended Friday.

So, if this story is to be believed, Dr. Zerhouni, after being
briefed on this subject, said he wouldn’t have approved, or he dis-
approves of the relationship between Dr. Liotta and Biospect, Inc.

Were either of you present at the briefing with Dr. Zerhouni that
led to this statement?

Ms. BARKER. I was not. Dr. Kington, I assume is still here, he
might want to comment. But I was not, nor was Dr. Barrett, I don’t
believe.

Mr. BARRETT. No, I was not. Dr. Kington came to a meeting we
had at the NCI on Friday, I suppose, and he called me yesterday
to say that this was, they were asked for a quote, basically.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And was it explained to you, was it made clear
to you why Dr. Zerhouni said that he wouldn’t stand behind this
arrangement?

Ms. BARRETT. It was not abundantly clear. I think he certainly
had some concerns and I think there were some caveats, in my
recollection, from my conversation with Dr. Kington about, you
know, if all the circumstances were as portrayed, that Dr. Zerhouni
would make that decision and I think that would be

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you concur in that decision? Do you both
concur in Dr. Zerhouni’s conclusion, retrospectively?

Ms. BARKER. I concur.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Mr. BARRETT. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Now do you think that this was, these arrange-

ments were approved, and now are disapproved because simply be-
cause of new information that had surfaced? Or is it because of
new policy that’s come into play?

Ms. BARKER. Let me just reflect a minute on the way we came
to re-approve this. In responding to your first question, after this
issue was raised, and Dr. Barrett and Dr. Wilson re-reviewed this
at my request. And I think you probably have that re-review.

And based on the information available and what you’ve heard
in terms of the lack of any evidence of overlap, they re-approved
and reported back to me that they were re-approving this.

And I think that, in answer to you question, I think new infor-
mation in view of what I’ve heard in the last, as little as a week,
actually, that the Biospect scope is certainly expanded, I think, rel-
ative to what Dr. Liotta was led to believe the scope of that com-
pany was.

Mr. GREENWOOD. In what way?
Ms. BARKER. I think the issue of pattern recognition that you

brought up was never part of what Dr. Barrett actually reviewed
when he re-approved this.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. You did not know that at the time of the re-
approval, Dr. Barrett?

Mr. BARRETT. At the time of the original approval, and the time
of the re-review of that, there were basically three areas that I was
focusing on.

One was whether or not there was overlap with the official du-
ties of Dr. Liotta, with this outside activity. And

Mr. GREENWOOD. And were there?
Mr. BARRETT. There were not. In fact, the consulting agreement

had very explicit, exclusionary language to assure that to be the
case. And when originally is was approved, that was added to the
language to assure that.

And when I re-met with Dr. Liotta, he re-affirmed that that was
true. The second issue was whether it, there was any non-public
information being revealed, and there was not.

And there was not for two reasons, I’m sure. One is because I
trust Dr. Liotta’s judgment, but also we’ve made a very conscious
effort to put this information out to the public domain as part of
our mission to really speed this research up.

So, in fact, there was very little non-public information that
could have been released. And the third issue was whether or not
this influenced his performance or official duties.

And in particular, this related to the CRADA. And it was my dis-
cussions with Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta that reassured me that,
in fact, we were doing everything we possibly could to facilitate the
development of the clinical trial to confirm and extend the original
findings of Dr. Liotta and Petricoin.

The issue of the competition, the direct competition between the
two companies, was one that was less clear in the past than it is
currently. So it is really that appearance of potential conflict based
upon that information that I think has led us to be more cau-
tionary.

So it’s a combination of Dr. Zerhouni’s memorandum that, in
fact, we should do everything in our power to assure there’s no ap-
pearance of conflict of interest, as well as our standard procedures
where we

Mr. GREENWOOD. Let me ask Dr. Liotta and Petricoin, did either
of you ever tell the folks at Correlogic about your outside activity
with Biospect?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I could answer.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And I think you said no, that we, and the way

they found out was they found you using a common secretary pool,
right?

Mr. PETRICOIN. That’s correct, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And Dr. Liotta, you never told the folks at

Correlogic about your work with Biospect?
Mr. LIOTTA. No, I did not.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Now it would seem to me, that since

you’re working with these two companies, and they’re doing similar
things, that it would be a natural for you to say, oh, by the way,
yesterday I was up talking to these guys I’m working for at
Biospect, and an interesting point came up.
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I mean it would seem to me that, in the course of these activities,
that it would be hard to avoid mentioning to the folks at
Correlogic, your work with Biospect, wouldn’t it?

Mr. LIOTTA. No, I didn’t
Mr. GREENWOOD. Help me understand that.
Mr. LIOTTA. I didn’t see any need to, because
Mr. GREENWOOD. No, no, no, no, no, I’m not asking you if there

was a need to. I’m saying it would hard to avoid if you weren’t
under restraint. If you had no reason to not mention to the folks
at Correlogic that you were working for Biospect. It would seem a
natural thing to come up in conversations.

You’re doing—no?
Mr. LIOTTA. No, I felt that they were completely different from

what I know about, what I knew at the time that Biospect was
doing. And even today, I have no information that directly shows
me that Biospect is working in the same area covered by the scope
of the Correlogic CRADA.

At the time my understanding of Biospect, was that it was an in-
strument company.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Let me ask you this. Did the folks at Biospect
know you were doing the CRADA with Correlogic?

Mr. LIOTTA. I don’t know, I did not discuss that with them?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Same with you, Dr. Petricoin?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, my recollection is I had no discussion with

either of them about each other at all.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And you, and that wasn’t because you were re-

fraining from talking to the two companies about one another, that
was just because it never came up? There was never any

Mr. PETRICOIN. Exactly. I mean, from my side, sir, there was
never, there was never any overlap and the need to even discuss
the science. Correlogic, the software company, had developed a spe-
cific algorithm.

Many algorithms were out there. In fact, we were using other al-
gorithms in our U.S. public job. The CRADA with Correlogic gave
us the freedom to use any algorithm.

In fact, President Bush’s National Science Winner, used an algo-
rithm that he developed and published a great paper using our
public data.

So Correlogic’s algorithm was specific to them. I saw no overlap
whatsoever between an instrument company that was basically
building a platform to identify molecules. It just didn’t occur to me,
sir.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And how many papers did you publish with
Correlogic?

Mr. PETRICOIN. We have six, I believe sir. And one that’s coming
out next month. A very high impact journal on our continuing work
for ovarian cancer.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And those are cooperative pieces between the
two of you? When you six, those are all co-authored by Dr. Liotta
and Petricoin?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I believe so, sir. I could get you that exact num-
ber, if you would like it.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And did you write papers with the other com-
pany, with Biospect?
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Mr. LIOTTA. No.
Mr. PETRICOIN. No.
Mr. LIOTTA. Never say any written material at all from Biospect

concerning the, you know, experiments or their data.
Mr. GREENWOOD. It’s true that your reputations in this area

were a result of your work with Correlogic, is that fair to say?
Mr. LIOTTA. I don’t believe so.
Mr. GREENWOOD. No?
Mr. LIOTTA. Our reputations in this work, with regard to, if

you’re referring to mass spectrometry analyzed by pattern recogni-
tion evidence, we began studying that in ‘97 and ‘98, and presented
it at the American Association of Cancer Research.

We used many commercial, several commercial methods of ana-
lyzing this data. And then after we had already presented it pub-
licly, we, for the first time, we then entered into a material transfer
agreement with Correlogic.

And then ultimately a CRADA. And that scope of that CRADA
was limited to the use only of their type of software. We remained
free to use any other type of software as we had done in the past
during the CRADA, and continued to do.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Mr. LIOTTA. That CRADA was specifically about their software.

And all the data, before, during and after, has been generated by
our Lab.

Mr. GREENWOOD. When the Biospect folks contacted you, did
they tell you why they had selected the two of you? What brought
the two of you to their attention?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I believe they contacted us separately, and I
would hope that it was because of my scientific reputation and ex-
pertise.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And how would the folks at Biospect have
known about that?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I would assume looking in the public domain or
talking to people. You know, talking to, you know, due diligence
was probably talking to other scientists. I don’t know, sir, they
didn’t tell me.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you have an opinion as to why Biospect
would have hired Dr. Strum from NCI?

Mr. PETRICOIN. I don’t.
Mr. GREENWOOD. She was a technical transfer officer, right?
Mr. PETRICOIN. I, being at the FDA I don’t want to—I’m under

oath
Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Liotta, do you know?
Mr. LIOTTA. Yes, that’s right. And ethics, when I reviewed this

with my ethics officer and discussed the outside activity, it was
clearly known and factored into the review that, particularly the
re-review that former Cancer Institute employees were members of
that company.

And, in fact, the person who invited me was a former NCI em-
ployee. And that was, that letter and that request and the name
of the individuals on the original request for the outside activity
and it was reviewed and ended up in the approval packet.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Do you think it was a coincidence that
they hired these three people?
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Mr. LIOTTA. I can’t speak for their motivations
Mr. GREENWOOD. You’re a smart guy. I mean, you’re a smart

man. What do you think motivated them to choose these three em-
ployees for their company? To choose you?

Mr. LIOTTA. I really can’t speculate on why they would
Mr. GREENWOOD. They chose you, they chose Petricoin, they

chose Strum. All involved in Correlogic. They chose the three of
you when you were all involved in Correlogic. Did you question
why that would be?

Mr. LIOTTA. I never questioned why that would be, because in
my mind Correlogic and Biospect were completely different compa-
nies with completely different missions. And it didn’t even seem
like it would even be relative.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, well let me just wrap up this way, before
I yield to the gentlelady from Colorado. Oh, Mr. Walden, I’ll yield
to him in a moment.

We’re trying to set public policy here. And I’d just like to know,
from all four you, and I just ask you to each go down and briefly
answer this question before I go to Mr. Walden.

And that is, what do you think the policy should be with regard
to the situation in which you have employees working on a
CRADA, as part of their regular function, their regular activities,
and at the same time working for, doing outside activity with a pri-
vate company, and the CRADA company not knowing about the
work with the potential competitor, with this other company?

Do you think, as a matter of public policy, that they should have
the right to know, while you’re in their shop working with them,
on company time, on taxpayer time, that you’re out moonlighting,
if you will, with another company?

Don’t you think, do you think that they should have the right to
know that? Is it good public policy for them to know it? Or is it
good public policy for them to be kept in the dark?

Mr. LIOTTA. Are you addressing the question to me?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Yes, I’m addressing it to each of you down the

line.
Mr. LIOTTA. I don’t think I can comment on public policy that’s

a higher level than myself. I think that each case should be consid-
ered on an individual basis and the ethics office, when they review

Mr. GREENWOOD. Didn’t you testify before the Blue Ribbon Panel
on this subject? Did you not testify

Mr. LIOTTA. I testified before the Blue Ribbon Panel.
Mr. GREENWOOD. On policy? I mean did you suggest any policy

to the Blue Ribbon Panel?
Mr. LIOTTA. I don’t recollect exactly what I said to the Blue Rib-

bon Panel. I don’t know whether it could be interpreted as policy
or not.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Or recommendations for practice?
Mr. LIOTTA. I gave them my opinion, but I don’t know.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, well that’s all I’m asking for, is your

opinion now. I’m not asking you to set policy, I’m just asking for
your opinion. Tell us what you think about this whole matter that
we’ve been investigating all afternoon?

Do you have any regrets about it? Do you think everything went
perfectly well and we’re making a big stink out of nothing?

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00375 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



368

Mr. LIOTTA. In some way I think it shows that the way the ethics
system works, it produces a very good result. Because even when
I did, presented the application for the outside activity to begin
with, normal course of action is for the ethics office to review
whether I have an CRADAs that might relate to the outside activ-
ity.

So there’s a checkpoint there, and a series of checkpoints. And
then the way even this was handled recently, I think is the way
the process should work, if new information comes up.

And then another checkpoint that was put in right in the begin-
ning was the extra special delimiters in the consulting agreement,
because we could not predict where a company would go in the fu-
ture.

And so what I’d be concerned about, is that a CRADA partner
who also can’t predict where some other company would go into,
would just turn down everything because, and that would poten-
tially, you know, cause a lot of new complications in how outside
activities are reviewed.

So I, my opinion is that the way the system works in terms of
factoring that into the individual situation, is one good way to do
it.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Petricoin, your thoughts?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Well I certainly think we need more advice that

sheds more light than heat. And I think that’s what we’re trying
to do. I do think I’m concerned about the idea of a CRADA partner
knowing what perhaps their NIH comrades are doing on the out-
side, only to the extent that they would claim that the field of
science and technology is their domain, and therefore, in essence,
if you drew it to the most absurd, there would only be one CRADA,
the very first one.

Because, by nature, there might not even be other CRADAs that
you could do, if you drew it. I just think that we have to be careful,
and I think we were trying to be. You know, trying

Mr. GREENWOOD. Let me—you think that it would be harmful if
the CRADA participants knew about the outside activity of their
NIH CRADA partners?

Mr. PETRICOIN. No, sir, I don’t think it would be harmful. I think
that we should try to instill ideas that basically will allow more il-
lumination, more transparency.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, all right, I misunderstood you. Dr. Bar-
rett.

Mr. BARRETT. The purpose of the NIH and the National Cancer
Institute is obviously to do everything in our possible power to
move forth the science and to reduce the burden of cancer.

The groundbreaking work of Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta which,
and I think it is clearly their work that has been the driver for
these new discoveries, represents a very important work.

And we want to do everything in our power to assure full, expe-
dient development of that work. I think the answer to your ques-
tion directly is, is should their be a policy? I think absolutely there
needs to be a policy.

There needs to be some definition of conflicts of interest. It’s very
difficult in these relationships to really understand how two enti-
ties might be competitive, competitors of each other or not.
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I think we try to do due diligence in this particular circumstance
and try to define very clearly the scope of the consulting activities,
yet we seem to have this appearance of conflict, and I think that’s
unfortunate and takes away from really the mission of what we’re
trying to do.

So I would be very supportive of some clear guidelines any policy.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Barker, do you have anything to add?
Ms. BARKER. I can’t add much. I would, just a couple of things.

The Cancer Institute is particularly interested in CRADAs. The
biotechnology industry is really sort of a deliver vehicle for the can-
cer world right now. And so to improve on the CRADA process
should be our goal.

And I was struck with the amount of review that went into this
ethics review. So it’s, I think there is no fault here relative to our
intent to really look at this very, very carefully.

I think that review worked pretty well. The issue, though, that
you’ve raised is a really complex one.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Didn’t the review occur because there was a
complaint, though?

Ms. BARKER. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I mean it wasn’t normal activity?
Ms. BARKER. It was no normal activity, that’s correct. But the

issue you raised, which is going to bare, I think, some real consid-
eration in terms of how we might change policy, is going to be criti-
cally important.

Because as, I think Dr. Liotta said, you can’t really determine,
I mean having been in the biotechnology industry at some phase
in my life, you never quite know where a company might go from
where they start.

So I think transparency, having our investigators completely re-
veal who they are working for, who they might be consulting with
or what relationships they might have, and let the companies make
their decisions then on that basis.

But I think we’ve got to be a little careful. This is a very complex
question and

Mr. GREENWOOD. What’s the downside of sharing the informa-
tion?

Ms. BARKER. I think there is no downside to sharing the informa-
tion, if in fact we have, we can actually continue the same success
rate with our CRADAs. I think the thing we want to be careful of
is that we don’t actually make it more bureaucratic or more dif-
ficult to do a CRADA.

And right now our investigators do disclose actually. You know,
if they have a, they can’t have a consulting arrangement if they
have a CRADA with the same company. They can’t do that.

So we’re saying now, is not only that, but you can’t also be con-
sulting for a company that might be a competitor of a company
you’re going to do a CRADA with.

So making that value judgment is going to be an interesting
challenge for us as we make policy around this. But I think you’re
right, absolutely disclose it, and then basically let the policy drive
the way the CRADAs are going to be developed.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I thank you all. I apologize to my colleagues for
my flagrant abuse of the clock.
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Mr. WALDEN. But it is your clock.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Walden.
Mr. WALDEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Dr. Barker, I want to

follow up with you on that point. When did you make the decision
regarding this issue involving competitor agreements not being al-
lowed?

Ms. BARKER. To my knowledge, that decision has not been made.
I think this is the first issue that’s come forward of this nature.
There may be others that I’m not aware of, but this is the first one,
at least, that we’ve seen in the Cancer Institute.

And we examined it very carefully. Dr. Von Eschenbach asked
me to do due diligence on it, we did that. Dr. Barrett re-reviewed
it, Dr. Wilson re-reviewed it. And based on the evidence that was
there, this still basically qualified in terms of our ethical require-
ments. So, it’s the first one like this that’s come forward.

Mr. WALDEN. Let me make sure I understand what you said. So
you said this still qualifies under your ethics requirements. Does
that mean they could still be working for both companies? Or doing
the CRADA and working for Biospect?

Ms. BARKER. I think that’s what it says, under the current rules,
yes.

Mr. WALDEN. Are you comfortable with that?
Ms. BARKER. I’m not comfortable with that. But, you know, we’ve

said that, I think both Dr. Barrett and myself have said that, given
what we know now, and going back and doing this over again, you
probably would have disapproved this consultancy.

Mr. WALDEN. Do you have, or the people who should have, do
you have the information you need to evaluate other such agree-
ments and conflicts? I mean is the mechanism there to acquire that
information?

Is that information publicly disclosed adequately so that whoever
needs to do the review can get access and make that decision?

Ms. BARKER. I honestly don’t know the answer to that question.
Mr. WALDEN. Does anyone on the panel know the answer to

that? Dr. Barrett?
Mr. BARRETT. I think it’s, we’ve made a very strong attempt at

the NCI, and I would gather that we actually probably do better
than the average Institute does in that context. But, yet, I think
the answer is, it’s still not adequate. And we’ve been actually talk-
ing about how to approve access to data bases and, for example,
the disclosure of the confidentiality disclosure agreement that Dr.
Liotta mentioned, you know, was not available to us until just re-
cently.

So I think there are very specific things that can be done to im-
prove the process and we’re trying to do that.

Mr. WALDEN. Thank you. Dr. Liotta, first of all I want to com-
mend both of you for the research that you’re doing. My own moth-
er died of ovarian cancer. I know it’s a very, very, it’s a very ter-
rible form or cancer, and so I commend you for that.

And I don’t want you to go away from here thinking that we
don’t appreciate the research that you’re doing. We’re trying to,
public policy people trying to make sure that research, wherever
it’s done, is done in a way where we don’t have, even by accident,
conflicts.
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Because I think the integrity of the process is really important.
If you turn to Tab 28, and I think we’ll put this up on the screen,
I believe.

You’ll find your request for approval, the Biospect Consulting
Agreement. And the thing that strikes me is on the form, which I
understand is an HHS Form 520, there’s a question that says do
your official duties relate in anyway to the proposed activity? You
responded no.

Related to professional confidence, but not an official responsi-
bility for the use of government funds. That was your response.
And however, on Dr. Petricoin’s HHS Form 520 for Biospect, when
asked whether his official duties relate in anyway to the proposed
activity, he marked yes, and elaborated, and I quote. Invited be-
cause of my scientific expertise. I’m just curious if you can account
for the differences in responses to the same question, and I’d ask
that of each of you.

Mr. PETRICOIN. Well, I can certainly respond from my end, in
that I probably shouldn’t have marked yes. In some ways I was
doing it to even the fullest disclosure because in my mind I am, the
accumulation of my scientific expertise.

Mr. WALDEN. Sure.
Mr. PETRICOIN. And so I simply yes out of the instinct that I

can’t separate my brains. I’m a Scientist that just continues to
learn.

Mr. WALDEN. Only Steve Martin can do that.
Mr. PETRICOIN. Right. So I think in retrospect, I should have

marked no, and put I was invited for my general
Mr. WALDEN. But I think you hit upon an issue. And that is you

have this collection of knowledge and scientific ability. You can’t
park part of it somewhere out of reach, right?

I mean that’s why you checked yes. And doesn’t that kind of, do
you see how we get to where we’re at in terms of is there a conflict
between the CRADA and Biospect.

I mean how could you, when you’re doing whatever you’re doing
with Biospect, sort of park everything you know that may be asso-
ciated with the CRADA, from playing over here. Now, maybe you
can. I don’t know how.

Mr. PETRICOIN. Well, I think the challenge is when companies
change their business focus without you being involved in that.

Mr. WALDEN. Sure.
Mr. PETRICOIN. My background isn’t a business developer, I’m

just a Scientist. And so I wasn’t asked to participate in Biospect
to determine, you know, their business development.

And so that can change without me even knowing it, and in fact,
it obviously did. And I think that

Mr. WALDEN. So you could get dragged into a conflict outside of
your control and outside of the original decisionmaking process in
the 520.

Mr. PETRICOIN. Certainly a company has every right to do what
it wants to do, and my consultancy was so different from what I
was doing with Correlogic, that there was never, there was the
ability to partition that.

And in fact I never was at a point in any time where I thought
that that was at issue.
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Mr. WALDEN. Dr. Liotta, do you want to comment briefly on this
point?

Mr. LIOTTA. I don’t know about the, you know, the check boxes
relating to Dr. Petricoin, but I would say that his explanation
sounds reasonable to me concerning the fact that he might view a
request for consulting having some, his total body knowledge about

Mr. WALDEN. But you checked no on the same box. I guess that’s
the point. And so you felt nothing you’re doing related.

Mr. LIOTTA. Yes, I had general medical expertise in, and in field
of Pathology and I have a PhD in Biomedical Engineering. And I
have even patents in medical testing.

Personal patents way back before I came to NIH. And so I do
have professional knowledge about some of the topics that might be
relevant.

Mr. WALDEN. I guess that’s what I’m having trouble under-
standing. Why do you think they even have Question 9 on the form
then? Because it looks to me like, and again you guys are doing
this research, but the two companies had a lot in common.

Let’s go to Tabs 30 and 31, if you want to look in the book, where
you’ll see information from the two companies websites. And I
know, didn’t one of you have something to do with website informa-
tion or something, working with the company?

Mr. LIOTTA. We were not involved in Biospect’s website but at
the time of the original request for the outside activity, the infor-
mation about Biospect was surveyed and studied by the Ethics Of-
fice, as well as any information that I had.

Mr. WALDEN. Right, but
Mr. LIOTTA. They did an independent review of the two compa-

nies if they were looking at the issue about the CRADA, I don’t
know whether they were. But they

Mr. WALDEN. So the Ethics Office looked at both companies and
said given

Mr. LIOTTA. I don’t know whether they looked at both companies.
I know they must have looked at Biospect to see what Biospect did,
because they do their own review and re-review.

Mr. WALDEN. Well, okay. Do you see where maybe we get some
questions coming here. Let me read you Correlogic’s mission state-
ment. It says, and I quote.

Correlogic’s mission is to advance the early identification of var-
ious cancers and other disease and to accelerate the new drug dis-
covery process by applying its proprietary software to the develop-
ment of proteomic and other biomarkers.

Then you turn to Biospect’s website, and it states, and I quote.
Biospect is an emerging life sciences company founded in 2002,
that is developing technology for identifying and assaying protein
biomarker patterns. What’s the difference between the two?

Mr. LIOTTA. I think there still could be, with knowing even that,
that there still could be very big differences. Because from what I
know about Correlogic, Correlogic is a software company.

And they’re applying their specific type of pattern recognition al-
gorithm, at least within the CRADA, to data that we generate.

Mr. WALDEN. And then what’s Biospect do?
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Mr. LIOTTA. And Biospect, to the best of my knowledge, then and
now, is they were an instrument company and they were devel-
oping a new, proprietary platform for chemistry separation.

So an instrument company, software company. They seem com-
pletely different to me.

Mr. WALDEN. So you don’t see any, they’re in completely dif-
ferent, other than the fact they are both working on this sort of de-
tection, one from an instrument side, one from a logarithm side,
there’s no conflict?

Mr. LIOTTA. One is a software that you use to analyze data that’s
already produced, in this case, by commercially available instru-
ments. The other is a new instrument under development and
measuring proteins is something 30 different kinds of instruments
in a clinical lab do. When you do measurements in any clinical lab,
it’s proteins that you’re measuring.

Mr. WALDEN. All right.
Mr. LIOTTA. So, you know, whatever the instrument was that

Biospect was working on, which they did not reveal to me. I did
not see any schematics, no data, experimental results from any of
their instruments.

So the instrument itself is what they apparently were working
on, and they asked my opinion about what they could use it to test
for, in a generic sense.

And that was my role with Biospect. So I couldn’t see how that
had anything to do with software to analyze patterns.

Mr. WALDEN. I see.
Mr. LIOTTA. And particularly certain specific kinds of software,

which is really what the Correlogic system is.
Mr. WALDEN. All right, Dr. Petricoin, how about your role,

Biospect versus Correlogic?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Sure, my role with Biospect was basically to sur-

vey the field of science and biology in a way, looking for potential
applications of their machine, their tool, their discovery tool.

And try to point them in directions where I thought, you know,
they could apply that.

Mr. WALDEN. Why then, Dr. Barker, maybe I can go to you. Why
then, if that’s the case, do you, did you say earlier that you thought
there is a conflict here between the two? What am I missing?

Ms. BARKER. I don’t, I said in light of what we see now, that
Biospect has put up on their website, then I think it’s very, very
difficult considering that this work is focuses around using
Correlogic software for pattern recognition and they are actually
using that word on their website.

Biospect was using those two words on their website. I think it
would make it extremely difficult to prove this, which now looks
like overlapping scopes.

Mr. WALDEN. And, in deed, you backed off the Bio—you with
drew the Biospect agreement?

Mr. LIOTTA. That’s correct, that’s true.
Mr. WALDEN. And that involved both of you?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir.
Mr. WALDEN. All right. And when did that occur?
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Mr. LIOTTA. I withdrew it, it was on hold based on the NIHEAC
re-review, and then I learned this new information, discussed it
with my boss and withdrew voluntarily this outside activity.

Mr. WALDEN. When was that?
Mr. LIOTTA. Last week.
Mr. WALDEN. The end of last week, or beginning?
Mr. LIOTTA. Around the 12th?
Mr. WALDEN. May 12? Have you done any consulting with

Biospect since February? Either of you?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Since February, I believe so.
Mr. WALDEN. How recently do you, and on what terms?
Mr. PETRICOIN. The best of my recollection in March, sir.
Mr. WALDEN. Dr. Liotta?
Mr. LIOTTA. I believe that I had no new assignments in the past

2 months that I dealt with, because I was on hold. But I do recall
that I sent one e-mail to Biospect in that timeframe.

Mr. WALDEN. Okay. When did you start consulting with
Biospect?

Mr. LIOTTA. I think it was December, it was approved December,
2003, I think. Or 2002, I started a couple of months later, I actu-
ally got the first assignment.

Mr. WALDEN. Dr. Petricoin?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Excuse me, sir?
Mr. WALDEN. When did you start consulting with Biospect?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Approximately the same time. I think my agree-

ment began December 1, 2002, and I believe my first assignment
was in the beginning of 2003.

Mr. WALDEN. Beginning of 2003, first assignment?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes.
Mr. WALDEN. Dr. Liotta, there’s some information here under

Tab 33, that lists money earned to date as $49,375 in consulting
fees. Proposed annual rate $39,000 or $3,250 a month. Are those
accurate numbers?

Mr. LIOTTA. Yes, those are accurate numbers.
Mr. WALDEN. Okay. And this is, what period of time does this

cover?
Mr. LIOTTA. I think that was just a summation of what it would

be per year at the rate of whatever the current
Mr. WALDEN. I see. But that’s the annual, $39,000?
Mr. LIOTTA. It’s $3,120 a month.
Mr. Walden. Well, we had $3,250.
Mr. LIOTTA. I mean $3,100.
Mr. WALDEN. The document shows $3,250 a month.
Mr. LIOTTA. $3,250, okay.
Mr. WALDEN. But what about this $49,375 consulting fees, when

was that earned? Do you see where I’m looking on this sheet?
Mr. LIOTTA. Yes. I don’t know how that was calculated, but it

might reflect the fact that in the beginning of the consulting, I was
receiving $5,000, and then it switched——

Mr. WALDEN. A month?
Mr. LIOTTA. A month, $5,000 a month. And then it switched and

it was reduced, and that was reported in my renewal application
of this outside activity.
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Mr. WALDEN. Okay. I think that ends the questions I have,
thank you, gentlemen.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Just a final question for Dr. Liotta and
Petricoin. Your agreement with the company was 1 day a month,
is that correct for both of you?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, sir, initially. I’ll answer for myself. It was
2 days per month, and that was reduced to 1 day per month.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And Dr. Liotta?
Mr. LIOTTA. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Same thing?
Mr. LIOTTA. Similar.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And how do you do that? Just, how do you do

that? Literally 1 day of the month you, instead of going to NIH or
the FDA, you drive to Biospect and sit in their building all day?
How does that work?

Mr. LIOTTA. In my case, I did all the work for Biospect at home,
on my computer, and surveyed publicly available information to
analyze questions that they had.

And then I synthesized those, that publicly available informa-
tion, into short reports, which then was presented to Biospect,
maybe once every 2 or 3 months.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, and Dr. Petricoin, how did you manage
it?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Pretty much the same way. My job, as I stated,
was to kind of survey the public domain for opportunity. And I
would do that at home on my computer. And I would synthesize
the information and most often

Mr. GREENWOOD. So what do you do, you call the office and you
say to somebody at FDA or NIH, I’m not going to be in today I’m
working for Biospect? How does that work?

Mr. PETRICOIN. No, most of my work was done on the weekends
or when I got home from work. So it wasn’t like I would take a
whole day off or compartmentalize time.

Mr. GREENWOOD. So you didn’t take any, neither one of you took
time off of your regular work week for this?

Mr. PETRICOIN. Not, so to give you the full story, there was about
three or four times, to my recollection, that we actually went up
to Biospect’s office.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Where was that?
Mr. PETRICOIN. On Democracy Boulevard. This was the shared

office space.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right. Is that like an incubator or something?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yeah, it’s where they have like shared secre-

tarial, I guess support for these companies that are either offsite
or—and we met with them and that was usually during the day
or during the end of the day, and I would take annual leave.

Mr. GREENWOOD. You would take annual leave to do it?
Mr. PETRICOIN. Yes, yes, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Liotta?
Mr. LIOTTA. To the best of my recollection
Mr. GREENWOOD. Pretty much the same thing? And when you’re

at your regular jobs, do you have issues of them calling you at work
or, I mean does that happen?
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Mr. PETRICOIN. The amount of time spent consulting from my
end, was really to look into the public domain. It was really a rela-
tionship of me spending a lot of time kind of synthesizing informa-
tion at home, looking around, nesting that down and then giving
it to them, and them doing with it what they want.

There was, most of the time when we talked with them, it was
by, they set up a tele-conference. We’d call in from our cell phones,
and that could be even on the drive home. And it might just be
sharing what we found.

Mr. GREENWOOD. So you didn’t find, neither one of you found a
so-called conflict of commitment that occurred in conflict with your
job?

Mr. LIOTTA. If there was even a hint of that I, because in addi-
tion to my research duties I have a lot of administrative duties. If
there was a hint of that I wouldn’t have done the activity at all.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you. We thank all four—did you want
to say something Dr. Barker?

Ms. BARKER. I want to add a comment actually on the Biospect
mission statement that was up there, it’s not there now. But Dr.
Barrett when he re-reviewed and approved Dr. Liotta’s consultancy
had a different mission statement for Biospect which we have here,
which is really almost unrelated to the one you have up there.

I mean this one, that one up there speaks to diagnostic
Mr. GREENWOOD. Why don’t you tell us what it says?
Ms. BARKER. I’m sorry?
Mr. GREENWOOD. You can read that to us.
Ms. BARKER. It says basically that Biospect will become the

world leader in identifying and assaying highly informative pat-
terns that reflect in different shape biological states with mini-
mally invasive procedures, to improve clinical management of pa-
tient health and the drug development process.

There’s no mention in here of diagnostics. And if you read this,
everything we’re doing in genomics and proteomics today is moving
toward patterns of one sort of the other.

So this was really portrayed at that point as very much a thera-
peutics support kind of activity. So the mission statement for that
company really, I think, changed significantly between when Dr.
Barrett review and re-approved this consultancy and what we saw
here today.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And did the folks at Correlogic buy that argu-
ment?

Ms. BARKER. I haven’t asked them that question.
Mr. GREENWOOD. All right. Thank all of you. I hope you didn’t

feel that the thumbscrews were tightened too much. I appreciate
your assistance in our difficult task, and this committee is ad-
journed.

[Whereupon, the foregoing matter was concluded at 3:16 p.m.]
[Additional material submitted for the record follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF THE FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION, DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee, like its sister agencies in the
United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS or the Depart-

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00384 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6621 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



377

ment), the Food and Drug Administration (FDA or Agency) is a public health agen-
cy. But FDA is unique in the Department because it is primarily a regulatory agen-
cy.

As a result, for more than three decades FDA has had an aggressive disclosure
and review process designed to ensure that its employees do not have any conflict
of interest involving companies and entities that FDA ‘‘significantly regulates.’’ To
maintain the public trust in its public health work, FDA has placed reasonable re-
strictions on the financial and employment ties between FDA employees and the en-
tities it regulates.

At this time, the Agency is confident that the specific matter described in this
statement is isolated. FDA fully anticipates that, when completed, the review of out-
side activity requests that we have commenced will determine that the Agency’s pro-
fessional scientists and administrators uniformly comply with the Agency’s stringent
ethics requirements and that they conduct their regulatory work in fair, unbiased
and impartial manner.

FDA’S HIGH ETHICAL STANDARDS

As a regulatory agency, FDA has a compelling need to monitor and impose rea-
sonable restrictions on the financial and employment ties of our employees. FDA
meets this standard through strict regulations governing financial interests and out-
side activities for all employees of the Agency. Applicable laws and regulations in-
clude the Standards of Ethical Conduct for employees of the Executive Branch (Title
5, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), section 2635), Title 18, United States Code
(USC) section 202-209, and the Department’s supplemental standards of conduct (5
CFR § 5501).

HHS’s Supplemental Regulations contain FDA-specific provisions that establish
prohibited financial interest rules for employees required to file a public disclosure
report (using form SF 278) or a confidential financial disclosure report (using form
OGE 450), and rules for seeking approval of outside activities. The prohibited inter-
est regulations have been in effect since the early 1970’s and supersede the Office
of Government Ethics’ (OGE) general rules on financial holdings. Under these FDA-
specific regulations, employees who are required to file a public or a confidential fi-
nancial disclosure form are prohibited from holding a financial interest in any orga-
nization that is significantly regulated by FDA. This prohibition extends to the em-
ployee’s spouse and minor child(ren), since their financial interests are imputed to
the employee under 18 USC 208. These employees also are generally prohibited
from employment with a ‘‘significantly regulated’’ organization.

FDA has established an Ethics Program to help ensure that the decisions employ-
ees make in their official capacity are not tainted by a conflict of interest or an ap-
pearance of a conflict of interest. FDA’s Ethics Program is an integral part of the
Agency’s overall operations. The program is fully staffed and dedicated to providing
advice and assistance to FDA employees on ethics related laws and regulations. The
Ethics and Integrity Staff are subject matter experts on the laws and regulations
that form the framework of the FDA Ethics Program.

OUTSIDE ACTIVITIES

As a consequence of our strict Supplemental Regulations, employees who are re-
quired to file a public or confidential financial disclosure report are prohibited from
having employment with ‘‘FDA significantly regulated organizations.’’ In addition,
public and confidential filers may not participate in consulting activities with any
significantly regulated firm. There is a very narrow exception to this broad prohibi-
tion, which is limited to the practice of medicine, pharmacy, dentistry, etc. The pur-
pose of this exception is to allow employees to maintain their professional skills and
licenses.

FDA employees are required to seek advanced approval for all outside employ-
ment and certain outside activities with the following exceptions: participation in ac-
tivities of a political, religious, social, fraternal, or recreational organization (unless
the position held requires the provision of professional services or is performed for
compensation other than the reimbursement of expenses). Outside activities that re-
quire approval include, but are not limited to, self-employment activities, office hold-
ing in professional societies, teaching, writing and speaking activities, consultant or
contracting work.

BIOSPECT, INC.

Dr. Emanuel F. Petricoin is a confidential filer in FDA’s Center for Biologics Eval-
uation and Research (CBER or the Center). His duties at FDA do not include re-
viewing pending applications for approval of new medical products.
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In September 2002, Dr. Petricoin requested approval of an outside activity to pro-
vide consulting services to Biospect, Inc. The request was reviewed and approved
in October 2002 by the Director, Division of Management Services, CBER. At that
time CBER reviewed available information on the company to determine whether
FDA regulated Biospect’s activities, and we concluded that they were not FDA-regu-
lated.

During a recent review of outside activity requests, CBER questioned the ap-
proval of this outside activity. The Center inquired about the current status of the
company’s business and whether an outside activity with this company is appro-
priate and approvable. Further review of Biospect, Inc. identifies the company as
an emerging life science company that develops and identifies protein biomarker
patterns. FDA consulted with HHS and subsequently determined that Biospect, Inc.
participates in activities that are significantly regulated by FDA, and therefore out-
side activities with this company are prohibited for public and confidential filers.

On Friday, May 7, 2004, Dr. Jesse Goodman, Director of CBER met with Dr.
Petricoin and advised that because Biospect, Inc. is now considered significantly reg-
ulated by FDA,

Dr. Petricoin must immediately cease all activity with respect to Biospect, Inc.
Upon being informed of this, Dr. Petricoin immediately and voluntarily agreed to
end all activity with Biospect, Inc. Accordingly, approval for this specific outside ac-
tivity has been withdrawn and this outside activity has ended.

FDA ETHICS REVIEW

Since 1970, review of FDA employees’ requests to participate in outside activities
has occurred within the FDA centers, at levels below that of the Center Director.
This was based on the premise that individual FDA organizations are more knowl-
edgeable about the official duty activities of their employees and therefore are better
able to identify outside activities that may present conflict of interest concerns.
Within CBER, the approving authority was delegated to the Director, Division of
Management Services.

FDA now believes that this delegation should be at a higher level. Consequently,
on May 6, 2004, the Acting Commissioner issued an interim policy regarding the
approval of outside activities. Under this policy, FDA Center Directors must review
and, if an activity is allowed, approve all outside activity requests for employees
within their centers. The Commissioner of Food and Drugs will be the approving
official for employees in the Office of the Commissioner, and the Associate Commis-
sioner for Regulatory Affairs will approve all requests for the employees of the Of-
fice of Regulatory Affairs.

In addition, in light of recent questions about possible conflicts of interest involv-
ing HHS agencies, the Acting Commissioner of Food and Drugs has directed a com-
prehensive review of all current outside activity requests for all FDA employees.
Each request is being reviewed for compliance with applicable laws and regulations
by Jeffrey M. Weber, Associate Commissioner for Management, Dr. Norris Alderson,
Associate Commissioner for Science, and the FDA’s Office of Management Programs,
Ethic and Integrity Staff. Once that review has been completed, FDA will issue a
final policy on the review and approval of outside activities.

CONCLUSION

FDA’s commitment to the highest ethical standards in its dealings with regulated
entities remains constant. FDA is confident that the current review of FDA employ-
ees’ outside activities will show that the nation is well served by the dedication of
FDA’s expert scientists and physicians and their demonstrated ability to conduct the
public business fairly and impartially. At FDA, we are committed to the maintain-
ing the highest ethical standards to assure that the decisions employees make in
their official capacity are not tainted by a conflict of interest or an appearance of
a conflict of interest.
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NIH ETHICS CONCERNS: CONSULTING
ARRANGEMENTS AND OUTSIDE AWARDS

TUESDAY, JUNE 22, 2004

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON ENERGY AND COMMERCE,

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT AND INVESTIGATIONS,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room
2123, Rayburn House Office Building, James C. Greenwood (chair-
man) presiding.

Members present: Representatives Greenwood, Bilirakis,
Stearns, Walden, Rogers, Barton (ex officio), DeGette, Schakowsky,
Waxman, and Dingell (ex officio).

Staff present: Alan Slobodin, majority counsel; Mark Paoletta,
majority counsel; Ann Washington, majority counsel; Casey
Hemard, majority counsel; William Harvard, legislative clerk;
David Nelson, minority investigator and economist; and Jessica
McNiece, minority staff assistant.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The subcommittee will come to order.
The Chair welcomes our first panel and recognizes himself for

the purposes of making an opening statement.
Good morning. This is the third hearing the subcommittee has

convened about NIH ethics concerns. Two earlier hearings were
held last month, in particular the subcommittee has focused on
consulting arrangements and outside awards because of the legiti-
mate important and well recognized public interest in controlling
conflicts of interests.

As the United States Supreme Court noted in its 1990 opinion
in Kramden v. United States restrictions ‘‘designed to prohibit and
to avoid potential conflicts of interest in the performance of govern-
mental services are supported by the legitimate interests in main-
taining the public’s confidence in the integrity of the Federal Serv-
ice.’’

Without appropriate controls on conflicts of interest, the Office of
Government Ethics has stated ‘‘The public’s confidence may be seri-
ously compromised where circumstances suggest public servants
are using their positions for private gain.’’

As Dr. Elias Zerhouni, Director of the NIH has said, the NIH’s
‘‘public health mission is too important to have it undermined by
any real or perceived conflicts of interest.’’

Our previous two hearings established widespread agreement
that the NIH ethics program needs strengthening. At the first
hearing on May 12 the NIH Blue Ribbon Panel on Conflict of Inter-
est Policies presented it report and recommendations. Dr. Elias
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Zerhouni testified about actions taken in response to concerns
about NIH’s management of conflict of interest.

At the second hearing on May 18 the subcommittee highlighted
two cases illustrating conflicts of interest concern arising from con-
sulting agreement and lecture awards. The example of a consulting
agreement we examined to highlight the issue is the case of Dr.
Lance Liotta of the National Cancer Institute, Dr. Manuel Petricoin
of the FDA and their arrangement with Biospect, a south San
Francisco life sciences company.

The subcommittee was concerned that Dr. Liotta and Dr.
Petricoin, the leaders for the U.S. Government in a cooperative re-
search and development agreement known as CRADA with
Correlogic Systems, Inc. of Bethesda, Maryland were allowed to
work as paid consultants for Biospect, a company in the same filed
as Correlogic.

The example we used of an outside award focused on the cir-
cumstances surrounding the decision to allow Dr. Richard Lausner,
then the Director of the National Cancer Institute, to receive the
1997 Dixon Prize in Medicine from the University of Pittsburgh.
We learned that the hearing that the concerns of the NCI ethics
officer were disregarded and HHS ethics attorneys were pressured
to allow Dr. Klausner to accept the prize and a check for $40,000.

The award was also of concern because it was offered at a time
when the University of Pittsburgh was both a recipient of NCI
funding as well as a party to a recently settled lawsuit in which
both the NCI and the university were codefendants where Dr.
Klausner had approved the use of $300,000 funding NCI as a por-
tion of the payment in that settlement.

At today’s hearing, the subcommittee will hear testimony and
present information that will provide more insight and greater de-
tail about the NIH ethics concerns on consulting arrangements and
outside awards.

In addition, the subcommittee will hear testimony and examine
new actions and restrictions proposed by Dr. Zerhouni aimed at
strengthening the NIH ethics program.

With respect to consulting arrangements, the subcommittee has
been compiling information provided both by the NIH and a num-
ber of drug companies about the financial details of deals that oc-
curred over the last 5 years. The task has proven to be enormous.
It took several months for the NIH and HHS to find a way to pro-
vide these financial details in the first place. Without a preexisting
data base, NIH in responding to the committee’s request has had
to rely on each of its 27 institutes and centers to provide informa-
tion on the agreements. This has also led to problems of accuracy
and reliability.

More significantly, information received from the drug companies
has revealed a significant number of troubling discrepancies. So far
the committee staff has identified about 100 situations in which
the drug company reported a consulting agreement, but the NIH
did not include the agreement in the data given to the committee.
This is essentially disturbing given that the committee sent request
letters to only 20 of the companies that had the most agreements
out of hundreds of companies on the NIH lists. One hundred is a
significant number from such a subsample of 274.
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Consider this example. Pfizer provided information showing that
Dr. Trey Sunderland of the National Institute of Mental Health
had been paid over $517,000 in fees honoraria and expense reim-
bursement in connections with consulting activities for the period
1999 to the present. So far, however, NIH has reported to the com-
mittee that there are no outside activity request forms covering Dr.
Sunderland’s activities, nor are these financial details accounted
for in his financial disclosure reports.

Pfizer has also reported that Dr. Sunderland’s associate, Karen
Putman of the NIMH was paid $64,000 in consulting fees and re-
imbursement from 2001 to 2004. Some of these fees were for assist-
ing Pfizer in its program to study biomarkers of neurological dis-
ease. Once again, NIH has no outside activity request documents
accounting for this activity. In fact, NIH has confirmed that Dr.
Sunderland instructed Dr. Putnam not to clear these activities.

These so called outside activities appear related to their govern-
ment work. Dr. Sunderland and Dr. Putnam in their capacities at
NIMH published a major study in 2003 on the value of potential
markers for identifying people with Alzheimer’s Disease.

These discrepancies between information provided by the drug
companies and the NIH and this example raise the specter of a
substantial number of outside drug company and biotechnology
consulting agreements involving NIH scientists, which were not
even reported or submitted for clearance at NIH. Because of the
grave concerns this presents, the subcommittee will further inves-
tigate these agreements that were not reported to the NIH. As a
result, the subcommittee is not yet in a position to release the list-
ing of the NIH consulting agreements today.

The concern that there is a substantial number of outside deals
that are conducted in total secrecy even from the NIH is not im-
plausible. For example, the committee has recently learned that
Dr. Alan Moshell, Skin Diseases Branch Chief and Program Direc-
tor of the National Institute of Arthritis and Musculoskeletal and
Skin Diseases, was retained as an expert witness reportedly at a
rate of $600 per hour in a number of private product liability law-
suits involving the drug, Accutane, which is used to treat severe
acne. HHS and NIH have reported to the committee that Dr.
Moshell did not file outside activity request forms for these activi-
ties, even though HHS and NIH acknowledge that Dr. Moshell
should have disclosed these activities to NIH and should have filed
an outside activity request separately for each expert-witness activ-
ity to obtain approval. In 1985, Dr. Moshell filed an outside activity
request and obtained approval to conduct clinical practice as a der-
matologist. This request form did not specifically cover service as
an expert witness, but Dr. Moshell has indicated that he did not
believe that a specific request form was needed for that purpose.

In addition to these new concerns on outside activities, the sub-
committee has also learned of additional information about the
case study involving Dr. Liotta, Dr. Petricoin, and their outside
agreement with Biospect while working on the Correlogic CRADA.
We will hear about this new information later. But let me provide
one example of our concerns.

At the May 18 hearing, Dr. Liotta testified under oath that his
work at Biospect had been ‘‘placed on hold’’ since February 2004
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pursuant to Dr. Zerhouni’s directive that all existing consulting re-
lationships with pharmaceutical or biotechnology firms be stopped
and resubmitted to the newly created NIH Ethics Advisory Com-
mittee known as (NEAC) for review and input, before such activi-
ties could be reapproved, if appropriate.

Further, Dr. Liotta confirmed his activities with Biospect were on
hold in response to the following e-mail from the NIH Ethics Direc-
tor, Holli Beckerman Jaffe, dated May 5, 2004: ‘‘Please also confirm
with him that while he has not received any payments since Feb-
ruary (in other words, he was last paid in February), he has not
consulted with Biospect since February; the arrangement has been
put on hold until he receives approval from Dr. Kington. I know
I’m beating a dead horse, but I want to be very clear on the facts.
It’s in the best interest that we have all the facts and no uncer-
tainty.’’

The subcommittee has now recently received records from
Predicant Biosciences, the new name for Biospect. These records
show that Dr. Liotta received and cashed checks from Biospect
dated March 1, April 1, and May 1, 2004. These transactions all
occurred during the period that Dr. Liotta claimed that the
Biospect agreement was ‘‘on hold.’’

Although the subcommittee will not be releasing the consulting
agreements listings at this time, we will be releasing information
pertinent to consulting arrangements and outside awards. That in-
formation includes statistical information about: The activities of
the NEAC, use of Title 42 authority, and the list of the 77 sci-
entists who appeared on the NIH consulting agreement list who
are also principal investigators on CRADAs.

I ask unanimous consent to put the binder of hearing documents,
including this information, into the record. Without objection, it
will be included in the record.

On the issue of lecture awards, the subcommittee is releasing the
list of awards that NIH provided to the committee and identified
as responsive to our request for information on ‘‘lecture awards.’’ In
addition to the lecture awards list, the subcommittee has identified
additional issues in connection with award approvals for Dr.
Klausner. For example, Dr. Klausner as the Director of the Na-
tional Cancer Institute is a Presidential appointee and must have
his award requests approved by the HHS Designated Agency Eth-
ics Official. His award requests cannot be approved by an official
at the NIH. The committee has identified two instances in 1997 in
which the Deputy Director of NIH, not the HHS Ethics Official, ap-
proved Dr. Klausner’s awards.

In another case, an award to Dr. Klausner from the University
of Arizona was approved by an HHS ethics attorney who did not
have a written delegation of approving authority for awards of
Presidential appointees. In that same case, the first-class travel for
Dr. Klausner was improperly approved as part of the award-ap-
proval process because a first-class travel approval request must go
through a separate approval procedure. This mistaken approval re-
portedly occurred because the HHS travel manual did not track all
of the applicable requirements contained within the GSA regula-
tions with regard to acceptance of first-class travel from a non-Fed-
eral source.
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These additional issues deepen our concerns about what has hap-
pened in the NIH ethics program. However, Dr. Zerhouni appears
before this subcommittee to present a comprehensive set of pro-
posed additional restrictions, in addition to other recent actions, to
improve the NIH ethics program. I note that some of the problems,
such as deliberate misconduct, cannot be easily addressed by any
kind of ethics proposals, no matter how strong the restrictions.
That said, this set of proposals has some positive features to com-
mend it. In the area of outside awards, based on my understanding
of the proposals, the combination of the pre-screened list of awards,
the additional guidance from the Office of Government Ethics, the
NEAC review, and the prohibition of any cash to an official respon-
sible for a funding decision with the entity offering the award,
should address the concerns.

In the area of management process changes, I understand NIH
will create an electronic data base for tracking ethics matters and
HHS will have increased resources to conduct random audits.

These are constructive and substantial changes. In the area of
drug-company consulting, Dr. Zerhouni is not proposing a total
ban. However, Dr. Zerhouni is offering a number of substantial re-
strictions that will curb some of the kinds of cases that are of the
greatest concern. Those restrictions include a prohibition on outside
consulting for senior leadership positions, expanding public disclo-
sure requirements to cover an additional 600 NIH employees,
NEAC review, and limits on income and time. I am withholding
judgment on this part of the package; my position will be based in
part on what I learn at today’s hearing. However, I have already
reached the conclusion that whatever final action is taken on out-
side consulting, it should take place in the context of legislative
changes regarding the use of Title 42 authority.

The widespread use of so-called ‘‘special’’ compensation authori-
ties intended for consultants in Title 42 to boost the pay of con-
tinuing, full-time NIH employees looks highly questionable on pol-
icy, if not legal, grounds. The data provided by HHS shows nearly
$5 million in retention bonuses were paid to 444 Title 42 employees
for the period of July 1, 1999 to May 1, 2004. The use of retention
bonuses along with the questionable use of Title 42 is part of the
gaming that has occurred with the salaries of NIH scientists. Re-
cent data shows almost one-third of new NIH employees were hired
under Title 42 authority in 2003. The gaming must end. I am pre-
pared to support a straightforward approach to providing good sal-
aries to NIH scientists, worthy of the crown jewel of the U.S. Gov-
ernment.

Dr. Zerhouni, I know you are ready to work with me. Your pro-
posals and your testimony will receive a respectful hearing from
me. You have shown yourself as a serious and constructive partner
with the subcommittee in addressing these ethics issues.

I welcome Dr. Zerhouni and the other witnesses to today’s hear-
ing. I note on the second panel we will hear from Peter Levine, the
President of Correlogic Systems, and Dr. Jonathan Heller, the Vice
President for Information and Project Planning at Predicant Bio-
sciences, the new name for Biospect.

I note that Mr. Levine, although he is cooperating with the com-
mittee, is appearing pursuant to a subpoena.
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Finally, I welcome the witnesses from the National Cancer Insti-
tute who will appear on the third panel.

I look forward to the testimony and to making a stronger and
better NIH.

The Chair yields to the gentlelady from Colorado for her opening
statement.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
This is the Oversight and Investigation Committee’s third hear-

ing on conflicts of interest and the National Institutes of Health.
The significance of this issue cannot be understated, and I expect
that today’s hearing will provide us with a fuller understanding of
the problems.

The first hearing gave this committee the opportunity to hear
from members of the Blue Ribbon Panel and Dr. Zerhouni. At that
time, I expressed concerns with the scope of the Blue Ribbon Pan-
el’s recommendations. I am pleased that Dr. Zerhouni is back again
with us today to talk about the subcommittee and to talk about
some expansions of some of those issues we talked about at that
first hearing.

After reviewing some of the proposed expansions to the NIH eth-
ics rules which are being contemplated, I am pleased that NIH
leadership takes these issues seriously and is endeavoring to re-
store ethical integrity, but I remain concerned about the challenges
that the absence of what I think is a bright line task for receipt
of outside industry compensation provides. At the same time we
must maintain the integrity of the NIH as our Nation’s premier re-
search institution and to that end, we need to continue to have the
ability to attract the very best and brightest at all levels of the
NIH.

Today we’re going to have the opportunity to look at these addi-
tional steps which are being proposed by the NIH regarding con-
flicts of interest and to learn about one or more of the cases that
we talked about in our last hearing. As I said at the previous hear-
ings, these conflicts of interest deserve scrutiny and they must be
resolved. The ethos of the organization much change, and I know
Dr. Zerhouni and his senior management team agree. These new
recommendations are a necessary step, but there must be a com-
prehensive effort toward implementation and elimination of incon-
sistent standards which now exist across the 23 institutes.

I am confident that the scientists at NIH can adequately address
the committee’s concern and put a better system into place. But the
question remains how do we accomplish this? NIH may still need
to strengthen some of the recommendations even further to achieve
this, and I look forward to hearing from our witnesses about that.

I would also add that this subcommittee has a long history of ex-
amining these issues and does not take it’s investigative role light-
ly. The subcommittee’s ability to interview witnesses and uncover
issues is part of its very core mission. I am glad that Mr. Azar is
here today to talk about some of these interviews of government
witnesses and HHS and what transpired.

We have been that conflicts of interest at the NIH are relatively
rare, but even rare cases must be prevented especially when they
are as spectacular as we have heard n our previous two hearings.
The public’s trust in this remarkable institution is at stake. These

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00500 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6601 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



493

scientists who are entrusted with taxpayer dollars must answer to
their institution and the public and protect its integrity. The sci-
entists also should remember their work is the hope for many
Americans who are ill or who are taking care of a family member
with an illness. Their scientific work for some Americans is the dif-
ference between life and death. A conflict of interest or even the
appearance of a conflict of interest could have devastating effects.

NIH’s mission is to uncover new knowledge that will lead to bet-
ter health for everyone. But when there are conflicts of interest,
how can we make sure this mission is being carried out?

I am still concerned about NIH’s ability to acquire information
and data on hours spent on outside activities and also compensa-
tion received from outside activities. This is a very delicate issue
and disclosure is the key. Centralization of ethics review and cre-
ation of an electronic data base are going to be very important.
However, as they say the devil is in the details and we need to find
out how exactly outside activities will be monitored. That is why
I go back to the fact that in the absence of a bright line test it will
be very difficult to eliminate some of the abuses we have seen in
the past.

As the committee has discovered and as we will discuss today,
there is an astounding amount of activity that has not been under
scrutiny or even disclosed. This is an unacceptable situation. I
know that Dr. Zerhouni and his team agree with me, and I look
forward to working with them on this issue.

And thank the Chair for continuing this series of hearings. And
yield back.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady and recog-
nizes the chairman of the full committee, the gentlemen Mr. Bar-
ton for his opening statement.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Greenwood. And we appre-
ciate your leadership on this important hearing.

I stated at the last oversight hearing on these NIH issues that
the hallmark of my chairmanship will be to hold agencies respon-
sibilities and to produce results in better government and better
services and policies for the American people. I am proud to report
that because of your work and Ms. DeGette’s work this is hap-
pening with regard to our investigation at NIH.

The committee continues to uncover more and more troubling in-
formation about what has happened in the NIH ethics program.
For example, it appears that there may be a substantial number
of NIH scientists who engaged in outside activities such as drug
company consulting in stealth, that is without any notice at all or
any approval by the NIH. If these suspicions are confirmed, these
unapproved compensated activities would represent a very serious
breach of NIH policy, Federal ethic regulation and possibly in some
cases even criminal laws.

In addition, we are continuing to examine cases. One of the cases
which we reviewed at our last hearing dealing with conflicts of in-
terest arising out of consulting agreements your subcommittee has
heard and will testimony today about a remarkable case in which
the NIH and FDA scientists who were collaborating with a private
company on a joint invention under a public/private partnership
called a CRADA at the same time were secretly consulting with
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their own private partner’s competitor. As a result of those secret
deals progress may have been slowed on the public/private partner-
ship that could have led to prompt commercialization of a life-
saving ovarian cancer diagnostic test.

I also understand that the subcommittee may be presented with
information today that raises serious questions about the accuracy
of some testimony that has been received at the last hearing.

Having said all of that, this subcommittee is getting the facts.
Through oversight we are identifying the issues that provide a
roadmap for solutions. The problems that we are continuing to un-
cover at the NIH are further justification for why this committee
needs to reauthorize the NIH for the first time in over a decade.
The committee needs to lead the way in restoring NIH’s luster as
the crown jewel for research of the Federal Government. As Chair-
man Greenwood has noted, during this investigation we have un-
covered issues of concern and are continuing to uncover still more.
It is unpleasant to face the harsh truth about the results of the ap-
parently lax ethic culture at the NIH and the poor judgment and
perhaps even misconduct of some individuals at that illustrious in-
stitution. Having said that, it is a process that we must go through
to ensure that NIH will continue to be the world’s premier medical
research medical institution. NIH’s work is too important to allow
it to be hindered by questions about the integrity of its scientists,
and therefore the scientific process.

Our oversight is not just about identifying problems. We want to
stimulate solutions. In this regard I am very pleased to read that
both HHS and NIH seem to be getting the message about our con-
cerns over the NIH’s ethics program. And Dr. Zerhouni’s testimony,
which I have read, indicates that he is serious about improving the
ethics at the agency in which he is director of. He is making his
agency responsible to the Congress and to the American people. He
has a plan, and I think it is a good plan, and I think this com-
mittee should give it serious consideration. Because of the enormity
of the taxpayer investment in NIH and the enormity of the respon-
sibility entrusted to NIH, it is critical that we, when I say ‘‘we’’ I
mean the Congress and the NIH administration, work together to
make sure that NIH remains the standard for medical research in
the world. I am pleased to say that it looks like we are making
progress in this regard.

While we need to work with Dr. Zerhouni to establish solutions,
we must do all that we can do to stop things like from ever hap-
pening again. And just as NIH has enormous responsibility to the
American people, this committee has the responsibility to conduct
the kind of oversight that brings these problems to light and then
helps find solutions to prevent them from happening again.

I want to commend Ranking Member DeGette for her excellent
work and her staff’s work, and Mr. Dingell for the full committee
staff work on this effort. We are doing oversight in the proud tradi-
tion of the Energy and Commerce Committee, and I think the end
result is going to be good for the American people.

I also want to compliment Dr. Zerhouni. Your testimony about
proposed solutions is excellent. To the extent that we need to back
you up with legislative language in that statute, we are very will-
ing to do that once we finalize what needs to be done.
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With that, Mr. Chairman, I would yield back.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman.
And he recognizes the ranking member of the full committee, the

gentleman from Michigan, Mr. Dingell.
Mr. DINGELL. Mr. Chairman, good morning.
Thank you for recognition, and let me commend you for opening

this inquiry, for holding this hearing and for insisting that Mr.
Azar testify despite the opposition of the Department of Health and
Human Services.

The ethics concerns at the NIH, National Institutes of Health
and the Food and Drug Administration, FDA, merit the full atten-
tion of this subcommittee, as do efforts to hinder, obstruct, delay
or otherwise impede the work of this subcommittee.

We are still learning how far and wide the problem of outside
payments goes. When NIH initially refused to compel its employees
to disclose the extent of consulting dollars received from drugs and
biotech companies, you and Chairman Barton surveyed 20 drug
companies for their payments to NIH employees. The companies re-
sponded regarding some 264 contracts with scientists employed at
NIH. When comparing these contracts with the information ulti-
mately submitted to us by the NIH, the staff discovered that some
100 of the 264 consulting contracts were not reported to NIH. What
else is out there?

We, as well as NIH and FDA, have a duty to ensure that this
probe does not harm research or regulatory approvals. But ignoring
the problems at FDA and NIH is not an option. The research com-
munity, the health care industry and the American people simply
cannot tolerate a system where the state of our technology is sold
to the highest bidder. We cannot tolerate a system where the devel-
opment of lifesaving drugs and biologics may be delayed while the
auction is being conducted. Nor can we tolerate hinderance and ob-
struction by the Department of Health and Human Services. Offi-
cials in charge of legislative affairs and some misguided govern-
ment lawyers have tried to stifle the investigation in which we are
now engaged. They have sought to stonewall our requests for docu-
ments and interviews and otherwise have sought to prevent the
Congress and the American people from discovering very serious
problems.

This subcommittee over the years has seen to it that the truth
is produced with the cooperation of those who were being inves-
tigated or without their cooperation. And there are many who have
had reason to repent in a very real way the failure to cooperate
with this committee. I hope that those who will appear this morn-
ing and others who will be inquired of by the subcommittee will
keep this thought in mind.

Moreover, I would note that we find that the curious reluctance
of the Inspector General here to do more than desk audits is unac-
ceptable. The American people have the right to know what is
going over at the Department. I support all efforts to enforce that
right, and I will do everything I can to see to it that there is no
obstruction of the business of this committee.

I thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and recog-

nizes the Oregon, Mr. Walden for his opening statement.
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Mr WALDEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am going to waive my
opening statement.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The gentlelady from Chicago, Ms. Schakowsky.
Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Thank you, Chairman Greenwood and Rank-

ing Member DeGette for convening today’s hearing, the third in a
series of oversight opportunities to review concerns about ethics at
the National Institutes of Health and the consulting arrangements
and outside awards of NIH personnel.

This issue is so critical because it goes to the integrity of science
and the safety and efficacy of medical technology upon which the
American public and medical community rely. Consumers and their
caretakers in the medical field, rely on sound science for guidance
on the most appropriate types of care. Consumers need to know
that the science upon which their doctors rely is based on legiti-
mate evaluations and not tainted by side deals. I think most Amer-
ican consumers would assume that cash, stock, stock options and
other types of pay for outside consulting arrangements that NIH
personnel have with drug companies and others in industry, would
be against the rules. I know I was surprised to hear that some sen-
ior officials at NIH received cash gifts as part of the awards given
to them by some of the same companies that receive funding from
NIH. In some cases, it appears that these deals could amount to
more than the regular salaries of some NIH personnel. It is hard
for me to accept any argument that NIH’s medical scientists or sen-
ior personnel need to enter into such agreements. These agree-
ments are not just a question of a little moonlighting, they are day-
lighting too, with the very prescription drug and medical device
companies whose science NIH is supposed to objectively evaluate.

Why can’t NIH commit to finding scientists who will do their jobs
for the salary they agree to receive without doing lucrative side
deals outside of the office?

Even the appearance of such behavior is damaging and NIH and
other agencies must take action to ensure the proper safeguards
are in place to prevent such activities. So, today, I am looking for-
ward to hearing the response to concerns raised by this sub-
committee. I hope the response will include immediate and concrete
steps to remove even the appearance of questionable ethics at NIH.
Anything short will be unacceptable. Thank you.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady.
And recognizes the chairman of the Health Subcommittee, the

gentleman from Florida, Mr. Bilirakis for an opening statement.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
The past two hearings you have held on this issue have been ex-

tremely informative, to say the least. And I am sure we all appre-
ciate the opportunity to have another chance to discuss these con-
cerns with officials from the NIH.

Dr. Zerhouni, thank you so much for coming here today. You
have always been extremely generous with your time and unbeliev-
ably helpful in all of your efforts, and ours I might add. I commend
your efforts to improve conflicts of interest management at NIH by
creating the Blue Ribbon Panel that created guidelines for revamp-
ing the review of consulting arrangements and outside awards, and
expanding the number of NIH employees who file internal and pub-
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lic financial disclosure reports. Once again you have taken the ini-
tiative to ensure that NIH is operating to the best of its ability.

I have gotten to know Dr. Zerhouni fairly well recently because
just in this Congress alone, my Subcommittee on Health has held
five hearings to highlight research activities at the NIH and to
educate members and others about the work that the NIH is doing
so that we can better assess how to help them to better met their
stated mission.

Now that our hearings have concluded, Chairman Barton and I
are committed to passing bipartisan legislation to reauthorize the
NIH. It is something we have high hopes of being able to do.

One thing that we would like to accomplish with this reauthor-
ization package is to strengthen the role of the Director of the NIH.
And I look forward to hearing from Dr. Zerhouni about how we
could be helpful to him in implementing the recommendation to the
Blue Ribbon Panel.

And, Dr. Zerhouni, if I do not get around to asking you that spe-
cific question, I would ask now that you might submit in writing
to us what we can do in the law to strengthen your role.

As I said before, if there are more transparency with respect to
these consulting fees and awards, such as making the information
more public, then maybe there would not be the need for a high
level of concern.

I along with you, Mr. Chairman, would like to thank and wel-
come the other witnesses here today, and look forward to hearing
particularly this panel’s testimony.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman.
And recognizes the gentleman, Mr. Rogers for an statement, who

passes.
That being said, we welcome Dr. Zerhouni and Mr. Azar. Thank

you for being here.
As you know from previous experience, it’s the custom of this

committee to take testimony under oath. And do either of you ob-
ject to taking testimony under oath? Do either of you wish to be
represented by counsel?

[Witnesses sworn.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. Before I recognize you for your opening state-

ment, Dr. Zerhouni, let me say what I have said in public as many
times as I can. I know that this is not a lot of fun for you and the
NIH to go through this very public process of oversight, but I con-
sider you to be as ethical a person as I know. I consider you to be
a partner with me and with this committee in our efforts to tighten
up the ethics, and I am not proud of our relationship, and look for-
ward to your testimony, and you are recognized to give it.

TESTIMONY OF HON. ELIAS ZERHOUNI, DIRECTOR, NATIONAL
INSTITUTE OF HEALTH; AND ALEX AZAR, II, GENERAL COUN-
SEL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your kind words,
and you have my commitment to continue to be partners in this
issue. I want to thank the members of the subcommittee.

I am here to testify about my proposal to overhaul the ethics sys-
tem and its process, its management and its controls. We have
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worked very closely with my colleague, Mr. Azar in the Office of
General Counsel to come up with what we believe could be a pro-
posal that will not only strengthen, but completely overhaul, com-
pletely transform the way we manage ethics at our Federal agency.

The events and arrangements that have been the subject of the
subcommittee’s oversight was, as you know, rooted in the signifi-
cant loosing of NIH ethics rules and policies that occurred in 1995.
These changes were the results of converging interests at the time.
NIH’s desire to strengthen the research enterprise to the use of ‘‘in-
novative’’ recruitment and retention policies. And the second was
a governmentwide change in ethics policies.

In retrospect I believe that the new rules were not sufficient to
guard against the perception of conflict of interest or reality of con-
flict of interest.

Further, I have reached the regrettable conclusion that some
NIH employees have violated these lenient rules in that the agen-
cy’s ethics system did not adequately guard against these viola-
tions, both in the content of the rules, in the process to manage the
rules and in the controls that should have been independent and
formal.

So I am completely committed, and you have my pledge, that any
employees who violated the rules will be subject to appropriate
panels. I am looking forward to work as diligently as we can with
the committee. I know Mr. Azar is also committed to do the same.
We intend to cooperate. We want to cooperate. If there is any per-
ception that we did not, we want to correct that. And you have my
word and my colleagues at the Department who do believe in the
same thing.

It is clear that our public health mission is too important, really,
to have any shadow of a doubt that what NIH does is in the
public’s interest first and foremost. And it is really regrettable to
me and painful to me that the actions of a few may have tainted
the good work of thousands of scientists who have not participated
in any of these actions and who work daily at NIH to solve the
mysteries of disease and advanced treatments and cures for these
diseases. So I think it is important that we move diligently, I be-
lieve, to completely change the system of ethics at NIH.

I will summarize, and you have my testimony in writing, but I
would like to summarize the salient points, not to take too much
of your time, of what is it that we are proposing and the core prin-
ciples that we are trying to follow.

No. 1, in terms of industry consulting. I think it is absolutely im-
portant to build a firewall between the employees at NIH who have
any authority whatsoever in grant making or contract making from
any consulting with industry. That means that the entire senior
leadership, including directors, reports to directors, deputy direc-
tors, scientific directors, clinical directors and all staff involved in
making decisions for contract and grants in the extramural compo-
nents of NIH be prohibited, period. And this is a total damp.

We also want to protect the agency from any further perception
of conflict of interest, and we are going to do this by restricting
very strongly the activities of scientists who have no authority over
the extramural activities or granting activities within NIH.
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I would like to point out that NIH is both a Federal agency that
distributes grants, but also a very advanced research laboratory
with scientists who we recruit to do things for the government of
public health interests. It is important to look at that in a different
light, and I know that it would be so much easier to just ban out-
right the activities. And, as you know, I have made the point that
perhaps we should look at that, and I would like you to keep an
open mind about why we believe it should be done that way.

However, that being said, I think strict restrictions should be put
in place. No. 1, I do not believe that stock or stock options should
be used as payments for any outside activity for anyone at NIH.
And I intend to prohibit any of such relationships.

Stock and stock payments create an inextinguishable conflict,
and I do not wish to have that.

Second, I will prohibit the holding of stock in individual bio-
technology and pharmaceutical companies for all employees that
file a public or confidential public disclosure report of any kind and
establish and establish for all employees a $5,000 de minimis in
terms of individual stock ownership of theirs with their direct fam-
ily for nonfilers. And we will insist that divestiture occur.

I think this will create a scrubbed environment, I believe, for eth-
ics at NIH so that we will no longer have any of these issues.

In addition, because I am concerned about conflict of commit-
ment, who is the employee working for the Government or some
other entity, I will go further than what the Blue Ribbon Panel
proposed. I will limit annual compensation from all outside activi-
ties with industry to 25 percent of the employee’s base salary, and
no more than half of such income to come from any one source. And
limit the time spent engaged in all activities with industry to 400
hours annually.

This is a set of rules which will not create a incentive because
the compensation for outside activity will then be equal to the rate
of compensation for official activities.

We will also publicly disclose all outside activity with industry.
We will have a data base, we will find ways to make sure that the
following principle is followed: If you cannot disclose it publicly, it
will not be allowed. Period, end.

We will prohibit membership, and this is a recommendation that
I am making, a proposal I am making which was not part of the
Blue Ribbon Panel. Mr. colleague Mr. Azar helped me tremen-
dously in defining those relationships. Any membership on cor-
porate boards will be prohibited for all employees. I believe that
membership in boards is a conflict of commitment and fiduciary re-
sponsibility. I want my employees to be responsible to NIH, period.
However, we will allow limited service on scientific advisory boards
for ad hoc participation, and again, not for any of the senior em-
ployees. Only the ones that are in the laboratories. Because there
is value there and we need to make sure that it is reviewed cen-
trally, but it be allowed.

In addition, in terms of rewards I think this is an issue that you
have raised, and I have to say that I reviewed all the cases that
came to my attention, worked with you. And I believe that there
are awards that are very legitimate. There are awards that relate
to the meritorious accomplishments of a scientist, sometimes before
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they came to NIH. I think it would be unwise for us to prevent the
recruitment of a director who may be a potential recipient of a
Nobel Prize or a Laska Award, or many other prices that have a
long established life, that have a process that is independent on
any granting institution in the sense of having a foundation and
a clear process, an open process of nomination, an open process of
awarding the award. But to do so, we are proposing something
pretty novel. We’re going to scrub, essentially, every award out
there. We’re going to create a list, we’re going to submit that list
and the criteria of that list to our independent advisory committee
to the Director of NIH, which is law, in statute. And we’re going
to ask them is the Nobel Prize okay. Is the Laska Award okay? Is
this prize okay? Does it fit the characteristics. And then we’ll cre-
ate a public registered list, if you will, of acceptable awards for
NIH scientists.

Now, further, if the award is received by an NIH employee, it
will still be reviewed by a central committee, central advisory eth-
ics committee for the following issues.

If the official offered the award is responsible for a funding deci-
sion with the entity offering the award, either directly the person,
the employee, or through a subordinate—this is really an extension
of rules that I think is very drastic and very important to under-
stand. And I think we owe it to Mr. Azar who made the rec-
ommendation, that the receipt of the award may be prohibited and
indefinitely the receipt of the cash component of the award will be
prohibited.

In determining whether an award creates a real or apparent con-
flict of interest, the new act will consider how the employee can ef-
fect the interests of the entity so that we do not end up with just
formal analysis, but a wider analysis not just directly related to the
entity that offers the award, either directly or through the actions
of a subordinate.

Pre-screened award lists will be maintained by the NIH ethic of-
fice publicly posted, updated regularly and the name of any NIH
employee who is a recipient of an award would also be posted pub-
licly.

I think it is important also to impose restrictions not just on rela-
tionships with industry, because as I have looked at potential for
both real and perceived conflict of interest, I find also that con-
sulting with nonprofits, grantee institutions can be a concern. So
I am going to propose that we prohibit this for all employees.

You may ask, as Congresswoman DeGette asked me, why are
you more strict for nonprofit grantee universities than you are for
industry? Well, the difference is that grantee institutions come and
ask for public money. Industry pays for the outside activities of the
scientist. And in every case where we need to have science advice
given to our grantees, we will do so after determination by super-
visory review under an official duty scheme rather than an outside
activity scheme which will prevent personal rewards of any kind in
that kind of a relationship.

Consulting with nonprofits, nongrantee institutions is another
issue. There we do not have the potential of conflict of interest in
terms of disbursement of funds. In this case we will prohibit it,
nonetheless, for senior leadership, people who have grant making
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or contract making authority, and we will determine by supervisory
review whether there’s any overlap between official duty and that
activity.

So even though you may be director of institute X, if you are to
serve on a nonprofit disease related group, we will prohibit that for
senior leadership but we will allow it for nonsenior, nonauthority
type leaders.

Clinical practice, we do need to maintain the clinical skills of our
doctors at NIH, and the clinical center is hyperspecialized and
there is not enough for them to maintain the general scales, and
we would like to continue to allow that within limits of commit-
ment. Because it doesn’t present a conflict of interest, but also lim-
its of the marketbasket that we will see around the metropolitan
area. If you are a radiologist, you will be allowed to make more
than a radiologist in academic practice in this marketplace.

The reason I want to do this is to avoid what I call the perverse
incentive. If an outside activity is rewarded at a higher rate, you
have the perverse incentive to favor that outside activity. I want
to eliminate that.

Seven, academic pursuits. Pure academic pursuit. Working a
general textbook, editing a journal, writing an article, a peer re-
view article, doing continuing medical education, teaching a course
at the university level; those are the core of the activities of our
scientists. I really do not wish to restrict those activities. I think
it would be unwise to do so.

Public financial disclosure reports, we have already extended our
request to OGE from 93 positions to 508 position that will be pub-
licly filed. We are asking also the recommendation of counsel for
NIH authority to determine 278 filing status for its employees so
that we can adapt quickly to the changes.

In addition, step nine, we will also review all of our employees
with or without authority involved in human subject research. I be-
lieve personally that this is a different set of consideration even
more important than conflict of interest with companies because it
involves human lives, it involves advice that we will give to the
American public. So all of those employees will file reports if in-
volved in clinical research. And we will determine who that is and
we will propose that list.

Finally, I think that no set of rules will be successful unless you
build around them a process, a management process with strong
controls. Here is what I propose to do.

I have already established a centralized committee, the NEAC
committee, and it is doing an outstanding job. But in addition to
that, we will centralize the oversight of every NIH ethics activity
in the Office of the Director. There will be ethics officers in the in-
stitutes, obviously, to help everybody, but the oversight will be cen-
tralized so that there is no conflict of reporting relationship be-
tween the person who is making the decision for the director or for
somebody in that institute.

We will ethics functions in the supervisory performance plan. We
will add a central director of ethics who will be—all of the director
of ethics will have performance plans and he deputy director will
be in charge of that.
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We will initiate random audits, and we are working with our
general counsel to implement that.

In addition to this, I think something that I think is needed as
a tool to in fact provide the response to the concerns that you have,
Congresswoman DeGette, and that is a full electronic data base
that will be cross related between every step of the activities and
every step of the ethics process in one place. So I can respond to
your inquires in 2 weeks rather than 4 months, Mr. Chairman.

And we will extend formal training programs. And you have my
commitment that one of the components of a good control ethics
program is also disciplinary actions. I believe that we have been
lax in making sure that if there is clear violations of existing rules,
that we should really send a message. I intend to send that mes-
sage and I will be very forceful in that regard.

In closing, I hope that you will take my commitment to you as
a very sincere honest commitment that I will do everything in my
power to make sure that NIH resumes it brilliant destiny as one
of the most trusted agency in the Federal Government. And you
have my commitment that I will work very closely my colleagues
here to collaborate with you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Elias Zerhouni follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ELIAS A. ZERHOUNI, DIRECTOR, NATIONAL INSTITUTES OF
HEALTH, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, I am Elias A. Zerhouni, Direc-
tor of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) at the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS). I am here to testify about my proposal to strengthen the
ethics system at NIH by changing our rules, practices, and procedures.

I have reached the conclusion that drastic changes are needed as the result of an
intensive review by NIH of our ethics program, which included internal fact-finding
as well as the external review of a Blue Ribbon panel. This review was prompted
in part in response to the inquiry of this Subcommittee and the bipartisan concerns
of Chairman Greenwood, Ranking Member Deutsch, Congresswoman Degette, and
the full Committee Chairman, Mr. Barton, as well as the Committee’s Ranking
Member, Mr. Dingell, and other members of the panel.

The events and arrangements that have been the subject of the Subcommittee’s
oversight and NIH’s reviews were rooted in a significant alteration of NIH’s ethics
rules and policies that occurred in 1995. These changes were the result of con-
verging interests. The first was NIH’s desire to strengthen the research enterprise
through the use of innovative recruitment and retention policies. The second was
a government-wide standardization of ethics policies, which resulted in a decision
by NIH to change its ethics rules to conform to the new policies.

As we move forward, I regret that the reputation of NIH has been challenged over
ethics concerns and that the conduct of individual scientists who have devoted their
lives to battling disease and easing the suffering of millions of patients has been
questioned. I believe the NIH and its employees were operating within rules that
allowed or did not specifically address many of the arrangements that the Sub-
committee has questioned, including lecture awards and consulting with industry.
In retrospect, there was not a sufficient safeguard against the perception of conflict
of interest.

As I have testified previously, our public health mission is too important to have
it undermined by any real or perceived conflicts of interest. It is imperative that
Congress and the American people trust that the decisions made by our scientists
are motivated solely by public health priorities and scientific opportunities, not per-
sonal financial concerns.

The first step in maintaining such trust was the creation of the NIH Ethics Advi-
sory Committee (NEAC). The NEAC, an internal NIH committee, is providing a cen-
tralized, consistent, and rigorous review of all consulting arrangements with phar-
maceutical and biotechnology companies, awards valued in excess of $2500, and all
requests from senior NIH officials. Composed of Institute and Center Directors and
scientific leaders, and with the participation of ethics officials, the Committee pro-
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vides unprecedented review by peer scientists of applications for outside activities
and awards. NEAC looks carefully at each request under its jurisdiction so that, for
instance, NIH employees are not consulting on matters that are related to their offi-
cial duties or pose other potential concerns. Only those requests for approval that
have passed muster at the Institute level, by both the employee’s supervisor and the
Institute’s Deputy Ethics Counselor (DEC), are forwarded to the NEAC for review.
Upon NEAC review, it is only those arrangements that do not pose conflict of inter-
est concerns that are recommended for approval and forwarded to the NIH Deputy
Ethics Counselor. As a result of the unprecedented review by peer scientists now
applied to the ethics program, the culture at NIH is already changing.

On May 12, I testified before this subcommittee about four principles for change
in the NIH ethics program:
1) Enhance public trust in NIH by preventing conflicts of interest through the re-

striction of financial relationships that employees may have with outside orga-
nizations;

2) Increase levels of transparency in the NIH ethics program by requiring much
more internal as well as public disclosure of the details of financial relation-
ships that employees have with outside organizations, including consulting ar-
rangements and awards;

3) Balance NIH’s ability to recruit and retain the best scientific expertise while ex-
pediting the translation of research advances;

4) Establish effective monitoring and oversight of employee activities.
Today I am announcing that NIH, working with the HHS Office of the Secretary,

will seek a major reform of the Agency’s ethics program by requesting restrictive
rules and by seeking to increase the public availability of information related to out-
side activities with industry. As you know, this process cannot happen overnight.
We are aggressively working with the Office of the Secretary and OGE to make sure
that we have in place a set of rules that ensures the appropriate ethical oversight
while continuing to encourage scientific creativity. The following framework lays out
our attempts to implement the principles described above.
Principle One: Enhance Public Trust
• Prohibited Holdings: We are working to prohibit the holding of stock in individual

biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies as is done at the Food and Drug
Administration. There, all employees that file either a public or confidential fi-
nancial disclosure report are prohibited from holding stocks in significantly reg-
ulated entities. Non-filers are permitted to hold only up to $5000 of such stock,
which is $10,000 below the current federal rules for de minimis financial inter-
ests.

• Awards: We are actively pursuing a two-step process. First, any NIH employee
should be prohibited from accepting any award unless the award has been pre-
screened. Such a process would include an independent advisory committee that
includes non-government individuals and the NIH DEC, and a determination by
the DEC that the award meets the regulatory definition of bona fide. Second,
even if the award has been determined to be bona fide, specific awards to em-
ployees still should be reviewed on a case by case basis by the NEAC, and ap-
proved by the NIH DEC to ensure that the acceptance of the award does not
create a real or apparent conflict of interest for the employee in relation to offi-
cial duties. As an additional restriction, NIH will seek to prohibit any official—
including Institute and Center Directors—who are responsible, either directly or
indirectly through subordinates, for a funding decision affecting the entity offer-
ing the award, from receiving the cash component of an award. It is my inten-
tion that this restriction will not preclude the acceptance of cash in the case
of certain exceptional bona fide awards, such as the Nobel Prize. The list of pre-
screened bona fide awards would be posted publicly, as will the NIH recipients
of such awards.

• Outside Activities with Industry: While we continue to encourage consultation
with industry as part of official duties, I intend to prohibit senior NIH employ-
ees, as well as all employees involved in extramural funding decisions or Coop-
erative Research and Development Agreements, from consulting with industry
for compensation or any other form of remuneration. Other employees would be
permitted to consult only if the arrangement has been reviewed by the NEAC
and approved by the NIH DEC, and certain restrictions are in place. These are:
1) payment may not include stock or stock options; 2) annual compensation
from all outside activities with industry must be limited, and no more than half
of that limit may come from any one source; and 3) a cap on the number of
hours annually that an employee can spend on all outside activities with indus-
try.
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• Participation on Industry Boards: I seek to prohibit all NIH employees from mem-
bership on corporate boards of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.
In addition, employees should be allowed to participate in industry scientific ad-
visory boards as ad-hoc participants only if such participation has been re-
viewed by NEAC, and approved by the NIH DEC.

• Consulting (includes speaking) with Grantee Institutions: While we continue to en-
courage consultation with grantee institutions as part of official duties, I will
seek to prohibit all NIH employees from consulting with NIH grantee institu-
tions for compensation or any other form of personal remuneration.

• Consulting (includes speaking) with Non-profits that are not Grantee Institutions:
I seek to prohibit NIH senior leadership from consulting with these entities.

• Clinical Practice: NIH seeks to limit employee annual compensation for clinical
practice.

Principle Two: Increase Transparency
• NIH, working with HHS and OGE, has already increased the number of senior

managers who must publicly disclose their compensated activities with outside
organizations and the amounts received. This has been increased by 93 posi-
tions. We are hopeful that OGE will grant HHS’ recent request to extend public
financial disclosure to an additional 508 positions.

• I will seek authority from OGE for NIH to determine which of its employees must
submit public financial disclosures.

• We are working towards requiring that outside activities with industry be publicly
disclosed. This will include disclosure to CRADA partners.

• NIH employees will continue to be required to disclose the amount of compensa-
tion earned from outside activities.

• I will review the duties and responsibilities of employees who currently do not file
any financial disclosure reports, specifically those involved in human subjects
work, to increase the number of employees who file such reports to avoid any
involvement in a real or apparent conflict of interest.

Principle Three: Recruit and Retain Best Scientific Expertise While Expe-
diting Translation of Research Advances

• I will encourage NIH scientists to continue teaching, speaking or writing about
their research as part of their official duties.

In order to encourage scientific interactions involving the exchange of knowledge
and the exercise of intellectual leadership by NIH scientists, NIH will continue to
allow certain types of outside activities—including teaching and lecturing opportuni-
ties and collaborations with the private sector—but only under clear, rigorous rules
meant to eliminate conflicts of interest.
Principle Four: Establish Effective Monitoring and Oversight Mechanisms
• I will continue to require that supervisors fulfill their responsibilities in both re-

viewing proposed outside activities and, if NEAC ultimately approves the out-
side activity, in monitoring the effect that the activity might have on the em-
ployee’s official duties. Before any proposed outside activity is forwarded to the
NEAC for review, supervisors will be asked to determine whether the activity
can and should be undertaken as part of the employee’s official duties, and if
not, whether the proposed outside activity will cause a conflict, either of interest
or of commitment. In addition, supervisors will be expected to monitor employ-
ees’ compliance to ensure compliance with the limitation on hours.

• NIH will improve its ability to manage and track approved activities with outside
organizations by increasing the accountability of managers, creating a central-
ized system, centralizing review of senior managers and scientists, conducting
random audits of files pertaining to activities with outside organizations, and
continuing the rigorous review by peers conducted by the NEAC.

• NIH will develop and implement a new, more understandable method of training
employees on ethics rules, and we will establish a web site that displays rules
in plain language, updates employees on regulatory trends and changes and dis-
cusses—anonymously—ongoing cases as examples of best practices or unaccept-
able practices.

We are severely restricting the ability of NIH employees to consult with industry.
However, as I have previously testified, the easiest way to approach this matter
would be to ban all consulting with industry. I do not want to discourage the kind
of intellectual excitement and curiosity that leads our scientists to want to work
with industry. I want to provide an environment for them in which they have the
same kind of professional and intellectual opportunities as their counterparts in aca-
demia. I want the intramural program to continue to attract the best and the
brightest. With these principles in mind, I am working to strike a careful balance—
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whereby those individuals in key decision-making positions will be prevented com-
pletely from consulting, while stringent limits will apply to other employees.

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee, in summation, I have described the
three core elements of reforming the ethics process at NIH. Number one, we are ap-
plying review of applications for outside activities by peer scientists. Number two,
we are requiring full disclosure and transparency in the program. And number
three, NIH is working to reduce, restrict, or eliminate the types of activities about
which this Subcommittee has raised concerns.

Thank you for this opportunity to speak before the Subcommittee on these mat-
ters once again. I would be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman. And would
wax poetic enough to say that if the NIH is indeed the crown jewel
of research, I think those recommendations will certainly make it
sparkle more than it has in the past.

Dr. Azar, you are recognized for your opening statement.
Did I call you Dr. Azar? Mr. Azar.

TESTIMONY OF ALEX AZAR, II
Mr. AZAR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you for inviting

me to speak with you today.
As General Counsel for the U.S. Department of Health and

Human Services my office is responsible for providing representa-
tion and legal advice to HHS on a wide range of issues. By pro-
viding such legal services to the Secretary of HHS and the organi-
zation’s various agencies and divisions, the Office of the General
Counsel supports the development and implementation of the De-
partment’s programs.

OGC has over 400 attorneys and a comprehensive support staff
located across the United States. Our office has a diverse and chal-
lenging portfolio, with legal issues about technical rules for agency
programs on topics as disparate as health financing and welfare,
as well as a broad range of general legal issues facing every Fed-
eral agency such as administrative law, personnel and employment
law, information law, and, of course, ethics.

OGC’s main role in the area of ethics is through the Ethics Divi-
sion’s provision of legal advice regarding applicable laws and regu-
lations to the ethics officials who run the agency’s ethics program.
In HHS, the ethics program is overseen by a Designated Agency
Ethics Official, a DAEO, appointed by the Secretary and who, in
our case, also heads OGC’s Ethics Division. The DAEO oversees
and coordinates a decentralized Departmental ethics program. The
DAEO also appoints Deputy Ethics Counselors, DECs, who are sen-
ior management officials chosen by each operating division. Each
of these DECs, along with agency heads and management are re-
sponsible for running ethics programs tailored to the needs of ex-
tensive, geographically dispersed workforces composed of many pro-
fessionally trained employees with varied responsibilities. As man-
agers closest to day-to-day operations, these DECs are equipped
and responsible for identifying and evaluating the relevant ethics
issues in their respective components. Additionally, the DECs and
their staffs possess the scientific and technical expertise necessary
to identify and resolve ethics issues in situations involving science,
medicine, and other complex fields.

Within their respective operating divisions, the DECs are respon-
sible for reviewing public and confidential financial disclosure
forms, considering outside activity requests, providing ethics advice
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to individual employees, initiating ethics education and training
programs, and ensuring that violations of the conflicts statutes or
the conduct standards are reported to investigatory authorities and
where appropriate, seeing that disciplinary action is taken. Indi-
vidual employees are, of course, ultimately responsible for their
own actions.

As an attorney who has devoted over half of my professional ca-
reer to serving the Federal Government and who attaches great im-
portance to public service, my objective in leading OGC has been
to ensure the best possible legal advice to assist in the accomplish-
ment of HHS’ critical missions. I view the role of OGC not as mak-
ing policy, but rather as providing those who do set policy with the
best possible legal advice. This means that the function of my office
is to work to identify the Department’s policy objectives and then
to identify the range of permissible legal options to accomplish
those policy objectives and advise on the legal and other risks asso-
ciated with those options. Of course, legal advice is often accom-
panied by advice regarding considerations such as appearances,
judgment, and other factors that may be relevant to the agency’s
situation. Where there is no established Government-wide interpre-
tation of a law, it is the Department, then, which decides which in-
terpretation of law to adopt and what course of action to take. In
so doing, the Department can appropriately balance the consider-
ations, among many others, relevant to accomplishing the agency’s
objectives.

I strongly believe that such advice, including advice about ap-
pearances, is particularly important in the area of Government eth-
ics; where the law may be arcane and complex, but where other
non-legal factors invariably play a large role.

Consistent with the President’s statement that, ‘‘Everyone who
enters into public service for the United States has a duty to the
American people to maintain the highest standards of integrity in
Government,’’ I have initiated and led a successful effort to obtain
and dedicate additional resources to enhance the Ethics Division in
OGC. This initiative, which is already underway, will enhance the
ability of the DAEO to scrutinize and oversee the Department’s
ethics activities. In addition, it will dramatically strengthen the
ability of the DAEO to oversee these programs and their officials.

As part of this initiative, the Department will institute system-
atic oversight of the ethics programs within the various operating
divisions of the Department through regularized compliance audit-
ing and program review. The initiative will increase component ac-
countability for ethics program implementation, augment financial
disclosure review and training development, and enhance the capa-
bilities of the Ethics Division and the authority of the DAEO. To
my knowledge, this will make HHS OGC’s Ethics Division the larg-
est single legal office devoted exclusively to Government ethics out-
side of the Office of Government Ethics.

These efforts will help ensure that the DAEO is in the best posi-
tion to oversee HHS’ and NIH’s ethics program in the future. The
Department is also committed to helping the committee understand
the past implementation of and compliance with the current ethics
rules at NIH. In this regard, we have worked hard to solve a num-
ber of legal issues relevant to the committee’s work and to support
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NIH’s efforts to identify and rectify areas of concern. The goal of
ensuring public confidence in the integrity of NIH is one that the
Department shares with the committee and a goal we can best ac-
complish together.

The proposal outlined by Dr. Zerhouni today is an important
fruit of that collaborative effort. The proposal was largely born out
of the work Dr. Zerhouni has led to find ways to build on the rec-
ommendations of the Blue Ribbon Panel. The Department was
pleased to see that NIH proposed to take strong steps to provide
additional review of awards and prohibit outside activities with
grantees of NIH by the leadership of NIH as well as employees in-
volved in the grants process. And the Department worked with Dr.
Zerhouni to strengthen the proposal even further. The result has
been a collaborative effort to address the issues raised by the com-
mittee, including a proposed prohibition on holding of stock in indi-
vidual biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies like that in
place at the Food and Drug Administration. There are also pro-
posed prohibitions on outside activities by senior NIH leadership
with industry and extensive limitations for all other employees. As
a lawyer, my predisposition is for bright line rules, such as com-
plete prohibitions, which are easy to administer and interpret.
However, the proposal balances this consideration with the needs
identified by Dr. Zerhouni to ensure that NIH can recruit and re-
tain the Nation’s most talented scientists and allow them to con-
tribute to the march of human scientific progress outside the con-
fines of the workplace.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the Department shares the com-
mittee’s commitment to maintaining the highest ethical standards
at NIH and thereby ensuring that the vitality and promise of NIH
is not undermined by any lack of public confidence in the motiva-
tions of its employees and their conduct. OGC remains committed
to helping NIH understand applicable laws, further identify legal
options, and give legal advice relevant to NIH’s ethics program.
And the Department remains committed to cooperating with this
committee in its important work.

Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today. And I
would be pleased to answer your questions.

[The prepared statement of Alex Azar follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ALEX AZAR, GENERAL COUNSEL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Thank you for inviting me to speak with you today to discuss ethics issues at the
National Institutes of Health (NIH) relating to consulting arrangements and outside
awards.

As General Counsel for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
(HHS) my office is responsible for providing representation and legal advice to HHS
on a wide range of health and human services issues. By providing such legal serv-
ices to the Secretary of HHS and the organization’s various agencies and divisions,
the Office of the General Counsel (OGC) supports the development and implementa-
tion of the Department’s programs. OGC has over 400 attorneys and a comprehen-
sive support staff located in many locations across the United States. Our office has
a diverse and challenging portfolio, with legal issues about technical rules for agen-
cy programs on topics as disparate as health financing and welfare, as well as a
broad range of general legal issues facing every federal agency such as administra-
tive law, personnel and employment law, information law, and, of course, ethics.

OGC’s main role in the area of ethics has been the Ethics Division’s provision of
legal advice regarding applicable laws and regulations to the ethics officials who run
the agency’s ethics program. In HHS, as in most large Cabinet Departments, the
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ethics program is overseen by a Designated Agency Ethics Official (DAEO) ap-
pointed by the Secretary and who, in our case, also heads OGC’s Ethics Division.
The DAEO oversees and coordinates a decentralized Departmental ethics program.
The DAEO also appoints Deputy Ethics Counselors (DECs), who are senior manage-
ment officials chosen by each operating division. Each of these DECs, along with
agency heads and management in each component, are responsible for running eth-
ics programs tailored to the needs of extensive, geographically dispersed workforces
composed of many professionally trained employees with varied responsibilities. As
managers closest to day-to-day operations, these DECs are equipped and responsible
for identifying and evaluating the relevant ethics issues in their respective compo-
nents. Additionally, the DECs and their staffs possess the scientific and technical
expertise necessary to identify and resolve ethics issues in situations involving
science, medicine, and other complex fields. Within their respective operating divi-
sions, the DECs are responsible for establishing a system for reviewing public and
confidential financial disclosure forms, considering outside activity requests, pro-
viding ethics advice to individual employees, initiating ethics education and training
programs, and ensuring that violations of the conflicts statutes or the conduct
standards are reported to investigatory authorities and where appropriate, seeing
that disciplinary action is taken. Individual employees are, of course, ultimately re-
sponsible for their own actions.

As an attorney who has devoted over half of my professional career to serving the
federal government and who attaches great importance to public service, my objec-
tive in leading OGC has been to ensure the best possible legal advice to assist in
the accomplishment of HHS’ critical missions. I view the role of OGC not as making
policy, but rather as providing those who do set policy with the best possible legal
advice. This means that the function of my office is to work to identify the Depart-
ment’s policy objectives and then to identify the range of permissible legal options
to accomplish those policy objectives and advise on the legal and other risks associ-
ated with those options. Of course, legal advice is often accompanied by advice re-
garding considerations such as appearances, judgment, and other factors that may
be relevant to the agency’s situation. Where there is no established Government-
wide interpretation of a law, it is the Department, then, which decides which inter-
pretation of law to adopt and what course of action to take. In so doing, the Depart-
ment can appropriately balance the considerations identified by their lawyers
among many others relevant to accomplishing the agency’s objectives.

I strongly believe that such advice, including advice about appearances, is particu-
larly important in the area of government ethics—where the law may be arcane and
complex, but where other non-legal factors invariably play a large role. Consistent
with the President’s statement that, ‘‘Everyone who enters into public service for the
United States has a duty to the American people to maintain the highest standards
of integrity in Government,’’ I have initiated and led a successful effort to obtain
and dedicate additional resources to enhance the Ethics Division in OGC. This ini-
tiative, which is already being implemented this year, will enhance the ability of
the DAEO to scrutinize and oversee the Department’s ethics activities. In addition,
it will dramatically strengthen the ability of the DAEO to oversee these programs
and their officials.

As part of this initiative, the Department will institute systematic oversight of the
ethics programs within the various operating divisions of the Department through
regularized compliance auditing and program review. The initiative will increase
component accountability for ethics program implementation, augment financial dis-
closure review and training development, and enhance the capabilities of the Ethics
Division and the authority of the DAEO. To my knowledge, this will make HHS
OGC’s Ethics Division the largest single legal office devoted exclusively to govern-
ment ethics outside of the Office of Government Ethics.

These efforts will help ensure that the DAEO is in the best position to oversee
HHS’ and NIH’s ethics program in the future. The Department is also committed
to helping the Committee understand the past implementation of and compliance
with the current ethics rules at NIH. In this regard, we have worked hard to solve
a number of legal issues relevant to the Committee’s work, as well as to support
NIH’s efforts to identify and rectify areas of concern. The Committee’s oversight in
this area has also been helpful in identifying areas of concern. We hope these steps
have aided the Committee’s work and helped provide insight into the relevant proc-
esses and issues. The goal of ensuring public confidence in the integrity of NIH is
one that the Department shares with the Committee and a goal we can best accom-
plish together. As NIH moves forward, with the help of the Department and my of-
fice, to address those concerns, the Department continues to value the Committee’s
informed views and welcome the Committee’s suggestions regarding steps that may
be taken to ensure that the tremendous trust that the Congress and the public place
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in NIH is as unquestioned as the vast contributions NIH has made towards advanc-
ing the nation’s health and the promise it holds to continue doing so.

The proposal outlined by Dr. Zerhouni today to strengthen the ethics rules at NIH
is an important fruit of that collaborative effort. The proposal was largely born out
of the work Dr. Zerhouni has led to find ways to build on the recommendations of
the Blue Ribbon Panel, which were a helpful starting point. The Department was
pleased to see that NIH proposed to take strong steps to provide additional review
of awards and prohibit outside activities with grantees of NIH by the leadership of
NIH as well as employees involved in the grants process. And the Department
worked with Dr. Zerhouni to strengthen the proposal even further. The result has
been a collaborative effort to address the issues raised by the Committee, including
a proposed prohibition on holding of stock in individual biotechnology and pharma-
ceutical companies like that in place at the Food and Drug Administration (whereby
such holdings are prohibited for all employees that file financial disclosure reports,
and there is a $5,000 limit on such holdings by other employees. There are also pro-
posed prohibitions on outside activities by senior NIH leadership with industry and
extensive limitations for all other employees. As a lawyer, my predisposition is for
bright line rules, e.g., complete prohibitions, which are easy to administer and inter-
pret. This Committee’s oversight work has also demonstrated the difficulty in apply-
ing complicated rules to real world scenarios. However, the proposal balances this
consideration with the needs identified by Dr. Zerhouni to ensure NIH can recruit
and retain the nation’s most talented scientists and allow them to contribute to the
march of human scientific progress outside the confines of the workplace.

In conclusion, the Department shares the Committee’s commitment to maintain-
ing the highest ethical standards at NIH and thereby ensuring that the vitality and
promise of NIH is not undermined by any lack of public confidence in the motiva-
tions of its employees and their conduct. OGC remains committed to help NIH un-
derstand applicable laws, further identify legal options, and give legal advice rel-
evant to NIH’s ethics program. And OGC remains committed to cooperating with
this Committee in its important work.

Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today. I would be pleased to an-
swer your questions.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you very much, sir, for your testimony.
The Chair recognizes himself for 5 minutes.
And let me just again editorially comment that it is probably the

case that the NIH has the most complicated set of circumstances
around which to build an ethical system because of the outside ac-
tivity and because of some of the recruiting issues. But it is my
sense that with what you have proposed and a couple of things that
we may need to do legislative, I think the NIH will end up with
the tightest ethical standards anywhere in the Federal Govern-
ment.

Let me just be very clear, Dr. Zerhouni, with regard to outside
activity and disclosure. Is it your proposal that all, every single ap-
proved outside activity would be disclosed or is there——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. This is my intent. Obviously, we are going to
have to work with the current laws as to what can or cannot be
done and how it can be done. But that is my intent.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Azar, what impediments might there be to
full disclosure, public disclosure and to the extent that there, what
might we need to do legislative to overcome them?

Mr. AZAR. Mr. Chairman, we believe that it is possible for us to
get to work to get the—it is called the 520 form on which outside
activities are required and approved, to get those made public. Put
them up on the Internet if the NIH wishes to put them as part of
the data base.

What the agency will have to do to do that, and we have pro-
vided them with advice this, will be to either get the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics to modify their system of records under the Privacy
Act in which the form 520’s kept or something we could ourselves,
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create our own system of records in which the ethics forms, the
520’s would be kept, and have listed as one of the disclosures when
you create that system of records that it would be disclosed auto-
matically on the Internet once filed.

So these are things that we will work very collaboratively with
NIH to help them achieve their goal, but it is definitely something
that can be done.

Mr. GREENWOOD. My counsel advises me that the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics thinks that there may be some impediments to that
disclosure. And so I ask you to work with us to the extent that
there are any basis for legal challenge to that disclosure, we would
want to clarify that in the reauthorization statute so that we can
have this full disclosure.

Dr. Zerhouni, given all of the restrictions and controls, let us be
clear. Tell us what kind of outside consulting arrangement do you
envision as being permissible under this system.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Obviously, outside consulting, outside work for
editorial matters, writing a textbook, getting a contract from a pub-
lishing. I am assuming that is not the point of the discussion.

In terms of relationship with industry, for an employee who is
not in the senior leadership, so let us say for example you were an
expert on West Nile virus or the genetics of a particular process.
And that, in fact, it turns out that the same technique and the
same field of science that you are in is important because there is,
for example, a potential to develop an alternative treatment for an-
other disease. You may be asked to consult for that. It is not part
of your official duty; that is where we will define that. And one of
the issues——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Well, clearly, if it is within the scope of your
official duties, you will not be compensated for that?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is not allowed. No, you cannot be com-
pensated. And the determination now is not going to be done by an
ethics officer alone. It is going to be done by the NEAC, which has
scientists on its board who understand and can get advice on that
field of science.

A good example would be a plant genetics company that wants
to get advice from a human genome researcher. There is no overlap
there. Would we prevent that advice from being given? No. If some
other company says well I want to know about human genomics in
a field that relates to what, that would be prohibited.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And we have discussed this before, but I think
it is also important to us and for the public confidence, that there
be very clear rules about allocation of time so that if someone is
literally moonlighting, they are working in the evening after their
normal duties, they are working on the weekends, if they are using
their vacation time, you know that is fine. But we do need to be
clear that we are not paying people to be sitting at their desks at
the NIH and doing work for which they are being paid by an out-
side private entity.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I take your point. We are establishing a system
that will have, again, recording centrally of the activities. Four
hundred hours is about 6 hours a week; people can do this 1 hour
a day. So it is not very large. It is much less than universities will
do. But I think it is important to allow that and limit on dollars
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will also restrict that. But we will try to put systems—and I agree
with the devil is in the details comment that you made, Congress-
woman DeGette. We will have to work that through, but we intend
to monitor that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Dr. Zerhouni.
The gentlelady from Colorado.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Azar, I wanted to ask you a couple of questions. One con-

cern, I mean OGC has, I think you said in your testimony, over 400
attorneys but they are not all doing ethics. They are doing all the
legal work of HHS, right?

Mr. AZAR. Yes, ma’am.
Ms. DEGETTE. How many of them are concentrating on ethics?
Mr. AZAR. We have eleven individuals currently in the ethics di-

vision. The number of attorneys in that, I believe it is approxi-
mately six, maybe seven attorneys.

Ms. DEGETTE. So six or seven of the 400 attorneys are doing eth-
ics.

Mr. AZAR. Yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now, where are they based? Are they based

throughout the agency or are they based in one office?
Mr. AZAR. The head of that office, the Designated Agency Ethics

Officer and Associate General Counsel for Ethics is located in the
Humphrey Building on the same floor that I am on, right above the
Secretary’s floor as well as several of the attorneys. But two of the
slots are located physically out at NIH to assist NIH directly. And
then another——

Ms. DEGETTE. And there, I would assume, they are located in Dr.
Zerhouni’s office in the administration office?

Mr. AZAR. They are in Building 31, which is where most of the
administrative staff are. Dr. Zerhouni is in Building 1, but they are
with I think most of the center directors in Building 31. And they
are also with—we have a branch of lawyers that assist the NIH
regularly on other substantive matters, and they are now colocated
with them. So there can be some extra support.

I do not mean to say that the only lawyers who ever touch an
ethics issue are the people in the ethics division.

Ms. DEGETTE. Sure.
Mr. AZAR. For instance, the regional chief counsels will assist the

regional administrators on ethics issues. And all lawyers should be
versed somewhat in the ethnic provision——

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, one thing I have been concerned about, and
I shared this with Dr. Zerhouni, is when you have 27 institutes and
you have ethics personnel dispersed through those institutes, part
of the problem they have had, they have had no consistency with
administering ethical rules. Is that correct, Dr. Zerhouni?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. You are correct.
Ms. DEGETTE. And one of the goals I think of these new proposed

rules which is important is to get it all centralized into one office
so there is one set of standards being applied and also so that the
individuals approving or deciding on different requests are not im-
mediately there with the individuals. Correct, Dr. Zerhouni?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is correct.
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Ms. DEGETTE. Now, do you agree with that, Mr. Azar, in terms
of trying to reform the rules here?

Mr. AZAR. That is why I think Dr. Zerhouni’s efforts to create the
NIH Ethics Advisory Committee, a centralized process is very good.
It also provides a peer review background of support for the DEC
for the entire NIH and helps to centralize those decisions. And so
we can also provide our legal advice, which we provide them with
support as they make those decisions, we can provide that centrally
as well as to the DECs at each institute. But I think the more
things are handled centrally, I think that is a very important point.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. I want to ask you, I want to turn a little
bit to a different issue. That is the issue of who exactly do these
HHS lawyers who show up at our committee investigations rep-
resent? Now, if you take a look at tab 25 in the notebook you will
find a letter dated April 16, 2002 from yourself to Chairman Tau-
zin and Greenwood. Do you recognize that letter?

Mr. AZAR. Yes, Congresswoman.
Ms. DEGETTE. Now, on page two there is a paragraph at the top.

And that paragraph says in part ‘‘department attorneys who ac-
company an employee at FDA to an investigative interview will not
inform any department officials about the substance of the inter-
view.‘‘ The first sentence of that is ‘‘It is important to stress that
department attorneys represent employees in their personal capac-
ity.’’ Correct?

Mr. AZAR. That is what the letter agreed. Yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Yes. And that has actually been the longstanding

policy of the department, correct? When you send attorneys over to
represent an individual, they are there representing the individual?

Mr. AZAR. Actually, if I could clarify that. There was an agree-
ment in 1995 between the prior Administration regarding dealings
with FDA, and it is unclear in the text of it whether they are oper-
ating under official capacity or personal, but what information
would be shared. This was a unique——

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Yes, I understand. However, your letter to
Chairman Tauzin was dated April 16, 2002. And I have got to say
as a former lawyer myself, this is pretty clear what it says, right?

Mr. AZAR. Well, I was trying to clarify that this is not how the
department operates generally. This was and is a special accommo-
dation that was done with this committee at the committee’s re-
quest during the Imclone investigation to do that matter.

Ms. DEGETTE. Can you tell me where in this letter it says that
this policy was only in effect for the Imclone investigation?

Mr. AZAR. It refers to the fact, I believe that if I could look
through this, explaining the role of attorneys from the Office of
General Counsel with respect to interviews of FDA employees in
the Erbitux, the Imclone matter.

Ms. DEGETTE. No. It does not say in the Imclone matter.
Mr. AZAR. I am sorry?
Ms. DEGETTE. I mean it talks about the Imclone matter.
Mr. AZAR. It says the Erbitux matter.
Ms. DEGETTE. That is what was going on then, but it does not

say that this is policy was limited to the Imclone matter.
Plus, why would you have a policy that when lawyers come over

with witnesses that only with respect to one investigation the pol-
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icy is this way, but in every other investigation including ethics at
the NIH, that the policy is different?

Mr. AZAR. The department generally when we provide counsel,
provides them as official counsel to assist not only the witness,
often at their request, to assist them in preparing to deal with the
committees, to assist them so that they feel more comfortable in
working with the committee and so that they can be better pre-
pared in assisting the committee.

The committee in the Imclone matter, this was the first dealing
that we had with the committee on this type of matter. The com-
mittee had asked that we clarify their role as personal counsel. We
were happy to do that in that instance.

If I could explain, Congresswoman. We subsequently learned
that I had basically gotten bad advice in terms of what the role of
the attorneys could be. That only the Justice Department appar-
ently can authorize the representation of employees in their per-
sonal capacity creating a personal attorney/client relationship.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. Can I just ask one question, because my
time is up? Did you ever inform committee staff that you had got-
ten that clarification from the Justice Department?

Mr. AZAR. We believed, and I want to start by apologizing to you
and to the members of the committee.

Ms. DEGETTE. That would be a good start.
Mr. AZAR. I want to apologize. We thought in the context of the

FDA in June 2003, in the context of interviews the next after
Imclone, the next interviews, interactions we had with the com-
mittee was regarding an FDA importation proceeding where John
Taylor of his staff were being interviewed. And we had instructed
the line attorneys who were coming over when the committee
asked, you know when they were scheduled to interview, we had
instructed them to make clear to the staff that they were serving
as official counsel, not as personal counsel. Obviously——

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, why did you not write a letter like you wrote
in 2002?

Mr. AZAR. Obviously, I—obviously I apologize that we—that we
were not clear enough. We thought for lawyers when we say we are
representing in the official capacity not personal capacity, that—
that says it all for us. But——

Ms. DEGETTE. But you do not have any idea whether they said
that or not?

Mr. AZAR. It is my understanding that the lawyer did say it at
the interview with Mr. Taylor. But I do want—I do not want to try
to explain this away. As soon as in the NIH interview context, as
soon—I think it was in the context of Dr. Katz’, scheduling of his
interview, as soon as we learned that the committee was operating
under the impression of this Imclone arrangement, we raised it and
said we were not operating under that assumption, and the depart-
ment sat down with the committee to work out an agreement. We
now have an agreement to serve as official counsel but with a re-
striction on the sharing of information.

And, again, Congresswoman, I am very sorry if we were not clear
enough in communicating. I had intended that that be clear. I am
sorry that we did not do it clearly enough. And I just hope you will
accept my apology. Certainly it was not from any bad intent. We
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just—we always want to try to keep our role as counsel clear with
the committee. And I hope that we will be able to work on a going
forward basis in a productive way under the agreement.

But that really was our intent. And I am very sorry for any——
Mr. GREENWOOD. The time of the gentlelady has expired.
The Chair recognized the chairman of the full committee, Mr.

Barton.
Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Zerhouni, I want to again compliment you on the rec-

ommendations that you have presented to this subcommittee. I
want to ask a question about the National Institutes of Health Eth-
ics Advisory Committee. How long has that been established?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. We established this committee November 2003.
Chairman BARTON. November 2003? So it is not yet a year old?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, it is not yet a year old.
Chairman BARTON. And the formal membership are your insti-

tute directors? Are you a member of that committee?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. My deputy director, who is the—I have des-

ignated as the agency ethics, the DEC for the agency is a member.
My director for intramural science, Dr. Michael Gottesman is a
member.

We have a selection. Not just institute directors. There are sci-
entists also on the grounds and ethics officers of the NIH. We re-
cruited Mrs. Holli Beckerman Jaffe who now works in ethics in my
office to oversee that.

I do not sit personally on the meeting.
Chairman BARTON. Okay. What is the total membership of the

formal board?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I don’t have that exact number.
Chairman BARTON. Thirty people? Forty people?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, it is about—no, it is small. Ten people.
Chairman BARTON. Ten people? Do they have a permanent staff?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Do they have a permanent—well, as I said, the

ethics division of my office, the Office of the Director, is basically
staffing that committee, Ms. Holli Beckerman Jaffe was recruited.

Chairman BARTON. But that is at your—they have no formal
staff of their own? The staff they have are staff that has been de-
leted from your office?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is correct.
Chairman BARTON. Okay. The recommendation that you pre-

sented to this subcommittee I think are excellent. What has been
the response within the NIH of these recommendation? Are people
resistive or are they supportive, or do they feel like they have had
their hand caught in the cookie jar. I mean, what is the general
reaction?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I would say mixed. I talked to the directors yes-
terday. I had a special meeting of the institute directors to go over
what I was recommending. I would say that in the issues that re-
late to clerical practice, for example, they really want that to con-
tinue and I do not think there is an issue.

They were very strongly in favor of continuing pure academic ac-
tivities. I think the restrictions, they are concern about the restric-
tions having two impacts; one is moral in the troops. And uncer-
tainty of how we solve this issue is also impacting them and their
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ability to recruit, and my own ability to recruit. But most impor-
tantly, their concern that over time it would harm recruiting
because——

Chairman BARTON. Did any of them show any concern about
maintaining and restoring the public trust?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Oh, yes. I should have started with that. Abso-
lutely, positively. I have polled every single one of them and they
told me the following: Do whatever you need to do to absolutely re-
move this cloud from NIH. We will give you our support.

So I have the total support of all the NIH directors. Goal No. 1
is to reestablish that public trust.

Chairman BARTON. What, if any, legislative action do you need
on these recommendations?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. This is something that we are evaluating, obvi-
ously, as we speak. There are things that I think we can imple-
ment. There are things that could be handled with supplemental
regulations. I am not clear at this point. This is still, obviously, a
proposal that needs to be worked out. And if there are changes, we
will let you know, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman BARTON. Okay. Well, we want to work with you on
that.

I want to read from your prepared testimony on your bullet that
is headed ‘‘Outside activities with industry.’’ And I quote, ‘‘I intend
to prohibit senior NIH employees as well as all employees involved
in extramural funding decisions or cooperative research and devel-
opment agreements from consulting with industry for compensation
or any other form of enumeration.’’

What has been the response to that recommendation, which I
think is one of your key recommendations?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Full support.
Chairman BARTON. Full support. So there is no reluctance on

that?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No.
Chairman BARTON. What about the next one, participation on in-

dustry boards, ‘‘I seek to prohibit all NIH employees from member-
ship on corporate boards of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology
industries.’’

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Full support.
Chairman BARTON. Full support of that one, too.
Okay. My time is about to expire. I want to ask a general ques-

tion about our next panel. We have a situation where CRADA was
established with a company called Correlogic. And at some point in
time the NIH scientists who were working on that CRADA became
secretly involved or secret employees of a competitive company
called Biospect. Do you have any general comments on whether
that is a concept that should be supported or prohibited?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. This actually was the tipping point for me. When
that happened, that came up to light, I said we need the complete
scrubbing, complete reform. That is not appropriate.

Chairman BARTON. But in your opinion that should not be a gen-
eral practice that somebody that is working with one company se-
cretly goes to work for another company? You would agree with us
if we wanted to prohibit that by—I do not know that we need to
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do it by statute, but the fact that that should not be allowed is
something that you agree with?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I agree with that.
Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. Chairman, my time has expired and I yield back.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair is always prepared to be lenient

with the clock with the chairman, but the Chair thanks the gen-
tleman for yielding back and recognizes the gentlelady from Chi-
cago.

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. Thank you. This is the first of the three hear-
ings that I have attended, so I hope we are not going over some
of the same ground. I want to talk about the basic policy questions
here. It seems to me we are trying to protect the public interest
over the private interest concerns of some employees of NIH. Why
would it be in the public interest to ever allow any Government
employee to sign a contract that would prohibit that employee from
informing the government of exactly what has been asked of him
or her, and what he or she may have done in fact for a profit-seek-
ing entity that hires them?

It is my understanding that scientific advisory boards require
confidentiality as do most if not all employment contracts of any
kind in the biotech or drug development private sector field. How
can that in the public interest?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Well, first of all, in terms of board membership,
we are prohibiting that. I agree that there is an issue there.

In terms of the public’s interest, I think it is very important that
there is a public interest that is balanced by three different as-
pects. One, obviously, is the elimination of conflict or the appear-
ance of conflict, which is what we are trying to do.

Second, it is translation of knowledge is encouraged by Congress.
There is a mandate for us to accelerate the translation of whatever
discoveries into real benefit.

Third, I think there is a public interest in having the ability to
recruit an retain the best possible scientists for Government serv-
ice. And this is the balancing that I have, you know, have had to
do by prohibiting completely activities or interactions with industry
for those who have authority, that accomplishes that goal. How-
ever, it does not recognize the dual nature of NIH.

NIH is also a scientific laboratory. And we are recruiting individ-
uals of the highest competence who we are asking to do work for
the public’s interest. So those individuals, you know I have to com-
pete in the marketplace of ideas and in positions with 200 other
universities. So unlike other Government employees whose job in
the Government is specific to Government, like myself for example.
There is not another NIH in the private sector that I could be di-
rector of. So for me it is absolutely clear. I am making the choice
to serve the Government. There is no equivalent job.

If I am a scientist with no authority in a pure laboratory who
comes to NIH because we want to work on West Nile virus, for ex-
ample, that scientist has knowledge which is really very precious.
To prohibit that scientist from having interaction will basically go
counter to the public interest——

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. I am getting at the confidentiality issue.
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Mr. ZERHOUNI. Okay. Now, in terms of the confidentiality, I
agree with you, and this is what I mean by process change.

In the past what we did is basically there was a self-declared
statement that said well, I am consulting with company X. What
the NEAC is going to do is review the source documents and pass
judgment on the source documents rather than any other docu-
ment.

Now, in terms of confidentiality of scientists who have no author-
ity and so on, sometimes it relates to intellectual property issues
and protection of intellectual property is a legitimate concern of
both the government and the private industry. So that is the realm
where I think you can see the logic of having confidentiality. But
board membership——

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. I guess we have a lot of battles about that.
But if you have someone whose mandate is to advance scientific
discovery and who is also working for a company where some of
that discovery may be defined as proprietary, then it seems to me
that you have a conflict that is not resolved in the public interest,
but rather in the private interest.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Well, in terms of fiduciary responsibilities if you
were a board member or we had an employee relationship with
that company, I would agree with you. We are banning that. There
is no more of these relationships. However, when you talk about
the public’s interest, let me give you an example.

Rare disease, no interest from major pharmaceutical companies.
Some small company is trying to do that. Is it in our best interest
to help that company even though the intellectual property needs
to be protected for that company?

It is the same logic that we have in the CRADA relationship that
was an official one, and we disagree that in that context you should
allow somebody to then work for the competitor. We just had this
discussion with Chairman Barton. It is the same thing in this case.
There are legitimate reasons to help translate technology, and I do
not want to ban them.

Ms. SCHAKOWSKY. My time is up. But let me just say that it
seems to me whatever we put in place, and I think I would be in-
clined to even go further than your recommendations, what obvious
is that oversight—our oversight capacity—has to really be im-
proved. Because what you are telling us that even the current rules
which we and you have found to be very lax have not been en-
forced. And, since we are in such sensitive areas, my concern would
also be that, in the implementation of any changes you make, the
public interest is clearly preserved.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Appreciate it.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The time of the gentlelady has expired.
The gentleman from Oregon, Mr. Walden for 5 minutes.
Mr. WALDEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Zerhouni, I want to commend you for your efforts to try and

clean up the mess that you inherited that dates back some 9 years.
And I know the work must be difficult trying to balance, making
sure we maintain the best research minds in the world, working at
NIH and not lose them all out to the private sector and yet deal
with these conflicts.
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The Los Angeles Times, I think it was back it was back in De-
cember, featured six case studies. I am assuming you are familiar
with that article. How would each of those cases fared under your
proposed restrictions that you have outlined today?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Well, clearly if I recall, three of the cases were
two directors of clinical centers. That would be completely out.

There was a scientific director. That would be completely out.
There were two others that would be just scientists in the labora-

tories. They would be limited to 25 percent at 400 hours so it would
have drastically limited the amount that would have been done.

Mr. WALDEN. Right.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. And we would have reviewed not just their state-

ment of what the work was, but the specific scientific content
through the NEAC.

So I think that that is pretty much; two of the six would have
been reviewed, three or four of the six would have been prohibited.

Mr WALDEN. All right. Prohibited.
I want to get back to this issue of the 400 hours as well. Because

it seemed to me from one of the prior hearings that I sat through
that those hours are outside of the sort of standard 40 hour work
week, correct?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is correct.
Mr. WALDEN. So when we’re talking about somebody can

earn——
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Weekend time, vacation time, personal.
Mr. WALDEN. But it does not eat into the 40 hour work week or

whatever their work week is at NIH?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, it does ont.
Mr. WALDEN. Okay. Perfect.
And then after reviewing the data produced to the committee by

the various drug companies, the staff discovered some consulting
agreements between Pfizer and a Dr. Pearson Trey Sunderland to
the tone of $517,000 paid to Dr. Sunderland over a period of 51⁄2
years in six contracts. NIH apparently did not provide the com-
mittee with any paperwork on these agreements and the agree-
ments were not itemized on the 520 disclosure forms for Dr. Sun-
derland.

We have assurances from Pfizer that its reporting of the agree-
ment is correct as far as Pfizer’s internal records are concerned.
When staff questioned the agency about these agreements, they
were not able to provide us with a reasonable explanation. Have
you been made aware of this problem and what, if any, specific
knowledge do you have of the situation?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right. I was made aware of that problem Friday,
I believe, just before—Friday past. And since then my staff has
worked, you know, to look up the records and find out exactly what
the essence of the issue is. But from the preliminary report that
I have I think there is grave concern here that neither the public
disclosure forms, because that individual is subject to disclosure re-
quirements or the procedures that should have been in place even
by that time were followed. This is our preliminary evaluation. We
will continue to make sure that what I am saying here is docu-
mented.
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Mr. WALDEN. Now if that indeed is the case, would your rec-
ommended changes in the ethics standards——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Okay.
Mr. WALDEN [continuing]. Would they have caught this? Or, I

mean, it sounds like this person if indeed what the preliminary in-
vestigation shows is correct, we have got laws in place.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Mr. WALDEN. So somebody is still slipping through the net. How

do we do prevent that?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Excellent question. That is the relevant question,

I think, Mr. Walden.
No. 1, the fact that we will have a centralized data base of all

the activities is very important.
No. 2, the fact that we want to make public disclosure of every

activity. We will allow any third party player out there to know
who is doing what. So competition between——

Mr. WALDEN. But what triggers data into the data base? Is that
the filing of the 520?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is right.
Mr. WALDEN. But if the person does not file a 520, how do we

get at that?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right. Okay. So the random audit system that we

envision is going to be the sort of try to catch back. Because, obvi-
ously, you cannot legislate morality.

Mr. WALDEN. Right.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. And that is hard. But through the random audits

we can Google—that is the word now in the English language—
every scientific activity out there and match it against ours. So any
name of any NIH employee would appear in the Google activity
that we would then look and cross-correlate with our data base.
That is our intent.

Mr. WALDEN. So, okay, with the data base, but again, you see,
you’d be looking for a negative then, because if the person didn’t
file a 520, the data wouldn’t be in the data base.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Mr. WALDEN. But your name would show up.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Mr. WALDEN. Have you tried that just in this case, for example?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No. It happened Friday. I haven’t had the time

to look at that.
Mr. WALDEN. It would be interesting, because in essence, if they

didn’t file a 520, they’re not in a data base that doesn’t exist any-
way right now.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. But again, the important component of that too
is through good controls and implementation of disciplinary rules.
I think you will send a message to the community that there is a
new era in ethics, new day.

Mr. WALDEN. Well, clearly a half a million dollars over 51⁄2 years
is a pretty big problem, so I’m glad that you’re on it.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and recog-

nizes the gentleman from California, Mr. Waxman, for 5 minutes.
Mr. WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, Dr.

Zerhouni, Mr. Azar. I’m pleased to see you.
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I think it’s an important function of the Congress to oversee how
the Government is operating and whether the President has been
a Democrat or a Republican, one of the most effective ways for
Congress to learn about how the Government is operating is by
talking to Government employees who are actually implementing
the policies.

I’m not alone in this view. Throughout the last century, Congress
has repeatedly passed laws protecting its right to receive truthful
information from Federal employees and the Supreme Court has
repeatedly endorsed that right. Yet, in my decades in the Congress,
I don’t think I’ve ever seen an Administration that has so consist-
ently attempted to deter Government employees from providing
truthful information to Congress.

We’ve already heard about the Administration’s decision to send
Agency attorneys to these interviews and I gather that seemed to
be some kind of misunderstanding, but I would think that employ-
ees must feel somewhat reluctant to talk when they are off on their
own. That’s been the subject of a lot of discussion today.

I want to ask about a series of other actions by this Administra-
tion whose purpose appears to be to prevent HHS employees from
speaking candidly to Congress and particularly to Democratic
Members of Congress.

I’ve recently learned of an FDA memo informing employees that
they should refuse to speak to Congressional staff if called and that
if forced, should not speak unless an employee from the Adminis-
tration’s Legislative Office could sit in and monitor the conversa-
tion.

Mr. Azar, do you acknowledge, would you acknowledge whether
the Administration has adopted a policy barring Government em-
ployees from speaking to Members of Congress or the staff unless
the Administration can hear everything that is said?

Mr. AZAR. Congressman Waxman, other than having read some-
thing in the press about that, I’m not terribly familiar with that
particular instance that you’ve mentioned, but I would tell you that
as far as I understand, if an individual wishes to speak to Congress
in that kind of an interview oversight setting, we would not, in
working with this committee, for instance, with official counsel,
force ourselves on them. We view it as a service to the employee.
If the employee wishes to speak to Congress without us being
present, I certainly, it would not be my view that we should inject
ourselves.

And so if you would permit, I’d like to look into that situation
at the FDA and get back do you on the——

Mr. WAXMAN. It’s my understanding that whenever an employee
of the Department of Health and Human Services wants to talk to
a Member of Congress or staff, that someone has to be brought in
from the Department.

Mr. AZAR. We generally, I know that the legislative individuals
generally try to be available to assist and coordinate to make sure
balls don’t get dropped to provide assistance to the employees, but
I can’t imagine that if an employee wished to speak to Congress
about matters like that without Departmental people present, that
we would have any objection to that or want to get in the way of
that, Mr. Waxman.
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Mr. WAXMAN. I appreciate that and I assume the reverse is also
true of a Member of Congress wants to talk any employee. That
employee would feel that he or she would feel that they’re able to
talk to us without someone from the Department being present?

Mr. AZAR. If that was their desire, yes.
Mr. WAXMAN. Earlier this year, it was widely reported that the

Bush Administration ordered the Chief Medicare Actuary not to re-
spond to requests from Democratic members about the projected
costs of the Medicare Drug Benefit and projected costs of the bill
was absolutely central to the debate about whether the bill was
good or bad policy. And yet, the Administration insisted and I
think is still insisting that Members of Congress were not entitled
to this information. Are you familiar with that situation?

Mr. AZAR. I am, yes.
Mr. WAXMAN. In addition, I want to point out that from the be-

ginning of this Administration, I’ve written to HHS on a number
of occasions seeking information about HHS policies. In past Ad-
ministrations, whether Democratic or Republican, letters have al-
ways received a response. They may not have been the response I
was looking for, but we always got a response.

In this Administration, however, it appears that a new policy of
ignoring congressional inquiries has been instituted. Over 15 of the
letters I’ve sent to HHS since the start of the Bush Administration
have received no response whatsoever, complete silence. And when
my staff has asked for briefings, many of the requests have never
been responded to.

Over 9 months ago, my staff asked for a briefing on the use of
Nonoxynol-9 in condoms. A briefing was scheduled and canceled,
scheduled and canceled and then postponed indefinitely. No infor-
mation has been provided. And when briefings have been provided,
long time career Government employees who have met with our
staff have been unwilling to speak freely with their political bosses
listening in. Indeed, they’re hardly willing to say anything of sub-
stance. It was obviously they were seriously intimidated by Admin-
istration’s information gatekeepers.

Do you think it’s appropriate for the executive branch to refuse
to answer letters from Members of Congress or requests for brief-
ings?

Mr. AZAR. I can tell you that the Secretary has made it a priority
since he’s been in office to try to be responsive to correspondence
from Congress. I’d be happy to look into your articles of correspond-
ence that haven’t been responded to. Obviously, we get—the De-
partment does get a very large volume of questions and correspond-
ence from Congress and that has to be handled. But I’ll be happy
to check into that to see what the status is of responses to you.

Mr. WAXMAN. I appreciate that. And the other thing I want to
raise with you is that I’ve heard that specifically an employee was
told at FDA, or all the employees were told at FDA that in 2001
by senior officials that career FDA employees were not to be per-
mitted to speak to congressional staffers and they specified which
ones and if they did, they’d be fired.

Do you think that would be proper? I don’t know if you’re famil-
iar with that incident. But do you think that would be proper?
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Mr. AZAR. Again, I am not familiar with that and I’d want to
know all of the facts and circumstances around that, but as I’ve
said, as a general matter, I don’t think the Department tries to get
in the way of individuals who would like to speak with Members
of Congress about issues.

Mr. WAXMAN. I’m going to send you more information about that
incident.

Mr. AZAR. Thank you.
Mr. WAXMAN. In conclusion, I just want to point out that one of

the letters that has remained unanswered was a letter to you, Jan-
uary 20, 2004, asking for information about ethics waivers issued
to HHS employees related to negotiations for prospective employ-
ment, particularly with regard to Tom Scully.

Is there any reason you haven’t answered that letter?
Mr. AZAR. My understand is that letter was, as all congressional

correspondence, was referred over to the Department where that’s
handled and I had thought that that had been responded to. I will
check on that. I’m sorry if you’ve not gotten a complete response.
I thought you had gotten your response on that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The time of the gentleman has expired. The
gentleman, Mr. Bilirakis, is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Getting back to the
subject matter of this hearing, Mr. Azar, are you the chief ethics
office for the Department of Health and Human Services?

Mr. AZAR. Actually, the way the Government ethics system is op-
erated, the Secretary directly appoints an official to serve as the
designated agency ethics officer and that individual is a direct re-
port to the Secretary. And that is a gentleman named Ed Swindell
who testified at the last hearing before this committee. And he
serves as the point of contact, the liaison, with the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics and also works with an overseas, a very decentral-
ized ethics process——

Mr. BILIRAKIS. You’re chief counsel?
Mr. AZAR. Exactly, sir.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. So he works in a——
Mr. AZAR. Yes. In his role as Associate General Counsel, pro-

viding the legal advice. He does report to me.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. He reports to you.
Mr. AZAR. He does report tome.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Let me ask the question. Prior to this business

having been really brought out in the open by the newspapers, by
this committee, etcetera, was your office aware of it and if you were
aware of it, did you try—I guess what I’m getting at is is your func-
tion or at least the function of the ethics portion of your office, just
to put out fires when fires arise or is the function to sort of try to
keep fires from taking place? I think you understand what I mean.

Mr. AZAR. Yes, I do understand that. It certainly would be our
goal to not just be putting out fires, but to be proactive, if we could.
In this instance, no, I had not been aware of these issues before
the important work of this committee. We’ve tried to be very re-
sponsive in working with Dr. Zerhouni and NIH and the rest of the
Department in dealing with——

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes, but if we have an Ethics Department there,
or office or whatever you would have called it, I mean what else
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do they do other than take a look at whether there might be
breaches of ethics taking place within the Department?

Mr. AZAR. A large amount of the work is reviewing the financial
disclosure forms that come in and certifying those, as well as pro-
viding the day to day ethics advice. But your concern, I think, is
very valid, sir. And as a result, we are implementing a program
that will more than double the size of the ethics office and will for
the first time in—as far as I understand it, within the executive
branch, will for the first time have an oversight function internal
to the Department so that the designated agency ethics officer will
have the capacity to conduct his own audits and oversight of the
performance of the ethics officials throughout the Department.

As I understand it, this would be unique. Currently, there are
periodic edits, periodic audits that happen from the Office of Gov-
ernment Ethics, which is an independent Executive agency. So I
think your point is well taken and we are working to try to make
that more of our capacity, sir.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, let me ask you. You’ve been a public servant
for quite a few years. You didn’t indicate here how many, but still
quite a few.

How much of this takes place, if you know, Dr. Zerhouni, Mr.
Azar, let’s say in the Veterans Administration? They do a lot of re-
search, do a lot of—many of their people do the same sort of thing
where they receive stock options and monies, what not, from some
of the people that they work with. We have universities out there,
some public, some private that do a lot of research. How much of
this takes place? If you could sort of short answer as you can.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right. At NIH, as we’ve said over the years it in-
volved about 3 to 4 percent, 5 percent of the employees. I really
can’t comment on how much of it takes place in another Federal
agency. Really, I don’t know. One thing I can say that as a Federal
agency director, the one thing that hurts you is what you don’t
know. So I think we need to put in place mechanisms as Mr. Azar
is suggesting of proactive management.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. That’s the whole point. We haven’t. So are—if it
is taking place to any degree to speak of in the VA and some of
these other, maybe these other Departments and in some of the
universities and what not, are they at least aware of what’s taking
place here, the hearings and hopefully—do you know, Mr. Azar?

Mr. AZAR. Certainly since Friday, I believe, that when this com-
mittee has asked for information from other Departments, I think
that they’re certainly aware of it and from press coverage, but like
Dr. Zerhouni, I’m not familiar with whether the same types of op-
portunities for outside consulting activities and awards present
themselves to people outside of the NIH at other agencies. I don’t
know. NIH tends to be rather a unique entity as the crown jewel
of biomedical research and being run really like a research univer-
sity. I don’t know that there are any other comparable entities in
the Government that would be so attractive and also where there’s
been a fairly long-standing congressional and administration policy
of encouraging interaction with the private sector to commercialize
interventions.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Let me ask this just very quickly. Stability, con-
tinuity, all very important. I’ve always kind of felt that many of the
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problems we have up here is that there is a lack of that because
everything seems to be tied into politics and there are changes in
Administrations, changes in the Congress and leadership of the
Congress, etcetera, etcetera.

Dr. Zerhouni, you’ve given us approximately 10 steps which
sound terrific. God forbid there’s a change in Administrations as a
result of November and there would be people here who would dis-
agree with that, God forbid, but in any case, the fact is that that
sort of thing does take place, even if we’re talking about the end
of the 8-year term, 8-year period of time.

Then what happens? With all your good will and your good inten-
tions and everything of that nature, do they conceivably go down
the drain because they’re no longer the cause of the new
person——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That’s why I work very hard to find proposals
that would be embedded, structural, that will be embedded in sup-
plemental regulations, if we need to. And we’re working very——

Mr. BILIRAKIS. How about embedded in the law?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. And in addition to that, I think there is a poten-

tial for, depending on what we find, for your help to be very signifi-
cant here, and for the questions that you’ve asked. I mean is there
enough authority? Do we have enough process, do we have enough
controls?

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I think that’s what we need to do and we’re com-

mitted to——
Mr. BILIRAKIS. We’ve committed to you and we’re trying to do

something with NIH, but we need to also get commitments from
you that you’re going to help us do it correctly to help you do your
job better.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman. The gen-

tleman from Florida, Mr. Stearns, is recognized for 5 minutes.
Mr. STEARNS. Good morning, and thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Zerhouni, I have some slides here in front of me and I think

they’re from the second hearing in which they talk about money re-
ceived by various scientists at NIH. For example, I have one here
on H. Brian Brewer. He’s Chief of Molecular Disease Branch. Does
this ring a bell at all? If not, I can just have my staff——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Not really.
Mr. STEARNS. Not really. Can I have someone from our staff take

this down to him and he and I can just go through it?
The purpose of you and I just going over this is to reiterate

again, I think, the whole question does the NIH have any actual
evidence that the NIH scientists have left because of consulting
fees being cut. Before I did that, I just wanted to take you to slide
8 which is Brian Brewer. And this was composed, comprised by
taking information that we could from pharmaceutical companies
and I guess—and other agencies.

But as you can see, Mr. Brewer, I assume he’s a doctor, received
almost $200,000 plus stock between his travel and his fees at
Pfizer, Lipid Sciences and all, Eli Lilly and all these companies.
You can see that.
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Now if you don’t mind, I’d like you to go over to one which is a
little bit more prodigious in that slide 1, Michael Brownstein. He’s
Chief of the Lab of Genetics. This shows that he has stock valued
at almost $2 million, that he obtained, plus over $27,000 in fees.
And when you go through this, take slide 2, now. We have Ronald
Germain. Dr. Germain received $430,000 in reimbursable expenses
or consulting fees, plus stock options.

Now it seems to me that you have Government employees that
are working at NIH. They have a pretty significant title, yet they’re
going out into industry and they’re getting not only reimbursed for
consulting fees, they’re getting reimbursed for travel fees and then
they get all these stock options.

Now I mean you can just flip through these different slides. Don’t
you think this is pretty egregious and totally unnecessary? Obvi-
ously, your statement is we’re going to reform it, but when you look
at that, isn’t that rather appalling to see all of that?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes, and I think we need to really look at what
you’re referring to and for example, there’s no doubt that in the
case of slide 8, for example, Brian Brewer, with the new rules that
we’re implementing, there will be no service on advisory boards.
None of that will be——

Mr. STEARNS. I think that’s what you can help us through. When
you look at these slides, tell us under your proposal how this would
be prevented?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right, that’s exactly what I’m trying to do here.
I think there would be a major difference. For example, the con-

sulting would not reach that sum in any 1 year, that a person can
only do 25 percent, if that person is eligible to do that. Under cer-
tain ranks, they wouldn’t be.

Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Brewer, as Chief of Molecular Disease Branch
be able to do it under your proposal?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes, he would. He’s not someone who does——
Mr. STEARNS. He’d still be able to get almost $200,000 plus

stock?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, he will not be able to do that. For example,

Lipid Sciences, Astr Zeneca will be out of the new system. He can-
not do that.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. With the new system. He cannot receive any

stock in the new system. And then, when you look at his compensa-
tion, that compensation will probably be cut in half if the work that
he’s doing is justified and reviewed independently as seen as being
independent of what he does otherwise.

Mr. STEARNS. What about in the idea of stock? What are you pro-
posing?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Total ban.
Mr. STEARNS. Total ban on stock.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Total ban, for everybody.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. And limit on any—I mean, we’re totally banning

any compensation in stock or stock options. That’s No. 1. And No.
2, we are scrubbing every employee from owning any individual
pharmaceutical buying that stock that has anything to do with
science or potential for consulting and limiting every other em-
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ployee to $5,000. Remember, when we put a prohibition it applies
to members of the family too.

So all employees who do not do science, we want to limit that to
$5,000 for one stock. But employees who do science, no stock.

Mr. STEARNS. Do you think your proposal should have been done
some time ago to prevent this?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. For the benefit of hindsight, yes.
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and notifies

the members and their witnesses we are going to do another round
of questioning here.

The Chair recognizes himself.
Dr. Zerhouni, I note that NIH was notified in February 2004

about information indicating that Dr. Moshell, the Skin Disease
Branch Chief, was testifying as a compensated expert witness in
Accutane cases. It’s my understanding that he scheduled to be de-
posed in a case no later than July 15, 2004. NIH acknowledges Dr.
Moshell did not notify NIH about these activities and that he
should have notified NIH about them. The only action taken has
been to counsel Dr. Moshell, as I understand it.

Is counseling considered a disciplinary action and is that a suffi-
cient management response in this case?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes, in the strategy of managing issues like that,
counseling is part of disciplinary, proactive disciplinary counseling,
if you will. Because I think in this particular case, what I under-
stand is that the gentleman was allowed to do clinical practice
years ago. And in the meantime then, as you know, many clinical
practitioners will also testify on cases and decide to be an expert
witness, not realizing perhaps or not knowing perhaps that we
have a prohibition against being an expert witness for anything
where the Government may have either an interest or an involve-
ment. He was then counseled by our ethics people, I understand.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Is it your intention to allow Dr. Moshell to tes-
tify without prior approval in the future?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. No.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So he’ll have to for each and every opportunity,

request that he has to testify.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Expert witness is an activity that requires disclo-

sure and approval.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Let me on the same subject, let me go

to you, Mr. Azar.
It’s been noticed that Dr. Alan Moshell, who we’ve just discussed,

the Skin Disease Branch Chief and Program Director, has been—
you heard me talk about the fact that he’s been an expert witness
and it has been alleged that Dr. Moshell has testified that specifi-
cally that FDA approved labeling for Accutane is legally inad-
equate.

Are you concerned that Dr. Moshil’s involvement conflicts with
the public legal position of FDA?

Mr. AZAR. Again, I just learned about this recently and I don’t
know all of the facts, but if they are as you’ve described them, I
am very concerned about that and he first off, he should have
sought approval of an outside activity, but also to serve as an ex-
pert witness in a proceeding in which the Federal Government is
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a party or in which it has a direct and substantial interest which
I would think the legality of the FDA’s approved label would be
such a case the DAEO, the designated agency ethics officer for the
entire department has to authorize that and would consult with
both FDA and with NIH as to what the Government’s interest. But
as described, I’m very concerned about the situation.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And help me understand the ethical issues in-
volved here because I’m not personally clear on this because on the
one hand there are, as I understand it, rules and policies that
would prohibit that kind of testimony. Someone looking at it from
the outside would say that sounds like you’re muzzling a Federal
employee who might have some important information that would
expose something going wrong in the Government.

So walk me through the ethical implications of this.
Mr. AZAR. I think the basis for the rule and the reason for con-

cern is the concern of undivided loyalty to your employer, the Fed-
eral Government here, that the Government, United States, not
FDA, but the United States has a position as to the legality of its
label and to have its own agents testifying to the contrary, I think
is very destructive to that position.

And also, there’s always the risk that the individual’s title, their
position within the Government is used against the Government,
the fact that they are a senior individual at NIH is used to essen-
tially lend extra credence to their testimony.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Which makes them more valuable to a Plain-
tiff’s attorney who would be inclined to pay them handsomely for
that testimony.

Mr. AZAR. Exactly.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So obviously, in circumstances where that FDA

employee might be subpoenaed by the Plaintiff’s attorney, that—
he’s permitted, he or she would be permitted to testify under those
circumstances, but just not as a voluntary paid expert witness. Is
that right?

Mr. AZAR. And actually, in private litigation, if an official of the
Department is subpoenaed in private litigation, the Department ac-
tually is under—they’re called the 2-E regulations. The Depart-
ment decides whether it’s in the interest of the Government to offer
the individual to testify, even if it’s a subpoena in a third party pri-
vate piece of litigation. So it should always be subject to what’s in
the Government’s best interest.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Zerhouni, have you been briefed about the
situation involving Pearson Trey Sunderland and Karen Putnam I
mentioned in my opening statement?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes, last Friday I was made aware of that situa-
tion.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And I note that Mr. Walden already inquired
about that. My time has expired. The gentlelady from Colorado.

Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. At the conclusion of
my questioning, Mr. Azar, I believe you had said that there is now
an agreement as to the rule of HHS counsel when they come to
oversight and investigation hearings. Was that what you had said?

Mr. AZAR. Yes ma’am. That’s my understanding, that there had
been a letter from the Assistant Secretary from Legislation to the
chairman of the committee.
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Ms. DEGETTE. Right, that’s in Tab 1 of your notebook from Jen-
nifer Young.

Now I read that letter. Is Ms. Young an attorney?
Mr. AZAR. I don’t believe so.
Ms. DEGETTE. Well, first of all, would it surprise you to know

that—and staff can correct me. It’s my understanding we got this
letter, but that certainly Democratic staff has not agreed to this
procedure outlined in this letter. Did you know that?

Mr. AZAR. I did not know that.
Ms. DEGETTE. And I’m told that Republican staff has not agreed

to that procedure either. He confirms that.
Mr. AZAR. I’m sorry, then I had a misunderstanding. I had a

misimpression of that. I thought there was.
Ms. DEGETTE. Right, and this is sometimes the problem—this is

why we’re a little worried about the execution of the whole ethics
procedure in general, because communication is a problem.

And one question I have, again, as someone who used to practice,
you know, when the attorney—when an employee, an HHS em-
ployee is asked to come in and meet with the committee, and they
say that they want a lawyer to accompany them, whose interest
does the lawyer represent?

Mr. AZAR. Whenever—outside of the original Inclone proceeding,
whenever our lawyers have met with the individual witnesses to
assist them, they should have always and I believe they have, they
should have always made clear to the individual, we are official
counsel. We are representing the Department. We are not your per-
sonal attorney.

Ms. DEGETTE. And if you desire personal counsel, then it is your
responsibility to go out and retain that counsel. Did they advise
them of that?

Mr. AZAR. I do not know for a fact whether that has been said,
but that is the case, yes.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, as someone who has represented a lot of wit-
nesses, I know people, especially people who are concerned, get
very confused about a lawyer shows up and it’s a congressional in-
vestigation and it’s under oath. People get very confused about
who’s representing them. So I might suggest to you as part of the
overall departmental reforms that you develop some written guide-
lines to be given to potential witnesses, explaining the duties and
roles of the HHS attorneys and also explaining that the person is
entitled to outside counsel of their own.

My concern is if you have a witness who has information that
they want to share with the committee, Republican or Democratic
staff, that maybe not in the best interest of HHS or whatever, then
there’s a huge conflict and it’s for that lawyer. You’re nodding. I’m
sure you agree.

Mr. AZAR. I think that’s a very helpful suggestion. I can tell you
when I was in practice, that if I were ever representing a corpora-
tion and speaking with an individual witness, I always did make
clear I represent the company. I’m not your lawyer. You can hire
a private lawyer. I just can’t say for a fact that that——

Ms. DEGETTE. I did that too and I always tried to do it in writing
to the witness.

Mr. AZAR. I think that’s a good point.

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00536 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



529

Ms. DEGETTE. My other request of you would be if you would
please sit down personally with Republican and Democratic staff of
this committee and iron out some written procedures so that we
can know when witnesses come in accompanied by an attorney who
they’re representing.

Mr. AZAR. I would be very happy to do that.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you very much. I have just one more ques-

tion for you, Dr. Zerhouni, now that we’re trying to think of how
to iron out these bugs.

I was thinking about Dr. Katz who came in and testified. You
might be familiar with his case. He was the fellow. He was doing
some consulting with a company and the company had a subsidiary
that had business pending, a grand application pending in front of
the NIH and he did not know that this—that there was any con-
nection when he later found out, I believe, after he was subpoenaed
by this committee or came in to talk to this committee, he imme-
diately severed the relationship.

So my question is in all of the ethics oversight that you’re trying
to do with the centralized electronics, how are we going to be able
to—because as you know, corporate America and the pharma-
ceutical industry, in particular, and biotech, are very—the cor-
porate relationships are very complex. How are we going to be able
to catch those kinds of very real complex?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Well, first of all, we just prevent them. So in the
rules that I’m proposing, Dr. Katz being a Director of an Institute
will be completely prohibited, period.

Ms. DEGETTE. But let’s say it’s someone who would be eligible
and who honestly himself or herself may not have known about
that. Because Dr. Katz did not.

Mr. AZAR. Again, I’m prohibiting every employee that has any
authority in grant funding, contract making, from any activity of
that sort.

Again, this would not happen under the new rules. There’s no
way for an individual in the line of command and their subordi-
nates to be able to influence——

Ms. DEGETTE. And I guess your testimony is then since you’re
prohibiting those individuals, it wouldn’t matter for someone else
not in that category if there was——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right. Again, it’s the dual nature of NIH. It’s a
Federal agency role and it’s sort of a scientific university type ac-
tivity which has no real power over allocating grants. But we’ll go
further than that. We are saying that our scientists will not consult
with potential grantee institutions so that anybody who would then
come and say I want a grant will not be able, as a university, for
example.

So we’re trying to build as much fire walls as we can.
Ms. DEGETTE. I understand.
Mr. AZAR. Congresswoman, I think, and please correct me if I’m

wrong, Dr. Zerhouni, I think in the instance if the individual has
the grant making function under them, even if they weren’t in-
volved, if there’s any connection to the grant making process, they
would also be precluded.

Ms. DEGETTE. And my time has expired. I’m focusing not on the
individual. I’m focusing on the corporate relationship of the—in
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particular, the private company that they’re trying to get a grant.
But I understand what you’re saying, Dr. Zerhouni.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The gentleman from Florida, Mr. Bilirakis.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I said in one of the

prior two hearings, maybe in both, I don’t remember, that we’ve al-
ways got to be careful that we do no harm. And whereas these
things that have taken place in the past and we should be thinking
more in terms of today and the future and trying to keep some of
those bad things or at least perceptively bad things, put it that
way, straighten that out, clear it up. I think it’s important that we
look to the future.

NIH is so highly thought of in the world. Let’s face it. It’s world
class. In fact, you and I were in Italy not a few months ago where
they’re setting up their own form of the NIH. So we don’t want to
do anything to hurt their effort. And maybe we are doing some-
thing to hurt their effort and I hope not.

But let me just put that question to you, Dr. Zerhouni. Are we
doing something here that might be hurting NIH’s effort in terms
of their image, their reputation, in terms of recruitment, in terms
of the research in general? Maybe you could take a full period of
time to respond to that.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That’s the most difficult question I have to face
because again, I have to do a balancing of the analysis and it is
the appropriate question to ask because many times I get asked
what is the evidence that you have that by having stronger rules
we may not be able to recruit or retain.

My position is what is the evidence that we have that we will
do no harm? Because I think at the end of the day we need to pro-
tect that. And I’m trying to find the balance between the two. A
total ban, as I’ve said, would be detrimental to the scientific staff
who is really unrelated——

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Detrimental? Disastrous may be even a stronger
adjective?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I can’t say that because again I don’t have data
either way, but I can say for sure that we will have people who will
leave the agency and I think it will be a factor in recruiting that
wasn’t as much of a factor to attract someone from the outside who
may have had activities. That person may have to sever them all.

And I think it relates to what the chairman said. I think we need
to balance compensation and the possibility of compensation. The
field of opportunities for our scientists should not be so restricted
so that it will make it much easier to just walk across the street
and go to a university. We have 200 competitors out there. So I’m
concerned about it. But I think these rules strike a right balance
and I wouldn’t definitely say that they would be harmful. They
have the potential to, in some areas, to prevent us from recruiting
and retaining the best, but I don’t believe that at this point, I can’t
say for sure what the impact would be.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. I’m raising the question, but I know that the
chairman, both chairmen, Mr. Greenwood and Mr. Barton, are as
concerned as I am, as I think all of us are in this regard.

What is the morale picture at NIH?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I would say the morale has been lowered.
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Mr. BILIRAKIS. Lower as the result of some of the things that
we’re doing?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. In part. Yes. I think there are other factors, obvi-
ously. I mean there are budgetary constraints. There are changes
that we’re bringing to the administration of NIH. Obviously, all of
those things play a role, but I think this has damaged the morale,
especially of the over 95 percent of the scientists who have really
given their lives to NIH.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. It pains them to see NIH painted in such a nega-

tive light, when in fact, they’ve done all their best to serve NIH
and the country without any of this kind of slide material that
were shown here. That affects morale because really the core value
of NIH is to really serve the public and do it right and all of the
people I know there are really pained by this and would like to get
clarification and let’s move on.

I think my point is performing autopsies on what was is impor-
tant, we need to do that. But more importantly here is to make
sure the patient is cured and moves forward.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, Doctor, and I know the chairman well
enough to know that he is just as concerned about those things as
I am and again, with your help,k we are going to clear this up in
the interest of continuing the best research in the world.

Thank you and thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman. Mr. Stearns

for 5 minutes.
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just following up what

my colleague from Florida was talking about. NIH is the premiere
medical research organization in the world and it will be after it’s
over and I think it will be better because of this and I think bring-
ing some transparency here and also bringing to light some of the
problems will make it even better. So I applaud you for what you’re
doing this morning in this your proposal. I guess in looking at the
activities reviewed by NEAC, they looked at 317 and recommended
approval of 234 of these arrangements.

My question is how many arrangements were there last year for
the whole year? In other words, prior to the Act, prior to NEAC,
the NIH Ethics Commission, how many total arrangements were
there?

Can you put your speaker on? I can’t hear you.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I’m just going to estimate.
Mr. STEARNS. Oh sure, I’d just like, as much as possible, just a

complete accuracy of how many arrangements there were.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes, I’m trying to—all right, I’m going to give you

the numbers I have.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay, thank you.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Basically, we had about 365 agreements probably

involving about the same number or more, less employees. That’s
because over 5 years, we’ve had about 1500. So it’s about 300, 350
a year.

Mr. STEARNS. So about 300 a year, approximately.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. A little more.
Mr. STEARNS. How over how many years did we have this ar-

rangement?
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Mr. ZERHOUNI. Since 1995.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay, so we’re talking about 5, 9, almost 10 years.

So we’re looking at perhaps maybe 3,000 arrangements, separate
arrangements or are we talking about 5,000 or 10,000?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. About 3,000.
Mr. STEARNS. About 3,000.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Of those we know, but now we’re finding there

are some we don’t know about.
Mr. STEARNS. And would you, could you make an estimate on the

ones you don’t know about, how big that is? Is it 10 percent or 20
percent?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. No, really, I can’t. I mean this is the information
that the chairman was referring to. I don’t have that information.
I don’t know that, but it’s a small amount, obviously, relative to the
total.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay, well, let’s just use your figures and say there
were 3,000 arrangements since 1995.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Mr. STEARNS. Now I don’t think all of them fit this presentation,

what is in the slides here, where people are making almost $2 mil-
lion in stock or they’re making large sums and reimbursement.
Slide 5, Gary Nable made $314,000 in expenses and travel and
things like that.

I guess my question is, Mr. Azar, do you have an Inspector Gen-
eral on your staff?

Mr. AZAR. No sir, the Inspector General is independent and re-
ports directly to the Secretary.

Mr. STEARNS. Do you have anybody on staff that could be an in-
vestigator?

Mr. AZAR. We really don’t have any kind of investigative capac-
ity. With this enhanced ethics function, we’ll have some auditors
and the ability to do that.

Mr. STEARNS. That’s my question. Once this is in place, do you
have any way to investigate what’s happening?

Mr. AZAR. The way the ethics program would work is we will
have this enhanced ethics division function for oversight and audit-
ing.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Mr. AZAR. Each deputy ethics counselor in this decentralized eth-

ics program should also—is also responsible for oversight of the
functions and the conduct of the program within their operations.

Mr. STEARNS. So the NIH will have a set of investigators too?
Mr. AZAR. Well, the NIHAC, the NIH Advisory Committee, as

well as the NIH Office——
Mr. STEARNS. So the Commission will have its members and

they’ll have a step group, a subgroup that they can go through for
investigation Because we can put in place all these things and the
Commission can recommend, but the question will be what hap-
pens in the future if there’s no one checking it?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. This is a very good question and Item 10 of the
grid that I testified to, we actually mentioned the fact that we’re
going to initiate random audits as part and parcel of the process
of control of the ethics program.
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Mr. AZAR. But I think also, the Inspector General’s office could
also be used also to come in and do audits and evaluations of the
program, once we get these changes in place.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. My experience with that, Mr. Stearns, is that our
audits are a very good way of identifying vulnerabilities and then
referring them, obviously, to the Department and then to the In-
spector General.

Mr. STEARNS. Yes.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. That’s a mechanism we need to have.
Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Chairman, we’ve been through these over-

sights on the corporate problems and we found that we need ac-
countability was the biggest problem. And we talked about the
CEOs of the corporation ultimately signing their accounting reports
and somehow, Dr. Zerhouni, I would expect you to also interface
and not just leave it to these folks, but you should have some fidu-
ciary responsibility to put your name on some report that this has
all been corroborated and submit accounting because you ulti-
mately have responsibility.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I agree with you and that’s why in the manage-
ment process changes list that I propose, we said that we will add
the ethics function to supervisors’ performance plans across the
NIH, add the DEC’s function to the DEC’s performance plan and
by extension, it goes to my performance plan.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Formally and officially as part of the human re-

source management system that we currently have, which does not
include ethics oversight as a line responsibility of the people in au-
thority.

Mr. STEARNS. And Mr. Chairman, if I can just have a little bit
of the indulgence. Another question is the people that are ap-
pointed to the NIH Ethics Commission, the screening and these in-
dividuals I guess, you know, the non-Government appointees to
this Advisory Committee, what type of individuals would be the
non-Government appointees to the Advisory Committee?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. In statute, every institute in the NIH has an ad-
visory council composed of public members, 12 scientists and 6 non-
scientists. That’s the general pool. Those are named by the Sec-
retary of Health and Human Services through nominations re-
ceived by the Secretary that we also can propose and that is basi-
cally the source of the appointments on these committees. There’s
a rotation pattern, every 4 years, there’s a change over. And these
members are essentially members of the public.

Mr. STEARNS. Who would make the appointments to the inde-
pendent advisory committee? Who are going to make these appoint-
ments?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. These appointments are already made. This is a
board in statute, already existing, that is already in place to over-
see NIH from the public standpoint.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay, thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman and recog-

nizes himself for 5 minutes.
Dr. Zerhouni, if you turn to Tab 22 in the binder, you’ll find some

statistics on activities reviewed by the NIH Ethics Advisory Com-
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mittee. And it states that of 317 activities and awards received, re-
viewed by NEAC, NEAC recommended approval of 234.

The question is how does this rate of approval compare to the
rate of activity, approval prior to implementation of the new proce-
dures?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. well, if you look at the totality, 300, 350 this is
about, on the activities, probably about two thirds maybe.

Mr. GREENWOOD. A little more than that. And your question is—
what I’m trying to get at is do you know anything about the cur-
rent NEAC, your creation is approving a little more than 2 out of
3.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you know how that compares to previous

rates of approval of——
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I think it’s definitely lower because what I’m get-

ting as reports from the members of NEAC is that every time
they’re looking at a case to say wait a minute, these are activities
that were there before under current rules, so remember the 317
are not new ones. They’re the ones that were there. Of those 317,
some have been terminated. You see what I’m saying?

Mr. GREENWOOD. Right.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. In other words, the pool was the same pool that

was before NEAC, being reviewed by NEAC. And of those, we’ve
cutoff from 317 to 235.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And apparently I’m advised that prior to that,
if you’re now turning down a quarter or a third, it used to be that
only that 1 percent were rejected. So it’s an indication to me that
the NEAC is for real and is making some tough decisions.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That’s my understanding, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I do note though that in the NEAC, the NEAC

sent to the committee two instances where NEAC recommended
disapproval of two outside activities, but the NIH designated ethics
counselor approved them anyway.

Do you know how that happens?
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Not specifically on the cases that you’re referring

to. I’m not sure what they are, but I will follow up with you, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. We’ll do that. According to the data provided

by NIH to the committee, the average—this is not referring to that
tab any more, Dr. Zerhouni——

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The average turnover rate among scientific

staff for the 1994 to 2003 period, about 10 years, that is in Tab 26
if you want to look at that.

The average turnover rate among scientific staff for those 10
years was 9.24 percent, but the average turnover rate among Title
42 employees for 2000 to 2003 was only 2.4 percent. One could
draw the inference from the turnover rate that the higher salaries
of Title 42 has lowered turnover rates. Would you agree that’s what
we’re seeing there?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is correct.
Mr. GREENWOOD. If that’s correct, then why is it important to

still permit consulting when the higher salaries are already, seem
to be addressing and resolving the turnover issue?
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Mr. ZERHOUNI. Caps, No. 1. There have been caps since 1999, a
figure that doesn’t really look at cost of living and as years go by,
you will see again a decreased competitive for NIH to recruit these
individuals.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Suppose we lifted that cap and gave you the
authority to exceed that cap where necessary. Would you still feel
that the paid outside consulting arrangements, agreements were
necessary?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I would definitely look at that with favor, if I
could establish a market based compensation system where really
I’m not at a disadvantage. Right now, I’m in a real disadvantage
in recruiting top scientific staff at NIH. I can tell you two anec-
dotes, that it is not that easy. When I was Vice Dean of Research
and Executive Dean of a private medical school, I had more means
and more flexibility in recruiting scientists or chairs of department
with much lower responsibility levels than those that I’m recruiting
right now at NIH. So it is, actually, a structural problem and I
think there is a balance between compensation and opportunity for
compensation.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And it’s a tradeoff for the taxpayer as well be-
cause on the one hand the taxpayer will be adding extra compensa-
tion which would diminish your budget, which would take money
from your budget as opposed to the private sector paying for that
activity.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is correct.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Paying for the ability, the enhanced ability to

retain that——
Mr. ZERHOUNI. That is correct. And you want to sort of strike a

balance. We don’t want to end up in the situation where we pay
people high rates and their activity on Government time is to basi-
cally advise industry for free, because then you’re creating a sub-
sidy really.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Final question for me and I promise this, some-
times when we talk about what the difference is between the 20
percent of the NIH funds that stay intramurally and the 80 percent
that go out to the universities, etcetera, we talk about the reason
because theoretically, you could have a construct where it all went
out in grants. NIH could just be a grant making entity and not do
much research. And part of it is that the NIH does intramural re-
search that no one else is supporting.

So it sort of raises the question in my mind, if that’s the case,
what’s the competition? In other words, if you’re hiring people to
do research that no one else is supporting, is there really that
much competition or is it a question that if they weren’t doing that
they would be doing something else that someone is supporting?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. That’s a good question, but it’s not, the operating
definition is not what no one else will do. I mean we’re not doing
just that. About a third of what we do is really public health, rel-
evant, things that—safety of the blood supply, vaccine develop-
ment, things that really cannot be done really by the private sector
we need to do and we need to accumulate the science of that. Like
HIV/AIDS is a good example where a lot of the fundamental discov-
eries had to be made at high speed within an institution where I
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can control the program. You can’t control the program of 200 uni-
versities. So that’s important.

Second, you also want as a Government, scientists who would
work in the same areas that other universities work in, because
you want to have your own experts that are not tied to having the
need for grants, telling you what the real scientific truth is. So in
truth, we maintain a cadre of scientists who are independently
funded at the intramural program to make sure that we have an
understanding of the science that people are asking us to fund. So
that’s the other part of it. And that’s the part that I think you need
to make sure you don’t destroy.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The gentlelady from Colorado, do you wish to
further inquire?

Ms. DEGETTE. I just have, Mr. Chairman, I just have a question
and a comment.

My question is to Dr. Zerhouni, have you thought about what you
would do about post-NIH employment, transfer of knowledge and
issues like that?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. You mean cooling off periods?
Ms. DEGETTE. Yes.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Yes, we have and obviously, I couldn’t go into all

the details here, but we are looking certainly at these issues of
cooling off.

Ms. DEGETTE. Because it would seem to me that would be an im-
portant component of any enhanced ethics program that you would
adopt, would you agree?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. Right, I agree. And this is definitely part of—I
thought it was a detail, but it is part of our consideration.

Ms. DEGETTE. It’s a detail we care about.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. I know.
Ms. DEGETTE. That actually leads beautifully into my comment

which is that I have lots more questions here about how is the
stock option issue going to work and what are we going to do about
this and that. I mean it seems to me going back to my opening
statement the details. I know you’re trying to work those out. I
would hope that you and your staff would continue working with
this committee and our staff as you develop those details and Mr.
Chairman, I would hope you would leave the option open for yet
an additional hearing once those details are worked out. Because
I think we all agree you’re really on the right road here. We just
need to see how it’s all going to be executed and make sure that
the same kinds of excesses that we saw in the past aren’t hap-
pening now. And I thank you again for your attendance.

Mr. ZERHOUNI. I really agree with you.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Zerhouni, I lied about no more questions.

Just one last one.
You’ve referenced going to supplemental rulemaking. Do you

have a timeframe on when you expect to be able to do that and
then based on how long that takes, when these new rules would
take effect?

Mr. ZERHOUNI. We’re working on, I’ll let Mr. Azar comment on
that. We’re working very diligently to sort of create all of the rules
that we need. Some may not need rules. There may be some areas
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where can act right away. At this time, we’re really doing it within
the quickest amount of time possible.

Now beyond that, there are elements that are beyond my control
or even Mr. Azar’s control. Perhaps Mr. Azar can comment.

Mr. AZAR. It’s my understanding that in the past with supple-
mental ethics regulations at the Department that they have, once
they have been concurred in by the Office of Government Ethics,
that they can go direct to final, rather than notice and comment
rulemaking.

That would be my goal and I would advocate for that. Whether
the Office of Management and Budget, others who obviously play
a role in the decisionmaking on regulations will permit that in this
case because of impacts on private parties, I don’t know, but that’s
been a past practice and the way I would hope to go so that we
could go quickly once we could secure OGE and any other affected
agencies. It would obviously go through interdepartmental clear-
ance, the Justice Department, others might have views given the
relations. But my office will certainly work fully with Dr.
Zerhouni’s office to provide any assistance getting the regulations
drafted and working to advocate and get them through as soon as
possible and also working with the committee as we work on the
details there.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, both. Again, I compliment you on
your stellar work. It meets my approval across the board. There
are a couple of details to work out, but I’m very pleased and I want
you to know that and I want everyone at the NIH to know that
as well.

Thank you, again and you are excused.
Mr. AZAR. Thank you.
Mr. ZERHOUNI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And we will now call forward the second panel.

Mr. Peter Levine, President and Chief Executive Office of
Correlogic Systems, Inc. an Dr. Jonathan Heller, Vice President,
Information and Project Planning, Predicant Biosciences.

Gentlemen, we welcome you. Thank you for being here. You may
have heard me say to the previous panel that it is the custom of
this committee to take testimony under oath and I need to ask if
either of you object to giving your testimony under oath?

Okay, seeing no objection, I also need to inform you that pursu-
ant to the rules of this committee and of the House, you are enti-
tled to be represented by counsel. Do either of you wish to be rep-
resented by counsel?

You need to put your microphone one and speak directly into it
and identify your counsel, plese.

Mr. HELLER. Counsel for Biosciences is Lenny Burr.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And the gentleman directly behind you, thank

you.
All right, now you stand and raise your right hands, please?
Do you swear that the testimony you’re about to give is the

truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?
[Witnesses sworn.]
Okay, you are both under oath.
Mr. Levine, do you have an opening statement? You are recog-

nized for 5 minutes to offer it.
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TESTIMONY OF PETER J. LEVINE, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER OF CORRELOGIC SYSTEMS, INC.; AND
JONATHAN C. HELLER, VICE PRESIDENT, INFORMATION
AND PROJECT PLANNING, PREDICANT BIOSCIENCES
Mr. LEVINE. I don’t want to take up the subcommittee’s time this

morning with a lengthy reading of my written testimony. I would
ask, however, that it be entered into the record.

Mr. GREENWOOD. It will be entered into the record. You may
summarize it as you care to.

Mr. LEVINE. Okay. In brief, Correlogic is a clinical proteomics
company. We’re based in Bethesda, Maryland and we specialize in
the development of technologies and tools and processes that can
assist in the early detection of various cancers.

The focus of Correlogics’ energies over the last several years has
been the development of complete diagnostic system. I think later
in our testimony that will be a very important issue, based in part,
on pattern recognition technology for the early detection of cancer.
Our technologies and processes have a wide range of applications
and can be used in the creation of disease diagnostic models and
biomarker discovery and new drug discovery processes. And we are
also a clinical laboratory regulated under the Clinical Laboratory
Improvements Act of 1988 and currently working with the Nation’s
two premiere clinical diagnostic laboratories, Quest Diagnostics
and Laboratory Corporation of America.

If I had my druthers, this morning, I’d be testifying only about
the accomplishments of Correlogic and the results of our most re-
cent research. I believe we’re on the brink of some fantastic break-
throughs that will translate the research progress that we’ve made
into the ability to provide more accurate and earlier detection of
cancer and other diseases.

And we would not be at this critical and exciting juncture with-
out the considerable talent and resources of the National Institutes
of Health and National Cancer Center, the Food and Drug Admin-
istration and the other components of the Public Health Service.

So I hope that my comments will not be taken as a broad criti-
cism of the life saving mission of these agencies or any kind of jus-
tification for lessening or reducing the Nation’s financial commit-
ment to the agencies.

I also ask that my testimony not be misconstrued as a critique
of the vast majority of men and women in these agencies that have
dedicated their professional lives and work extremely hard to bring
us the kind of medical science and kind of medical improvements
that we’ve all seen over the last many years and because of their
work thousands, hundreds of thousands of our citizens have had
their lives saved and they give the hope to all of us for bright fu-
ture.

But as this subcommittee has already heard, all is not well at
NIH. And the experience of Correlogic, these past 2 years, has re-
vealed what I believe are some very serious flaws in the manner
in which the agency implements its licensing, its CRADA and it’s
conflict of interest policies and procedures.

By way of very brief background, Correlogic entered into a re-
search CRADA and a licensing agreement with the National Can-
cer Institute and the Food and Drug Administration and the Public
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Health Service to develop a diagnostic testing system for ovarian,
prostate, breast and other cancers. These agreements which we
paid and continue to pay significant royalties were designed to fa-
cilitate the development and commercialization of a diagnostic test-
ing system for the benefit of patients.

It’s important to note that we have met all of our obligations and
entered into contractual relationships with other well-established
industry players that have been approved by the Public Health
Service to satisfy the Government’s requirements under our licens-
ing agreements. Unfortunately, since our work first became known
to the public in 2002, what started as a cooperative and construc-
tive research and business relationship has clearly deteriorated.
And knowing now under the light that has been shed by this sub-
committee and with the full perspective of hindsight, I can now
really see what has been going on for the last 2 years.

As the balance of my written testimony describes in more detail,
we’ve been caught in a morass of conflicting interests and unilater-
ally changed agreements and a failure of the Agency to abide by
the letter, much less the spirit of critical research and licensing
agreements.

While preparing for my testimony today, I genuinely struggle to
find a starting place to address the focus on subcommittee’s inter-
est. Reflecting back on the last 2 years and all that’s happened, it’s
the concept of good faith that keeps reoccurring to me. The agen-
cies of the Government must act in good faith.

As the subcommittee continues its work, I would ask that each
and every issue under review be evaluated from this perspective.
And that is, were these actions, were these decisions made in good
faith or facts and legal interpretations made to support outcomes
that were inconsistent with the spirit and the clear intention of
preexisting agreements and relationships? To me, that is really the
heart of the issue here.

And Mr. Chairman, last, let me just comment that I appear
today with great reluctance. I, of course, support wholeheartedly
the efforts of the subcommittee, but I’m concerned about the impact
of my testimony on my company’s ability to continue to do business
with the Public Health Service. We have already experienced what
I believe are some indications that our cooperation may wind up
being rather detrimental to Correlogic moving forward and we do
intend to continue doing research with the PHS. So I only hope
that when the dust has settled and the attention shifts elsewhere
that Correlogic is not penalized, in essence, a second time for its
cooperation with the committee.

I’d be very pleased to answer your questions.
[The prepared statement of Peter J. Levine follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF PETER J. LEVINE, PRESIDENT, CORRELOGIC SYSTEMS, INC.

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: My name is Peter J. Levine.
I am President of Correlogic Systems, Inc., a clinical proteomics company based in
Bethesda, Maryland, that specializes in the development of tools and processes that
can assist with the early detection of various cancers and other diseases. The focus
of Correlogic’s energies has been the development of a complete diagnostic system
based in part on the use of pattern recognition for the early detection of cancer. Our
technologies have a wide range of applications that can be used in the creation of
disease diagnostic systems, biomarker discovery, and new drug discovery processes.
We are also a clinical laboratory regulated under the Clinical Laboratory Improve-
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ment Amendments of 1988 and are currently working with the nation’s two premier
diagnostic laboratories, Laboratory Corporation of America and Quest Diagnostics,
to provide an ovarian cancer testing service.

I wish I were testifying today just about the accomplishments of Correlogic and
the results of our most recent research, because I believe we are at the brink of
translating significant research progress into the ability to provide more accurate
and earlier detection of certain diseases, such as stage one ovarian cancer, when the
cancer is organ confined and most curable. Quite frankly, we would not be at this
critical and exciting juncture without the considerable talent and resources of the
National Institutes of Health, the National Cancer Institute, the Food and Drug Ad-
ministration, and the Public Health Service. I hope my comments today will not be
taken as a broad criticism of the life-saving mission of these agencies or as justifica-
tion for lessening our financial commitment to them. I also ask that my testimony
not be misconstrued as a critique of the vast majority of men and women who work
there. They have dedicated their professional lives, often at great personal sacrifice,
to the advancement of medical science and the health of our nation. Because of their
work, hundreds of thousands of lives have been saved, and these agencies give hope
to a brighter future for millions of others.

I have been asked to testify about our company’s experience collaborating with
these agencies, including the benefits and dangers for private companies that enter
into contractual relationships with federal health agencies and with federal employ-
ees who are permitted to be both public servants and private entrepreneurs. Simply
put, our experience has reflected both the promise and pitfalls of ‘‘being in business’’
with the National Cancer Institute and the Food and Drug Administration. It is my
hope, Mr. Chairman, that your inquiry into weaknesses in the National Institutes
of Health’s ethics policies in general, and what has happened to Correlogic in par-
ticular, will lead to a quick resolution of these problems, and our attention can be
returned to what should be our collective objective—fighting cancer and saving lives.

Origin of Our Relationship with FDA and NCI
Correlogic’s relationship with FDA and NCI began in June of 1999 when I had

brunch with Dr. Emanuel F. Petricoin, a senior research investigator at the FDA.
Our wives had been close personal friends for many years, and Dr. Petricoin and
I had met through them. During the meal, as was our custom, we caught up on pro-
fessional events in our then very different worlds. He described to me the challenges
he and his colleagues were facing in their search for protein biomarkers for cancer,
particularly the difficulty in finding a biomarker in the massive amounts of data
that could be produced by the latest generation of protein separation technologies.
They were literally searching the proverbial haystack not for a needle but a single
protein that might be indicative of the presence of a disease.

I had significant experience in the use of computer-generated data analysis and
suggested using pattern discovery technology to search for patterns of proteins rath-
er than individual proteins for use as a diagnostic. I explained to Dr. Petricoin that
I had been working with Dr. Ben Hitt (now the Chief Scientific Officer of Correlogic)
on other applications of pattern discovery technology in non-medical fields. I sug-
gested that if this type of technology could be developed and applied to cancer re-
search, it might be able to detect patterns of proteins that were indicative of a dis-
ease state rather than individual protein biomarkers. Rather than looking for the
needle in the haystack of data, we would look at the configuration of the haystack.
Using my napkin as chalkboard, I sketched out the idea.

Following the brunch, I talked through the idea with Dr. Hitt. He refined the con-
cept and developed a powerful algorithm to test the theory that so-called ‘‘hidden
patterns’’ of proteins, also known as proteomic patterns, could be analyzed to detect
the early stages of a disease. Through 1999 and into the spring of 2000, Dr.
Petricoin, Dr. Hitt and I tested the ‘‘hidden patterns’’ theory and in the spring of
2000, we used the basic pattern recognition algorithm that Dr. Hitt had invented.
Specifically, we applied the pattern recognition technology, and hidden patterns con-
cept to the blood from prostate cancer patients. We were able to accurately perform
a diagnostic assessment based on protein patterns in the blood. At this time we
were collaborating informally with Dr. Petricoin.

Encouraged, we immediately began work on applying our approach to ovarian
cancer and outlining its application to other diseases. Dr. Hitt and I, along with an-
other associate, Marc Giattini, founded Correlogic Systems in May 2000 to further
develop this technology. Dr. Petricoin filed a Public Health Service Employee Inven-
tion Report, naming himself, Dr. Hitt, and me as co-inventors. Among other things,
he cited our June 1999 brunch as the date on which the invention was conceived.
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Formalization of Our Relationship with NCI and FDA
Things progressed rapidly after the formation of our company. Correlogic entered

into a Material Transfer Agreement with the FDA to facilitate the continuation of
research. The company filed a provisional patent application on the core algorithm
invented by Dr. Hitt. After a period of time, Dr. Hitt, Mr. Giattini, and I were able
to supplement our personal funding of the company with additional monies from pri-
vate investors. Correlogic filed several additional provisional patent applications on
our hidden patterns testing process, naming Dr. Hitt, myself and Dr. Petricoin as
co-inventors. We began negotiations with the Public Health Service on an exclusive
license agreement for our testing process, as claimed in these latter patent applica-
tions.

By July 2001, we finalized our patent filings. Correlogic bore all the expenses of
these filings, as it continues to do today. By the time the non-provisional patent was
filed, Dr. Petricoin had brought in his colleague and mentor, Dr. Lance Liotta, who
was the Director of the Laboratory of Pathology at the National Cancer Institute.
Along with the original three of us, Dr. Liotta was added as a co-inventor on the
non-provisional filing of our ‘‘hidden patterns’’ patent application.

In February 2002, the peer-reviewed medical journal, The Lancet, published the
results of the study the four of us (and others) had authored, which demonstrated
that our testing process could detect ovarian cancer, including stage one ovarian
cancer, from a single drop of blood. The actual computational analysis for the Lancet
study was performed by Dr. Hitt alone, based upon raw laboratory data provided
by Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta. Because of the significance of our findings, the re-
port was filed on the journal’s website a week in advance of publication. The publi-
cation generated overwhelming interest in the media as well as the scientific com-
munity, due to the novel nature of our process, the compelling results and, from the
patient’s perspective, the simplicity of a blood test.

Congress was interested as well. A few months later the House of Representatives
passed a resolution, introduced by Rep. Steve Israel and Rep. Rosa DeLauro, and
co-sponsored by 147 members of the House, encouraging the government to support
proteomic pattern research for ovarian cancer.

In April 2002, we entered into a Cooperative Research and Development Agree-
ment (CRADA) with the NCI and the FDA to ‘‘utilize Correlogic’s proprietary soft-
ware technology to continue their joint research to identify patterns of protein ex-
pression indicative of specific disease states.’’ We also signed an exclusive, world-
wide licensing agreement with the Public Health Service to move our protein pat-
tern testing process, the intellectual property rights of which were jointly held by
Correlogic and the government, from the research labs into the hands of health care
providers as soon as possible. The agreement contained explicit milestones and
deadlines for the commercialization of our testing process.

In October 2002, the Journal of the National Cancer Institute published a study
we performed with our federal partners on the use of our technology in the early
detection of prostate cancer. In accordance with the clear purpose of and the dead-
lines included in the exclusive PHS license agreement to Correlogic, we entered into
agreements with Quest Diagnostics and LabCorp, the nation’s two premier clinical
diagnostic labs, to make our potentially lifesaving ovarian cancer test available to
women across North America. We also expanded our staff and retained experts in
clinical and laboratory diagnostics.

I was thrilled. We were taking an idea that I had first sketched on a napkin and
turning it into, in the words of the National Institute of Health’s Office of Tech-
nology Transfer, ‘‘a high-throughput diagnostic apparatus that will apparently be
capable of detecting ovarian cancer in its earliest stages.’’ We had obtained funding
and assembled all of the corporate resources and expertise that we needed to ad-
vance the science and technology. Once the ovarian cancer testing device had been
developed, we could do the same for other cancers and other diseases.

In April 2003, NCI announced in a press release, and later in a presentation at
the American Association of Cancer Researchers annual meeting, that our testing
process had enabled NCI, FDA, and Correlogic scientists to improve upon the initial
results published in The Lancet for the detection of ovarian cancer. Later that year,
Correlogic entered into an agreement with Advion Biosciences to use one of their
technologies as a component of our ovarian cancer detection test.

This year, we began the process of finalizing the validation of OvaCheck TM, our
ovarian cancer test service. We are continuing our work with the National Cancer
Institutes’ Laboratory of Tumor Immunology and Biology and Walter Reed Army
Hospital and the Windber Institute on the application of our diagnostic testing sys-
tem to the development of a breast cancer test.

All of these developments are based significantly on our initial work with the gov-
ernment, and our exclusive licensing agreement. Our success has hinged in no small
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part on our ability to combine our expertise with that of key government scientists.
We seemed to be a good example of the promise of government-private sector cooper-
ative programs under the Federal Technology Transfer Act of 1986. In fact, I was
invited by the National Cancer Institute to participate in a panel discussion on how
a small company could work with the government to address a critical public health
problem.
Awareness of Potential Conflicts of Interest and Related Issues

On the outside, things could not have appeared better, but internally as we would
discover, there were real problems. Only now, under the light shed by this Sub-
committee, and with the full perspective of hindsight can we understand some of
the obstacles that we had come to view as an inherent part of the public-private
partnership.

Back in 2002, a few months after the Lancet study, I was told that despite our
exclusive licensing agreement and ongoing negotiations to expand our CRADA to in-
clude clinical testing for ovarian cancer, the National Cancer Institute had decided
to ‘‘sponsor’’ an independent clinical trial on the hidden patterns technology, the
very technology that was the essence of the patents we had jointly filed with Dr.
Petricoin and Dr. Liotta. I was told that the Lancet study had pushed our testing
technology to the forefront and that NCI wanted to move forward as quickly as pos-
sible in order to get our test into the hands of doctors and patients. We certainly
agreed with the overall objective and, for that reason, had entered into our original
collaboration with NCI consistent with the goals of the Federal Technology Transfer
Act of 1986. However, rather than continuing along the path with Correlogic, NCI
had unilaterally decided to give a contract to Science Applications International Cor-
poration (SAIC), with which it has a long-standing contractual relationship, to set
up a new laboratory to carry out these clinical trials, and Dr. Gordon Whiteley was
hired to head this project, beginning with the development of a business plan. I was
told not to worry, that Correlogic’s existing contractual agreements ensured that we
would be an integral part of these trials and that our brand new license agreement
would protect our IP and commercialization rights.

Obviously, I was concerned at what was presented to me as a fait accompli. The
Institute’s decision impacted not only on our ability to meet required deadlines in
our exclusive government licensing agreement, but also on the terms and conditions
associated with our negotiations with two national clinical labs, LabCorp and Quest
Diagnostics, as contemplated by the licensing agreement. When I raised these con-
cerns with both Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin, I was told not to be ‘‘paranoid,’’ and
that NCI’s unilateral decision was really in Correlogic’s best interests. Frankly, I
also was concerned—and remain concerned to this date—about the particular com-
ponents that NCI had unilaterally chosen for the detection system and also about
which entity would take the lead and responsibility for seeking regulatory approval
following successful completion of the clinical trial.

To resolve the myriad problems associated with NCI’s decision, on August 15,
2002, I met with representatives from the Offices of Technology Transfer (and De-
velopment) for NCI, FDA and NIH. Leading the negotiations for the government
was Dr. Liotta. Also participating was Dr. Svetlana Shtrom, who had been respon-
sible for negotiating our original CRADA. We reached an agreement on how to pro-
ceed with joint clinical trials and our ongoing research CRADA, which was memori-
alized in a letter dated September 12, 2003, sent to me by Karen Maurey, then Dep-
uty Director of the NCI’s Office of Technology Transfer. In late August, NIH af-
firmed in writing that our work under this new agreement would be accepted as
compliance with the government’s deadlines in our original licensing agreement. We
began drafting documents to implement the agreement.

Relying upon these agreements by the government, we pushed forward. NIH ap-
proved our entering a contractual relationship with LabCorp and Quest Diagnostics
to commercialize our testing technology and turn it into a diagnostic device. We con-
tinued our research and preparation for the clinical trials, sharing our work product
and future commercialization plans with FDA, NCI, and NCI’s contractor, Science
Applications International Corporation. In fact, Drs. Petricoin and Liotta began par-
ticipating in our conference calls with our commercial clinical lab partners, LabCorp
and Quest Diagnostics.

2002 came to an end and there was still no progress, even though supposedly we
were simply turning the government’s September letter into the necessary CRADA
amendments and new clinical trial CRADA. I was troubled, given NCI’s persistent
pattern of not communicating or explaining its intentions with regard to my com-
pany, that despite countless drafts and revisions, we were unable to finalize the nec-
essary amendments to our research CRADA and to a new, clinical trial CRADA.
What should have taken a couple of weeks at the longest was now stretching out
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over months. Every time we got close, NCI’s positions would change, and the agen-
cy’s requirements and expectations would be amended. Correlogic agreed to virtually
everything NCI proposed but there was always something else. The goal posts kept
shifting, but I couldn’t find out what was really going on. And every step along the
negotiation path required the approval of Drs. Liotta and Petricoin.

On April 18, 2003, my fears were realized. Kevin Brand, a straightforward and
competent employee in NCI’s Office of Technology Transfer, called me and said, ‘‘I’ve
got some bad news.’’ He proceeded to tell me that NCI had decided to ‘‘go it alone’’
on the clinical trial.

Not only was NCI reversing the position it had agreed to the previous year, it was
placing Correlogic in an untenable position with regard to our contracts with our
commercial clinical lab partners and our ability to satisfy the government’s own con-
tractual deadlines. When I contacted Dr. Petricoin, he told me I was overreacting,
that the September letter made clear the rights Correlogic had to seek regulatory
agency approval following the clinical trials. I wrote a detailed email to NCI’s Tech-
nology Transfer Office, copying Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin, explaining my shock
at this new development.

A few days later, Kevin Brand sent me an email proposing that rather than enter-
ing into the clinical trial CRADA, which we had been negotiating for nearly a year,
NCI would agree to only a memorandum of understanding (MOU) that would be ap-
pended to our research CRADA. The MOU expressed some general and specific pro-
visions and would have provided Correlogic with limited ability to participate in de-
signing the clinical trial, developing the underlying analytical systems and seeking
approval for a marketable diagnostic product.

Once again, just like the summer of 2002, we had no real choice but to acquiesce
to NCI’s evolving position. The NCI had reversed itself, and we could either accept
their latest offer or terminate our relationship with the government. I kept asking
myself, what was really going on? None of this made sense. Why was this so com-
plicated? Why were there so many delays? After all, Correlogic had complied with
every requirement of the prior agreements.

Despite all of the negotiations, two key points were still unresolved. Who would
make the critical decision regarding the selection of the components of the diag-
nostic system that would be the core of our testing service? And, how were we sup-
posed to reconcile, on the one hand, NCI’s apparent interests in developing their
own testing service through the work being done by their contractor, Science Appli-
cations International Corporation, with, on the other hand, the contemplated col-
laborative clinical trial reflecting benchmarks associated with the patent rights
granted to Correlogic under our licensing agreement?

In late June and early July of 2003, I first learned of one possible explanation
for the confusion and delay. Unbeknownst to me or anyone at Correlogic, Dr. Liotta
and Dr. Petricoin had been working as consultants for Biospect, a direct competitor
of my company. And, as I learned only much later, through the Subcommittee’s May
18 hearing, they had already been doing so for seven months. Also affiliated with
Biospect was Dr. Rick Klausner, whom Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin had briefed
about the Correlogic-NCI-FDA relationship when he was the director of the National
Cancer Institute. Joining these three at Biospect was Dr. Svetlana Shtrom, the NCI
technology transfer specialist who had worked on our original CRADA.

I had also learned that prior to being hired to set up NCI’s clinical lab to conduct
the hidden pattern tests, Dr. Gordon Whiteley had been an employee of a business
run by Dr. Lance Liotta, a company called Immunomatrix.

So, while our negotiations over finalizing our clinical trial CRADA were slowly
going nowhere, Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin had become consultants to our compet-
itor, Biospect, and Dr. Shtrom had become an employee. During our endless discus-
sions with Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin about Correlogic’s research and plans for
clinical trials, I now realized, I would have had no way of knowing, for example,
whether I had been talking to Dr. Liotta, the NCI employee, or Dr. Liotta, the
Biospect consultant, or Dr. Liotta, an owner of Immunomatrix, or Dr. Liotta, the
employer or former employer of Dr. Whiteley. And, these are just the relationships
that I know about.

I first learned about Biospect in May of 2003 in a conversation, followed by an
email, with a biotech industry executive, who described the company as ‘‘your new
competition,’’ rather than from my government research partners. Since Dr.
Petricoin, Dr. Liotta and I routinely discussed our collective ‘‘competition,’’ I for-
warded that email about Biospect to both Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin, but they
never responded. And they certainly didn’t bother telling me they had been working
for the company since December 2002. Included in the email I forwarded to Drs.
Liotta and Petricoin were excerpts from Biospect’s website. The website language
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was so close to our own, that even to a casual reader, it would suggest that this
was a company engaged in very much the same activities as Correlogic.

A few weeks later, I began hearing more from industry contacts about Biospect
being a competitor, but now I was hearing that Drs. Petricoin and Liotta were affili-
ated with Biospect. In early July of 2003, I reached Dr. Petricoin by phone and
raised the issue directly. I told Dr. Petricoin that I was appalled, and that people
in the industry were talking about a conflict of interest. Dr. Petricoin promised to
share my concerns with his ethics officer.

By this time—having watched NCI drag out our negotiations for nearly a year for
no apparent reason, unilaterally tossing aside existing contractual agreements, and
tolerating what appeared on its face to be a serious conflict of interest—I felt I had
no choice but to ask one of our advisors to raise the conflicts issue with Dr. Barker.
We were already in the process of attempting to meet with her to discuss all of the
other NIH-Correlogic issues.

I raised my concerns about what was happening to my company with Dr. Barker
and other Public Health Service officials in a meeting in September 2003. While I
recognized that Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin would probably not appreciate what I
was doing, I believed strongly that my company was entitled to an objective assess-
ment and oversight by NCI officials who were in a better position to act in an im-
partial manner. The meeting was relatively short, but was courteous and offered a
promise of appropriate guidance from senior NCI management. I expressed concerns
about actions that appeared to be undermining our exclusive license agreement and
Dr. Barker indicated she would take all my concerns under advisement. The issue
of potential conflicts of interest per se was not discussed as it appeared that NCI
had taken the matter under review.

In October 2003, I received a packet from the National Cancer Institute, pro-
posing, effectively, that we simply abandon all critical rights in our research
CRADA that had been negotiated over the preceding year, eliminate all of the terms
contained in the September 2002 letter of agreement, and enter into a very narrowly
defined clinical trial CRADA. We were expected to agree to language that directly
contravened specific provisions in prior written agreements with the government, in-
cluding, specifically, our exclusive license agreement. Notably, it also once again left
Correlogic out of the loop with regard to determining the components of the diag-
nostic testing system.
The Recent Subcommittee Hearings

All of us at Correlogic were disappointed, and surprised, at the testimony given
to this subcommittee by Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin. Their arguments for why no
conflict of interest ever existed depend on minimizing Correlogic through three
themes. First, they claim that Correlogic was ‘‘just’’ a ‘‘software’’ company, attempt-
ing to draw a distinction between the scope of Correlogic’s business activities and
those of Biospect. In fact, the National Cancer Institute’s own documents rebut this
assertion. For example, the National Institutes of Health’s Office of Technology
Transfer described what we were seeking to create as a ‘‘diagnostic apparatus.’’ In
various correspondence between NCI, Correlogic, Dr. Petricoin, and Dr. Liotta, the
term most commonly used to describe the system we were building was ‘‘a device.’’
There were many, many meetings devoted to detailed discussions of Correlogic’s
focus on the development of a diagnostic testing system. In fact, the issue of the
selection and assembly of all of the components of a diagnostic testing system was,
and is, at the very heart of the two year-long clinical trial CRADA negotiations. This
is also the kind of information that companies consider to be among their most
closely-held proprietary matters.

Second, they seem to imply that the hidden patterns technology we helped pioneer
for the early detection of cancer was something related to what they had been work-
ing on for years. While it is true that Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta had been working
on trying to diagnose cancer for years, our approach to cancer diagnostics was some-
thing new. In fact, their own actions undermine their argument. If their assertion
were true, why did Dr. Petricoin file a Public Health Service Employee Invention
Report which clearly states that something novel had been invented? Why did Drs.
Petricoin and Liotta work with us on filing patents in our collective names? Why
did they continue to publish with us results trumpeting our novel approach?

Third, they diminish Correlogic’s role in the development of the technology on the
basis that we lack all the resources and laboratories available to the government
or large companies. No one at my company is suffering under any delusions in this
regard. However, we had an idea that may radically change the way physicians test
for cancers and dramatically improve a patient’s chance for early detection and
treatment. Using our unique abilities, our staff and advisors, as well as the specific
talents of government specialists and the capabilities of well-established industry
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players, such as Quest Diagnostics, LabCorp, Charles River Proteomics and Advion
Biosciences, we are on the brink of bringing a new testing device to market. We are
hoping to follow in the footsteps of the many innovative small companies that have
made a substantial contribution to the public health. Facilitating this journey is the
very purpose behind the Federal Technology Transfer Act—allowing different enti-
ties in the public and private sector to pool their abilities in order to advance med-
ical science.

Mr. Chairman, I hope my testimony today will shed some light on the need for
reform of the consulting and outside activities approval process at the Public Health
Service. As the experience of Correlogic demonstrates, the government’s current eth-
ics, licensing and CRADA processes allow for an inappropriate muddle of intellec-
tual property, licensing, and commercialization rights of government agencies, pri-
vate individuals, corporations, and public employees acting as private sector entre-
preneurs.

It is impossible in such a Kafkaesque morass to have any hope of impartiality or
basic protection of contractual rights such as patent license agreements and
CRADA. It is simply wrong for a single federal employee, whose salary is paid by
taxpayers, to sit in judgment, or influence the outcome of contracts affecting legal
rights and obligations when he or she may have private, pecuniary interests. It is
also wrong for one component of an agency to undermine contractual rights granted
by the parent agency. It isn’t tolerated anywhere else in government. It should not
be permitted at the National Cancer Institute.

Mr. Chairman, I believe the experience of Correlogic is the exception not the rule.
I remain convinced that the vast majority of employees at FDA, NCI and NIH are
upstanding and dedicated public servants who would never put themselves into the
kind of ethical quagmire we have experienced. Moreover, I believe, more than ever,
that every American has a vested interest in the success of the kind of cooperative
relationships that led to our original contract with the Public Health Service, and
I hope that whatever changes the agencies and the Subcommittee feel are war-
ranted do not undermine this critical activity.

I hope the larger ethical issues can be addressed quickly, just as I hope the spe-
cific problems facing Correlogic can be resolved expeditiously. I hope, despite my ap-
pearance today, that Correlogic will be allowed to finish the work called for in the
various agreements we have signed with the NIH and National Cancer Institute
and the Food and Drug Administration. I hope that the NIH will honor its license
agreements. And, I hope that Correlogic will not be victimized a second time by
being shunned by the NIH when we seek future research collaborations.

All we ask for is a level playing field, where a contract signed on one day cannot
be discarded the next, at the whim of public employees who may have their own
private, business agendas. The small private investors who have funded Correlogic,
and hundreds of other small biotech companies deserve better. The men and women
in our public health service deserve better. And, most importantly, the millions of
Americans whose lives could be saved by the earlier and more accurate detection
of cancer deserve better.

I would be happy to answer any questions you may have.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Mr. Levine, and let me assure you,
sir, that even a hint of any kind of retribution or negative response
for your cooperation with this committee will absolutely not be tol-
erated by this committee.

Mr. LEVINE. I appreciate that very much.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And we would expect for you to inform us of

any such untoward actions occur, because we will be all over it.
Mr. LEVINE. Thank you, sir.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Dr. Heller.

TESTIMONY OF JONATHAN C. HELLER

Mr. HELLER. Good afternoon, Chairman Greenwood and mem-
bers of the committee. My name is Jonathan Heller and I am Vice
President for Information and Project Planning at Predicant Bio-
sciences, formerly known as Biospect.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today to dis-
cuss past consulting arrangements between my company and Dr.
Lance Liotta and Chip Petricoin. With your permission, before I ad-
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dress these consulting relationships, I would like to take a few mo-
ments to tell you about myself and the company where I am ex-
tremely proud to work.

In 1989, I received my Bachelor’s Degree with Honors in applied
mathematics from Harvard University. After college, I joined the
Peace Corps as a volunteer and spent 2 years in Papua New Guin-
ea, teaching science and math. My passion for science and math ul-
timately led me to graduate school at the University of California,
Berkeley, where I earned a PhD in Biophysics in 1997. The focus
of my graduate work was on biophysical investigations of Prion
proteins, which are responsible for Mad Cow disease.

In 2002, I was offered a wonderful opportunity with a small,
South San Francisco startup company called Biospect. We recently
changed our name to Predicant Biosciences.

I was one of the first scientists to join Predicant, which has now
grown to thirty-five employees. Our goal is and has been to revolu-
tionize patient care by developing a platform that will reliably de-
tect and diagnose the severity of a disease by analyzing protein
patterns in blood.

We are still approximately 18 to 24 months away from having a
diagnostic service ready for sale on the market. As I testify today,
my colleagues in California are hard at work on the company’s in-
tegrated system. In very simple terms, our system works in the fol-
lowing way: A drop of blood from a patient is fed into our instru-
ment; the instrument prepares the blood sample for analysis; pro-
teins in the blood are separated into smaller groups; the grouped
proteins are then sprayed into a mass spectrometer, a detection in-
strument; and finally, the data is analyzed to find patterns that
suggest the presence of a disease. Many of our competitors focus
on one, perhaps two of these steps. We believe that our comprehen-
sive approach sets us apart, which is why we often refer to our sys-
tem as a complete, ‘‘blood to answer’’ solution.

I manage the informatics department at Predicant. I work with
a team of eight scientists and mathematicians on the last step of
our integrated system, the data analysis step. We develop statis-
tical tools for signal processing and for finding patterns in the data.
These software tools help us cull meaningful information out of
very large and often ‘‘noisy’’ data sets.

We are hopeful that our ‘‘blood to answer’’ solution will become
an important milestone in the field of predictive medicine. We at
Predicant are very hard at work to make that happen. Earlier de-
tection, more accurate diagnoses, and better information on the
acuteness of a disease will optimize treatment selection and have
a dramatic impact on patient care, on outcomes, and on health care
costs.

We understand that the committee recently has held several
hearings on the important topic of ethics at the National Institutes
of Health. Our company applauds the committee for its attention
to this issue.

At the hearing on May 18, the committee considered a ‘‘case
study’’ involving the consulting relationships between our company
and Drs. Liotta and Petricoin. While Predicant was unaware that
the company would be a topic for discussion at that hearing, we are
grateful for this opportunity to participate in this very important
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dialog and to provide our perspective on the issues raised by the
committee.

Drs. Liotta and Petricoin began consulting on a part-time basis
for our company in December 2002. As this committee has pre-
viously heard, they are among the most prominent scientists in the
field of clinical proteomics. Predicant engaged Drs. Liotta and
Petricoin because they are thought-leaders in the field, and we be-
lieved that they could assist us in conceiving of and evaluating po-
tential applications for our system and technology. In other words,
we hoped that they could help us identify which diseases to target
first.

At the time that we engaged Drs. Liotta and Petricoin, our com-
pany was aware that there are important ethical restrictions that
limit the type of outside activities that can be engaged in by gov-
ernment scientists. As a result, we sought to ensure that we fol-
lowed all the applicable NIH and FDA guidelines and processes
and were open and transparent in our dealings with those agen-
cies. The consulting agreements were reviewed and formally ap-
proved by ethics officials at both the NIH and the FDA.

Because Drs. Liotta and Petricoin are government scientists, our
consulting agreements with them deliberately carved out large
areas as off-limits for consultations or discussions of any kind. For
instance, Drs. Liotta and Petricoin could not tell us about their offi-
cial government research if their findings had not been made pub-
lic. This includes any research performed under a CRADA.

One of the concerns raised by the committee was that Drs. Liotta
and Petricoin were consulting for Predicant at the same time they
were engaged in Government work with a software development
company called Correlogic. At the time that we entered into con-
sulting agreements, we asked them to identify all of their outside
activities, and we became aware of their CRADA. In addition, the
fact of the collaboration between Correlogic and the Government
was well known. As a result of the Correlogic agreement, the shar-
ing of any public/non-public CRADA-related information was spe-
cifically excluded from the scope of our consulting agreements. Con-
sistent with the agreements, Predicant never sought from Drs.
Liotta and Petricoin, and they never shared with Predicant, any
non-public information regarding their CRADA with Correlogic. In
fact, they never shared any non-public information of any kind
with Predicant.

Another important point to be made here is that, while our com-
pany and Correlogic both employ clinical proteomics to detect dis-
ease, I think it is fair to say that our two companies are pursuing
different methods—both in terms of the software and technology to
achieve this goal. It is our understanding, based on public informa-
tion, that Correlogic’s software technology uses self-organizing
maps in combination with genetic algorithms to identify and ana-
lyze proteins in the blood. Predicant, on the other hand, has fo-
cused on other methods, which we hope will prove more effective.
In addition, as noted, Predicant’s goal is to develop a comprehen-
sive ‘‘blood to answer’’ approach to disease detection, which we be-
lieve is not directly comparable to Correlogic’s technology.

In closing, I would like to emphasize on behalf of all of my col-
leagues at Predicant that we will continue to follow our internal
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ethical standards and all applicable government requirements as
we strive to create new tools to aid in the detection of cancer and
other diseases. We believe that we followed the rules and acted ap-
propriately in our relationship with Drs. Liotta and Petricoin.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today and to
participate in the important work of the committee. I would be
pleased to answer any of your questions.

[The prepared statement of Jonathan C. Heller follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF JONATHAN C. HELLER, VICE PRESIDENT, INFORMATION AND
PROJECT PLANNING, PREDICANT BIOSCIENCES, INC.

Good afternoon, Chairman Greenwood, Representative Deutsch, and Members of
the Committee. My name is Jonathan Heller, and I am Vice President for Informa-
tion and Project Planning at Predicant Biosciences, formerly known as Biospect, Inc.
Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today to discuss past consulting
arrangements between my company and Dr. Lance Liotta of the National Cancer
Institute (‘‘NCI’’) and Dr. Emanuel ‘‘Chip’’ Petricoin of the Food and Drug Adminis-
tration (‘‘FDA’’). With your permission, before I address those consulting relation-
ships, I would like to take a few moments to tell you about myself and the company
where I am extremely proud to work.

In 1989, I received my Bachelor’s Degree with Honors in applied mathematics
from Harvard. After college, I joined the Peace Corps as a volunteer and spent two
years in Papua New Guinea, teaching science and math. My passion for science and
math ultimately led me to graduate school at the University of California, Berkeley,
where I earned a PhD in Biophysics in 1997. The focus of my graduate work was
on biophysical investigations of Prion proteins, which are related to Mad Cow dis-
ease.

In 2002, I was offered a wonderful opportunity with a small, South San Francisco
startup company called Biospect. After a lengthy deliberative process, our company
recently changed its name to Predicant Biosciences because of trademark issues as-
sociated with the name ‘‘Biospect,’’ and because we believe the name ‘‘Predicant’’
more closely reflects our mission of identifying and predicting disease.

I was one of the first scientists to join Predicant, which has now grown to thirty-
five employees. Our goal is and has been to revolutionize patient care by developing
a platform that will reliably detect or diagnose the severity of a disease by analyzing
protein patterns in blood. Predicant is just two-years old and still in the develop-
ment phase. To date, we have been concentrating on developing our technology; re-
fining our business strategy and operational plans; developing scientific and clinical
collaborations; and, most importantly, building a team of dedicated and talented sci-
entists.

We are still approximately 18 to 24 months away from having a diagnostic service
ready for sale on the market. As I testify today, my colleagues in California are hard
at work on the company’s integrated system. In very simple terms, our system
works in the following way: A drop of blood from a patient is fed into our instru-
ment; the instrument prepares the blood sample for analysis; proteins in the blood
are separated into smaller groups; the grouped proteins are sprayed into a mass
spectrometer, a detection instrument; and finally, the protein patterns are analyzed
to differentiate between patterns that suggest the presence of a disease and pat-
terns that do not. Many of our competitors focus on one, perhaps two of these steps.
We believe that our comprehensive approach sets us apart, which is why we often
refer to our system as a complete, ‘‘blood to answer’’ solution.

I manage the informatics department at Predicant. I work with a team of eight
scientists and mathematicians on the last step of our integrated system—the anal-
ysis step. We develop statistical tools for signal processing and for finding patterns
in the data. These software tools help us cull meaningful information out of large
and often ‘‘noisy’’ data sets.

We are hopeful that our ‘‘blood to answer’’ solution will become an important mile-
stone in the field of predictive medicine. Many dedicated scientists at Predicant are
working very hard to make that happen. Earlier detection, more accurate diagnoses,
and better information on the acuteness of a disease will optimize treatment selec-
tion and have a dramatic impact on patient care, outcome, and healthcare cost.

We understand that the Committee recently has held several hearings on the im-
portant topic of ethics at the National Institutes of Health (‘‘NIH’’). Our company
applauds the Committee for its attention to this issue.
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At the hearing on May 18, the Committee considered a ‘‘case study’’ involving the
consulting relationships between our company and Drs. Liotta and Petricoin. While
Predicant was unaware that the company would be a topic for discussion at the May
18 hearing, we are grateful for this opportunity to participate in this very important
dialogue and to provide our perspective on the issues raised by the Committee.

Drs. Liotta and Petricoin began consulting on a part-time basis for our company
in December 2002. As this Committee has heard previously, Drs. Liotta and
Petricoin are among the most prominent scientists in the field of clinical proteomics,
our company’s area of focus. Predicant engaged Drs. Liotta and Petricoin because
they are thought-leaders in the field, and we believed that they could assist us in
conceiving of and evaluating potential applications for our system and technology.
In other words, we hoped Drs. Liotta and Petricoin would use their knowledge and
experience in the field to assist us in a variety of ways, including by helping us
identify which diseases to target first.

At the time that we engaged Drs. Liotta and Petricoin, our company was aware
that there are important ethical restrictions that limit the type of outside activities
that can be engaged in by government scientists. As a result, we sought to ensure
that we followed all the applicable NIH and FDA guidelines and processes and were
open and transparent in our dealings with those agencies. The consulting agree-
ments between Predicant and Drs. Liotta and Petricoin were reviewed and formally
approved by ethics officials at both the NCI and the FDA. In addition, it is our un-
derstanding that NCI officials in fact helped draft the agreement between Dr. Liotta
and Predicant.

Because Drs. Liotta and Petricoin are government scientists, our consulting agree-
ments with them deliberately carved out large areas as off-limits for consultations
or discussions of any kind. For instance, Drs. Liotta and Petricoin could not tell us
about their official government research if their findings had not been made public.
This included any research performed under a Cooperative Research and Develop-
ment Agreement, or ‘‘CRADA.’’

One of the concerns raised by Committee Members at the May 18 hearing was
that Drs. Liotta and Petricoin were consulting for Predicant at the same time they
were engaged in government work with a software development company called
Correlogic. At the time that we entered into consulting agreements with Drs. Liotta
and Petricoin, we asked them to identify all of their outside activities, and we be-
came aware of their CRADA with Correlogic as a result. In addition, the fact of the
collaboration between Correlogic and the government and its general subject matter
were well known in our field. As a result of the Correlogic agreement, the sharing
of any non-public CRADA-related information was specifically excluded from the
scope of the consulting agreements between our company and Drs. Liotta and
Petricoin. Consistent with the agreements, Predicant never sought from Drs. Liotta
and Petricoin, and Drs. Liotta and Petricoin never shared with Predicant, any non-
public information regarding their CRADA with Correlogic. In fact, Drs. Liotta and
Petricoin never shared any non-public information of any kind with Predicant. We
were always of the view that they took care to ensure that their work for us did
not breach any ethical or other requirements.

Another important point to be made here is that, while our company and
Correlogic both employ clinical proteomics to detect disease, I think it is fair to say
that our two companies are pursuing different methods—both in terms of software
and technology—to achieve this goal. It is our understanding—based on public infor-
mation—that Correlogic’s software technology uses self-organizing maps in combina-
tion with genetic algorithms to identify and analyze proteins in the blood. Predicant,
on the other hand, has focused on other methods, which we hope will prove more
effective. In addition, as noted, Predicant’s goal is to develop a comprehensive ‘‘blood
to answer’’ approach to disease detection, which we believe is not directly com-
parable to Correlogic’s technology. As a result, even if it had not been prohibited
by our consulting agreement, Predicant would not have sought confidential informa-
tion pertaining to Correlogic’s CRADA because such information would have been
of no value to our company.

In closing, I would like to emphasize on behalf of all of my colleagues at Predicant
that we will continue to follow our internal ethical standards and all applicable gov-
ernment requirements as we strive to create new tools to aid in the detection of can-
cer and other diseases. We believe that we followed the rules and acted appro-
priately in our relationship with Drs. Liotta and Petricoin.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today to participate in the
important work of the Committee. I would be pleased to answer any of your ques-
tions.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you, Dr. Heller. I’m going to ask—the
Chair recognizes himself and Ms. DeGette and I have agreed that
I’ll question for both of us, so we’re going to go through a fairly
tight script here.

So if the staff could please play clips two and three, we will hear
Dr. Petricoin’s testimony from last week about discussions he had
regarding this with you, Mr. Levine.

[Tape is played.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Levine, in your discussions with Dr.

Petricoin was your frustration, as he recalls, simply over the fact
that Biospect employed so many former NCI employees?

Mr. LEVINE. Not at all, Mr. Chairman. My conversation with Dr.
Petricoin which, in fact, did not occur at the time that Dr. Petricoin
suggested that it did, was a——

Mr. GREENWOOD. When did it occur?
Mr. LEVINE. The actual oral conversation occurred or telephone

conversation, I should say, occurred on or about July 8 or July 9,
2003. And it was explicit at that time that we viewed Biospect as
a competitor. And what’s interesting though is when I look back be-
cause of these hearings, it’s very clear that in May 2003, I had sent
an e-mail to Drs. Petricoin and Liotta which included the website
of Biospect. It had been sent to me by an outside industry execu-
tive who said this is your new competition, Peter. And I forwarded
that e-mail to Drs. Petricoin and Liotta as sort of an FYI because
we were always talking about the competition out there, in essence.

So I made it very clear——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Levine, would you turn to Tab 28 in the

binder there. I think that is the e-mail to which you are referring.
I’m going to ask you to read it. Go to Tab 28 and then go to the
second page and I think you’ll find the e-mail to which you just re-
ferred.

Would you read that?
Mr. LEVINE. The incoming e-mail is directed to me from an out-

side industry executive. It says, ‘‘Peter, nice talking with you today.
Here’s some information on your new competition. I’ll be in touch.
Vince.’’ And attached to the bottom of the e-mail is the website, I
assume the website at that time of Biospect which describes the
company. Actually, I think Dr. Heller’s description just now was ex-
tremely accurate. And that’s exactly as we perceived Biospect to be
which was again exactly what Correlogic is doing.

I then forwarded this same e-mail with all the background mate-
rial on Biospect to Drs. Liotta and Petricoin on Thursday, May 22.
And the subject line was ‘‘FYI, Info on Biospect, FYI Rick
Klausner, Lance and Chip, Peter.’’

So I brought this to their attention. I had no idea that they were
consulting for Biospect. Frankly, I had never heard of Biospect be-
fore, but again this was brought to my attention by an outside in-
dustry executive.

In the 4 or 5 weeks that followed this e-mail, I was informed by
a number of other biotech industry officials that they heard that
Petricoin and Liotta were consulting for Biospect or had some affili-
ation actually. And I became worried about that. And it was
brought to my attention very specifically in late June, actually, I
think it was over the July 4 weekend and I went to the website

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00558 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



551

for the first time myself and all the pieces came together. I realized
that Biospect was located on the same floor in our building in Be-
thesda and that I had indeed seen Drs. Petricoin and Liotta there
which always struck me as being rather odd from time to time.
And all the pieces began to come together.

So at that point I called Dr. Petricoin who I considered to be a
friend and I confronted him about it, very directly, and my concern
getting back to your question, Mr. Chairman, my concern was not
that there were all these former NCI folks, the concern was very
specifically that Biospect was a competitor and that they were con-
sulting with a competitor.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Did your discovery of the consulting arrange-
ment between Biospect and Drs. Liotta and Petricoin have an im-
pact on your working relationship within the CRADA?

Mr. LEVINE. Oh, it most certainly did. I immediately instructed
all the scientists at Correlogic to be very careful about the informa-
tion that we shared with them. And for example, this is at a time
where we were beginning our work on electrospray technology and
again, I don’t know much about the details at Biospect, but it cer-
tainly seems to be very much related and this was an area that we
were pursuing aggressively, again, all part of the process of putting
together a turnkey system that goes basically from the patient’s
vein to a diagnostic determination. So we cautioned, I cautioned ev-
erybody at Correlogic to be very careful about what was said until
the issue was resolved.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I’m going to ask the staff to play Clip 5 now.
[Tape played.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. First, let me ask you, Dr. Heller, do you con-

sider yourself just a medical device company?
Mr. HELLER. I don’t know exactly what a medical device company

is, Mr. Chairman. I would say that we’re trying to provide a com-
plete solution. It contains an instrument. It contains software. It
contains an application and we plan on delivering that entire sys-
tem to the market for diagnosis.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Sounds like what Mr. Levine is trying to do.
Mr. HELLER. It does sound like what he has said he is trying to

do. That is not our understanding of what he was trying to do.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Let me go to you, Mr. Levine. Do you agree

with Dr. Liotta’s assertion that you just heard, that what
Correlogic is doing ‘‘seems completely different’’ from what Biospect
is doing?

Mr. LEVINE. No, I was actually amazed at that comment because
at that time, and going back actually as early as April 2002, it’s
very clear from the license agreement that we have with the Public
Health Service and from what has now been a 2-year negotiation,
that the very central issue was the creation of a turnkey system.
That was the content of probably a good two-thirds of our CRADA
meetings. It was the content, in fact, it was the sticking point of
our negotiations with the Public Health Service and particularly
with NCI was the selection of components for a turnkey system.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And is there any question in your mind that
Dr. Liotta understood that?

Mr. LEVINE. Dr. Liotta was intimately involved in all those nego-
tiations. And indeed, one of the other issues that went on in this
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same time period was that, of course, the Public Health Service ap-
proved our contract with Lab Corp. of America and Quest
Diagnostics and again, these are companies that with Correlogic,
were attempting to deliver a turnkey ovarian cancer testing serv-
ice. So again, the idea that we were only a software company is—
it’s very clear as early as April 2002, that was not the case.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you believe that other parties at NIH un-
derstood that you were not just a software company as Dr. Liotta
suggested?

Mr. LEVINE. Well, I don’t know where in the hierarchy of NIH
the information was going. I know certainly that Drs. Liotta and
Petricoin were our principal contacts at NIH, at FDA and NCI. So
I don’t know what they were telling their superiors, but clearly, a
large number of people that ranged frankly from Dr. Shtrom of
Biospect to people in the Office of Technology Transfer of NIH to
the people or to the officials in the Office of Technology Transfer
at NCI, all of whom were intimately aware of this. It’s in docu-
ments.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Speaking of documents, in Tab 28 again, would
you point out some of the NIH e-mails that show what they under-
stood?

Mr. LEVINE. There are a series of e-mails here and for example,
this is one on July 3, 2003 between Kevin Brandt and myself, cc’d
to Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Explain who Kevin Brandt is.
Mr. LEVINE. I’m sorry. He’s with NCI’s Office of Technology

Transfer. And again, this e-mail is describing the development of
what at this point was a Memorandum of Understanding and the
focus of this e-mail and I believe several others in this same group
is the—for example, choosing of components. And again, the issue
of choosing of components is far beyond software. It was one of the
things that we were focusing on which mass spec. you use, this pro-
tein separation or ionization system do you use? Frankly, all the
components Dr. Heller just described. That’s exactly what
Correlogic was doing.

Our business model, however, was a little bit different, appar-
ently, than Biospect’s. We were doing this through collaborations
with Lab Corp. and Quest, with Avion Biosciences, with Charles
River Proteomics. We were doing this by way of license agreement
and contract. But clearly, every one of these e-mails and all of
these negotiations were all centered on that point of developing a
turnkey system.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do you believe that it would be clear to some-
one comparing Correlogic to Biospect that the two companies are
competitors?

Mr. LEVINE. Clearly, and in fact, again the way in which I was
alerted to, was that other industry executives, including some sen-
ior executives at a very large in vitro diagnostic company that if
I mentioned the name everybody would know, they were the ones
who were bringing it to my attention.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Were you aware, prior to these hearings, that
in August 2002, Drs. Petricoin and Liotta were in discussions with
a company called Signet Labs about becoming members of their
new scientific advisory board?
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Mr. LEVINE. Prior to these hearings, no.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Would you go to Tab 33 and read the June 28,

2002 e-mail from Jeff Livingstone to Dr. Petricoin and Dr.
Petricoin’s response.

Mr. LEVINE. It says ‘‘thank you very much for your kind reply.
We are aware of Dr. Liotta’s excellent work in proteomics and LCN
and has worked with Ben Hitt at Correlogic. I agree he’d be an ex-
cellent person to contact in this regard. At present, Signet is a pri-
vately owned small business. The core business if profitable. How-
ever, the capital necessary for commercialization or new technology
will require outside financing. Our plans are to use outside invest-
ment to double our size and research activities. And we will be
starting our road show next month to raise approximately $15 mil-
lion for successful commercialization of our technology. We expect
this to be done through a combination of corporate and venture in-
vestments and some of our corporate partners, Zymarc, Corning,
Life Science, etcetera, have expressed interest in contributing. In
order to preserve capital, we are intending to offer equity com-
pensations to those who serve as members of the SAB. Obviously,
once we close on our first round of financing, this will convert to
cash or cash plus equity basis, depending upon the interest of that
particular SAB member.’’ Dr. Petricoin’s response dated Friday,
June 28 says ‘‘Hi Jeff, I’d be interested in learning more about this.
I’d like to recommend my colleague, Dr. Lance Liotta at the NCI
for consideration for the SAB. I can provide you with his contact
info if you wish. I highly recommend him. We would have to re-
ceive outside activity okay from ethics. Can you tell me what kind
of compensation the SAB members receive for their time. Best.
Emanuel.’’

Mr. GREENWOOD. Now read the second paragraph in the e-mail
from Jeff Livingstone to Drs. Petricoin and Liotta and then the
reply e-mail from Emanuel Petricoin dated August 1, 2002. Tab 32.

Mr. LEVINE. The e-mail from Dr. Petricoin to Mr. Livingstone
says ‘‘Hi Jeff, both Lance and I are interested in talking with you
about this. Perhaps a conference call this afternoon would be help-
ful to us so that we can understand better what you envision our
roles to be, a bit more about your Magellan technology and how to
get ethics clearance. Note that both Lance and I work with
Correlogic as a CRADA partner within our Government jobs. Best,
Emanuel.’’

And then there’s another e-mail here also from Jeff Livingstone
to Dr. Liotta. ‘‘Dr. Liotta, you may be aware of any correspondence
with Dr. Petricoin. I’ve invited him to be a member of a new Sci-
entific Advisory Board we’re putting together. He, in turn, sug-
gested we send an invitation to you. As we’re very aware of your
excellent work in pathology and proteomics and of course, your
background is an ideal fit for a new technology we’ll be launching
at the DDT meeting this coming Sunday. My only concern here is
there may be a conflict of interest between the companies you’re
working with at present, e.g., Correlogic and any companies you
may intend to start. As a professional courtesy, I do not wish to
put you in such a situation. We meant no slight. I trust you under-
stand. However, if this is not the case and you are interested, then
please let me know. We’d be honored to have expertise and per-
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spective available for the development of our Magellan platform.
Plese note, I’ve sent a binder to Dr. Petricoin containing an over-
view of our company and technology, along with his invitation to
the SAB. Please feel free to review it if you wish. I note you be par-
ticipation’’—that’s the way it’s written—‘‘in the DDT meetings. See
below. I intend to be at this meeting on Sunday and all day Mon-
day. I’d be happy to meet with you in person if you have the time.
If you’re interested in visiting Signet while you’re here, please let
me know. I’d like to extend this invitation to Dr. Petricoin as well,
if he’ll be here for the meeting. Thank you for consideration.’’

Mr. GREENWOOD. Let me ask you this question. What role did
Svetlana Shtrom play in the CRADA?

Mr. LEVINE. Dr. Shtrom was the NCI technology transfer spe-
cialist that I dealt with continuously really from the summer of
2000 through the fall of 2002, both through the development of the
original CRADA and then the attempted amendments that began
in the summer of 2002 and she was also involved indirectly, I will
add though, with the negotiations with NIH’s Office of Technology
Transfer about the license that we had, the exclusive license for the
hidden patterns technology. The reason being is that there was an
overlap, if you will, between the CRADA and the license agree-
ment. Indeed, that’s one of the issues really here that makes this
so complicated. It’s again that we are both co-inventors, along with
Petricoin and Liotta and we are the exclusive licensee of the Gov-
ernment’s interest in that invention and at the same time oper-
ating under a CRADA.

So there was a lot of exchange of e-mails, conversations, between
the Technology Transfer Office of NIH that we negotiated with for
the exclusive license and NCI’s Tech. Transfer Office that was re-
sponsible for the CRADA.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And when did you learn that Svetlana Shtrom
was involved with Biospect?

Mr. LEVINE. At the same time, essentially, that I learned that
Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta were involved. I was aware that she
was on the floor of our building, but never made the association.

Mr. GREENWOOD. In your testimony, you mention that you’re on
the brink of bringing a new testing device that can improve
chances for early detection and treatment of cancer to market. Has
the process of negotiating with NIH in any way slowed the process
of getting your product to the American people who need it?

Mr. LEVINE. That’s difficult to answer, Mr. Chairman, but cer-
tainly the amount of time, energy and effort that a little company
like Correlogic has spent—a 2-year negotiation and of course, the—
as we began to describe the CRADA relationship after July as the
un-CRADA, certainly we could have made much more progress had
there been a genuine collaboration and cooperation with our Gov-
ernment partners.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, Dr. Richard Klausner is listed on
Biospect Predicant’s website as a founder and director of the com-
pany. Do you know whether or not Dr. Klausner was aware of the
work being done on Correlogic’s CRADA with NCI?

Mr. LEVINE. Long before any of these issues became aware, be-
came apparent to me, in casual conversations with both Drs. Liotta
and Petricoin, they mentioned to me the great interest that Dr.
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Klausner had in this and indeed, I think when you look back at
all that went on, there was a tremendous amount of publicity in
February 2002 concerning the Lancet publication on our ovarian
cancer work with Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin. So I think the Agen-
cy as—I think everyone at the highest levels of the Agency was
very much aware of this work, but again, I was told specifically
that both Petricoin and Liotta had been brought in to talk with Dr.
Klausner.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And do you know if those discussions occurred
before or after his departure from NCI?

Mr. LEVINE. No, I believe they occurred before.
Mr. GREENWOOD. When you learned that Dr, Klausner was in-

volved with Biospect, were you alarmed that the person with whom
the two principal investigators on your CRADA had discussed your
work, was involved with a competitor?

Mr. LEVINE. Well, all that raised troubling questions and again,
the e-mail that I sent to Drs. Liotta and Petricoin on May 22 was
part of that issue. And again, because we routinely over the pre-
ceding 2 years had sent e-mails and constantly talked between our-
selves about what other institutions were doing, other academics,
other private sector companies, knowing that there were other folks
out there who were sort of racing to fill the same space.

So yes, it was very troubling and in general, the idea that the
former director of NCI and actually there were at least three peo-
ple that I know from NCI, two rather high positions, plus Dr.
Shtrom who had worked with us directly, were all now members
or were working with Biospect. Certainly, it seemed to be stacking
the deck.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. I will turn to you, Dr. Heller.
When did Biospect hire Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin?
Mr. HELLER. I believe their consulting agreement started in De-

cember of 2002.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And how long did the consulting relationship

last?
Mr. HELLER. Up until last month as far as I know.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Last month?
Mr. HELLER. Last couple of months, yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And do you know when Dr. Liotta stopped re-

ceiving payments?
Mr. HELLER. I don’t have an exact date, but it was some time in

2004.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And did these two doctors work pretty consist-

ently through that time period?
Mr. HELLER. They spent initially about 2 days a month and then

subsequently about 1 day a month working with us.
Mr. GREENWOOD. So Biospect was still compensation Dr. Liotta

for work into May, is that correct?
Mr. HELLER. I believe his last paycheck was May 1.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Look at Tab 41, I think it might help you.
Mr. HELLER. So yes, according to this, Dr. Liotta got paid on May

1, 2004.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay, the staff would put up a slide and if you

would turn your attention to the screen, Dr. Heller.
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Is this the canceled check indicative of the last time Biospect
compensated Dr. Liotta?

Mr. HELLER. That looks like it is.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. So he was still doing work for the com-

pany during March, April and May. Is that correct?
Mr. HELLER. I do not recall whether we actually had conversa-

tions during that time period, but I would say most likely we did,
yes.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Is it likely you would have compensated him
for doing nothing?

Mr. HELLER. As the agreement stood, we compensated them on
the first of every month regardless. They did not have to turn in
time sheets or anything like that. We did a direct deposit essen-
tially.

Mr. GREENWOOD. You don’t know whether he was still doing
work during those 3 months?

Mr. HELLER. In the last couple of months, I was no longer on the
phone calls with Drs. Petricoin and Liotta. I would have to guess
that they were still doing work in February.

Mr. GREENWOOD. You said that you were not on the phone calls.
That presumes that you know that there were phone calls?

Mr. HELLER. I assume there were phone calls.
Mr. GREENWOOD. You assume, based on what do you make that

assumption?
Mr. HELLER. One of my colleagues was responsible for working

with them and setting up such phone calls and he was fairly dili-
gent about that.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. The Chair will yield 10 minutes to the
gentleman from Florida, Mr. Stearns.

Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If the staff would
please play clip one. Plese listen to a statement of Dr. Petricoin
made at our last hearing.

[Audio file played.]
Mr. STEARNS. I guess the question would be for Dr. Heller.
Based on Biospect’s relationship with Dr. Petricoin, do you be-

lieve it is likely that this encounter with Dr. Goodman was the first
time Dr. Petricoin understood that Biospect did data analysis?

Mr. HELLER. With all due respect, I cannot really say what Dr.
Petricoin and Dr. Liotta remember about what we told them. I
have the utmost respect for Drs. Liotta and Petricoin and therefore
it’s actually hard for me to understand the clip that we just heard.

I believe that we had past discussions with them, starting at the
beginning of their consulting relationship with us which made
them aware that the company was doing pattern recognition, pat-
tern analysis and subsequent to that we signed a confidentiality
agreement with the NCI to acquire new data that was publicly
available, but not yet published from Drs. Liotta and Petricoin and
I believe they were aware that we had signed that consulting
agreement and downloaded their data.

Mr. STEARNS. Can I summarize by saying you don’t think that
is believable what you just heard?

Mr. HELLER. I can’t state under oath again that what they were
thinking when they answered that, but it’s not my knowledge.
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Mr. STEARNS. Let me ask you yes or no, what you heard, do you
think that is believable?

Mr. HELLER. Not to my knowledge.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay, so basically you’re saying you don’t think it’s

believable.
Did Dr. Liotta or Dr. Petricoin offer any advice to Biospect on

how to set up the labs?
Mr. HELLER. I assume by that you mean our reference labs?
Mr. STEARNS. Yes, the reference labs?
Mr. HELLER. I think we, in general, discussed different routes of

bringing a product to market and that included, covered the area
of setting up a clinical reference lab, yes.

Mr. STEARNS. Did they advise you on certification standards?
CLIA certification standards?

Mr. HELLER. One of the main things that the two of them did
is they pointed us to public information because we were a small
company. We didn’t have a lot of resources. We didn’t know exactly
where to look. I believe that one of the things they pointed us to
was a list of CLIA reference lab standards, yes.

Mr. STEARNS. Which Federal agency regulates CLIA standards?
Mr. HELLER. I believe it’s CMS.
Mr. STEARNS. So Dr. Liotta gave Biospect advice on how to im-

plement a CMS standard?
Mr. HELLER. I wouldn’t say that he gave us advice. I would say

that he pointed us in the direction of a document that told us es-
sentially what we would have to do to meet that standard.

Mr. STEARNS. So he advised on how to make the reference lab
CLIA compliant?

Mr. HELLER. Again, he pointed us to documents that described
how we would do that. I wouldn’t say that he actually advised us
how to do that.

Mr. STEARNS. Mr. Levine, has Correlogic attended any clinical
proteomics conferences?

Mr. LEVINE. Yes, we do, sir.
Mr. STEARNS. And were they with Drs. Liotta and Petricoin, did

they make presentations at these?
Mr. LEVINE. Over the last 3 years, there have been a large num-

ber of conferences. We have not attended most of those. I believe
there have been at least two or three where either I have been a
speaker along with Dr. Petricoin or Correlogic’s Chief Scientific Of-
ficer, Dr. Hitt may have been a speaker along with Dr. Petricoin.

Mr. STEARNS. And when they discussed the work they had done
for Correlogic, did they acknowledge the company’s contribution to
the work?

Mr. LEVINE. In a minimal way. And in fact, over the last 21⁄2
years, there was a series of e-mails that I’ve not provided yet to
the committee, but I’d be happy to do so where we actually com-
plain about that, that basically our contribution is being mini-
mized.

Mr. STEARNS. So the principal investigators, you were collabo-
rating with on this CRADA, weren’t giving the company any credit
for their work?

Mr. LEVINE. I wouldn’t say no credit. I’d say really de minimis
credit and particularly relative to the Lancet publication in which
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the actual analysis, I mean the actual—the meat of the Lancet, the
real discovery is what Dr. Hitt did in the computational analysis.

Mr. STEARNS. But as you mentioned, you are named with Dr.
Petricoin and Dr. Liotta in filing patents in a publication. Is that
correct?

Mr. LEVINE. That’s correct.
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The chairman recognizes Mr. Bilirakis for

questions for 10 minutes.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, Mr. Chairman, I listened to some of their

testimony while I was out in the anteroom. I’m not going to be spe-
cific here as Mr. Stearns and others maybe were, but—and I know
in your written statements you basically refer to your experience
at NIH and what not. Mr. Levine, you quite—you’re pretty strong,
I would say quite frankly, would not be at this critical and exciting
juncture in talking about the accomplishments of your company
without the considerable talent and resources of the NIH and NCI,
etcetera.

You’re both health care people. You’re in it, obviously, to make
a profit, but you’re in it also because I think you care and you want
to help people.

And I know you’re involved in the research area and you work
with NIH and some of these other groups. I’m just going to ask you
to maybe complement, if you would, supplement, complement your
written testimony, anything more—you sat through the—how
much time did we take with the prior panel. You sat through all
that.

Let’s start with Mr. Levine, is it Levine?
Mr. LEVINE. Levine.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. With what I get with my last name, you shouldn’t

be——
Mr. LEVINE. I respond either way, I got used to it too.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Mr. Levine, why don’t you just go ahead and sup-

plement your statement. You heard—your written statement was
written prior to coming in and sitting in during the last panel. And
just tell us how do you feel, I mean, how do you feel about what
has happened? How do you feel about what we are doing here in
terms of research? Are we helping research or are we hurting re-
search, etcetera? Go ahead.

And then Dr. Heller, I would ask you the same thing.
Mr. LEVINE. I think, in general, that the subcommittee’s work is

critical and I think it will create a very significant improvement.
We constantly hear about the job generation, for example, from the
small business sector, well, actually both Biospect and Correlogic
are small companies and if the Government wants to really realize
the great potential of these public/private partnerships, you’ve got
be able to assure that when small companies enter into relation-
ships with the Government that they don’t get crushed. And so I
think the theme that I take away from all of this is that everyone
in America has to abide by their agreements. Everyone has got to
play fair, but particularly the Government, particularly the Gov-
ernment. My God, if a Government agency can just sort of arbi-
trarily decide to ignore an agreement that’s signed on 1 day be-
cause other people in the agency think it’s not correct or because
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something looks more attractive elsewhere, the whole system falls
apart. So I’m actually very encouraged by what Dr. Zerhouni said.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Excuse me, a minute, sir. I wanted to ask the
questions. Dr. Zerhouni has left. Are there any NIH people in the
audience? Are there any NIH folks here? Are you all taking notes?
Okay.

I would hope that some of the things that you’re hearing from
these two witnesses will go to Dr. Zerhouni and Mr. Azar.

Okay, go ahead, sir.
Mr. LEVINE. So I’m very encouraged by what I heard this morn-

ing. The other suggestion I would make though, I realize that the
focus of these subcommittee hearings are principally on conflict of
interest and the consulting arrangements, but I think that all this
ties into the broader issue that when you have an agency as large
as NIH, and you have this very complicated interaction of licensing
agreements, intellectual property, contracts, CRADAs, essentially
you have the potential and I think Correlogic is caught up in the
middle of this, the potential for an incredibly complicated situation
where rights are being granted and then whittled away or it’s con-
fusing as to which rights were granted. So I’m not sure that I can
offer a solution this morning, but I think certainly someone has got
to be able to be in a position to step back and say and what are
all the conflicting or potentially conflicting and overlapping rela-
tionships between this agency, this employee of this agency, this
private sector company, and this is particularly true, particularly
true in the area of biotech.

I have no problem whatsoever with Biospect, what Dr. Heller has
said. We are both working toward the same end point and it’s a
great end point for the public, in general. But if it leaves too small
biotech companies kind of wondering who they’re talking to and
what information they should be sharing and not be sharing, that
can’t be good for the public. So that’s the lesson that I would take
away from all of this.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Based on your experience with NIH, would you
look forward to working with them or any other part of the Federal
Government again regarding the good work that you’re doing?

Mr. LEVINE. That is a difficult question, Congressman. We do in-
tend to continue working with the Public Health Service. And,
again, in my opening comment, that is one of the concerns I have
is that there are no whistleblower statutes for companies, espe-
cially small companies. But, no, we would.

I mean, overwhelmingly, all of the scientists and the executives
that I have dealt with in the Public Health Service are out-
standing, so I don’t think that this is a systemic problem. I think
there was a profound lack of common sense applied to all of this.
I mean, when you step back from all of the lawyers and figuring
out where the semi-colons are placed, I mean, basically, you know,
none of this would pass the smell test. It just didn’t make sense.
So, you know, but I don’t think that is the rule.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. I know the chairman basically laid out his admon-
ishment regarding any negative suffering that you might have as
a result of testifying here before you—right at the beginning of
your testimony. So hopefully—I know he was pretty strong and
stern when he made those comments, and I know he means it.
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Okay. Dr. Heller?
Mr. HELLER. I do. I also encourage the committee’s work. I think

you are doing very good work, and I was encouraged by Dr.
Zerhouni’s plans. I think we come from a different perspective. We
feel like we followed all of the ethical rules and procedures, and
really up until this morning we were under the impression that
Drs. Liotta and Petricoin had as well. We do not feel like we had
any surreptitious or secret dealings with them in any way.

I think it is up to the committee and to Dr. Zerhouni to find the
right balance between what government scientists should be al-
lowed to do in terms of consulting and cooperative research agree-
ments, and what not. I don’t feel like I am in the proper place. I
am not an ethicist in any way.

I will say that I believe that allowing government scientists to
consult encourages new developments in the field, and, in fact, I
believe that Drs. Liotta and Petricoin’s work has really led to the
blossoming of a new industry. And I think that was—that is to be
encouraged in many ways.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Are you optimistic hearing Dr. Zerhouni’s 10 steps
as he explained them to us? Are you optimistic that those would
work?

Mr. HELLER. I am. I think the transparency is the main issue
within NIH.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes. Do you agree, Mr. Levine?
Mr. LEVINE. I would like to make one more comment on Dr. Hell-

er’s comment, which I agree with generally. But the last part of
your comment, Dr. Heller, that consulting is a way to somehow
spread the—you know, get the technology out, I really reject that
idea completely. The Congress has set up very, very clear mecha-
nisms for the technologies that are developed by government to be
transferred to the private sector, through a CRADA, through li-
censing agreements, and, of course, both of those are mechanisms
that Correlogic has availed itself of.

And, third, through the peer review and the publications and the
public speaking that government scientists do. So the idea some-
how that private consulting by a government scientist, where those
funds go into the pocket of the scientist, and the information goes
directly to the private sector company, I think that is just not—
that is not a methodology for technologic transfer. There are three
very, very good methods for technology transfer, and that is not one
of them.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, Dr. Heller, a response to that? I mean, that
is a little bit of a hornet’s nest there. Go ahead.

Mr. HELLER. I mean, I guess, again, I am not an expert in this,
but I guess I would disagree. I believe that consulting is a valid
way to get information that government scientists have out to in-
dustry. And I guess I feel also that there are a huge number of ap-
plications for these kinds of technologies.

Although in some senses Correlogic and Predicant may be com-
petitors, in other senses there are hundreds of applications that we
might want to go after. You know, specifically, from the literature
I know ovarian cancer is at the top of Correlogic’s list of diseases
that it is trying to address. That is not on our list. And so I see
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no fundamental conflict. I feel like government employees can look
at the——

Mr. BILIRAKIS. So do you think that consulting is a pretty signifi-
cant part of adequate research?

Mr. HELLER. I believe it is a way for government scientists to
make their expertise available to biotech.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, it is kind of a fundamental point I guess.
All right. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentleman.
The Chair recognizes the chairman of the full committee, Mr.

Barton.
Chairman BARTON. Thank you, and I appreciate this panel still

being here. I had to go do something else, and I am glad they are
still here.

Dr. Heller, let me ask you a hypothetical. Let us assume that I
move to Colorado, and I move to Congresswoman DeGette’s dis-
trict. And I know she is a crackerjack campaigner, and I find out
who her consultant is that is helping her on her campaign, and I
decide to run for Congress against her.

And I go to her consultant, and I say, ‘‘Now, I am going to pay
you a lot more, and I want you to continue to work with Congress-
woman DeGette, but don’t tell her that you are working for me.
Just every now and then I am going to have a board meeting, and
I want you to come give me information about the campaign.’’
Would you consider that ethical or not?

Mr. HELLER. I would not consider that ethical, but I do not be-
lieve that that is the case in front of us today.

Chairman BARTON. All right. Now, you said you don’t consider
that to be ethical. Now, my understanding is that the former head
of NCI, Dr. Klausner, at one time was a member of the board of
your predecessor company, and maybe still is a member of the
board of your—the company as it is currently configured. Is that
correct?

Mr. HELLER. He is.
Chairman BARTON. Okay. Now, Mr. Levine, sitting right next to

you, several years ago according to his testimony had this idea, and
he sketched it out on a napkin at a restaurant, about the way to
find a predictive test for ovarian cancer. And he got some folks at
NIH to collaborate with him and checking it out, and, lo and be-
hold, it appeared to have viability.

And so they created what was called a CRADA, and he had sev-
eral of the NIH researchers working with him on it, I think a Dr.
Liotta and a Dr. Petricoin. And things were moving along swim-
mingly, and then, lo and behold, unbeknownst to him, they got re-
tained to work for your company. And my guess is that Dr.
Klausner recommended them.

I don’t know that, but since he was the head of NCI and he had
access to this information, it would—it is speculation on my part,
but it would seem to be logical that if he knew what was going on
that he could have pointed these individuals out to your company.
Is that how it happened, or did you all just pull names out of a
hat and it happened to be these two scientists that were working
on the CRADA with Mr. Levine’s company?
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Mr. HELLER. Let me explain a number of things. First of all, I
want to address the point that the agreements between Biospect,
now Predicant, and Drs. Liotta and Petricoin, were at no time se-
cret. We never kept that from public information. We divulged that
to people we were working with. It is not my——

Chairman BARTON. So Mr. Levine next to you is just an idiot and
didn’t know?

Mr. HELLER. We never talked to Correlogic or any employees
there.

Chairman BARTON. You honestly think that it is fair game to
hire people that are working for a company that, if not doing exact
research, something in a similar vein. In fact, apparently they are
the ones—this gentleman to your right is the gentleman who had
the idea, and it is okay to go in and retain them and just assume
that it is Mr. Levine’s job to know that they were retained and hire
a private investigator to go out and search them out?

Mr. HELLER. So let me address, again, a couple of issues here.
One, although Mr. Levine and his—the people he works with did
talk to Drs. Petricoin and Liotta, I would call it farfetched to—with
all due respect, to say that they invented pattern recognition as it
comes—you know, with respect to biological data. This is some-
thing that was going on in very closely related fields.

The second thing I would like to say——
Chairman BARTON. I assume that you read his testimony about

the dinner conversation that he had and sketching the idea on the
napkin. You dispute that? That didn’t——

Mr. HELLER. No, I completely believe that it occurred. But there
were very closely related fields where people were doing very simi-
lar pattern recognition.

Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. HELLER. Not in proteomics but in gene expression analysis,

a very closely related field.
Second of all, I don’t think that it is fair to say that we were

doing exactly the same thing, or we are doing exactly the same
thing as Correlogic. Mr. Levine pointed out that we are approach-
ing the same problem from different ways, and I think there is a
fundamental difference.

Chairman BARTON. Nothing wrong with that. We are not dis-
puting that there is——

Mr. HELLER. No, but let me explain. I think we are trying to de-
velop a complete technology solution. We are not just trying to buy
parts off the shelf and fit them together, and I think that because
of that we are—we think of ourselves as a very integrated com-
pany.

Chairman BARTON. Well, but——
Mr. HELLER. We do not think of ourselves as only producing soft-

ware. And to our knowledge, that was Correlogic’s only——
Chairman BARTON. Well, let me—Mr. Levine, do you consider

yourself the software company only?
Mr. LEVINE. No, I don’t, sir. And the analogy there really I think

falls flat. I mean, there is virtually no company, at least in the
technology world, that manufactures or produces or designs every
single component of a complicated piece of equipment. I mean, if
you look at a Dell computer, you will find the hard drives are made
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by one company in Taiwan, and the motherboards are made by
somebody else in Texas.

Chairman BARTON. Well, we will give Dr. Heller the benefit of
the doubt that his company is looking at this area in a little bit
different way, and maybe a little more comprehensive way.

Mr. LEVINE. Right.
Chairman BARTON. I won’t dispute that. But I want to go back

to how these two scientists at NIH that were under the CRADA
agreement with Mr. Levine got picked to work for your company.
Did Dr. Klausner have anything to do with identifying them as pro-
spective candidates to work for your company?

Mr. HELLER. They were invited to be consultants for our com-
pany by our Acting CEO, Jim Tannenbaum.

Chairman BARTON. And how did he find out about it?
Mr. HELLER. He did work with Dr. Klausner. Dr. Klausner——
Chairman BARTON. So Dr. Klausner indicated to your Acting

CEO that these were two individuals that were doing research on
a similar idea and they might be worth talking to.

Mr. HELLER. I believe that would be the case, but let me also
point out that there are a very limited number of people in the
world who are doing this kind of research. You know, we are talk-
ing 20.

Chairman BARTON. When these two scientists were contacted by
your company, was it a legal requirement that they notify Mr. Le-
vine’s company? Or was it just their own code of honor that they
should indicate that they have been contacted?

Mr. HELLER. We had very carefully worded agreements. NIH
participated in editing those agreements. All of the agreements
that we have in place were NIH and FDA cleared. I do not know
what NIH and FDA rules are with regard to disclosure. We specifi-
cally asked the consultants what other agreements they had, and
we were informed——

Chairman BARTON. While they were in the CRADA with Mr. Le-
vine’s company, they were retained by your company. Were they
compensated by both companies at the same time?

Mr. HELLER. I do not know whether——
Chairman BARTON. Were they compensated by your company?
Mr. HELLER. They were compensated by my company.
Chairman BARTON. All right. Mr. Levine, were they compensated

by your company?
Mr. LEVINE. No, that is absolutely prohibited. The CRADA—we

made a contribution in terms of our——
Chairman BARTON. So we have a situation with the government-

sponsored research, the CRADA. The taxpayer is paying for their
time. But with Dr. Heller’s company, the investors are paying for
their time, and so they have a potential conflict there that they are
actually serving two masters, one of which is the public and one
of which is private.

Now, I don’t know what the compensation package was with Dr.
Heller’s company. I will assume it was on the up and up. But if
it had incentives in it, the incentives would certainly be for them
to give their best shot to Dr. Heller’s company, because they get
more money that way.
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Mr. LEVINE. There were no incentives in it. It was strictly a fee
per month.

Chairman BARTON. Okay. Now, I want to read you a statement,
Dr. Heller, and you tell me what you think about this. This is from
Mr. Levine’s testimony. This is on page 10, and I quote, ‘‘So while
our negotiations over finalizing our clinical trial CRADA were slow-
ly going nowhere, Dr. Liotta and Dr. Petricoin had become consult-
ants to our competitor, Biospect, and Dr. Shtrom had become an
employee. During our endless discussions with Dr. Liotta and Dr.
Petricoin about Correlogic’s research and plans for clinical trials, I
now realize I would have had no way of knowing, for example,
whether I had been talking to Dr. Liotta, the NCI employee, or Dr.
Liotta, the Biospect consultant, or Dr. Liotta, an owner of
Immunomatrix, or Dr. Liotta, the employer or former employer of
Dr. Whitley. And these are just the relationships that I know
about.’’

Do you have any sympathy for Mr. Levine’s plight there that,
you know, he didn’t know which hat his CRADA coordinator was
wearing at the time?

Mr. HELLER. Let me address the fact that Svetlana Shtrom did
and continues to work for Predicant. The first time I was aware
that she actually was involved in establishing this CRADA was
about 2 weeks ago. So we have internally had very high ethical
standards. We have not discussed Correlogic or the CRADA inter-
nally at all, and I think that that is an important issue.

Chairman BARTON. Well, my time is about out, so I want to con-
clude with just an observation. In the political arena, if I am cam-
paigning against Mr. Greenwood or Ms. DeGette, you know, I kind
of know what the rules are. You know, everything is going to be
in the public, and any funds that are raised have to be reported,
and groups that support us have to report the contributions, and,
you know, we fire salvos back and forth. But we kind of know what
the rules are.

But what you are having us believe, that in this research situa-
tion funded by NIH, that it was okay for you to go in and retain
or somehow develop some sort of a contractual relationship with
the people that were helping your competitor, and you didn’t have
to tell anybody about it. And it was okay as long as you got some
scientific agreement that got approved and got filed where nobody
could read about it, and I think that is just flat wrong.

I think if the taxpayers are going to enter into a cooperative
agreement, a CRADA, with any company, that anybody who rep-
resents the government, if they want to have a relationship with
somebody else in the same line, that has to be transparently re-
ported upfront, proactively, not, you know, if you smoke them out
and he hires a private investigator, or just happens to find out
through the grapevine, and, you know, I respect your academic
background, and I respect the research that your company is doing,
but I absolutely have no respect for the way you have gone in and
retained the services of some of the individuals that at least osten-
sibly on paper were supposed to be working with Mr. Levine’s com-
pany.

I just think that is irresponsible. And if we need to pass legisla-
tion to prevent it, or if we can reinforce what Dr. Zerhouni has said
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in doing it administratively, I am going to encourage this com-
mittee to do that.

Mr. HELLER. May I comment on that?
Chairman BARTON. Certainly.
Mr. HELLER. I agree with your conclusion that better trans-

parency is a good thing, and I believe that Dr. Zerhouni’s rec-
ommendations will address that. I completely agree with you.

I just want to point out, we did follow all of the NIH and all of
the FDA guidelines. The FDA knew, the NIH knew, exactly what
we were doing. We at no time tried to keep their relationship secret
in any way, and, in fact, that is probably how Peter Levine found
out about this. We weren’t trying to hide this in any way. I feel
like that is a false accusation.

And so I agree that better transparency would be a very good
thing. We feel like we followed the law, and if the laws need to
change, which I believe that you are suggesting they do—and Dr.
Zerhouni is suggesting they do—I believe that is a good thing as
well.

Chairman BARTON. Mr. Chairman, I would ask unanimous con-
sent for 2 minutes, just to——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Without objection.
Chairman BARTON. Mr. Levine, I don’t want to comment on what

Dr. Heller just said, I want to give you a chance to comment on
what he just said. Do you think that there was full disclosure of
the relationship between Drs. Petricoin and Liotta and Biospect/
Predicant and your company that you could have known
without——

Mr. LEVINE. There certainly was not, although I will say I am
sympathetic, actually, to Dr. Heller’s comment. The responsibility
is not on Biospect to be, you know, contacting Correlogic. The re-
sponsibility was on the part of Drs. Liotta and Petricoin and NCI
and FDA to make sure the situation couldn’t arise. So we were not
informed at all.

In fact, there were numerous occasions where the opportunity to
inform us was very apparent—for example, when I sent them an
e-mail with the Biospect information in May 2003. So, again, I
think the issue here really is it is the role of the Public Health
Service scientists, it is the role of the ethics officers within those
agencies—and, again, just to stress a point, it is not just the
CRADA relationship. It is the interrelationship between research
that we did with NCI and FDA under the CRADA and the over-
arching license agreement that we have with the Public Health
Service.

And just one other comment. Dr. Heller mentioned in answer to
your description of my brunch discussion with Dr. Petricoin many
years ago, whether or not the issue of pattern recognition has been
used in other fields, of course it has been.

But the central issue here, though, is that the FDA and the NCI
and the Public Health Service and Correlogic have all filed patents
on these various inventions. And, of course, the central part of the
licensing agreement with Correlogic was to develop a turnkey sys-
tem, and that is exactly the same business goal that Biospect has.
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And, again, I have no problem with what Biospect is doing. I
mean, they—you know, if you can get some expertise, go ahead and
do it. The problem lies with the agencies.

Chairman BARTON. So you think that if it is not Biospect’s obli-
gation, then the scientists in question should either recuse them-
selves, ask to be released from their obligation to your company, or,
at a minimum, report it in an open and transparent fashion.

Mr. LEVINE. That is absolutely correct. In fact, I think the issue
of transparency, which several individuals today have already com-
mented on, I think that is really, really key. And, again, because
I think it is not—it doesn’t take a group of lawyers to figure this
out.

It is really just—it is sort of a—you know, it is sort of a common
sense look at the website of both Biospect at the time, and at the
time from my perspective that is May 2003, perhaps earlier. And
what Correlogic was doing, it didn’t take an ethics officer or a sci-
entist or a lawyer to figure out that these two companies had ex-
actly the same goals and were working on very, very similar tech-
nologies.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair asks unanimous consent to—the

Chair yields himself 5 minutes, and then will just be brief and then
yield to Mr. Bilirakis.

Let me just understand something about your testimony, Dr.
Heller. There are a couple ways to look at this issue. One is that
not to worry because what you are doing is so different than from
what Mr. Levine’s company is doing that even if Liotta and
Petricoin told you everything there was to know about what they
were doing, it wouldn’t have helped you anyway, because you are
doing different things.

The other way to do it is to say, actually, that they didn’t you
anything anyway, and so there was—confidentiality was kept. I
mean, which is it here? I mean, do you want us to believe that if
you knew everything that Dr. Levine was doing it wouldn’t help
you to develop your product?

Mr. HELLER. I actually think that it is sort of both of what you
are saying. We knew nothing from—other than what was in the
public literature about what Correlogic was doing. It was never
shared by Drs. Liotta or Petricoin or anyone else with us.

At the same time, we know specifically from the literature that
they are working on these very specific software algorithms that
are not the focus of what we are working on. We are working on
completely different pattern recognitions and——

Mr. GREENWOOD. So if Dr. Levine wrote everything that he was
doing with his product in a notebook, and you happened to stumble
upon it, you wouldn’t even be interested in looking through it? You
wouldn’t learn anything from reading what Dr. Levine is up to?

Mr. HELLER. I think we would gain some information about what
he was doing. I don’t know that it would be incredibly helpful to
our company in any way.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Do you concur with that, Dr. Levine?
Mr. LEVINE. No, I don’t. And thank you for the doctor, but it is

only——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right, Mr. Levine.
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Mr. LEVINE. Unless a J.D., you know, confers doctor status on
me.

The problem I have, Dr. Heller, with what you just said is that—
and, you know, in general with this issue—is that when someone
learns something, whether it is a scientist or just, you know, a cit-
izen, when you learn something, you know, a month or 2 after you
learn it, are you going to remember where you learned it? So
whether or not—I mean, you are not in a position, and Biospect
wasn’t in the position, to know whether or not——

Mr. GREENWOOD. You need to address your questions to the com-
mittee.

Mr. LEVINE. I am sorry——
Mr. GREENWOOD. That is okay.
Mr. LEVINE. —Mr. Chairman. The problem is that when we

would say something to a scientist at NIH, if a month later they
are digesting that and then it comes back out in a conversation
with somebody else, are they going to remember that they learned
that or that particular piece of information, maybe not an earth-
shattering, you know, not a patent pending kind of information,
but the direction that the company was going in or some particular
manipulation of data.

So the issue really is: how do you filter out, and how do you
know that what is in your own mind, and you then provide that
advice to somebody else, is really coming from your own under-
standing, or is it coming from something that you learned a week
earlier? So that is one concern.

The second issue is that Dr. Heller mentioned, well, they are
using different algorithms. But, again, what we have published,
you know, publicly is one thing. But, of course, the fact that the
work is ongoing with other bioinformatics—and, again, the central
issue, as I mentioned earlier, is that we were developing and work-
ing on processes that began with the collection of blood and how
it was handled, stored, prepared, through what kind of robotic ma-
chines would handle it, to mass spectrometry, all the way through
to the end result. So it wasn’t just the software issue.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Which is why the standard in ethics is not con-
flict of interest. It is the appearance of conflict of interest. And by
casting that kind of a net, we avoid all of this—all of these nu-
ances.

The Chair yields to the gentleman from Florida, Mr. Bilirakis.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. All of this hitchhiking on all of these conversa-

tions, Mr. Chairman—well, Dr. Heller, I raised the question about
the significance of consulting to the field of research. And you and
Mr. Levine completely disagreed in terms of the significance of it
and the need for it. I guess maybe that is the best way to put it
is the need for it.

Now, you said there is a need for it. Can you take a couple of
minutes and tell me how? I mean, do you want to pick an illustra-
tion and tell us how that illustration supports your point of view?
I think it is really, as the chairman just said, a fundamental policy
question. And as long as—you know, maybe bad things have not
taken place. But God knows it certainly contributes to the percep-
tion of an awful lot of bad things having taken place.

So can you do that for us in a couple of minutes?
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Mr. HELLER. Sure. Again——
Mr. BILIRAKIS. And I thank the chairman for the time.
Go ahead, sir.
Mr. HELLER. Again, this is not an area of my experience, but let

me follow on a theme that Dr. Zerhouni mentioned in his testi-
mony. He said, ‘‘Well, what happens if there is an NIH scientist
who is studying West Nile Virus with technology that is obviously
applicable to some other disease?’’ And I think that is a great ex-
ample of what can happen.

You know, in this case, the technology is not just limited to diag-
nosis of ovarian cancer and the diseases that Drs. Petricoin and
Liotta and Correlogic are working on. There are a huge number of
diseases out there, and to gain the expertise from people who have
developed it for one particular application in other applications
would be of great value to the scientific industry.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. But isn’t there, Mr.—am I pronouncing your name
correctly when I say Levine?

Mr. LEVINE. No, Laveen is the name.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Laveen. Dr. Heller has been using Laveen all

along.
But anyhow, Mr. Levine, aren’t there other ways that this impor-

tant significant information, these breakthroughs and what not,
are available out there for the general public and for these other
industries and what not?

Mr. LEVINE. Yes.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Other than through the consulting method?
Mr. LEVINE. Yes, absolutely. There are three methods. There is

the CRADA method, which Correlogic is involved in, which, again,
that is very public and it goes through a review process within the
government. There is a licensing procedure where if Public Health
Service scientists invent a technology which has the potential to be
commercialized, it is posted in the Federal Register, and private
sector companies can compete for that technology.

And third, of course, is that most government scientists are ob-
sessed with putting out peer reviewed publications, which are then
available to anyone who buys the magazine or attends a con-
ference. So I think there are very clear methodologies which are
transparent, which are fair to the public at large. And if there is
any, you know, income that comes back from those activities, and
particularly the licensing—whether it is direct licensing or licens-
ing under the CRADA—those funds come back into the Federal
treasury, back to the taxpayer, not into the pockets of the indi-
vidual scientist.

Mr. HELLER. May I comment on that?
Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes, Dr. Heller.
Mr. HELLER. I agree. I think that the three methods that Mr.

Levine——
Mr. BILIRAKIS. But you don’t think they are adequate?
Mr. HELLER. I think it doesn’t account for one thing. The sci-

entists at the NIH and the FDA are very busy people. I couldn’t
guess how many e-mails that they get per day. How does a com-
pany like us, like Predicant, attract the attention? How do we get
their time, and how do we get their information?

VerDate 11-MAY-2000 12:16 Aug 31, 2004 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00576 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6602 93973.TXT HCOM1 PsN: HCOM1



569

The public meetings are one forum for doing that, but, you know,
in general people come to these meetings for a very short period
of time. They fly out. It is hard to attract people’s attention. I think
by being able to get focused—the focused attention through a con-
sulting agreement, I think that is the best way. But I agree that
it should be transparent.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Yes. So you feel the only way you can get the at-
tention is by paying them, giving them stock options.

Mr. HELLER. I mean, I think there are multiple ways but dif-
ferent people respond in different ways. And we—I don’t think that
stock options are necessarily the right thing, and we specifically
did not give any stock in this case.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, sir, I don’t know what took place here. I
don’t think this committee is saying that you all did anything
wrong or anything of that nature, because we don’t know. I mean,
that is not our job here. But I do think that the perception—and
I am sure you don’t blame Mr. Levin—Laveen, Levine, Levin——

I am sure you don’t blame Mr. Levine for thinking that, because,
boy, what a perception there is there.

Mr. HELLER. No, I do not. Absolutely not.
Mr. BILIRAKIS. So that is why we——
Mr. HELLER. But I believe the transparency would solve the

issue. I think if he was made aware initially that the consulting
agreement was being put in place, I think that would take care of
this issue.

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Well, thanks, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The gentlelady Ms. DeGette wants to comment.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I just wanted to comment. I joined in the chairman’s questioning,

so I didn’t ask this round. But listening to the two of you gentle-
men speak today, first of all I really want to thank you for coming,
both of you. I know it was an imposition, and it was incredibly illu-
minating, some of the most illuminating testimony we have had
during these series of three hearings.

What it showed to me is, first of all, the concerns that private
industry has in trying to get folks’ attention over at HHS, and also
to try to get some of the research, which is what leads, in our view,
to some of these conflicts of interest that we are seeing and which
really need to be ended.

And the second thing—and really related—is the completely dif-
ferent motives in needing this information and research that pri-
vate industry has from HHS and from the government agencies
themselves. So, therefore, it is really clear to me we cannot and
should not expect private industry to conduct the kind of policing
operations that ethics counsel and others should be conducting.

And the final lesson that your testimony taught me is it is—and
I have been saying this all along like—I have just been harping on
it, which is it is very difficult, and it is a huge challenge for the
HHS ethics team and for Dr. Zerhouni to put together some ethics
guidelines that will actually prevent these kinds of conflicts from
happening. So all I would say is I think this has been very illu-
minating. I thank you for your help and hope you will continue to
work with us as we do this.
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And to the HHS folks, good luck. I think it is really going to be
hard to put ethics guidelines in place that are going to prevent
these kinds of conflicts.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady and thanks

our witnesses.
Dr. Heller, you are excused. Mr. Levine, we are going to ask you

to take a seat but remain with the speakers. We may want to come
back to you as we question the third and final panel.

And I now call them forward. Dr. Anna D. Barker, Ph.D., Deputy
Director, Advanced Technologies and Strategic Partnerships at the
National Cancer Institute; Dr. Maureen O. Wilson, Ph.D., Assistant
Director of the National Cancer Institute; and Dr. J. Carl Barrett,
Ph.D., Director, Center for Cancer Research at the National Cancer
Institute.

Good afternoon. We welcome all of you here. As you probably
know, it is the custom of this committee to take questions under
oath. The first question I have for you is: do any of you object to
giving your testimony under oath? Seeing no such objections, I
would then advise you that you are entitled to be represented by
counsel. Do any of you wish to be represented by counsel?

Ms. BARKER. No.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. In that case, I would ask you to stand

and raise your right hands, please.
[Witnesses sworn.]
Okay. You are all under oath.

TESTIMONY OF ANNA D. BARKER, DEPUTY DIRECTOR, AD-
VANCED TECHNOLOGIES AND STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS;
MAUREEN O. WILSON, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR; AND J. CARL
BARRETT, DIRECTOR, CENTER FOR CANCER RESEARCH, NA-
TIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE

Mr. GREENWOOD. And, Dr. Barker, do you have any opening
statement or any comments you wish to make preliminary to ques-
tioning?

Ms. BARKER. We do not have an opening statement. We are here
to answer your questions.

Mr. GREENWOOD. That is true of you, Dr. Wilson, and you, Dr.
Barrett?

Mr. BARRETT. That’s correct.
Okay. In that case, we will—okay. Let me address you first, Dr.

Wilson, and ask you this. And I am going to ask the staff to pull
up the slide for Dr. Wilson’s questioning.

While they are doing that, I will describe it. It is an e-mail dialog
between you—there it is. You may have to turn around in order to
see that. It is an e-mail dialog between you, Dr. Wilson, and Dr.
Liotta and Holli Beckerman Jaffe. Ms. Beckerman Jaffe writes,
‘‘Please also confirm with him that while he has not received any
payment since February’’—in other words, he was last paid in Feb-
ruary—‘‘he has not consulted with Biospect since February. The ar-
rangement has been put on hold until he receives approval on from
Dr. Kington. I know I am beating a dead horse, but I want to be
very clear on the facts.’’

Dr. Liotta then responds, ‘‘I confirm this on hold.’’
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Do you understand his response to mean that Ms. Beckerman
Jaffe asked that he had not received any payment since February
and had not consulted with Biospect since February? Was that
your understanding?

Ms. WILSON. That was my understanding.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And why would it have been a problem

if he had been consulting for the company beyond February?
Ms. WILSON. At the time of the new NEAC rules, all activities

with Biotech, as well as others that were covered by the NEAC re-
sponsibilities were to be resubmitted for approval, and all new ac-
tivities that were covered under their jurisdiction also were sup-
posed to be submitted for approval. And our regs say you cannot
proceed with an activity without obtaining prior approval.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And let me ask you this. Do you believe it was
consistent with that policy to be able to receive compensation, ei-
ther if there was no further activity?

Ms. WILSON. It would probably depend on the subject of the
agreement. Payment for prior services would be, in my mind, ac-
ceptable. But, again, that would be subject to the agreement.

Mr. GREENWOOD. But if there was a monthly payment to be
made, would you—is it your understanding of the policy that the
employees should not receive payments for ongoing services?

Ms. WILSON. The intent was to cease accepting payment until re-
review had gone forward.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. I am going to ask the staff to play clip
6, in which we will hear Dr.—go ahead.

[Tape played.]
Those voices were Dr. Petricoin first and then Dr. Liotta. Was

that clear to you——
Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] which was speaking when? Okay.
Based on his testimony, do you understand Dr. Liotta to be con-

firming what he stated in this e-mail, that he stopped working for
Biospect in February?

Ms. WILSON. He indicated that it was on hold . He said he had
one e-mail conversation with them. I do not know what the subject
of the e-mail is, so I wouldn’t know whether to call it employment
or not.

Mr. GREENWOOD. What do you interpret ‘‘on hold’’ to mean?
Ms. WILSON. ‘‘On hold’’ would be——
Mr. GREENWOOD. I am going to ask you to speak a little bit more

directly into your microphone. Thank you.
Ms. WILSON. ‘‘On hold’’ would be performance of no services.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Performance of no services. And, again, receipt

of no payments for——
Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] services. Okay.
I am going to ask the staff to show the slides. This is a series

of canceled checks indicating that Dr. Liotta was continuing to be
compensated for his work through May. Dr. Wilson, doesn’t that
conflict with what he told you and Ms. Beckerman Jaffe in the e-
mail?

Ms. WILSON. Yes, it does.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Doesn’t this suggest that he did not ter-
minate his agreement with the company as he was required to do
by new NIH policies at the time?

Ms. WILSON. The requirement was that the activities be put on
hold until they could be rereviewed, not necessarily that they be
terminated. The NEAC was to determine whether they would be
terminated or not.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Didn’t terminate his agreement. Cer-
tainly did not—it certainly indicates that he did not terminate his
agreement. But what you’re saying was the termination of an
agreement per se was not the policy, it was to suspend services and
payment——

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] during that time. And why did you

ask him in that e-mail—or why did the Ethics Directors, excuse
me, ask that—he inquired as to whether he had received any pay-
ments and wanted to confirm that he had not received any pay-
ments since February?

Ms. WILSON. To assure that, in fact, he was abiding by what NIH
had put in place.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. The former director of NCI, Richard
Klausner, is a member of Biospect’s Board of Directors. Dr. Carol
Dahl, former Chief of the Office of Technology and Industrial Rela-
tions at NCI, was Vice President of Strategic Partnerships.
Svetlana Shtrom, who was the Technology Transfer Officer from
NCI with whom Correlogic had to negotiate its CRADA was hired
by Biospect. And the two co-principal investigators on the
CRADA—Drs. Liotta and Petricoin—were hired by Biospect.

And if you will look at Tabs 27 and 37 in the binder before you
there, you will see information from the websites of Correlogic and
Biospect. Do you see them? Tab 27, and then 37. I want you to
compare them.

To me, they look remarkably similar. For example, Correlogic’s
site states, ‘‘Correlogic’s mission is to advance the early identifica-
tion of various cancers and other diseases and to accelerate the
new drug discovery process by applying its proprietary software to
the development of proteomic and other biomarkers.’’

Turning, then, to Biospect’s website, it states, ‘‘Biospect is an
emerging life science company founded in 2002 that is developing
technology for identifying and assaying protein biomarker pat-
terns.’’

Given the fact that all of these parties have a relationship with
a company that bears a near-same statement of aims to its own,
and is clearly a competitor, isn’t it reasonable for Correlogic to be
concerned that something is amiss?

Ms. WILSON. It is reasonable, yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Let me turn to Dr. Barrett. As you

know, Dr. Richard Klausner, the former Director of the NCI, is on
the Board of Directors of Biospect. Do you know Dr. Klausner? You
need to turn your microphone on and make sure it is up close.

Mr. BARRETT. I do know him, yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And did you advocate having Dr.

Klausner designated as special volunteer in your lab at NCI?
Mr. BARRETT. Yes.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. If you would turn to Tab 16, you will see
documentation that you submitted in September 2001 to get Dr.
Klausner the special volunteer designation. Do you see that?

Mr. BARRETT. Excuse me. That was 16?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Tab 16, yes.
Mr. BARRETT. Yes, I see that.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Can I assume that you have had a pro-

fessional relationship with Dr. Klausner that prompted you to do
this?

Mr. BARRETT. Yes. Dr. Klausner had resigned as the Director of
the National Cancer Institute to take a position, and as other out-
side people was allowed to be a special volunteer at the NIH. And
so he was doing—continuing to do research at the NIH. He had one
post-doctoral fellow who was continuing to do this research, and
this agreement allowed him to continue to be a special volunteer,
not paid, but actually continue that research.

Mr. GREENWOOD. And did he get that designation?
Mr. BARRETT. Yes, he did.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And does he still have the designation?
Mr. BARRETT. No, he does not.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. When did it end?
Mr. BARRETT. I do not know. It was not renewed, so it certainly

expired after 1 year. But I don’t know if——
Mr. GREENWOOD. Are you still in communication with Dr.

Klausner?
Mr. BARRETT. I have not been in communication with him since

probably June 2002 would be my recollection.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Were you doing Dr. Klausner a favor when you

supported him in his request to be a volunteer?
Mr. BARRETT. I think Dr. Klausner is a noted scientist, a member

of the National Academy of Sciences, and was doing research that
had begun when he was at the NIH. And this appointment allowed
him to complete that research, which I think was in the benefit of
the NCI and the NIH.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. My time has expired. It appears that
there is a series of votes. I am going to recognize the gentlelady
from Colorado for 10 minutes, and at the end of her questioning
we will recess for probably——

Ms. DEGETTE. Ten minutes or 5 minutes?
Mr. GREENWOOD. Five minutes. I am sorry.
Ms. DEGETTE. Okay.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And then we will recess for——
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] 45 minutes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Dr. Barrett, I wanted to talk a little bit about

some confusion from the May 18 hearing. Our written transcripts
reflect that what you said is, when you were reviewing Dr. Liotta’s
request to consult for Biospect, you were unaware of the plethora
of former NCI employees working at Biospect. Is that correct?

Mr. BARRETT. That is correct.
Ms. DEGETTE. But during the hearing, Dr. Liotta said, ‘‘When I

reviewed this with my ethics officer and discussed the outside ac-
tivity, it was clearly known and factored into the review that par-
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ticularly the review, that former Cancer Institute employees were
members of that company.’’

Were you, as you testified, unaware of all of the former NCI em-
ployees or officials working at Biospect?

Mr. BARRETT. I was told that there was some relationship with
Dr. Klausner. It is still not clear to me exactly what that relation-
ship was, if he was a member——

Ms. DEGETTE. When were you told that?
Mr. BARRETT. I was told that—I guess I was told that when it

was—back in August when we were rereviewing this. But that
was——

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. So when you say on May 18 that you were
unaware of former NCI employees, that was incorrect?

Mr. BARRETT. No, I said I didn’t—there was a long list of individ-
uals, and the only ones I knew about were Dr. Klausner and Dr.
Dahl.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. But your testimony on the 18th—I am sorry
I am not tracking. Your testimony on the 18th was, ‘‘I was unaware
of the NCI former employees being members.’’ So where is the—
what is the discrepancy there?

Mr. BARRETT. Maybe I didn’t appreciate the question. My under-
standing was there was some relationship with Dr. Klausner, but
that was not clear to me. And I also knew that Dr. Dahl was a
member of that company, but I was unaware of the other indi-
vidual.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. But that is not what our record reflects that
you said on the 18th. You didn’t specify that you knew about sev-
eral, Dr. Klausner in particular, but not of others. So is what you
are saying now correct?

Mr. BARRETT. What I am saying now is correct, yes.
Ms. DEGETTE. All right. Now, Dr. Barker, and also you, Dr. Bar-

rett, after hearing Peter Levine testify earlier today about how
Correlogic and Biospect are, in fact, competing companies, do you
now question your decision to allow Dr. Liotta to be involved in a
consulting relationship with Biospect at the same time he was in-
volved in the CRADA with Correlogic?

Ms. BARKER. I said yes to that last time, and I would actually
reaffirm that. I think if the information that one has today was
available when this rereview was done, that it would not have been
approved.

Ms. DEGETTE. Let me ask you what additional tools—and, Dr.
Barrett, do you agree with that?

Mr. BARRETT. Yes, I do.
Ms. DEGETTE. What additional tools would you need to have to

be able to make an informed decision? Because it is pretty clear to
me you didn’t have all of the evidence at the time you were approv-
ing both of these relationships. Dr. Barker?

Ms. BARKER. Yes. When I was asked—actually, a colleague of
Peter Levine’s asked that this be reviewed, raising just this issue
in August 2003. And so when I did ask that question, I obviously
asked the question of Dr. Wilson, the Ethics Officer, and she in
turn asked Dr. Barrett to rereview those. And the system that was
in place basically up until I believe the announcements today is
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very, very much dependent on investigators actually giving you in-
formation about their consulting arrangements.

And I was new to NCI. I came in actually to look at some of
these issues for Dr. von Eschenbach in the technology area, espe-
cially the development area. And having been in the biotechnology
industry myself, I did understand some of the questions that were
being asked, and so I think that—I think Dr. Wilson and Dr. Bar-
rett reviewed it with all of the information that was available to
them then.

Ms. DEGETTE. Well, I am not—yes, I am not disagreeing with
that. What I am asking you is—and what you are saying is the pre-
vious system was dependent on the researchers themselves giving
you information.

Ms. BARKER. Right.
Ms. DEGETTE. And probably if Mr. Levine had not contacted you

all, you may have never known about this terrible conflict, right?
Ms. BARKER. Correct.
Ms. DEGETTE. So what is it about the reforms being announced

today that you think will stop these kinds of conflicts in the future?
Ms. BARKER. Well, one of the things that we are doing at the

NCI is to create a data base much like the one for—that Dr.
Zerhouni announced today. We have been working on that.

And I think the issue here with CRADAs is complex, and we
can—you know, you may have more questions about that. But I
think we need to understand clearly the consulting arrangements
of individuals that are going to enter into CRADAs, and they have
to be—I think it has to—the understanding has to be pretty com-
plete, and we really have not had the tools to do that in my opin-
ion.

Ms. DEGETTE. Now, how would that—let me ask this question
and then I will yield to the chairman. How would that system pre-
vent this kind of conflict from happening?

Ms. BARKER. I should probably let Dr. Wilson answer that ques-
tion, since she would review that request and act on it. But I am
assuming that she would have a great deal more specific informa-
tion that——

Ms. DEGETTE. Yes. Let us let Dr. Wilson answer.
Ms. WILSON. The one piece that is probably lacking in our system

right now has been a complete recognition of all of the CRADA
technology-type transfer arrangements.

Ms. DEGETTE. If you can speak more closely to the mike.
Ms. WILSON. Sorry. What is missing in our system has been a

direct connection with the technology—all of the technology trans-
fer agreements and with a full knowledge of these pieces. We do,
in our office, look actually at CRADAs, one form of technology
transfer. So in approving the outside activity, we would have
looked at the Correlogic CRADA. We would have known about that.
But we would not have known of any additional——

Ms. DEGETTE. And would you know about that now?
Ms. WILSON. We are putting in place a system that will actually

let us in real time get that information.
Ms. DEGETTE. I will yield to the chairman.
Chairman BARTON. Well, I am going to have my own time when

we come back. But it just—I want to ask Dr. Barker what informa-
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tion you have today that you didn’t have back on August 20 when
you ruled that Dr. Liotta’s duties were appropriate? What do you
know today you didn’t know then?

Ms. BARKER. Well, I think the—as this process has unwound, ac-
tually, we have learned a great deal more about the Correlogic’s
competitor, Biospect, that was actually capsuled here today. And I
think just the simplicity of looking at the change in the website,
which has changed over time—when Dr. Wilson reviewed this re-
quest, even back in August of last year, or the fall of last year, the
website was still quite different from the website that we are view-
ing now. And so——

Chairman BARTON. Well, how was it different?
Ms. BARKER. It basically did speak to the fact that the focus of

the company at that time was really around instrumentation, and
some of the issues that Dr. Liotta has reflected in his request. I
think only in the—in very recent months has the website reflected
this issue of pattern recognition being a major focus of the com-
pany. It was news to—I think it was news to Dr. Wilson and
the——

Chairman BARTON. Is Congresswoman DeGette coming back? Be-
cause I don’t want to take all of her time if she is—I mean, I want
to——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Help yourself, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman BARTON. Okay. Well, Mr. Levine is out there in the

audience vigorously shaking his head that his website has changed.
I don’t know what the protocol is to——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Levine is still under oath and is——
Ms. BARKER. Not his website, the Biospect website.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Levine, would you like to come to the

table, pull up a chair, and——
Chairman BARTON. And as soon as Congresswoman DeGette gets

back, I will——
Mr. GREENWOOD. No, she has gone for the votes. She is not com-

ing back——
Chairman BARTON. Okay.
Mr. GREENWOOD. [continuing] until after the votes.
Chairman BARTON. Have you heard——
Mr. GREENWOOD. And I would advise the chairman that we have

5 minutes and 39 seconds left on this vote.
Chairman BARTON. Mr. Levine, Dr. Barker had said that she

didn’t know now—she knows more now than she knew then when
she approved this, and that one thing that has changed is
Biospect’s website. What is your response to that?

Mr. LEVINE. Well, I can’t comment on what any of the NIH offi-
cials knew when. But certainly on May 22, 2003, the website was
very clear, and we have all looked at that earlier. So nothing
changed. In May 2003, the comparison and the similarity between
what we were doing and what Biospect was doing was very clear
at that time. So I am not sure what change the witnesses are refer-
ring to.

Chairman BARTON. Well, my—and, again, when I get back I will
have my own time. But my comment to Dr. Barker and to Dr. Wil-
son and to Dr. Barrett, reading the August 20, 2003, memorandum
from Dr. Wilson to Dr. Barker that Dr. Liotta’s activities were ap-
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propriate or acceptable or approved is based on the fact, it appears
to me, that he didn’t have a proprietary interest in the CRADA.
And while he was being paid by Biospect, he didn’t have an owner-
ship interest, so as long as he was being paid in a consulting fash-
ion it was okay.

Now, am I misreading that? But it doesn’t really relate to the
subject. I mean, it is just—it was kind of a technical ruling that,
you know, Biospect was hiring him as a consultant, and so he could
pretty well consult on whatever he wanted, and it was okay.

Ms. WILSON. It would not be true even before that he could con-
sult on whatever he wanted. There were restrictions on what a
Federal employee——

Chairman BARTON. That is not what the memo says.
Ms. WILSON. It is a technical analysis. Is the activity legal? Did

it meet with regulations? And technically it did.
Chairman BARTON. Well, I am—we have to go vote, but we are—

I assume we are going to retain these—this panel, so we can come
back and get into this in more detail.

Mr. GREENWOOD. That is correct.
The committee will now recess until 3.
[Brief recess.]
Mr. GREENWOOD. The committee will come to order, and the

Chair recognizes the chairman of the full committee for 10 minutes
for inquiry.

Chairman BARTON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I appreciate
the panel staying.

I am trying to get a handle on what constitutes a conflict of in-
terest at the time the individuals who were working on the CRADA
were also asked to go to work on the Biospect company payroll as
consultants. And I am looking at this August 20, 2003, memo-
randum, which is from Dr. Wilson to Dr. Barker, and the subject
is Conflict of Interest Review, Lance Liotta, M.D.

It is Tab 7, if you all have that information.
On page 1 of the memo, it starts—it says—it has the sentence

that, ‘‘Ethical conduct for employees of the executive branch re-
quires that approval be granted,’’ so it is a positive directive that
approval be granted in response to a request for outside employ-
ment under the following conditions: that the request is submitted
prior to the beginning, and unless it is determined that the outside
employment involves conduct that is prohibited by statute or Fed-
eral regulation.

So if an individual wants to go to work outside the government,
they have to submit it, require it to the beginning of the activity,
and then if you—unless it is determined that the employment
would involve conduct that is prohibited by statute, then you have
to say yes.

On the next page it says that, ‘‘The nature of the consultive serv-
ices requested’’—this is Dr. Liotta’s request to be a consultant for
Biospect—‘‘are limited in requests deemed to be advisory and unre-
lated to any HHS matters. These consultive services do not violate
the regulation.’’

Now, my first question is: how was it determined that what Dr.
Liotta was doing for Correlogic was unrelated to any HHS matter?
Because he was doing the same thing, or at least similar work. So
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who determined that it was unrelated? Did you just take Dr.
Liotta’s word at that?

Ms. BARKER. We did actually go through the established process.
Maybe Dr. Wilson should let you sort of hear that review quickly,
and then we can talk about the specifics of this case.

Ms. WILSON. In conducting the review, we look at the scope of
Dr. Liotta’s duties. We look at his personal financial interest, we
look at his CRADAs, we look at the grant and contract activity in-
sofar as we are able to determine it, all of the technology transfer
activities insofar as we are able to identify them. And we also look
at the science.

We look for the purposes of the science—as you know, science is
changing on a daily basis. It is very complex now, and so our office
does rely on experts who know the field much better than anyone
in my office does to give us a review of whether what is proposed
by the scientist is within the scope of the employee’s duties or out-
side.

Chairman BARTON. But you know when he is asking this—I
mean, he says, ‘‘I am part of a CRADA with Correlogic, and this
is what Correlogic is trying to do. They are trying to find a pre-
dictive test for ovarian cancer based on some sort of an analysis of
blood.’’ I mean, you know that, right?

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Chairman BARTON. Now he wants to go to work for Biospect, and

according to their web page they are doing the same thing. And yet
in this memo it says it is—what he is requesting to do for Biospect
is unrelated to any HHS matter. That just begs credulity that that
would be a statement.

Ms. WILSON. This memo relates to the rereview. The original ap-
proval we did not have access to the website. Biospect’s website in
2002 was not available to us. So we relied on the description of the
company, on the description that was provided and the documents
provided from the company as to what he was going to do.

We asked Dr. Barrett to assist us with the science of the matter.
And given that it was limited by the provisions that were put into
the contract, it was determined that those things were matters of
general applicability.

Chairman BARTON. Well, now, so what you are telling me, if I
interpret this colloquially, Babe Ruth was a great pitcher for the
Boston Red Sox. He turned out to be a great hitter for the New
York Yankees. And according to this ruling, he could continue to
do both. He could play right field for the Yankees and hit home
runs. And when he wasn’t playing for the Yankees, he could go up
to Boston and pitch for the Red Sox.

Ms. WILSON. By the same instance, would we have stopped him
from coaching his children’s little league——

Chairman BARTON. Well, I think if you would have told the
owner of the Yankees that he still wanted to go pitch for the Red
Sox, you know, both ownerships would have had a problem with
that.

Ms. WILSON. I do not disagree with that.
Chairman BARTON. All right. Mr. Barrett, what is your take on

this? Dr. Barrett?
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Mr. BARRETT. Thank you. We reviewed this carefully, but I
must—as we admitted last time I think, knowing what we know
today, we would not have made the same decisions.

Chairman BARTON. But what do you know today that you didn’t
know then?

Mr. BARRETT. Let me explain that to you, Congressman. So at
the time, what we knew was that the Biospect company was a new
company that had a very general description of their activities. It
was not clear that they were involved in the pattern recognition
business. What was also known was that the CRADA with
Correlogic, the Correlogic’s contribution, was in terms of doing the
computational analysis, the algorithm, to actually do the analysis
of the patterns and the proteins.

So what we did to make sure, so it did not appear that there was
any overlap, but we put very clear exclusionary language within
the consulting agreement to try to make it very clear that if there
was any overlap that that would be excluded, and that Biospect in
fact knew that.

Clearly, it should have been the case that Correlogic—Mr. Le-
vine—should have also been aware of this. We admitted that last
time, and I think that certainly is one of the changes that needs
to be——

Chairman BARTON. Well, Dr. Heller, when he was before us in
the previous panel, basically said that you can’t blame his company
because they complied with all of the rules. And you are the people
that are applying the rules, and you are saying you didn’t know.

I mean, the Biospect website shows this capability will be tar-
geted to improve the diagnosis and clinical patient health and en-
able new approaches to drug development. The Biospect system
will be the foundation for the discovery and detection of patterns
of proteins, protein fragments, that reflect and differentiate various
states of health and disease.

And the Correlogic mission statement—and I am not going to
read the whole thing—they want to create turnkey diagnostic sys-
tems that will revolutionize the disease, testing, and screening
market. They will also provide pattern discovery solutions to
biotech and pharmaceutical companies for the use in genomics, if
I am saying that correctly, molecular biology, protein sequencing,
and in new drug identification and toxicity evaluation.

Now, that is not word for word. But I am not a biological sci-
entist, but it sure looks to me like they are doing the same thing.

Mr. BARRETT. Yes, sir. Based upon those two descriptors, I would
agree fully with you. The——

Chairman BARTON. Well, they didn’t look at that. I mean——
Mr. BARRETT. I don’t know when that was available. If it was

available and we did not look at it, that was certainly——
Chairman BARTON. I mean, isn’t the truth is that—and this is

speculation on my part—but it appears to me that prior to this sub-
committee getting involved in this, after 1995 the environment at
NIH was to either encourage these sort of arrangements or to give
it only the most perfunctory and technical analysis. And this par-
ticular arrangement just took it a little bit too far.

But, I mean, I don’t see that any effort was really made to check
what was going on. You all basically took Dr. Liotta at his word,
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or whatever he put into writing, and gave a very technical analysis
of it, and based on that said it is okay. Now, how far off the mark
am I on that?

Mr. BARRETT. I think you have a lot of merit in what you say.
I think what we did do was to look, obviously, at the scope of the
CRADA. And the scope of the CRADA is much more narrow than
the scope of the overall mission of the company. And so within the
scope of the CRADA there was very clear language in the con-
sulting agreement that that was excluded.

Chairman BARTON. Now, as a layman, do you feel that it would
be appropriate at any time for somebody in your—the three of your
positions, the government positions that are reviewing this, to let
the first company know that Dr. Liotta had acquired this ability to
be a consultant for what appears to be a competitor? Should the
law require or internal regulations require that before that ap-
proval is granted, even if it looks okay on paper, the original com-
pany ought to be notified?

Mr. BARRETT. We fully agree with Dr. Zerhouni’s conclusion that
these things should be transparent and should be——

Chairman BARTON. Well, you agree with it today, but you didn’t
at the time. Did anybody bring that up? Did anybody sit around
the table or by e-mail say, ‘‘You know, we ought to let those saps
at Correlogic know that the two principal people they are working
with at NIH are about to have a consulting arrangement with what
appears to be a competitive company’’? Did anybody even think
about that?

Ms. BARKER. In the concept of the Privacy Act, which we believe
this outside activity to be covered by, we would not have made that
personal income relationship known to the public. And from this
perspective——

Chairman BARTON. Well, I am not saying make it known to the
public, but, for gosh sake, why can’t you make it known to the com-
pany that started the process first? I am not saying put an ad in
The Wall Street Journal. But why couldn’t you have notified con-
fidentially Mr. Levine’s company? That is not protected by the Pri-
vacy Act.

Ms. BARKER. We would have—we would have checked with legal
counsel to determine whether they were in the chain of command,
and whether they were covered by the Privacy Act or not, whether
we had the ability to. Absent that, we would not have made it
known.

Chairman BARTON. Well, my time has expired, and I apologize
for that. But at some point in the process, if you folks are the peo-
ple responsible for ruling on ethics applications, you need to step
back and look at the broader picture. I don’t see any attempt in the
documentation to really look at what we would consider to be right
and wrong.

And, you know, Dr. Zerhouni, to his credit has come around to
the view that we need to change the system. And apparently you
folks also agree that the system needs to be changed, which is to
your credit. But in the interim, Correlogic has had two of the peo-
ple that it thought were assigned by the government to work with
their company have behind the scenes been working with another
company, at least along a similar track.
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And my analogy to Babe Ruth is kind of corny, but it is very real.
You know, there is no way the New York Yankees would have let
Babe Ruth go back and pitch for the Red Sox. There is absolutely
no way, but yet by the approval of this application that is essen-
tially in the research sphere what was allowed to happen.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I would yield back.
Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the chairman and recognizes

the gentleman from Florida, Mr. Stearns, for 10 minutes.
Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me just continue along what the distinguished chairman of

the Energy and Commerce Committee started to talk a little bit
about this—what appears to be two scientists involved with a com-
pany, and sort of—Biospect and sort of working for NIH at the
same time, not—Mr. Levine not aware of that, and then he finally
became aware of it.

Mr. Levine, I went through your testimony here, and I thought
I would go through and ask for some further clarification of your
statements. On page 7 of it you say when you raised concerns to
Dr. Petricoin and Dr. Liotta, you said they told you—‘‘I was told
not to be paranoid.’’ And that NCI’s unilateral decision was really
in Correlogic’s best interest.

And, frankly, I was also concerned, and remain concerned to this
day, about the particular components that NCI had unilaterally
chosen for the detection system, and also about which entity would
take the lead in responsibility for seeking regulatory approval fol-
lowing successful completion of the clinical trial.

When they said to you not to be paranoid, what did that mean
to you?

Mr. LEVINE. Well, Congressman, two issues here. The first is
that the reference I was making there was not to the conflict of in-
terest, which I didn’t know about at the time. The reference there
was really to NCI’s decision to proceed with the clinical trial and
to essentially take over this area that had otherwise just been
granted to Correlogic in April 2002.

So the reference really was to the activities of NCI going forward
toward the clinical trial and all of those issues, although through-
out my conversations over the last 3 years with Drs. Petricoin and
Liotta they would continuously tell me that I was paranoid. Every
time I questioned an activity or a decision coming out of NCI, they
thought I was rather paranoid. And I think in hindsight I wasn’t
paranoid enough.

Mr. STEARNS. Well, and then you go on—‘‘a few weeks later I
began hearing more from industry contacts about Biospect being a
competitor.’’

Mr. LEVINE. Yes.
Mr. STEARNS. ‘‘By now I was hearing that Drs. Petricoin and

Liotta were affiliated with Biospect. In early July 2003, I reached
Dr. Petricoin by phone and raised the issue directly to him.’’ Tell
us what you said to him.

Mr. LEVINE. In that call—and I was friends with Dr. Petricoin,
so I was able to be pretty blunt with him, I said that it had come
to my attention through industry contacts that he and Dr. Liotta
were consulting with Biospect, and I was shocked. I was appalled.
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Mr. STEARNS. What was his response when you said to him, ‘‘I
have heard through the industry grapevine that I am now—you are
advising me—you are telling me not to be paranoid, yet I am find-
ing you are part of my main competition.’’ What was their re-
sponse? And were you talking to both of them or to——

Mr. LEVINE. The conversation was only with Dr. Petricoin.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay. And what was his response?
Mr. LEVINE. His response was first and foremost that this was

to approve the outside activity. And I, again, expressed genuine
shock at that. I asked him how that could be so because the two
companies were so clearly competitors, and I reiterated to him at
the time the way in which I found out, which was through other
people in the biotech industry, so that others perceived it as a con-
flict of interest, others outside of government, others outside of
Correlogic.

And I then made the point to him—and this is very, very clear,
since I actually wrote an e-mail shortly after my conversation with
him—I made the point that, as I said earlier in the testimony, that
the information that he was picking up and Dr. Liotta picking up
from their collaboration with Correlogic, where that information
began and where their own understanding ended, it would be very
hard to tell.

So that if they were then consulting with a competitor, the fact
that they might think that they are not revealing confidential in-
formation I thought became a very difficult line to determine.

Mr. STEARNS. Well, then you say later on, ‘‘I raised my concerns
about what was happening to my company with Dr. Barker.’’ And
let me ask Dr. Barker: were you aware of this, too?

Ms. BARKER. Let me explain a little bit about how I became in-
volved.

Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Ms. BARKER. I joined the NCI in January or December actually—

or January 2003, and I actually came to the NCI to join Dr. von
Eschenbach to sort of work on these kinds of issues. So——

Mr. STEARNS. I need you to be brief, just because——
Ms. BARKER. Okay. Not long after I arrived, I received a call that

said—from a colleague of Dr. Levine’s saying that he was engaged
in a CRADA with us, and he felt as though there was a potential
conflict of interest for the investigators. So that is when I asked
that Dr. Wilson and Dr. Barrett rereview the case and readvise us
on whether or not there was a conflict of interest, so we could pro-
ceed to negotiate this.

Mr. STEARNS. Was there a conflict of interest detected?
Ms. BARKER. You know, we have just heard from Dr. Wilson and

Dr. Barrett that using the guidelines they had at that time——
Mr. STEARNS. Right, okay.
Ms. BARKER. [continuing] they concluded that there was not a

conflict of interest.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Ms. BARKER. I think we have all agreed in retrospect that there

was.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay. That is all I wanted to hear.
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NCI and Correlogic have been in negotiations on the clinical
trials for CRADA for a long time. Is it customary to take that long,
Dr. Barker?

Ms. BARKER. In a word, no.
Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Ms. BARKER. We have 100-plus CRADAs. This is the only one ac-

tually that has taken this amount of time to negotiate. But I will
honestly say in sorting this out, it is a very complex CRADA. And
by that, it involves some laboratory discoveries that are quite pro-
found, a clinical trial, a licensed——

Mr. STEARNS. Let me put it this way. How close are we to fru-
ition on these negotiations? Are they 1 week away, a year away,
a month? Where are we right now?

Ms. BARKER. They depend actually on—a confounding factor in
this has been that we started out with a technology that was devel-
oped in collaboration on the CRADA. Dr. Levine’s company has ac-
tually pursued another line of investigation. He would like to add
that to the CRADA, and I think the only thing that is missing here
is to see the data from that technology so we can proceed to make
a decision about this CRADA in terms of doing——

Mr. STEARNS. Let me see if Dr. Levine understands this negotia-
tion the same way you do. Dr. Levine?

Mr. LEVINE. I have to respectfully disagree. The negotiations——
Mr. STEARNS. I mean, have you started something else here and

it is making——
Mr. LEVINE. Well, it is not something else. It was work that we

were developing——
Mr. STEARNS. It was part of the initial negotiations.
Mr. LEVINE. Exactly, part of the initial CRADA. Also, let me just

add, Congressman, that there has been constant reference to how
narrow the original CRADA was. Well, that was one of the issues
beginning as early as August 2002 that we are attempting to
change, because I can show you we have a year’s worth of CRADA
notes here taken by the NCI’s contractor that have—perhaps 25 or
30 percent of these meetings were about software. The bulk of it
was about sample preparation, mass spectrometers, turnkey sys-
tems.

So what was happening was that the research—the joint re-
search under the CRADA was in fact going exactly down the road
that I described earlier, which is the development of a turnkey sys-
tem. So the goal of the negotiations was to both convert the re-
search CRADA and eventually the clinical trial CRADA to match
what was actually going on.

So in terms of where we are today, no, we——
Mr. STEARNS. Okay. So we have a little disagreement, Dr. Bark-

er, in your—you have heard him, I have heard you. Dr. Barrett or
Dr. Wilson, is there anything you would like to contribute here? We
have this negotiation we all agree is going on much too long. You
indicate that it is going to perhaps go on, Dr. Barker, longer be-
cause of some changes that have taken place, and Dr. Levine says
no. Just, Dr. Wilson or Dr. Barrett, anything you folks want to add
here?

Mr. BARRETT. Let me——
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Mr. STEARNS. If you can be brief, because I have got a
summary——

Mr. BARRETT. Right. I know it is—actually, there are several
issues that do need to be put on the table——

Mr. STEARNS. Okay.
Mr. BARRETT. [continuing] which won’t be brief. But let me make

one point. That is, the ability to execute a CRADA is not something
that Dr. Barker or I or the NCI has.

Mr. STEARNS. No, I understand that.
Mr. BARRETT. It goes through the NIH.
Mr. STEARNS. Just your interpretation.
Mr. BARRETT. Part of the discussion has been, what would be ap-

propriate to put into a CRADA that would be satisfactory to all
parties, most importantly the NIH? And that is part of the com-
plexity of this.

The comment that Dr. Levine made—Mr. Levine made about us
taking over an area given to Correlogic I take great exception to,
because I think this is, in fact—we are continuing to do the re-
search that the NCI is supposed to do and which we are paid to
do by the public, and that is to try to understand how to improve
clinical trials for ovarian and other cancer patients.

We have started a clinical trial. There is no delay in that trial.
That is going along. That will collect the samples that will be used
by a variety of sources for doing this analysis. We have welcomed
Dr. Levine to participate in that activity and offered him unlimited
access to these samples, but not necessarily through the CRADA.

The CRADA requires, again, a contribution of both parties, so
there are other mechanisms. He mentioned earlier that he was also
collaborating with another laboratory at NCI through a material
transfer agreement, which is a very legitimate way of doing this
transfer.

So there is lots of ways to move this forward, but the important
thing is it is moving forward, even while these negotiations are un-
derway.

Mr. STEARNS. I guess, Dr. Barker, can you assure us that NCI
will treat Correlogic fairly in the future as they seek to work with
the agency on research?

Ms. BARKER. Absolutely. I have made—I have gone to great
lengths to ensure that that is the case. And just to clarify the point
on—I have seen all the pieces of this now, and it took some time
to sort this out, actually. But I think the point I was raising before
is we do have—we have reached the point of having an agreement
on I think—and I think NCI and Correlogic agree on the basics of
the agreement.

I think the one question NCI has raised is: could we see some
data for the other proposed technology? And we are awaiting that.

Mr. STEARNS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Mr. Levine, you looked like you were about to

say something.
Mr. LEVINE. Yes. The problem with the observations made just

now are that we reached agreement with NCI in August 2002, and
that agreement was reduced to writing on September 12 by NCI’s
technology transfer office. And we have now spent the last 2 years
watching every part of that agreement be unravelled.
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So now to say, ‘‘Well, if we show them data, we can come and
be part of this trial’’ is—I mean, frankly, it is sophistry. I mean,
we had an agreement 2 years ago to move forward together, and
NCI basically has negotiated us to death. It is very difficult when
you are a small company to be negotiating with all of NIH at one
time.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Thank you.
The gentlelady from Colorado is recognized for 10 minutes.
Ms. DEGETTE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Barker, when Mr. Levine was just giving his response, I saw

on your face you disagreed with that. You know, what can be done
here to move this along?

Ms. BARKER. First of all, I think Dr. Levine’s comment is a point
well taken. When I say this was difficult to sort out, there were a
lot of things on the table that had been worked out over time. And
I think because of the speed of the technology, the movement of the
technology, issues that arose due to the tests that Correlogic was
proceeding with, the desire of NCI to proceed along a different line
of technology, when I started looking at this we really had to start
over. I mean, it was—no one sort of within the NCI I think was
where they were a year earlier, and so—and the technology had
moved along.

So I think that the agreement we have on the table now is I
think appropriate, and I think it would allow Correlogic to be—to
really get a 510K, and be probably first to get a 510K, and they
hold a license for this technology. So I think if we can agree on this
one single point in terms of using two technologies versus one, I
think we could close this fairly quickly.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. And, Mr. Levine, does that—do you think
it could be closed fairly quickly, too, given Dr. Barker’s statements?

Mr. LEVINE. I will certainly give it my all, and hopefully it will
be less than 2 years.

Ms. DEGETTE. And, Dr. Barker, I think I know the answer to
this, but I just want to get it on the record. There are some—is
there any indication that Correlogic will suffer because of its com-
plaint to this committee or the proceedings that we have going on
with respect to these issues or the clinical follow-on to the agree-
ment we have?

Ms. BARKER. I speak on behalf of myself, Dr. von Eschenbach, all
the folks at this table, and the National Cancer Institute in saying
that we are most interested in this relationship, and we are very
interested in CRADAs. We are desperate in Cancer to get these
technologies into patients, so, trust me, we are absolutely—if this
is a relationship that can and should be closed and pursued, it will
be done.

Ms. DEGETTE. And there will be no retaliation against——
Ms. BARKER. Absolutely not. There will be—no. I think, actu-

ally—I think this is an interesting and I think very revealing case
study, and I think that Dr. Zerhouni has taken it to heart and
changed some things that needed to be changed from this case
study.

It is—you know, there are some unfortunate things here, but I
think we have learned some things in the system that has been in
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place. And I think it is actually directing us to a new system, and
the NCI has—had already begun to initiate some of these changes.

Ms. DEGETTE. So you are happy for the information they have
brought forward.

Ms. BARKER. I think it has been very informative, and I think
it is also going to help us in the future as we negotiate our
CRADAs and put them in place to be very clear on conflict of inter-
est. And I—that has not been a simple issue before.

Ms. DEGETTE. Dr. Wilson, I just wanted to follow up on the dis-
cussion we were having in my previous line of questioning when I
yielded to the chairman. I think you had testified, and several of
the others had testified, that these new systems that are being put
into place—in particular, the computer systems—should function to
raise a red flag to help us avoid conflicts of interest like this in the
future.

And I guess I would like it if you would describe for me with a
little more precision how it is these types of conflicts of interest will
come up, and how your office is going to identify them in the fu-
ture.

Ms. WILSON. With regard to the data that we can collect on our
own employees, it will allow us to link together everything that we
know that they are doing. Certainly, we have much better descrip-
tions of what their official duties are, their current projects, con-
tracts, grants, anything that the might be involved in. With regard
to CRADAs, we have the same information, or will very shortly, ac-
cessible in real time, including more documents than we have had
before, including such things as confidential disclosure agreements,
which were not accessible to us before.

Ms. DEGETTE. Who were they accessible to before?
Ms. WILSON. They were on record in technology transfer offices.

And we received copies of CRADA listings, but not of those other
documents. And so it indicates a dealing that we have with the
company as part of our official duty activities. Being able to link
those together will, in fact, alert us to a number of relationships
that we wouldn’t have been aware of before. It will give us better
description.

With regard to what Dr. Zerhouni said this morning about
Googling various companies, clearly, what we can obtain from the
web is subject to what is available on the web, and that——

Ms. DEGETTE. Right.
Ms. WILSON. [continuing] will continue to be a limitation. For

small startup companies——
Ms. DEGETTE. So let me stop you. Is it your intention, then, any-

time someone comes forward with a proposal for outside contracts
that you are going to Google all of the proposed—I mean, how is
that going to work mechanically? I am still grappling with how this
new proposed ethical system is going to work.

Ms. WILSON. With regard to outside activities, what we actually
do now when an activity is proposed, as I said, we review all of the
data bases about the employee and their activities, and the Insti-
tute’s involvement with whatever the proposed outside partner is.
Again, they are limited by the systems that we have in place,
which are being improved. We do also search the web for anything
that we can find related to the companies.
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Ms. DEGETTE. And then, is there some—but, I mean, if you had
done that in this case, the information would have—I mean, would
you have known from the web that there was a conflict between
these two companies?

Ms. WILSON. There is one piece of information that was available
to us in August 2003 that we had not known about before. There
was a confidentiality disclosure agreement executed between
Biospect and the NCI for access to the data, which is now public,
that has been generated as part of the CRADA.

That certainly would have immediately signaled an interest of
the company in pursuing the same direction, perhaps exactly, that
the Correlogic CRADA was going down.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. So that—you would have caught that based
on the provision of getting the confidentiality agreements. You
wouldn’t have caught that by surfing the web.

Ms. WILSON. No. We would have caught that within our own sys-
tem.

Ms. DEGETTE. Okay. All right. I don’t think I have any further
questions, and I yield back.

Mr. GREENWOOD. The Chair thanks the gentlelady and recog-
nizes himself for 10 minutes for questioning.

I am going to ask you, Dr. Wilson, to go to Tab 28. And if you
go to the second page, you’ll see an e-mail from Peter Levine. Do
you see that?

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Now, actually, the e-mail in question here is

the address below that where it says Vince Simmon, sent Wednes-
day, May 21, to Peter Levine, subject Info on Biospect. Do you see
that?

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And the date is May 21, 2003. I think

earlier in your response to questions you said that the information
that you would have needed to demonstrate that Biospect was real-
ly involved and engaged in the same kind of activities as Correlogic
wasn’t available in 2003, didn’t you?

Ms. WILSON. As a group, we indicated that the website was not
available. The website was available, and in our 2003 analysis my
office did look at that website.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Oh, did not look at it.
Ms. WILSON. We did look at it.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Right.
Ms. WILSON. It was attached to our documents.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay.
Ms. WILSON. Which I believe were submitted to your committee.

It appears to have been an oversight, and may very well have been
my office’s fault that it was not provided to Dr. Barrett. So he may
very well have been unaware of the——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Because clearly the—what he says, ‘‘Peter, it
was nice talking with you today. Here is some info on your new
competition. I will be back in touch. Vince.’’ And then it goes on
from the website there—a description of the—a complete descrip-
tion of Biospect, which talks—describes exactly what it does, which,
of course, is very much what Correlogic was doing. You don’t dis-
agree with that in retrospect?
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Ms. WILSON. I don’t disagree with it in retrospect. I would have
asked for—being that I would have done a technical analysis, I
would have asked for further information about the nature of bio-
logical fluids analysis, and so forth, and are they truly related? Are
they that close?

Mr. GREENWOOD. And wouldn’t you have referred that to—that
question to Dr. Barrett, since it is a scientific question?

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. I think here is what is troubling us. Mr.

Levine comes in and says, ‘‘Holy God, I am upset. I am working
with these guys on my CRADA, and I find out that they have never
told me they are working for Biospect. I view Biospect as a compet-
itor, and this I find appalling.’’ Okay?

So you have the information, but the guy at Correlogic, he
thinks—he thinks that his company’s secrets are at risk. Okay?
And one would assume that if there was no risk, no potential risk
because they were in very different fields of endeavor, Mr. Levine
wouldn’t come in so upset and asking for a rereview, right? So you
have got some—I mean, you have got a pretty good red flag going
in the person of Mr. Levine. Okay? So then you rereview.

And the thing that worries us, that causes us to spend so much
time on this issue, is out there at Biospect you have got on the
Board the old boss of the NCI, the big man, the big dude, Klausner.
Right? Knows all you guys, you worked with him and for him and
all of that, and you have got Dahl out there, and you have got
Shtrom out there.

And the concern is we think—we worry that in the face of the
obvious concern of Mr. Levine you scanned over the horizon to look
at Biospect to see if this is a problem, and there is the old gang
out there making money at Biospect. And that we worry that that
would have clouded your judgment.

Did you have any discussions with any of those three people—
Dr. Klausner, Dr. Shtrom, Dr. Dahl? Did you have conversations
with any of them during the time that you were rereviewing this
agreement?

Ms. WILSON. To my knowledge, no. I know I didn’t—I have not
talked to Dr. Dahl I believe since she left. I could be wrong. I would
have to check notes to see if we had anything. I have not talked
to Dr. Shtrom. I have had a few conversations with Dr. Klausner
on various situations, but not on this.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Not with regard to this, okay.
Ms. WILSON. No.
Mr. GREENWOOD. And does that apply to you as well, Dr. Bar-

rett?
Mr. BARRETT. Absolutely, yes. I mean, absolutely not.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. You haven’t had any conversations

with——
Mr. BARRETT. No conversations.
Mr. GREENWOOD. I mean, in retrospect, do you think that your

judgment may have been clouded by the fact that former friends
and associates——

Mr. BARRETT. It did not enter into my decision at all. I was told
that Dr. Klausner had, you know—what I was told, as I under-
stood, was he was part of the venture capital group that had fund-
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ed this, and he was not directly involved in the management of this
company. I actually overlooked the fact that Carol Dahl was the
signature on one of the letters that we had, so I actually did not
even make the connection until much later when it was brought to
the attention of this committee.

I reviewed the statement of work and the consulting agreement.
I used my knowledge of the CRADA that we had with Correlogic,
and those did not seem to overlap, and that was the sole basis for
the decision.

Mr. GREENWOOD. If you would turn to page—to Tab 34, you will
see e-mails sent from Carol Dahl to Petricoin, and then below that
is—actually, I always forget these things go in reverse order—an
8:06 a.m. message from Dr. Petricoin to Carol Dahl. Do you see
that, Dr. Wilson and Dr. Barrett?

Mr. BARRETT. Yes.
Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. If you look at the address that Dr. Petricoin’s

e-mail emanated from, it is FDA—it is seiber.fda.gov, which clearly
indicates he is using his government computer to be sending e-
mails with regard to his outside paid consultancy. Would you come
to that conclusion?

Ms. WILSON. Yes, he is using it to confirm what appears to be
a scheduling arrangement.

Mr. GREENWOOD. All right. And he is also sending it—if you look,
it went to Dr. Liotta at mail.nih.gov.

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. That is not necessarily grand larceny, but, I

mean, it does violate the rules, does it not? My understanding from
previous conversations with others at NIH and at the FDA indi-
cates that these private consultancies are not supposed to involve
the use of government computers, telephones, equipment, etcetera.
Is that correct?

Ms. WILSON. The conduct of personal business should not be
done using government equipment.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Right. And certainly not on government time
either.

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Turn to Tab 11 now, please. If you would

look at—would you identify that document, Dr. Wilson?
Ms. WILSON. That is a cover sheet that is generated by our com-

puter recording the Biospect activity with the comments that my
office added in submission to the NEAC committee.

Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. And money earned to date, it says
$49,375 consulting fees, proposed annual rate of $39,000, or $3,250
per month. Where would that information have—how would that
have been inputted into the system so that that would appear on
this computer-generated form?

Ms. WILSON. There is—what you cannot see is a blank field next
to—you can see a field that says ‘‘fee.’’ Next to it would have, in
fact, been the dollar amount. And our system is limited right now.
It was intended to reflect an annual rate, and if we begin to put
in cumulative rates we are going to have to make some changes in
the system. So it is done manually at the moment.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. So that $49,375, was that—did some-
body enter that, or was that—did the computer do math—do
multiplication——

Ms. WILSON. We received that information from Dr. Liotta him-
self, because we weren’t collecting the data on that at the time.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I understand. So Dr. Liotta provided that infor-
mation.

Ms. WILSON. Yes.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Now, go to Tab 41, please. Okay. If you

look at—can you identify that document? Well, I will identify it.
This document I don’t think you have seen. But this is a document
provided to the committee by Predicant Biosciences, formerly
Biospect, and it is a vendor quick report, January 1, 2002, through
June 5, 2004.

And the numbers on that—this is for Dr.—it is what they paid—
what they report that they paid to Dr. Lance Liotta. And you will
notice that the rate started out at $5,000 per month and then was
reduced to $3,125, and that adds up to, the staff tells me, $70,000.
And so does that—would that indicate a discrepancy between the
$49,000-plus figure that we just were discussing and this $70,000
figure that the company indicated that it paid Dr. Liotta?

Ms. WILSON. There is clearly a discrepancy. I believe what—the
dollar amount Dr. Liotta furnished us may have been what he had
on his W-2 equivalent form. I would have to check what he——

Mr. GREENWOOD. Do they submit the W-2 form?
Ms. WILSON. No, they are not required to.
Mr. GREENWOOD. They are not required to. Okay. But you can’t

explain how this discrepancy would have occurred?
Ms. WILSON. The number we used is what he provided to us.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. We understand that Dr. Liotta and Dr.

Petricoin were involved in helping Predicant Biosciences set up a
CLIA lab, which is regulated by the Department of Health and
Human Services. Is there an ethical conflict there where they are
being paid to provide guidance in an endeavor that would be regu-
lated by the Department?

Ms. WILSON. The issue I would have looked at, and I may not
be looking at all of the issues, would have been whether they were
engaged in a matter that would become the subject of a submission
of documentation or discussions with HHS. The mere establish-
ment of a lab according to known processes or standards would not,
in my mind, fall under that, but I would have verified——

Mr. GREENWOOD. So it would be the preparation of documents
themselves that would then be reviewed that would cross an eth-
ical line.

Ms. WILSON. Communications become the subject of dealings.
Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. How about if they—where is the line be-

tween actually doing the paperwork where you are sitting and
inputting the data onto the—into the computer to print out the re-
port or actually writing a document versus advising a client to
pay—a client who is paying you how to do that or advising a client
how to—a strategy for getting a new device approved through the
FDA? Is there a—is that a gray area, or is there a fine line there?

Ms. WILSON. I would have to say it is a gray area in my mind.
I would defer it to better legal counsel. I am not a lawyer.
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Mr. GREENWOOD. Okay. Finally, Dr. Barker, you heard Dr. Le-
vine in the very beginning of his testimony express concern and
worry that the NIH and/or the FDA would act in a prejudicial form
because of his role in making the committee aware of his concerns
about this. How can you assure Dr. Levine and this committee that
that will certainly not be the case, at least as it concerns the NIH?

Ms. BARKER. Well, I think we will proceed in good faith. And I
think there have been some missteps here, but I think most of the
things that have been done on this negotiation have been done in
good faith. Doing it over, we probably would do it differently I
think, at least the first—up to the point I think Dr. Levine de-
scribed to you.

I think since then we have been—you know, we have been mov-
ing along at a reasonable rate, not rapidly enough I think, but I
think in the future some of these new processes that we have al-
ready started to put in place will assure anyone actually entering
into these relationships that not only will you be able to proceed
I think more quickly and more efficaciously, I think you are also
going to proceed without the kinds of issues that Mr. Levine has
raised.

I mean, I think this new system of actually looking at everything
an individual is doing, especially those folks who are entering into
CRADAs, is going to be critical. And as I said before, I think one
thing this case has pointed up is that we do have to very carefully
consider that.

In terms of, you know, fair treatment from the NIH, FDA, and
I can certainly only speak for the NCI, we will certainly make very
effort to ensure that Mr. Levine and anyone else who comes to deal
with us, in terms of these very important relationships, will get fair
and equitable treatment.

Mr. GREENWOOD. You are not critical of Dr. Levine for his testi-
mony today, are you?

Ms. BARKER. Not at all, actually. As I say, as I sat there, I think
both Dr. Barrett and Dr. Wilson and all of us, we learned a lot
today. And I think it is learning that will help us in the future.
And the biotechnology industry is actually very, very important to
the National Cancer Institute. So many of our products are smaller
markets; that is very attractive to this industry. And so we have—
and, actually, cancer is the major focus of most of the biotechnology
companies that are being formed today.

So we are going to endeavor to do everything we can to build the
very best relationship with this industry we can. There are about
1,500 biotech companies in the country today, and we see that as
being an absolutely exploding area for the future. So it behooves
the NCI and the NIH to actually work, as Dr. Zerhouni said this
morning, to really make these relationships effective areas of trans-
lation of technology for the American public.

Mr. GREENWOOD. I think on that very positive note the com-
mittee will thank you very much for spending the day with us and
for your testimony. It has been a big help.

Mr. Levine, we thank you particularly.
And the committee is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 3:57 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
[Additional material submitted for the record follows:]
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